World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5515-5657





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

JG \mathcal{N}

World Journal of **Gastroenterology**

Contents

Weekly Volume 28 Number 38 October 14, 2022

REVIEW

5515 Gastrointestinal and liver disease in patients with schizophrenia: A narrative review Grant RK, Brindle WM, Donnelly MC, McConville PM, Stroud TG, Bandieri L, Plevris JN

MINIREVIEWS

- 5530 Ultrasound-based artificial intelligence in gastroenterology and hepatology Liu JQ, Ren JY, Xu XL, Xiong LY, Peng YX, Pan XF, Dietrich CF, Cui XW
- 5547 Oxidative stress bridges the gut microbiota and the occurrence of frailty syndrome Chen SY, Wang TY, Zhao C, Wang HJ

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

- 5557 Effect of low-dose radiation on thyroid function and the gut microbiota Tong JY, Jiang W, Yu XQ, Wang R, Lu GH, Gao DW, Lv ZW, Li D
- 5573 Hypoxia inducible factor 1a promotes interleukin-1 receptor antagonist expression during hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury Wang ZY, Liu Y, Li SP, Li JJ, Zhang Z, Xiao XC, Ou Y, Wang H, Cai JZ, Yang S

Retrospective Cohort Study

5589 No long-term survival benefit with sustained-release 5-fluorouracil implants in patients with stages II and III gastric cancer

Wu YZ, Wu M, Zheng XH, Wang BZ, Xue LY, Ding SK, Yang L, Ren JS, Tian YT, Xie YB

5602 Timing of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in the treatment of acute cholangitis of different severity

Huang YC, Wu CH, Lee MH, Wang SF, Tsou YK, Lin CH, Sung KF, Liu NJ

Retrospective Study

5614 Clearance of the liver remnant predicts short-term outcome in patients undergoing resection of hepatocellular carcinoma

Miki A, Sakuma Y, Ohzawa H, Saito A, Meguro Y, Watanabe J, Morishima K, Endo K, Sasanuma H, Shimizu A, Lefor AK, Yasuda Y, Sata N

5626 A new scoring system to evaluate adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy

Xu Q, Kang WZ, Xiong JP, Shao XX, Li WK, Hu HT, Tian YT



Contents

Weekly Volume 28 Number 38 October 14, 2022

Observational Study

5636 Red blood cell distribution width derivatives in alcohol-related liver cirrhosis and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease

Michalak A, Guz M, Kozicka J, Cybulski M, Jeleniewicz W, Lach T, Cichoż-Lach H

SCIENTOMETRICS

5648 Comparison of evaluation indexes for Gastroenterology and Hepatology journals in different databases Li JY, Yan ZH, Xiang Z, Gao C, Wu J



Contents

Weekly Volume 28 Number 38 October 14, 2022

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board of World Journal of Gastroenterology, Shunji Fujimori, AGAF, MD, PhD, Director, Department of Gastroenterology, Chiba Hokusoh Hospital, Nippon Medical School, Chiba 270-1694, Japan. s-fujimori@nms.ac.jp

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastroenterology (WJG, World J Gastroenterol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastroenterology and hepatology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online. WJG mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastroenterology and hepatology and covering a wide range of topics including gastroenterology, hepatology, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastrointestinal surgery, gastrointestinal oncology, and pediatric gastroenterology.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJG is now abstracted and indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE, also known as SciSearch®), Current Contents/Clinical Medicine, Journal Citation Reports, Index Medicus, MEDLINE, PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2021 impact factor (IF) for WJG as 5.374; IF without journal self cites: 5.187; 5-year IF: 5.715; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.84; Ranking: 31 among 93 journals in gastroenterology and hepatology; and Quartile category: Q2. The WJG's CiteScore for 2021 is 8.1 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2021: Gastroenterology is 18/149.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ru Fan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Gastroenterology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
October 1, 1995	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Weekly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Andrzej S Tarnawski	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
October 14, 2022	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WÜ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5515-5529

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5515

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

Gastrointestinal and liver disease in patients with schizophrenia: A narrative review

Rebecca K Grant, William M Brindle, Mhairi C Donnelly, Pauline M McConville, Thomas G Stroud, Lorenzo Bandieri, John N Plevris

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Garbuzenko DV, Russia; Radhakrishnan R, New Zealand

Received: July 18, 2022 Peer-review started: July 18, 2022 First decision: August 19, 2022 Revised: August 29, 2022 Accepted: September 21, 2022 Article in press: September 21, 2022 Published online: October 14, 2022



Rebecca K Grant, William M Brindle, Mhairi C Donnelly, John N Plevris, The Centre for Liver and Digestive Disorders, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, EH16 4SA, United Kingdom

Pauline M McConville, Thomas G Stroud, Lorenzo Bandieri, General Adult Psychiatry, Royal Edinburgh Hospital, Edinburgh, EH10 5HF, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: Rebecca K Grant, BSc, MA, MBChB, MSc, The Centre for Liver and Digestive Disorders, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh, 51 Little France Cres, Old Dalkeith Rd, Edinburgh, EH16 4SA, United Kingdom. rebecca.x.grant@nhs.scot

Abstract

Schizophrenia is a severe mental illness which can have a devastating impact on an individual's quality of life. Comorbidities are high amongst patients and life expectancy is approximately 15 years less than the general population. Despite the well-known increased mortality, little is known about the impact of gastrointestinal and liver disease on patients with schizophrenia. We aimed to review the literature and to make recommendations regarding future care. Literature searches were performed on PubMed to identify studies related to gastrointestinal and liver disease in patients with schizophrenia. High rates of chronic liver disease were reported, with Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease being of particular concern; antipsychotics and metabolic syndrome were contributing factors. Rates of acute liver failure were low but have been associated with antipsychotic use and paracetamol overdose. Coeliac disease has historically been linked to schizophrenia; however, recent research suggests that a causal link is yet to be proven. Evidence is emerging regarding the relationships between schizophrenia and peptic ulcer disease, inflammatory bowel disease and irritable bowel syndrome; clinical vigilance regarding these conditions should be high. Patients with schizophrenia poorly engage with bowel cancer screening programmes, leading to late diagnosis and increased mortality. Clozapine induced constipation is a significant issue for many patients and requires close monitoring. There is a significant burden of gastrointestinal and liver disease amongst patients with schizophrenia. Better levels of support from all members of the medical team are essential to ensure that appropriate, timely care is provided.

Key Words: Schizophrenia; Gastrointestinal disease; Liver disease; Mental health



©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: We report significant rates of liver disease, particularly Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease, in patients with schizophrenia, in addition to emerging evidence regarding the prevalence of lower gastrointestinal disease and peptic ulcer disease. We have clearly demonstrated the importance of a multidisciplinary approach to management and propose recommendations to ameliorate future care of this vulnerable group of patients.

Citation: Grant RK, Brindle WM, Donnelly MC, McConville PM, Stroud TG, Bandieri L, Plevris JN. Gastrointestinal and liver disease in patients with schizophrenia: A narrative review. *World J Gastroenterol* 2022; 28(38): 5515-5529

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5515.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5515

INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a complex and frequently devastating illness, worldwide prevalence of which is estimated to be at 0.32%[1]. It is well established that patients with schizophrenia often suffer from a large number of comorbidities, with high rates of alcohol and substance misuse[2]. Life expectancy amongst patients has also been demonstrated to be approximately 15 years shorter than that of the general population[3].

Although the general rate of comorbidities is acknowledged to be high, no comprehensive review currently exists regarding the burden and distribution of gastrointestinal and liver disease amongst this cohort. This is particularly relevant in light of the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic, as already marginalised patients may have become more isolated from services and only present when seriously unwell. This subject is of importance to gastroenterologists and hepatologists, in addition to general medical physicians, in order to better understand the particular risks associated with these patients and to help ensure that optimal inpatient and outpatient care is provided. It is also relevant to community and inpatient psychiatric teams to highlight when prompt referrals to specialists may be required.

In this review we summarise the available evidence regarding different aspects of gastrointestinal and liver disease in patients with schizophrenia (Figure 1) in a clear and systematic manner, highlighting key findings, and suggesting recommendations (Table 1) regarding the management of each illness to better inform the future care of this vulnerable group of patients. All articles referenced in this review were identified following a PubMed search for literature specifically considering both gastrointestinal and/or liver disease in patients who had a diagnosis of schizophrenia.

CHRONIC LIVER DISEASE

Chronic liver disease (CLD) has consistently been demonstrated to have a higher prevalence amongst those with schizophrenia than amongst the general population. Carney *et al*[2] reported that people with schizophrenia were 4.42 times more likely than healthy controls to have a diagnosis of CLD; amongst a population of veterans, Fuller *et al*[4] reported an eightfold (8.73) increased likelihood of CLD, and Hsu *et al*[5] have also noted a significantly higher prevalence and incidence of CLD than in the general population. Furthermore, mild and severe liver disease were reported in a Danish study[6] (along with dementia) to have the highest incidence rate ratio amongst nineteen somatic chronic diseases in a cohort of 16,079 patients with schizophrenia who were hospitalised between 1995-2007. Only one study[7] has recorded no elevated risk of liver disease, however the results were adjusted for substance use disorders, which undoubtedly will have had a significant effect on results.

Given such findings, it is essential to reflect on the potential aetiology of the reported results. CLD primarily comprises non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), chronic viral hepatitis and alcohol related liver disease; each will presently be considered and their individual relevance to patients with schizophrenia reviewed.

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

Metabolic syndrome: Prior to focusing specifically on NAFLD, the importance of the broader role of metabolic syndrome must be acknowledged. Metabolic syndrome is defined as insulin resistance, impaired glucose tolerance, abdominal obesity, reduced high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels, elevated triglycerides, and hypertension[8]. A significant association has been widely reported[9,10]

aishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Key recommendations			
Gastrointestinal/liver disease	Recommendations		
NAFLD	Regular monitoring of body mass index and triglycerides		
	Encouragement of lifestyle modification		
	Liver function tests performed and Fibrosis-4 scores calculated in all psychiatric inpatients and outpatients		
Viral hepatitis	Routine screening for viral hepatitis during contact with mental health services		
	Integrated approach between mental health, sexual health, substance misuse and specialist hepatology services		
ALD	Integrated approach between mental health, substance misuse and hepatology		
	Long term studies prospective studies required to fully comprehend burden of ALD		
ALF	Clinicians prescribing clozapine should be aware of the potential risk of ALF and have a low threshold for checking liver enzymes and prothrombin time		
	Psychiatric review of all patients presenting with POD		
	For patients presenting with POD who have a pre-existing psychiatric diagnosis prompt communication must be made with community mental health teams, and appropriate follow-up arranged for those with a new diagnosis		
	Decisions regarding liver transplant in patients with schizophrenia must involve the multidisciplinary team and be made on a patient-by-patient basis		
PUD	Encouragement of lifestyle modification, particular smoking cessation and alcohol reduction		
	Physicians to have a high suspicion for Helicobacter pylori infection		
Coeliac disease	Large-scale studies amongst diverse population required		
	Diagnosis to be considered in patients with schizophrenia presenting with malabsorption		
Colorectal cancer	Supporting patients to participate in screening programmes and to attend follow-up appointments is key		
IBD	Increased vigilance amongst clinicians regarding a potential diagnosis of IBD is central in enabling prompt diagnosis and maintenance of remission		
IBS	Patients should be directly questioned concerning IBS symptoms when undergoing physical health review as many cases may go unrecognised		
Clozapine induced constipation	Lifestyle advice to reduce risk		
	Regular screening and escalation to GP/secondary care as appropriate		
	Physicians to be aware of clozapine as potential cause of constipation and to discuss with psychiatry if considering dose adjustment/cessation		

NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; ALD: Alcohol related liver disease; ALF: Acute liver failure; POD: Paracetamol overdose; PUD: Peptic ulcer disease; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; IBS: Irritable bowel syndrome; GP: General practitioner.

> between major psychiatric disorders and metabolic syndrome; a prevalence of 32.5% was recorded in a 2013 meta-analysis^[11] of patients with schizophrenia and related disorders. An unhealthy lifestyle^[12] and use of antipsychotics^[13] have been cited as contributing factors to its development in this group.

> Definition: The development of NAFLD is associated with obesity, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes mellitus and it therefore may be viewed as the hepatic manifestation of metabolic syndrome. NAFLD is characterised by excessive hepatic fat accumulation, which is defined as the presence of steatosis in > 5% of hepatocytes[9]. For a diagnosis of NAFLD to be made, steatosis secondary to factors including hepatitis C, alcohol use, genetics, medications and toxins must first be excluded. NAFLD is reported to have a prevalence amongst the general population of 20% to 30% [14].

> Role of antipsychotic medications: The metabolic side effects of antipsychotic medications are wellestablished, with clozapine and olanzapine in particular being related to weight gain, hyperglycaemia and dyslipidaemia^[15]. Understandably, therefore, much of the research into NAFLD and schizophrenia has focused on the potential role of these medications in its development.

> A 2016 prospective Spanish study [16] involving 191 patients with a first episode of schizophrenia (94.2% of which were antipsychotic naïve), reported that 25.1% (48/191) of patients demonstrated a fatty liver index (FLI) result suggestive of the presence of steatosis after three years of antipsychotic treatment; none of the included patients had steatosis at index abdominal ultrasound scan (AUSS). The patients in the study were randomised to aripiprazole, risperidone, quetiapine and ziprasidone; the





Figure 1 Summary of gastrointestinal and liver disease in patients with schizophrenia. GI: Gastrointestinal.

dose and type of antipsychotic changed throughout the follow-up period and results were not stratified according to medications. There was no control group. This study is unique in that it prospectively demonstrated the development of NAFLD following the initiation of antipsychotics; the other studies considered hereafter have focused on NAFLD in patients already established on treatment regimes.

In a cohort of 253 patients with schizophrenia, Koreki *et al*[17] reported that 42.7% (108/253) were found to have steatosis on AUSS. All patients included in this study were on at least one antipsychotic treatment (duration was not specified); on univariate analysis total antipsychotic dose (all daily doses were calculated based on chlorpromazine equivalents) was noted to be significantly associated with the presence of steatosis (P = 0.009). On regression analysis, doses of antipsychotic medications recognised as carrying an increased risk of metabolic syndrome and hyperprolactinaemia were significantly associated with NAFLD (P = 0.049 and P = 0.041 respectively). A comparably high prevalence of NAFLD was also reported in a 2017 Chinese study^[18] which compared 202 male patients aged 18-35 with schizophrenia and on antipsychotics for at least one month to 149 controls. 49.5% (100/202) of the schizophrenia group had steatosis on AUSS, compared with 20.1% (30/149) of the control group. Although NAFLD prevalence amongst inpatients with schizophrenia was not as high (22.44%) as in the aforementioned studies, in another 2021 Chinese study^[19] comprising 66,273 patients with "mental disorders", it was still higher than amongst those with bipolar affective disorder (17.89%), depressive disorder (12.62%) and other mental disorders (12.99%) and was demonstrated to be associated with antipsychotic treatment.

The highest reported prevalence of NAFLD was recorded in a 2021 Taiwanese study [20] which considered 182 patients with schizophrenia who had been hospitalised for at least two years and been on antipsychotic treatment for at least one year. 70.8% (129/182) were diagnosed with steatosis on AUSS; results were stratified according to antipsychotic generation and cumulative dose (using chlorpromazine equivalents), however no significant association between these and NAFLD were demonstrated. Given the reported increased association of NAFLD with second generation antipsychotics[15], the authors attribute the disparity in their results to population demographics and sample size. Interestingly, antipsychotic treatment duration, potentially the biggest contributor to the reported results in this cohort, was not reported in the results.

Rates of NAFLD have also been reported in studies not specifically considering antipsychotic therapies. In a population of veterans in the United States[4], those with a diagnosis of schizophrenia were significantly more likely to be diagnosed with NAFLD ($P \le 0.001$) and in a cross-sectional Danish study[21] 21.4% (31/145) were diagnosed with moderate-severe steatosis on non-enhanced CT. In these studies, significant associations were however demonstrated with metabolic syndrome, suggesting (although not confirming due to lack of data) that antipsychotics may also be potentially playing a role in these reported results.

Lifestyle and negative symptoms: While research has predominantly focused on the close links between antipsychotics and NAFLD, it is also important to briefly consider potential alternative aetiologies that have been proposed.

Patients with schizophrenia are acknowledged as being at higher risk of an unhealthy lifestyle compared to the general population^[17]. They may have an unbalanced diet, poor self-care, avoid certain foods due to paranoid delusions or hallucinations, and withdraw from physical and social



activities, leading to a lack of exercise[22]. Yan et al[18] in their 2017 study emphasised the role of negative symptoms in young men with schizophrenia and NAFLD; a negative factor score in the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) was significantly associated with a NAFLD diagnosis (P = 0.025). It is not challenging to understand how the negative symptoms of anhedonia, poor attention, low motivation, apathy and social withdrawal may lead to obesity and the associated sequelae of metabolic syndrome.

Recommendations: It is evident that a diagnosis of schizophrenia carries with it a significant risk of developing NAFLD, both due to treatment with antipsychotics and also due to the intrinsic nature of the illness itself. In order to prevent progression to cirrhosis and its associated complications it is necessary to increase awareness of this risk and consider how it may be ameliorated. At the very least, body mass index (BMI) and triglycerides should be monitored regularly in all patients with schizophrenia and psychiatrists and general medical physicians should make every effort to support patients in modifying their lifestyles. Furthermore, all patients admitted to psychiatric hospitals and attending outpatient psychiatry appointments ought to have liver function tests performed and Fibrosis-4 (Fib-4) scores calculated to determine if a referral to hepatology is necessary.

Chronic viral hepatitis-hepatitis B and hepatitis C

People with serious mental illness (including schizophrenia) have been shown to be at increased risk of blood borne viruses (BBVs)[23]. A significant minority of patients with schizophrenia engage in risky behaviour (unprotected sex with multiple partners, sex work, and intravenous drug use) putting them at risk of infection; they are also more likely to live in shared accommodation and may share personal equipment such as razors and toothbrushes, carrying a potential increased risk of hepatitis B and C transmission[23]. Patients with hepatitis B and C have an increased risk of developing hepatocellular carcinoma^[24], therefore adequate treatment and monitoring of the conditions is vital.

In 2017 a Swedish study^[25] considered the prevalence and risk factors for BBVs amongst people with severe mental illness; when compared with healthy controls, those with schizophrenia were significantly more likely to have either a diagnosis of hepatitis B ($P \le 0.001$) or hepatitis C ($P \le 0.001$). A history of substance misuse was noted as having contributed the most to the risk of developing a BBV (P \leq 0.001). Increased prevalence of hepatitis C was also shown in a study of veterans[4] diagnosed with schizophrenia when compared to controls ($P \le 0.001$). Substance use disorder and alcohol use disorder were identified as significant risk factors for development of schizophrenia ($P \le 0.001$ and $P \le 0.001$ respectively). A small study performed in Boston[26] identified eight patients with hepatitis C out of a total cohort of 98 patients (8.2%) treated with clozapine; one was a confirmed intravenous drug user, three had a history of polysubstance misuse and in the remaining four patients no risk factors were identified. A further small Canadian study [27] reported a hepatitis C rate of 2.7% (3/110) of clozapinetreated patients. Two of the three patients diagnosed with hepatitis C had a history of intravenous drug use.

Outcomes in patients with schizophrenia diagnosed with hepatitis C and hepatitis B were considered in a 2021 Chinese study [24]. From a total cohort of 15,914 patients with newly diagnosed schizophrenia between 2007 and 2013, 614 patients were identified with viral hepatitis and were matched with 1228 controls. The primary outcome measure was the incidence and risk of "severe hepatic outcomes" (SHOs), including liver cancer, failure and decompensation. The viral hepatitis group were significantly more likely to develop SHOs ($P \le 0.001$) than the control group; a total of 26 patients with viral hepatitis developed SHOs (20/26 Liver decompensation, 3/26 Liver failure, and 3/26 Liver cancer).

Recommendations: While the risk of viral hepatitis amongst people with schizophrenia cannot be disputed, optimal management of it is challenging. Routine screening for viral hepatitis during contact with mental health services would allow an opportunity for discussion about safe sex and drug use, it may also prompt consent to other tests (such as HIV), leading to the discovery of potentially treatable illnesses, and, crucially, a positive result may allow prevention of further liver damage[26]. If diagnosed, encouragement of treatment adherence in this population may be difficult, therefore an integrated approach between mental health, sexual health, substance misuse[25] and specialist hepatology services would be required to aid optimal patient outcomes.

Alcohol related liver disease

A high prevalence of alcohol use disorder (AUD) has been demonstrated in patients with schizophrenia, with a recent meta-analysis reporting a lifetime prevalence of AUD of 24.3% [28]. A number of hypotheses have been put forward to explain this association, including genetic polymorphisms, poor cognitive development, poor social functioning, the effects of poverty, poor social environments and "self-medication" to gain relief from distressing symptoms[29].

Despite such a high prevalence of AUD in patients with schizophrenia, research into alcohol related liver disease (ALD) in this cohort is relatively limited with variable results. The most common manifestations of ALD are alcoholic fatty liver, acute alcoholic hepatitis and alcohol related cirrhosis of the liver. In 2014 Hsu et al^[5] reported an increased risk of alcohol related fatty liver in patients with schizophrenia when compared with the general population (P = 0.007); risk of alcoholic hepatitis and cirrhosis



did not vary significantly between the two cohorts. In a 2022 Scottish study [30] of patients with schizophrenia admitted to a general hospital under the care of gastroenterology, 42.5% (17/40) of patients had a background of cirrhosis (88.2% of which had a background of alcohol excess) and 60.0% (24/40) of all patients had a history of alcohol excess. Interestingly, Fuller et al[4], in their 2011 study, reported schizophrenia being a protective factor (odds ratio = 0.53) in the diagnosis of alcohol related cirrhosis when a group of veterans with schizophrenia were compared to those without.

Recommendations: In common with viral hepatitis, an integrated approach between mental health, substance misuse services and specialist hepatology services is key in supporting patients with schizophrenia and alcohol use disorder. Further research, including long term prospective studies, is also required to better comprehend the burden of ALD amongst patients with schizophrenia.

ACUTE LIVER FAILURE

Acute liver failure (ALF) is a rare clinical syndrome in which the onset of liver injury, with coagulopathy and hepatic encephalopathy, occurs in a patient with no underlying CLD and previously normal liver function. The associations between ALF and schizophrenia can be considered under the following categories: ALF arising as a result of pharmacological treatment for schizophrenia, ALF arising as a consequence of mental state alteration in patients with schizophrenia and finally the implications of a diagnosis of schizophrenia on decision making around emergency liver transplantation for ALF.

Pharmacological treatments

In patients with treatment resistant schizophrenia (i.e., following the failure of at least two antipsychotics, including a second-generation antipsychotic) prompt initiation of clozapine, the only remaining evidence-based treatment, is required to reduce symptoms and risk of relapse[31,32]. Clozapine acts as a dopamine and serotonin receptor antagonist. The most recognised and feared side effect of clozapine is agranulocytosis, however there are now case reports of clozapine induced ALF[33, 34]. The mechanism of liver injury in this scenario is unclear, but it is idiosyncratic. A modest elevation in liver enzymes occurs in up to two thirds of patients treated with clozapine, and often resolves spontaneously[35]. Clinically apparent liver injury (with jaundice) occurs in approximately 1 in 2000 patients treated with clozapine[35] and progression to ALF (and death, or the need for emergency liver transplant) is now reported. ALF secondary to clozapine is extremely rare however, with less than five reported cases in the literature [33,34,36]. ALF has also been reported as a rare side effect of quetiapine therapy[37]; no cases of ALF have been reported with olanzapine or risperidone. Most treatment guidelines do not give clear recommendations on monitoring liver function tests in patients on clozapine and other antipsychotics, in part due to the fact that the vast majority of liver enzyme abnormalities secondary to these drugs do resolve spontaneously. Clinicians prescribing clozapine should be aware of the risk of ALF and could consider checking liver enzymes and prothrombin time when performing blood work monitoring for agranulocytosis.

Paracetamol overdose

Schizophrenia is associated with suicidal ideation[38]. In the United Kingdom, intentional paracetamol overdose is the most frequent cause of ALF. There is no clear evidence that schizophrenia is associated with an increased risk of paracetamol overdose resulting in ALF compared with the general population or patients with other psychiatric diagnoses. Scottish data have shown that of 472 patients with paracetamol overdose requiring admission to the Scottish Liver Transplant Unit who underwent formal inpatient assessment by psychiatry, schizophrenia was diagnosed or recorded in 2.8% of patients [Personal communication: Dr Roger Smyth, Consultant Liaison Psychiatrist, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh]. In comparison, affective disorders were recorded in 16.1% and personality disorders in 6.9% of patients. One Danish study assessed the association between paracetamol (and other weak analgesic) poisoning and the subsequent diagnosis of a psychiatric disorder[39]. The risk of an admission with schizophrenia increased 3.9-fold after paracetamol poisoning and 2-fold after nonparacetamol poisoning compared with matched population controls. Patients with a previous psychiatric admission were excluded, but it is possible that patients with schizophrenia who had not required prior hospitalisation (i.e., but who already had an established diagnosis) were included in the study. Furthermore, the admission with poisoning is likely to have prompted a psychiatric review and subsequent diagnosis. These data suggest that poisoning is a risk marker for a psychiatric disorder, rather than there being a causative association. Clinicians assessing patients presenting with paracetamol overdose should be aware of the risk of underlying psychiatric disorder and ensure appropriate assessments are arranged.

Interestingly, in addition to its role in treatment of paracetamol overdose, there is ongoing research into the reduction of negative symptoms and anti-suicidal properties of N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) in the treatment of schizophrenia. Chen et al[40] identified two placebo-controlled, double-blind, randomised



clinical trials of NAC in schizophrenia and reported that NAC may be efficacious in reducing the negative and general symptoms of schizophrenia. A meta-analysis by Zheng et al[41], which included three randomized control trials with 307 (N-acetylcysteine: 153, placebo: 154) participants, showed that NAC significantly improved total symptom scores in schizophrenia. Other related systematic reviews, including a Cochrane review on antioxidant treatment for schizophrenia, have also found NAC to be a promising add-on treatment for schizophrenia[42].

Emergency liver transplantation

Emergency liver transplantation may be required in patients with ALF if spontaneous recovery of sufficient liver function is deemed unlikely. Psychiatric disorders can be relative or absolute contraindications to liver transplantation, particularly if the disorder is deemed "untreatable" and may be graft threatening. A diagnosis of a psychiatric condition such as schizophrenia is relevant if it affects the prospect of survival post-transplant or affects compliance with medication and clinic follow-up. In a Scottish cohort of patients with ALF secondary to paracetamol overdose, 56.6% of patients who were rejected for listing for liver transplantation were rejected on the basis of psychiatric contraindications [43]. As described above, schizophrenia is associated with an increased risk of suicide, and this must be taken into account when considering the role of transplantation in an illness potentially arising from self-harm or parasuicide such as paracetamol overdose; the consequences of further suicidal intent must be reviewed. Specific to severe psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia, absolute contraindications to liver transplantation include chronic, severe illness with a poor prognosis, especially if refractory to appropriate treatment. The potential impact of a diagnosis of schizophrenia on substance misuse, compliance with immunosuppression and clinic follow-up must be considered. Therefore, patients with schizophrenia being considered for emergency liver transplantation for ALF should be assessed by the wider multi-disciplinary team and decisions made on a highly individualised basis.

Recommendations: While cases of ALF are rare in patients treated with clozapine, prescribing clinicians should be aware of the potential risk and have a low threshold for checking liver enzymes and prothrombin time, particularly in patients presenting with possible symptoms of liver dysfunction such as nausea, vomiting and/or anorexia[44].

Regarding paracetamol overdose, it is essential that treating physicians are aware of the risk of a diagnosis of a psychiatric disorder and ensure patients are reviewed by psychiatric teams during their admission. For patients who have a pre-existing diagnosis prompt communication must be made with community mental health teams (CMHT), and appropriate follow-up arranged for those with a new diagnosis. The use of NAC in the treatment of schizophrenia is an emerging area of research and further evidence is required regarded its potential.

The assessment of patients with schizophrenia for liver transplant is complex. Decisions must involve the multidisciplinary team (MDT) and be made on a patient-by-patient basis.

UPPER GASTROINTESTINAL AND SMALL BOWEL DISEASE

Peptic ulcer disease and upper gastrointestinal bleeding

Upper gastrointestinal bleeding (UGIB) is the consequence of often readily treatable digestive conditions such as gastroduodenal ulcers and reflux oesophagitis progressing to a potentially fatal event; in patients with schizophrenia the risk may be heightened due to high rates of alcohol misuse, smoking and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug use, in addition to reluctance to present to medical services. There are relatively limited studies which have considered incidence of peptic ulcer disease (PUD) and UGI bleeds in this cohort, with evidence being inconclusive, and, at times, contradictory.

Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection is recognised[45] as a major contributor to PUD and consequently UGIBs. Following a 1997 study by De Hert et al[46] and a 2005 study by Yilmaz et al[47] (both of which reported high rates of *H. pylori* infection in patients with schizophrenia), a Turkish group [47] discussed the role of *H. pylori* as a possible environmental contributor to the pathogenesis of schizophrenia in genetically predisposed individuals. The authors identified four mechanisms to support this theory: (1) Dopaminergic dysfunction; (2) inflammation; (3) polyunsaturated fatty acids; and (4) hyperhomocysteinaemia. With regard to dopaminergic dysfunction specifically, the authors propose that dopamine antagonists (such as commonly used antipsychotics) promote ulcer formation favouring the growth of *H. pylori*; this is a theory which is supported by Ozdemir[48] in their 2007 paper in which they propose that the lesser prevalence of PUD in their cohort of patients with schizophrenia was due to the over expression (and subsequent protective effect) of dopamine.

The reduced prevalence of PUD in patients with schizophrenia reported by Ozdemir *et al*[48] is in contrast to results reported in other studies. In 1968 Hussar[49] proposed that the incidence of PUD was at least as high amongst long term institutionalised patients with schizophrenia compared with the general population and, more recently, in 2014, Liao et al [50] reported an incidence of PUD that was 1.27 times higher in patients with schizophrenia than in the general population. An American study in 2014 [51] of 224,361 patients with schizophrenia, reported an incidence of bleeding ulcers amongst this cohort



as being 1.4 per 1000 person years, compared to 1.2 per 1000 person years in those without schizophrenia. Similarly increased risk of UGIB was also noted in a 2018 Danish study [52] of 39,998 patients with schizophrenia; the authors acknowledge the role that increased rates of *H. pylori* infectivity amongst patients with schizophrenia may have played in the observed results.

Recommendations: It is challenging to draw definitive conclusions regarding biological links between the aetiology of PUD and schizophrenia and more research is required before such links are established. However, it important to acknowledge the increased risk of PUD those patients with schizophrenia has due to lifestyle factors, and, as a result, ensures that help is given to aid modification. Suspicion regarding the presence of *H. pylori* should also be high, particularly as it may have the potential to contribute to mortality through a catastrophic UGIB or the development of gastric cancer[53].

Coeliac disease

Coeliac disease is an autoimmune disease which is triggered by gluten peptides in wheat, rye, barley and other grains. Histologically it is characterised by villous atrophy, hypertrophy of intestinal crypts and increased lymphocytes in the epithelium and lamina propria[54]. This results in malabsorption and the associated bloating, pain and diarrhoea in sufferers. Current prevalence of coeliac disease is estimated at 1% of the general population[54].

Historical perspective: A potential association between coeliac disease (or gluten intolerance) and schizophrenia is one which has long since interested researchers^[55], with Bender^[56] first reporting in 1953 that children with schizophrenia were more likely to have coeliac disease. This was then followed by the publication of a case series on five patients with schizophrenia with coeliac disease who were admitted to a psychiatric hospital during the same year [57]. Dohan was particularly prolific in the publication of papers regarding coeliac disease and schizophrenia, with results variably showing reduced prevalence of schizophrenia in areas of low grain consumption and an improvement in the symptoms of schizophrenia following the initiation of a gluten free diet[58-62].

Current status: More recent research has focused on the risk of patients with coeliac disease developing schizophrenia as opposed to prevalence of coeliac disease amongst those with schizophrenia; nevertheless, the strength of an association between the two conditions may be extrapolated from the available evidence. A 2018 meta-analysis[63] of the four most recent epidemiological studies[64-67] reported a significantly higher risk (two-fold) of schizophrenia in those with coeliac disease when compared with controls. Of the four studies, three [64,66,67] reported a significant association and one [65] did not (in common with an earlier British study [68]). The authors of the meta-analysis acknowledge that the mechanism underlying this association is unclear, however propose the following potential explanations: (1) There is high prevalence of folate deficiency in individuals with coeliac disease, given the important role of folate in DNA methylation, aberrant methylation may contribute to the development of schizophrenia; (2) schizophrenia may share a genetic diathesis with coeliac disease; and (3) diagnoses of schizophrenia in patients with coeliac disease may be resulting from surveillance bias as those with coeliac will present more often to physicians due to their chronic illness requiring regular follow-up. Since the publication of the meta-analysis, a small study[69] of 16 patients with IgG antigliadin antibodies (raised in coeliac disease) has also demonstrated an improvement in psychiatric patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder with a gluten free diet; a larger scale clinical trial is planned.

Recommendations: While research into a possible link between coeliac disease and schizophrenia has previously relied on relatively small case reports and series, more recently trial evidence has emerged to strengthen the association. Proof of a causal relationship between the two remains unclear and further large-scale studies, amongst more diverse populations, are required. Nevertheless, current evidence does serve to increase awareness of the likelihood of a diagnosis of coeliac disease amongst patients with schizophrenia presenting with symptoms of malabsorption.

LOWER GASTROINTESTINAL DISEASE

Colorectal cancer

Evidence regarding rates of cancer mortality in patients with schizophrenia has historically been contradictory, with some studies reporting lower or similar risk of cancer mortality compared to the general population[70-72], while others have reported higher rates[73-75]. Regarding colorectal cancer, however, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis [76] found that patients with schizophrenia had a significantly higher risk of mortality, with male patients having a relative risk of 1.90 and female patients 2.42. Increased risk of colorectal cancer^[77] was also reported in a 2007 study. As in the general population, screening is vital in promoting earlier diagnosis and reducing mortality; a 2018 Japanese study[78] reported a rate of participation in colorectal cancer screening of 13.4% in patients with schizophrenia (in contrast to 47.8% of men and 40.9% of women in the general population [79]). The benefit of



case management interventions, in the form of three counselling sessions to support adherence to screening, was demonstrated in a 2021 Japanese study [79], which showed a 35.3% increase in participation amongst the case management group.

Recommendations: As reported in the 2021 study^[79], participation in screening programmes is key to reducing mortality from colorectal cancer amongst patients with schizophrenia to be in line with the general population. Supporting patients to participate in screening and attend potential follow-up procedures is essential to address the disparity between colorectal cancer mortality in this cohort when compared to the general population.

Inflammatory bowel disease

Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are the two main types of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and are characterised by chronic inflammation - in the case of UC it is limited to the mucosa of colon and rectum, and, in CD, it is transmural and extends potentially to the whole GI tract. Symptoms of both conditions include diarrhoea, abdominal pain and extreme fatigue. Prevalence of IBD is increasing and is projected to reach 1% by 2028[80].

The relationship between IBD and schizophrenia has been explored in a small number of studies, with variable results. Bernstein et al^[81] reported an increased incidence of schizophrenia amongst patients with CD but not with UC, whereas no increased risk in either form of IBD was demonstrated by West *et al*[68]; a Swedish study actually noted a diminished risk of schizophrenia in those with IBD[82].

In contrast to earlier studies which focused on risk of schizophrenia in IBD patients, a recent study from Taiwan[83] considered risk of a new IBD diagnosis amongst patients with a diagnosis of schizophrenia. It included 116,164 patients with schizophrenia and 464,656 matched controls and concluded that overall incidence of IBD was significantly higher amongst the schizophrenia cohort (1.14% vs 0.25%); risk was also higher amongst those with more severe schizophrenia. These findings are potentially supportive of research suggestive of shared genetic susceptibility between the two conditions^[84,85], although the role of diet and microbiota remain important confounding factors.

Recommendations: CD and UC are challenging conditions to manage, this risk is heightened in vulnerable patients with schizophrenia as engagement with health services is essential for positive outcomes. As recommended by the authors of the recent Taiwanese study[83], increased vigilance amongst clinicians and other members of the MDT regarding potential cases of IBD may prove vital in enabling prompt diagnoses and maintenance of remission.

Irritable bowel syndrome

Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) is a functional gastrointestinal disorder characterised by abdominal pain, bloating and a change in bowel habit [either constipation (IBS-C), or, more commonly, diarrhoea (IBS-D)]; diagnosis is made based on the Rome IV criteria. Current prevalence of IBS in the United Kingdom is estimated to be at 14%[86].

The first study to consider IBS in patients with schizophrenia was published in 1997[87]. The authors reported that 19% of the patients with schizophrenia met the diagnostic criteria for IBS, compared with 2.5% of those in the control group. It must however be acknowledged that the study only included 87 patients in total. Interestingly, it was noted that the patients with schizophrenia did not complain of symptoms of IBS, unlike when the authors considered a group of patients with anxiety and depressive disorder; the authors attributed this to a preoccupation with delusions and hallucinations or being due to apathy resulting from negative symptoms.

A further study [88] comprising 134 patients with schizophrenia reported IBS in 48.8%; the study also reported higher rates of IBS-D in patients presenting with positive symptoms of schizophrenia, IBS-C and alternating IBS-D/C were more common in those with negative symptoms. The group was not compared to a control, which makes conclusions limited.

Recommendations: Research suggests that there may be an under-reporting of IBS symptoms amongst patients with schizophrenia. Consideration should therefore be given to IBS symptomatology in patients with schizophrenia undergoing physical health review as many cases may go unrecognized unless patients are directly questioned. Addressing diet and lifestyle factors are also important in improving the quality of life in patients with schizophrenia and IBS symptoms.

Clozapine induced constipation

Whilst recognising it as a side effect of clozapine treatment as opposed to a disease in itself, it is necessary to acknowledge the risk of clozapine induced constipation in patients with schizophrenia. Risk of constipation is greatest in the first four months following treatment initiation, however may occur at any time[89]. A 2016 systematic review and meta-analysis[90] of 11 studies reported a prevalence of clozapine induced constipation of 31.2%. The authors attribute increased risk of constipation to the anti-muscarinic and anti-histaminergic effects of the drug, as well as to a sedentary lifestyle, dehydration, obesity and a diet which is low in fibre. Complications of constipation such as bowel obstruction, ileus (a Danish study[91] reported a 0.8% incidence of ileus in clozapine treated



patients) and toxic megacolon may be life threatening; in severe constipation the case fatality rate has been documented at approximately 20%-30% [89]. Following the aforementioned systematic review and meta-analysis [90], subsequent studies and case reports [92-96] have also reported similarly high incidence of clozapine induced constipation and gastrointestinal hypomotility, highlighting the ongoing significance of this issue.

Recommendations: Given the high prevalence of clozapine-induced constipation, all patients on clozapine should be given lifestyle advice to help prevent the development of constipation. It is crucial to screen for its presence during CMHT review (regular attendance at clozapine blood monitoring may help to facilitate this) and it is particularly important to ask directly about it as incidence may be underreported by patients. Patients may be referred to their general practitioner (GP) for prescription of laxatives and ongoing monitoring if constipation is present, in addition to plasma clozapine levels being reviewed by the CMHT; if there are features concerning for obstruction prompt referral to secondary care is required.

Caution should be exercised in the prescription of anti-cholinergics for hypersalivation (a known side effect of clozapine) due to their potential to contribute to constipation; other regular medications with constipating side effects should also be kept under close review. For secondary care physicians it is important to be aware of clozapine as a potential cause of constipation and essential to seek advice from colleagues in psychiatry if dose adjustment or treatment cessation is being considered.

GUT MICROBIOME AND SCHIZOPHRENIA

In consideration of gastrointestinal disease in schizophrenia it is important lastly to acknowledge an emerging area of active research - the gut microbiome. The gut microbiome in humans comprises a diverse population of microbes, the most numerous of which are reported to be Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes[97]. Factors such as diet, smoking and social circumstances have been suggested to influence the composition of an individual's developing microbiome. While each microbiome is unique, when the microbial composition differs significantly from controls, it is referred to as dysbiosis. Alterations in gut microbiota have been demonstrated to be implicated in several psychiatric illnesses, including depression, addiction and eating disorders. Evidence is now emerging regarding the potential role of gut dysbiosis in the aetiology of schizophrenia and the use of pre and probiotics in treatment pathways is also being explored.

In 2020 Szeligowski *et al*[98] performed a narrative review of research considering the differences in microbiome between healthy controls and patients with schizophrenia; six studies were identified. The authors reported only one consistent finding between the studies-that patients with schizophrenia had significantly elevated Lactobacilli, which also correlated with symptom severity. As Lactobacilli are typically thought to be beneficial for gut health, this finding was attributed to the existence of different subtypes. The authors conclude that different exclusion criteria, stage of illness and treatments make definitive conclusions regarding the role of dysbiosis in schizophrenia challenging and further larger scale prospective studies are required.

Pre and probiotics are also being investigated for their ability to reduce the effect of antipsychotic medications on the microbiome which can lead to potentially life- threatening constipation and significant weight gain. Results of small studies which have been reported in reviews of the literature [98-101] are encouraging, for example co-administration of prebiotics to olanzapine treated rats led to attenuation of weight gain[102]. As with the role of dysbiosis in the aetiology of schizophrenia, more detailed studies in human subjects are of course needed but early results do suggest this may be a promising area for future treatment.

CONCLUSION

Gastrointestinal and liver disease have been shown to have a profound impact on patients with schizophrenia. The scale of liver disease, and metabolic syndrome in particular, in this population, is perhaps the most significant finding upon review of the literature. Optimal management of these conditions deserves close consideration from psychiatrists, hepatologists and all members of the MDT involved in the care of patients with schizophrenia. A recurring theme from consideration of all gastrointestinal and liver diseases is that patients with schizophrenia need appropriate additional levels of support from care providers to ensure that their physical health receives the attention it requires and which they, as individuals, deserve.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Grant RK and Brindle WM conceived the study; Grant RK performed the literature review and drafted all sections of the manuscript except for the section on acute liver failure; Donnelly MC performed the literature review and drafted the section on acute liver failure; Brindle WM, Donnelly MC, McConville PM, Stroud TG, and Bandieri L critically revised the manuscript; Plevris JN was senior author and critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There are no conflicts of interest to report.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

ORCID number: Rebecca K Grant 0000-0002-9440-1192; William M Brindle 0000-0002-8972-0332; Mhairi C Donnelly 0000-0001-7655-7284; Pauline M McConville 0000-0002-4655-2367; Thomas G Stroud 0000-0003-1701-898X; John N Plevris 0000-0001-8863-8778.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: British Society of Gastroenterology, No. BSG64199.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

- 1 World Health Organization. Schizophrenia. [cited 2022 May 23]. Available from: https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/schizophrenia
- Carney CP, Jones L, Woolson RF. Medical comorbidity in women and men with schizophrenia: a population-based 2 controlled study. J Gen Intern Med 2006; 21: 1133-1137 [PMID: 17026726 DOI: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00563.x]
- Hjorthøj C, Stürup AE, McGrath JJ, Nordentoft M. Years of potential life lost and life expectancy in schizophrenia: a 3 systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 2017; 4: 295-301 [PMID: 28237639 DOI: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30078-0]
- 4 Fuller BE, Rodriguez VL, Linke A, Sikirica M, Dirani R, Hauser P. Prevalence of liver disease in veterans with bipolar disorder or schizophrenia. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2011; 33: 232-237 [PMID: 21601719 DOI: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2011.03.006
- 5 Hsu JH, Chien IC, Lin CH, Chou YJ, Chou P. Increased risk of chronic liver disease in patients with schizophrenia: a population-based cohort study. Psychosomatics 2014; 55: 163-171 [PMID: 23932529 DOI: 10.1016/j.psym.2013.06.001]
- 6 Laursen TM, Munk-Olsen T, Gasse C. Chronic somatic comorbidity and excess mortality due to natural causes in persons with schizophrenia or bipolar affective disorder. PLoS One 2011; 6: e24597 [PMID: 21935426 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024597]
- Crump C, Winkleby MA, Sundquist K, Sundquist J. Comorbidities and mortality in persons with schizophrenia: a 7 Swedish national cohort study. Am J Psychiatry 2013; 170: 324-333 [PMID: 23318474 DOI: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12050599]
- 8 BMJ Best Practice. Metabolic Syndrome. [cited 2022 Apr 30]. Available from: https://bestpractice.bmj.com/topics/engb/212
- 9 Soto-Angona Ó, Anmella G, Valdés-Florido MJ, De Uribe-Viloria N, Carvalho AF, Penninx BWJH, Berk M. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) as a neglected metabolic companion of psychiatric disorders: common pathways and future approaches. BMC Med 2020; 18: 261 [PMID: 32998725 DOI: 10.1186/s12916-020-01713-8]
- 10 Papanastasiou E. The prevalence and mechanisms of metabolic syndrome in schizophrenia: a review. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol 2013; 3: 33-51 [PMID: 23983991 DOI: 10.1177/2045125312464385]
- 11 Mitchell AJ, Vancampfort D, Sweers K, van Winkel R, Yu W, De Hert M. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and metabolic abnormalities in schizophrenia and related disorders -- a systematic review and meta-analysis. Schizophr Bull 2013; 39: 306-318 [PMID: 22207632 DOI: 10.1093/schbul/sbr148]
- 12 Pérez-Iglesias R, Martínez-García O, Pardo-Garcia G, Amado JA, Garcia-Unzueta MT, Tabares-Seisdedos R, Crespo-Facorro B. Course of weight gain and metabolic abnormalities in first treated episode of psychosis: the first year is a critical period for development of cardiovascular risk factors. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2014; 17: 41-51 [PMID: 24103107 DOI: 10.1017/S1461145713001053]
- 13 Bobes J, Arango C, Aranda P, Carmena R, Garcia-Garcia M, Rejas J; CLAMORS Study Collaborative Group. Cardiovascular and metabolic risk in outpatients with schizophrenia treated with antipsychotics: results of the CLAMORS Study. Schizophr Res 2007; 90: 162-173 [PMID: 17123783 DOI: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.09.025]
- NICE. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): assessment and management. [cited 2022 May 2]. Available from: 14 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng49/chapter/Context



- Xu H, Zhuang X. Atypical antipsychotics-induced metabolic syndrome and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a critical 15 review. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 2019; 15: 2087-2099 [PMID: 31413575 DOI: 10.2147/NDT.S208061]
- 16 Morlán-Coarasa MJ, Arias-Loste MT, Ortiz-García de la Foz V, Martínez-García O, Alonso-Martín C, Crespo J, Romero-Gómez M, Fábrega E, Crespo-Facorro B. Incidence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and metabolic dysfunction in first episode schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders: a 3-year prospective randomized interventional study. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2016; 233: 3947-3952 [PMID: 27620899 DOI: 10.1007/s00213-016-4422-7]
- 17 Koreki A, Mori H, Nozaki S, Koizumi T, Suzuki H, Onaya M. Risk of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Patients With Schizophrenia Treated With Antipsychotic Drugs: A Cross-sectional Study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2021; 41: 474-477 [PMID: 34086626 DOI: 10.1097/JCP.000000000001421]
- Yan J, Hou C, Liang Y. The prevalence and risk factors of young male schizophrenics with non-alcoholic fatty liver 18 disease. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 2017; 13: 1493-1498 [PMID: 28652750 DOI: 10.2147/NDT.S137183]
- 19 Ma Q, Yang F, Ma B, Jing W, Liu J, Guo M, Li J, Wang Z, Liu M. Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mental disorder inpatients in China: an observational study. Hepatol Int 2021; 15: 127-136 [PMID: 33512644 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-020-10132-z
- Lee TC, Wu BJ, Yu CH, Wang TJ. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease among long-term hospitalized patients with 20 schizophrenia in a public psychiatric hospital. Taiwanese J of Psychiatr 2021; 35: 197 [DOI: 10.4103/TPSY.TPSY_38_21]
- 21 Aarøe ASK, Odgaard Maeng K, Leifsdottir Jacobsen R, Eggert Jensen S, Graff C, Polcwiartek C, Bolvig Mark E, Dalsgaard AB, Tranekaer Hostrup C, Veiss-Pedersen P, Frøkjaer JB, Aagaard J, Nielsen RE. Hepatic steatosis in patients with schizophrenia: a clinical cross-sectional study. Nord J Psychiatry 2022; 76: 114-119 [PMID: 34289326 DOI: 10.1080/08039488.2021.1939779]
- 22 Kim SR, Kim JY, Kim HY, Nho JH, Kim YH, Min SY. Factors related to malnutrition in community-dwelling patients with schizophrenia. Perspect Psychiatr Care 2019; 55: 415-423 [PMID: 30430589 DOI: 10.1111/ppc.12327]
- 23 Hughes E, Bassi S, Gilbody S, Bland M, Martin F. Prevalence of HIV, hepatitis B, and hepatitis C in people with severe mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 2016; 3: 40-48 [PMID: 26620388 DOI: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00357-0]
- 24 Chang CH, Liu CY, Chen SJ, Tsai HC. Hepatitis C virus and hepatitis B virus in patients with schizophrenia. Medicine (Baltimore) 2021; 100: e26218 [PMID: 34087899 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000026218]
- 25 Bauer-Staeb C, Jörgensen L, Lewis G, Dalman C, Osborn DPJ, Hayes JF. Prevalence and risk factors for HIV, hepatitis B, and hepatitis C in people with severe mental illness: a total population study of Sweden. Lancet Psychiatry 2017; 4: 685-693 [PMID: 28687481 DOI: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30253-5]
- Freudenreich O, Gandhi RT, Walsh JP, Henderson DC, Goff DC. Hepatitis C in schizophrenia: screening experience in a 26 community-dwelling clozapine cohort. Psychosomatics 2007; 48: 405-411 [PMID: 17878499 DOI: 10.1176/APPI.PSY.48.5.405
- 27 Sockalingam S, Shammi C, Powell V, Barker L, Remington G. Determining rates of hepatitis C in a clozapine treated cohort. Schizophr Res 2010; 124: 86-90 [PMID: 20605572 DOI: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.06.005]
- Hunt GE, Large MM, Cleary M, Lai HMX, Saunders JB. Prevalence of comorbid substance use in schizophrenia 28 spectrum disorders in community and clinical settings, 1990-2017: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018; 191: 234-258 [PMID: 30153606 DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.07.011]
- 29 Archibald L, Brunette MF, Wallin DJ, Green AI. Alcohol Use Disorder and Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder. Alcohol Res 2019; 40 [PMID: 31886105 DOI: 10.35946/arcr.v40.1.06]
- Grant R, Brindle W, Plevris J. P262 Outcomes in patients with schizophrenia admitted under gastroenterology. Gut. 30 2022;71(A168). [Abstract only] [DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2022-BSG.316]
- SIGN. SIGN 131 Management of schizophrenia [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Jun 13]. Available from: 31 https://www.sign.ac.uk/assets/sign131.pdf
- NICE Quality Standard [QS80]. Psychosis and schizophrenia in adults-Quality Statement 4: Treatment with clozapine. 32 2015 [cited 2022 Jun 13]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs80/chapter/quality-statement-4-treatmentwith-clozapine#:~:text=Clozapine%20is%20the%20only%20drug intolerant%20of%2C%20conventional%20antipsychotic%20drugs.
- Macfarlane B, Davies S, Mannan K, Sarsam R, Pariente D, Dooley J. Fatal acute fulminant liver failure due to clozapine: 33 a case report and review of clozapine-induced hepatotoxicity. Gastroenterology 1997; 112: 1707-1709 [PMID: 9136851 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5085(97)70054-4]
- Chang A, Krygier DS, Chatur N, Yoshida EM. Clozapine-induced fatal fulminant hepatic failure: a case report. Can J 34 Gastroenterol 2009; 23: 376-378 [PMID: 19440569 DOI: 10.1155/2009/503916]
- Clozapine. 2017 Oct 16. In: LiverTox: Clinical and Research Information on Drug-Induced Liver Injury [Internet]. 35 Bethesda (MD): National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2012- [PMID: 31643731]
- 36 Chaplin AC, Curley MA, Wanless IR. Re: Recent case report of clozapine-induced acute hepatic failure. Can J Gastroenterol 2010; 24: 739-40; author reply 741 [PMID: 21165382 DOI: 10.1155/2010/535026]
- 37 Quetiapine. 2018 May 15. In: LiverTox: Clinical and Research Information on Drug-Induced Liver Injury [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2012- [PMID: 31643928]
- 38 Bai W, Liu ZH, Jiang YY, Zhang QE, Rao WW, Cheung T, Hall BJ, Xiang YT. Worldwide prevalence of suicidal ideation and suicide plan among people with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis and systematic review of epidemiological surveys. Transl Psychiatry 2021; 11: 552 [PMID: 34716297 DOI: 10.1038/s41398-021-01671-6]
- Jepsen P, Qin P, Nørgård B, Agerbo E, Mortensen PB, Vilstrup H, Sørensen HT. The association between admission for 39 poisoning with paracetamol or other weak analgesics and subsequent admission for psychiatric disorder: a Danish nationwide case-control study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005; 22: 645-651 [PMID: 16181304 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2005.02638.x]
- 40 Chen AT, Chibnall JT, Nasrallah HA. Placebo-controlled augmentation trials of the antioxidant NAC in schizophrenia: A review. Ann Clin Psychiatry 2016; 28: 190-196 [PMID: 27490835]



- 41 Zheng W, Zhang QE, Cai DB, Yang XH, Qiu Y, Ungvari GS, Ng CH, Berk M, Ning YP, Xiang YT. N-acetylcysteine for major mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2018; 137: 391-400 [PMID: 29457216 DOI: 10.1111/acps.12862]
- 42 Deepmala, Slattery J, Kumar N, Delhey L, Berk M, Dean O, Spielholz C, Frye R. Clinical trials of N-acetylcysteine in psychiatry and neurology: A systematic review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2015; 55: 294-321 [PMID: 25957927 DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.04.015
- Simpson KJ, Bates CM, Henderson NC, Wigmore SJ, Garden OJ, Lee A, Pollok A, Masterton G, Hayes PC. The 43 utilization of liver transplantation in the management of acute liver failure: comparison between acetaminophen and nonacetaminophen etiologies. Liver Transpl 2009; 15: 600-609 [PMID: 19479803 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21681]
- 44 Clozaril Connect. Clozapine and liver function. 2018 [cited 2022 Jun 13]. Available from: https://www.hcpinfo.clozaril.co.uk/-/media/clozarilcouk/pdf/download/00812_01_clozapine_and_liver_function_v1.pdf
- 45 Siau K, Chapman W, Sharma N, Tripathi D, Iqbal T, Bhala N. Management of acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding: an update for the general physician. J R Coll Physicians Edinb 2017; 47: 218-230 [PMID: 29465096 DOI: 10.4997/JRCPE.2017.303
- De Hert M, Hautekeete M, De Wilde D, Peuskens J. High prevalence of Helicobacter pylori in institutionalized schizophrenic patients. Schizophr Res 1997; 26: 243-244 [PMID: 9323357 DOI: 10.1016/s0920-9964(97)00069-8]
- Yilmaz Y, Gul CB, Arabul M, Eren MA. Helicobacter pylori: a role in schizophrenia? Med Sci Monit 2008; 14: HY13-47 HY16 [PMID: 18591925]
- 48 Ozdemir V, Jamal MM, Osapay K, et al Cosegregation of Gastrointestinal Ulcers and Schizophrenia in a Large National Inpatient Discharge Database. Journal of Investigative Medicine. 2007;55(6):315-320.
- Hussar AE. Peptic ulcer in long-term institutionalized schizophrenic patients. Psychosom Med 1968; 30: 374-377 [PMID: 5672039 DOI: 10.1097/00006842-196807000-00002]
- Liao CH, Chang CS, Chang SN, Muo CH, Lane HY, Sung FC, Kao CH. The association of peptic ulcer and 50 schizophrenia: a population-based study. J Psychosom Res 2014; 77: 541-546 [PMID: 25199406 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.08.005
- Foskett N, Curkendall S, Princic N, Lenhart G, Balas B, Milosavljevic-Ristic S. Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding in 51 Patients with Schizophrenia in the United States. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2014; 23: 276
- 52 Cotton CC, Farkas DK, Foskett N, Sørensen HT, Milosavljevic-Ristic S, Balas B, Ehrenstein V. Risk of Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding and Gastroduodenal Ulcers in Persons With Schizophrenia: A Danish Cohort Study. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2019; 10: e00005 [PMID: 30829916 DOI: 10.14309/ctg.000000000000000]
- Gao J, Wang Y, Jia Z, Zhou T, Zhang X, Zu G. Incidence of Gastric Cancer in the Patients with Schizophrenia: A Meta-53 analysis. Inter J of Gastroenterol 2021; 5: 48-52 [DOI: 10.11648.J.IJG.20210502.12]
- 54 BMJ Best Practice. Coeliac disease [Internet]. [cited 2022 May 3]. Available from: https://bestpractice.bmj.com/topics/en-gb/636
- 55 Kalaydjian AE, Eaton W, Cascella N, Fasano A. The gluten connection: the association between schizophrenia and celiac disease. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2006; 113: 82-90 [PMID: 16423158 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00687.x]
- Bender L. Childhood schizophrenia. Psychiatr Q 1953; 27: 663-681 [PMID: 13112324 DOI: 10.1007/BF01562517] 56
- GRAFF H, HANDFORD A. Celiac syndrome in the case histories of five schizophrenics. Psychiatr Q 1961; 35: 306-313 57 [PMID: 13707687 DOI: 10.1007/BF01566581]
- Dohan FC. Wheat "consumption" and hospital admissions for schizophrenia during World War II. A preliminary report. 58 Am J Clin Nutr 1966; 18: 7-10 [PMID: 5900428 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/18.1.7]
- Dohan FC, Grasberger JC. Relapsed schizophrenics: earlier discharge from the hospital after cereal-free, milk-free diet. 59 Am J Psychiatry 1973; 130: 685-688 [PMID: 4739849 DOI: 10.1176/ajp.130.6.685]
- Dohan FC, Levitt DR, Kushnir LD. Abnormal behavior after intracerebral injection of polypeptides from wheat gliadin: 60 possible relevance to schizophrenia. Pavlov J Biol Sci 1978; 13: 73-82 [PMID: 567316 DOI: 10.1007/BF03000668]
- 61 Dohan FC, Harper EH, Clark MH, Rodrigue RB, Zigas V. Is schizophrenia rare if grain is rare? Biol Psychiatry 1984; 19: 385-399 [PMID: 6609726]
- Dohan FC, Grasberger JC, Lowell FM, Johnston HT Jr, Arbegast AW. Relapsed schizophrenics: more rapid improvement 62 on a milk- and cereal-free diet. Br J Psychiatry 1969; 115: 595-596 [PMID: 5820122 DOI: 10.1192/bjp.115.522.595]
- Wijarnpreecha K, Jaruvongvanich V, Cheungpasitporn W, Ungprasert P. Association between celiac disease and 63 schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 30: 442-446 [PMID: 29280918 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001048
- 64 Eaton W, Mortensen PB, Agerbo E, Byrne M, Mors O, Ewald H. Coeliac disease and schizophrenia: population based case control study with linkage of Danish national registers. BMJ 2004; 328: 438-439 [PMID: 14976100 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.328.7437.438
- Ludvigsson JF, Osby U, Ekbom A, Montgomery SM. Coeliac disease and risk of schizophrenia and other psychosis: a 65 general population cohort study. Scand J Gastroenterol 2007; 42: 179-185 [PMID: 17327937 DOI: 10.1080/00365520600863472]
- Benros ME, Nielsen PR, Nordentoft M, Eaton WW, Dalton SO, Mortensen PB. Autoimmune diseases and severe 66 infections as risk factors for schizophrenia: a 30-year population-based register study. Am J Psychiatry 2011; 168: 1303-1310 [PMID: 22193673 DOI: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11030516]
- Chen SJ, Chao YL, Chen CY, Chang CM, Wu EC, Wu CS, Yeh HH, Chen CH, Tsai HJ. Prevalence of autoimmune 67 diseases in in-patients with schizophrenia: nationwide population-based study. Br J Psychiatry 2012; 200: 374-380 [PMID: 22442099 DOI: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.092098]
- 68 West J, Logan RF, Hubbard RB, Card TR. Risk of schizophrenia in people with coeliac disease, ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease: a general population-based study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006; 23: 71-74 [PMID: 16393282 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.02720.x
- 69 Kelly DL, Demyanovich HK, Rodriguez KM, Ciháková D, Talor MV, McMahon RP, Richardson CM, Vyas G, Adams HA, August SM, Fasano A, Cascella NG, Feldman SM, Liu F, Sayer MA, Powell MM, Wehring HJ, Buchanan RW, Gold



JM, Carpenter WT, Eaton WW. Randomized controlled trial of a gluten-free diet in patients with schizophrenia positive for antigliadin antibodies (AGA IgG): a pilot feasibility study. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2019; 44: 269-276 [PMID: 30938127 DOI: 10.1503/jpn.180174]

- 70 Mortensen PB, Juel K. Mortality and causes of death in first admitted schizophrenic patients. Br J Psychiatry 1993; 163: 183-189 [PMID: 8075909 DOI: 10.1192.bjp.163.2.183]
- 71 Saku M, Tokudome S, Ikeda M, Kono S, Makimoto K, Uchimura H, Mukai A, Yoshimura T. Mortality in psychiatric patients, with a specific focus on cancer mortality associated with schizophrenia. Int J Epidemiol 1995; 24: 366-372 [PMID: 7635598 DOI: 10.1093/ije/24.2.366]
- Perini G, Grigoletti L, Hanife B, Biggeri A, Tansella M, Amaddeo F. Cancer mortality among psychiatric patients treated 72 in a community-based system of care: a 25-year case register study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2014; 49: 693-701 [PMID: 24092521 DOI: 10.1007/s00127-013-0765-0]
- 73 Tran E, Rouillon F, Loze JY, Casadebaig F, Philippe A, Vitry F, Limosin F. Cancer mortality in patients with schizophrenia: an 11-year prospective cohort study. Cancer 2009; 115: 3555-3562 [PMID: 19548261 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.24383]
- Olfson M, Gerhard T, Huang C, Crystal S, Stroup TS. Premature Mortality Among Adults With Schizophrenia in the 74 United States. JAMA Psychiatry 2015; 72: 1172-1181 [PMID: 26509694 DOI: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.1737]
- Kisely S, Crowe E, Lawrence D. Cancer-related mortality in people with mental illness. JAMA Psychiatry 2013; 70: 209-75 217 [PMID: 23247556 DOI: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.278]
- 76 Ni L, Wu J, Long Y, Tao J, Xu J, Yuan X, Yu N, Wu R, Zhang Y. Mortality of site-specific cancer in patients with schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Psychiatry 2019; 19: 323 [PMID: 31660909 DOI: 10.1186/s12888-019-2332-z
- Hippisley-Cox J, Vinogradova Y, Coupland C, Parker C. Risk of malignancy in patients with schizophrenia or bipolar 77 disorder: nested case-control study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2007; 64: 1368-1376 [PMID: 18056544 DOI: 10.1001/archpsyc.64.12.1368]
- 78 Inagaki M, Fujiwara M, Nakaya N, Fujimori M, Higuchi Y, Hayashibara C, So R, Kakeda K, Kodama M, Uchitomi Y, Yamada N. Low Cancer Screening Rates among Japanese People with Schizophrenia: A Cross-Sectional Study. Tohoku J Exp Med 2018; 244: 209-218 [PMID: 29540627 DOI: 10.1620/tjem.244.209]
- Fujiwara M, Yamada Y, Shimazu T, Kodama M, So R, Matsushita T, Yoshimura Y, Horii S, Fujimori M, Takahashi H, 79 Nakaya N, Kakeda K, Miyaji T, Hinotsu S, Harada K, Okada H, Uchitomi Y, Yamada N, Inagaki M. Encouraging participation in colorectal cancer screening for people with schizophrenia: A randomized controlled trial. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2021; 144: 318-328 [PMID: 34242396 DOI: 10.1111/acps.13348]
- Jones GR, Lyons M, Plevris N, Jenkinson PW, Bisset C, Burgess C, Din S, Fulforth J, Henderson P, Ho GT, Kirkwood 80 K, Noble C, Shand AG, Wilson DC, Arnott ID, Lees CW. IBD prevalence in Lothian, Scotland, derived by capturerecapture methodology. Gut 2019; 68: 1953-1960 [PMID: 31300515 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-318936]
- Bernstein CN, Hitchon CA, Walld R, Bolton JM, Sareen J, Walker JR, Graff LA, Patten SB, Singer A, Lix LM, El-81 Gabalawy R, Katz A, Fisk JD, Marrie RA; CIHR Team in Defining the Burden and Managing the Effects of Psychiatric Comorbidity in Chronic Immunoinflammatory Disease. Increased Burden of Psychiatric Disorders in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2019; 25: 360-368 [PMID: 29986021 DOI: 10.1093/ibd/izy235]
- 82 Ludvigsson JF, Olén O, Larsson H, Halfvarson J, Almqvist C, Lichtenstein P, Butwicka A. Association Between Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Psychiatric Morbidity and Suicide: A Swedish Nationwide Population-Based Cohort Study With Sibling Comparisons. J Crohns Colitis 2021; 15: 1824-1836 [PMID: 33640971 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjab039
- 83 Sung KY, Zhang B, Wang HE, Bai YM, Tsai SJ, Su TP, Chen TJ, Hou MC, Lu CL, Wang YP, Chen MH. Schizophrenia and risk of new-onset inflammatory bowel disease: a nationwide longitudinal study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2022; 55: 1192-1201 [PMID: 35261051 DOI: 10.1111/apt.16856]
- Qian L, He X, Gao F, Fan Y, Zhao B, Ma Q, Yan B, Wang W, Ma X, Yang J. Estimation of the bidirectional relationship 84 between schizophrenia and inflammatory bowel disease using the mendelian randomization approach. Schizophrenia (Heidelb) 2022; 8: 31 [PMID: 35347152 DOI: 10.1038/s41537-022-00244-w]
- 85 Uellendahl-Werth F, Maj C, Borisov O, Juzenas S, Wacker EM, Jørgensen IF, Steiert TA, Bej S, Krawitz P, Hoffmann P, Schramm C, Wolkenhauer O, Banasik K, Brunak S, Schreiber S, Karlsen TH, Degenhardt F, Nöthen M, Franke A, Folseraas T, Ellinghaus D. Cross-tissue transcriptome-wide association studies identify susceptibility genes shared between schizophrenia and inflammatory bowel disease. Commun Biol 2022; 5: 80 [PMID: 35058554 DOI: 10.1038/s42003-022-03031-6]
- 86 NICE. Irritable Bowel Syndrome in Adults. [cited 2022 May 23]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gs114/documents/irritable-bowel-syndrome-in-adults-gs-briefing-paper2
- Gupta S, Masand PS, Kaplan D, Bhandary A, Hendricks S. The relationship between schizophrenia and irritable bowel 87 syndrome (IBS). Schizophr Res 1997; 23: 265-268 [PMID: 9075306 DOI: 10.1016/s0920-9964(96)00099-0]
- 88 Kashani SA, Mari MU, Ilyas M, Rasool G, Rumi J, Ali H, Nasir A, Kakar Z, Chand R. Frequency of subtypes of irritable bowel syndrome in subtypes of schizophrenia. J of Psychol & Clini Psychiat7: 11-12 [DOI: 10.15406.jpcpy.2017.07.00458]
- Taylor DM, Barnes TRE, Young AH. The Maudsley Prescribing Guidelines in Psychiatry. 13th ed. Wiley Blackwell, 89 2018: 193
- Shirazi A, Stubbs B, Gomez L, Moore S, Gaughran F, Flanagan RJ, MacCabe JH, Lally J. Prevalence and Predictors of 90 Clozapine-Associated Constipation: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Mol Sci 2016; 17 [PMID: 27271593 DOI: 10.3390/ijms17060863]
- 91 Nielsen J, Meyer JM. Risk factors for ileus in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2012; 38: 592-598 [PMID: 21112965 DOI: 10.1093/schbul/sbg1371
- Chougule A, Praharaj SK, Bhat SM, Sharma PSVN. Prevalence and Factors Associated With Clozapine-Related 92 Constipation: An Observational Study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2018; 38: 42-46 [PMID: 29257785 DOI:



10.1097/JCP.00000000000824]

- 93 Every-Palmer S, Inns SJ, Grant E, Ellis PM. Effects of Clozapine on the Gut: Cross-Sectional Study of Delayed Gastric Emptying and Small and Large Intestinal Dysmotility. CNS Drugs 2019; 33: 81-91 [PMID: 30456745 DOI: 10.1007/s40263-018-0587-4]
- 94 Blackman G, Kapila A, Grosskopf CM, Dratcu L. Focussing on the fundaments - assessing and treating Clozapine Induced Gastrointestinal Hypomotility. Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract 2020; 24: 18-19 [PMID: 31910056 DOI: 10.1080/13651501.2019.1710538]
- Kapur M, Shah RA, Ferro A, Basyuni S, Brassett C, Santhanam V. Re: Sexual dimorphism and geographical variance: 95 their impact on the reliability of the antilingula as a landmark in human mandibular surgery. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2022; 60: 370-371 [PMID: 35164985 DOI: 10.1016/j.bjoms.2022.01.001]
- 96 Patel RS, Veluri N, Suchorab A, Shah K, Verma G. Clozapine-Induced Constipation: A Case Report and Review of Current Management Guidelines. Cureus 2021; 13: e14846 [PMID: 34123610 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.14846]
- Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, Le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, Fernandes GR, Tap J, Bruls T, Batto JM, 97 Bertalan M, Borruel N, Casellas F, Fernandez L, Gautier L, Hansen T, Hattori M, Hayashi T, Kleerebezem M, Kurokawa K, Leclerc M, Levenez F, Manichanh C, Nielsen HB, Nielsen T, Pons N, Poulain J, Qin J, Sicheritz-Ponten T, Tims S, Torrents D, Ugarte E, Zoetendal EG, Wang J, Guarner F, Pedersen O, de Vos WM, Brunak S, Doré J; MetaHIT Consortium, Antolín M, Artiguenave F, Blottiere HM, Almeida M, Brechot C, Cara C, Chervaux C, Cultrone A, Delorme C, Denariaz G, Dervyn R, Foerstner KU, Friss C, van de Guchte M, Guedon E, Haimet F, Huber W, van Hylckama-Vlieg J, Jamet A, Juste C, Kaci G, Knol J, Lakhdari O, Layec S, Le Roux K, Maguin E, Mérieux A, Melo Minardi R, M'rini C, Muller J, Oozeer R, Parkhill J, Renault P, Rescigno M, Sanchez N, Sunagawa S, Torrejon A, Turner K, Vandemeulebrouck G, Varela E, Winogradsky Y, Zeller G, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, Bork P. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. Nature 2011; 473: 174-180 [PMID: 21508958 DOI: 10.1038/nature09944]
- Szeligowski T, Yun AL, Lennox BR, Burnet PWJ. The Gut Microbiome and Schizophrenia: The Current State of the 98 Field and Clinical Applications. Front Psychiatry 2020; 11: 156 [PMID: 32226399 DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00156]
- Patrono E, Svoboda J, Stuchlík A. Schizophrenia, the gut microbiota, and new opportunities from optogenetic 99 manipulations of the gut-brain axis. Behav Brain Funct 2021; 17: 7 [PMID: 34158061 DOI: 10.1186/s12993-021-00180-2]
- 100 Kelly JR, Minuto C, Cryan JF, Clarke G, Dinan TG. The role of the gut microbiome in the development of schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2021; 234: 4-23 [PMID: 32336581 DOI: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.02.010]
- 101 Munawar N, Ahsan K, Muhammad K, Ahmad A, Anwar MA, Shah I, Al Ameri AK, Al Mughairbi F. Hidden Role of Gut Microbiome Dysbiosis in Schizophrenia: Antipsychotics or Psychobiotics as Therapeutics? Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34299291 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22147671]
- 102 Kao AC, Spitzer S, Anthony DC, Lennox B, Burnet PWJ. Prebiotic attenuation of olanzapine-induced weight gain in rats: analysis of central and peripheral biomarkers and gut microbiota. Transl Psychiatry 2018; 8: 66 [PMID: 29540664 DOI: 10.1038/s41398-018-0116-8]



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5530-5546

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5530

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Ultrasound-based artificial intelligence in gastroenterology and hepatology

Ji-Qiao Liu, Jia-Yu Ren, Xiao-Lan Xu, Li-Yan Xiong, Yue-Xiang Peng, Xiao-Fang Pan, Christoph F Dietrich, Xin-Wu Cui

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Amin A, United Arab Emirates; Surani S, United States

Received: July 1, 2022 Peer-review started: July 1, 2022 First decision: July 13, 2022 Revised: August 12, 2022 Accepted: September 22, 2022 Article in press: September 22, 2022 Published online: October 14, 2022



Ji-Qiao Liu, Jia-Yu Ren, Xiao-Lan Xu, Li-Yan Xiong, Xin-Wu Cui, Department of Medical Ultrasound, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China

Yue-Xiang Peng, Department of Ultrasound, Wuhan Third Hospital, Tongren Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China

Xiao-Fang Pan, Health Medical Department, Dalian Municipal Central Hospital, Dalian 116000, Liaoning Province, China

Christoph F Dietrich, Department Allgemeine Innere Medizin, Kliniken Hirslanden Beau Site, Salem und Permanence, Bern 3003, Switzerland

Corresponding author: Xin-Wu Cui, MD, PhD, Professor, Director, Department of Medical Ultrasound, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, No. 1095 Jiefang Avenue, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China. cuixinwu@live.cn

Abstract

Artificial intelligence (AI), especially deep learning, is gaining extensive attention for its excellent performance in medical image analysis. It can automatically make a quantitative assessment of complex medical images and help doctors to make more accurate diagnoses. In recent years, AI based on ultrasound has been shown to be very helpful in diffuse liver diseases and focal liver lesions, such as analyzing the severity of nonalcoholic fatty liver and the stage of liver fibrosis, identifying benign and malignant liver lesions, predicting the microvascular invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma, curative transarterial chemoembolization effect, and prognoses after thermal ablation. Moreover, AI based on endoscopic ultrasonography has been applied in some gastrointestinal diseases, such as distinguishing gastric mesenchymal tumors, detection of pancreatic cancer and intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms, and predicting the preoperative tumor deposits in rectal cancer. This review focused on the basic technical knowledge about AI and the clinical application of AI in ultrasound of liver and gastroenterology diseases. Lastly, we discuss the challenges and future perspectives of AI.

Key Words: Artificial intelligence; Ultrasound; Liver; Gastroenterology; Deep learning



©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Artificial intelligence (AI) based on ultrasound has been confirmed to be helpful in diagnosing diffuse liver diseases and focal liver lesions, such as analyzing the severity of nonalcoholic fatty liver and the stage of liver fibrosis, identifying benign and malignant liver lesions, predicting microvascular invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma, curative transarterial chemoembolization effect, and prognoses after thermal ablation. AI based on endoscopic ultrasonography has been applied in some gastrointestinal diseases. We focused on basic technical knowledge about AI and the aforementioned clinical application in the ultrasound of liver and gastroenterology. Additionally, we discuss the challenges and future perspectives of AI.

Citation: Liu JQ, Ren JY, Xu XL, Xiong LY, Peng YX, Pan XF, Dietrich CF, Cui XW. Ultrasound-based artificial intelligence in gastroenterology and hepatology. *World J Gastroenterol* 2022; 28(38): 5530-5546 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5530.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5530

INTRODUCTION

Liver disease causes two million deaths per year in the world among which cirrhosis is the 11th leading cause of death in the world and liver cancer is the 16th leading cause of death[1]. The prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is 25.0% and is estimated to be 33.5% by 2030[2]. Gastrointestinal diseases affect an estimated 60 to 70 million American citizens annually. It is reported that pancreatic cancer (PC) is one of the top five causes of death from cancer, and colorectal cancer accounts for 8.5% of cancer-related deaths[3-5]. Therefore, it is of great importance to pay attention to these diseases.

In clinical practice, many imaging techniques such as X-ray, computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and ultrasound have played a vital role in the detection and treatment of diseases[6]. Ultrasound, a noninvasive and real-time diagnostic technique, is the most commonly used method for detecting and diagnosing human digestive diseases[7]. However, the interpretation and analysis of ultrasound images depend deeply on the subjective judgment and experience of human experts. Radiologists may make mistakes due to exhaustion when dealing with a large number of images[8].

Artificial intelligence (AI) is defined as computer algorithms created by humans and improved with analogs of the thoughts, judgments, and reactions that take place in the human brain. In recent years, radiologists have increasingly embraced the aid of AI-powered diagnoses. AI can make a quantitative analysis by recognizing the information of images automatically and is widely applied in the medical images of ultrasound in diffuse liver diseases, focal liver lesions, PC, and colorectal cancer. In this review, we described the development of AI-based ultrasound in the aforementioned applications. In addition, we also discussed the future opportunities and challenges of AI-based ultrasound.

AI

Currently, the algorithms of AI used in medical images mainly include traditional machine learning algorithms and deep learning.

Machine learning

Machine learning is described as a kind of data science that offers computers with the capacity to study without being programmed with specific rules[9]. It focuses on computer algorithms that are studied from the training model and give predictions on another model[10]. Machine learning depends primarily on the predefined characteristics that display the regular patterns inherent in models acquired from regions of interest with explicit parameters on the basis of expert experience. Then, other medical image features, such as various mass shape, size, and echo, can be quantified.

Radiomics, which belongs to traditional machine learning, is a popular field of study related to the acquisition and assessment of patterns within medical images, including CT, MRI, and ultrasound. These patterns include complicated patterns that are difficult to recognize or analyze by the human eye [11].

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Deep learning

Deep learning is at the leading edge of AI and is developing rapidly. Deep learning is described as a group of artificial neural network (ANN) algorithms, which include many hidden layers. Namely, deep learning depends on a subset of algorithms that try to model high-level abstractions[12].

Recently, convolutional neural networks (CNNs) are the preferred type of deep learning architecture in the assessment of medical images[13]. CNNs consist of an input layer, multiple hidden layers, and an output layer (Figure 1). The hidden layers include convolutional layers, pooling layers, connected layers, and normalization layers. Convolutional layers and pooling layers can complete feature extraction and aggregation[9].

APPLICATION OF ULTRASOUND-BASED AI IN HEPATOLOGY

Diffuse liver diseases

Diffuse liver diseases display a failure in the metabolic and synthesis processes of the liver[14]. Liver biopsy is the gold standard for the diagnosis of fibrosis and NAFLD. However, liver biopsy is an invasive process that has many complications such as hemorrhage, biliary peritonitis, and pneumo-thorax[15]. In addition, liver biopsy is not feasible for the long-term management of patients with chronic liver diseases. Noninvasive liver imaging methods such as CT, MRI, and ultrasound have been extensively studied. Ultrasound is one of most common methods to diagnose liver diseases due to its noninvasiveness, inexpensive price, and real-time ability. Machine learning algorithms based on ultrasound have been applied for analysis of steatosis and the staging of liver fibrosis. Table 1 shows the application of ultrasound-based AI in diffuse liver disease.

Fatty liver diseases: An excess amount of fat in the liver cells is found in fatty liver diseases (FLD). The main causes of FLD include obesity, alcoholism, diabetes, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, drugs, and toxins [16,17]. FLD is related to the growing risk of cirrhosis and liver cancer. The most common cause of FLD is NAFLD, which ranges in prevalence from 25% to 45%[18]. Several noninvasive imaging methods such as CT, MRI, and ultrasound can diagnose NAFLD[19]. Ultrasound is the cheapest diagnostic method with 93% sensitivity, while hepatic steatosis is greater than 33%[18].

Conventional ultrasound is commonly used for NAFLD evaluation, but its qualitative nature, doctor dependency, and unsatisfactory accuracy limits the application. Moreover, the ultrasound images of fatty liver and early cirrhosis have many common features, making it hard to distinguish the two diseases by the human eye[20].

In recent years, ultrasound-based AI has demonstrated high accuracy for detection of steatosis and represents excellent reproducibility and reliability.

Byra *et al*[21] created a CNN model to acquire features from B-mode ultrasound image. It was reported that they could assess the amount of steatosis present in the liver with the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) of 0.98, and their approach may assist the doctors in automatically assessing the amount of fat in the liver clinically[21].

Biswas *et al*[22] revealed that a deep learning-based algorithm reached a superior performance for FLD identification and risk stratification with 100% accuracy and AUC of 1.0 when compared with a conventional machine learning system support vector machine (SVM) (accuracy: 82%, AUC: 0.79) and extreme learning machine (accuracy: 92%, AUC: 0.92).

Deep learning has also been applied to quantitatively evaluate NAFLD. The radiofrequency data of ultrasound displays much more information of hepatic microstructure than that of gray-scale B-mode images[23]. Han *et al*[24] developed a deep learning algorithm that used radiofrequency data for NAFLD assessment. The results revealed that the sensitivity, specificity, and positive predictive value (PPV) for NAFLD diagnosis were 97%, 94%, and 97%, respectively. They confirmed that the quantitative analysis of raw radiofrequency ultrasound signals showed the potential of identifying NAFLD and quantifying hepatic fat fraction[24].

Liver fibrosis and cirrhosis: Patients with chronic liver disease may have no clinical symptoms for an extended period, or it may develop to fibrosis and cirrhosis[25]. The activation of the resting hepatic stellate cell into an activated myofibroblast plays an important role in the progression of liver fibrosis. The activated myofibroblast expresses abundant a-smooth muscle actin and collagen[26].

Cirrhosis, which consists of various nodules and is harder than the normal liver, is the advanced period of fibrosis[27]. Liver fibrosis and early cirrhosis are confirmed to be partly reversible. Therefore, the precise diagnosis of liver fibrosis is vital for the treatment and management of chronic liver disease patients.

In clinical practice, liver biopsy is the gold standard for the diagnosis of liver fibrosis. Various noninvasive modalities such as ultrasound and elastography have been used as alternatives to liver biopsy. Some studies suggest that AI models based on ultrasound and elastography have great potential for the classification of liver fibrosis.

Table 1 Application of ultrasound-based artificial intelligence in diffuse liver diseases				
Ref.	Diseases: number of cases	Type of ultrasound	Algorithm of Al	Performance
Byra et al[21]	Severely obese patients: 55	B-mode	CNN	Sensitivity: 100%
				Specificity: 88%
				Accuracy: 96%
	Fatty liver disease: 38			AUC: 0.98
Biswas <i>et al</i> [22]	Normal patients: 27	B-mode	Deep learning	Accuracy: 100%
	Fatty liver disease: 36			AUC: 1.0
Han et al[24]	NAFLD: 140	B-mode	CNN	Sensitivity: 97%
				Specificity: 94%
	Control: 64			Accuracy: 96%
				AUC: 0.98
Yeh et al[28]	Postsurgical human liver samples:	B-mode	SVM	F2 accuracy: 91%
	20			F3 accuracy: 85%
				F4 accuracy: 81%
				F6 accuracy: 72%
Zhang et al[29]	Liver fibrosis or cirrhosis: 239	Duplex	ANN	Sensitivity: 95%
	Training group: 179			Specificity: 85%
	Validation group: 60			Accuracy: 88%
Gao et al[<mark>30</mark>]	S0: 4	B-mode	ANN	S0 accuracy: 100%
	S1: 16			S1 accuracy: 90%
				S2 accuracy: 70%
				S3 accuracy: 90%
	S2: 8			S4 accuracy: 100%
	S3: 5			
	S4: 4			
Lee <i>et al</i> [31]	Patients: 3446	B-mode	CNN	AUC: 0.86
	Internal validation set: 263			
	Internal test set: 266			
	External test set: 572			
Gatos <i>et al</i> [34,35]	Chronic liver disease: 70	Shear-wave elastography	SVM	Sensitivity: 94%
	Healthy: 56			Specificity: 81%
				Accuracy: 87%
Wang <i>et al</i> [36]	Liver fibrosis: 398	Shear-wave elastography	Deep learning radiomic	F4 AUC: 0.97
	Training group: 266			
	Validation group: 132			F3 AUC: 0.98
				F2 AUC: 0.85
Xue <i>et al</i> [38]	Liver fibrosis: 401	Elastography	CNN by TL radiomics	S2 AUC: 0.95
	Patient without fibrosis: 65			S3 AUC: 0.93
				S4 AUC: 0.93

AI: Artificial intelligence; ANN: Artificial neural network; AUC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; CNN: Convolutional neural network; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; SVM: Support vector machine; TL: Transfer learning.

Brishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Liu JQ et al. Ultrasound AI in gastroenterology and hepatology



Figure 1 Framework of convolutional neural networks. Blue dots represent multiple hidden layers.

AI based on conventional ultrasound: AI based on conventional ultrasound has been applied to improve their performance for the diagnosis and grading of liver fibrosis.

Yeh et al^[28] built an SVM model to analyze liver fibrosis. B-mode images of 20 fresh postsurgical human livers were used to assess ultrasound capacity in evaluating the stage of fibrosis. The study indicated the best classification accuracy of two, three, four, and six classes were 91%, 85%, 81%, and 72%, respectively[28]. The results confirmed that the SVM model may be suggested to assess diverse liver fibrosis stage.

Other than the B-mode ultrasound, duplex ultrasound has also been applied to diagnose liver fibrosis. Using an ANN model based on duplex ultrasound, Zhang et al[29] demonstrated that their model reached the accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity were 88.3%, 95.0%, and 85.0%, respectively. The ANN model included five ultrasonographic parameters: thickness of spleen, liver vein waveform, the hepatic parenchyma, liver artery pulsatile index, and hepatic damping index. The study suggested that their ANN model has the potential to diagnose liver fibrosis noninvasively[29].

Studies confirmed that radiomics show great performance in the grading of liver fibrosis. By the use of texture analysis to analyze ultrasound liver images, the study found the accuracies of S0-S4 were 100%, 90%, 70%, 90%, and 100%, respectively[30].

It was reported that deep learning has great potential for liver fibrosis evaluation. Lee *et al*[31] built a deep CNN and trained a four-class model (F0 vs F1 vs F23 vs F4) to predict METAVIR scores. They used 13608 ultrasound images of 3446 patients who accepted surgery, liver biopsy, or transient elastography to train the deep CNN model. The model achieved a higher AUC of 0.857 for the classification of cirrhosis compared with five radiologists (AUC range, 0.656-0.816; P < 0.05) using the external test set [31].

AI based on ultrasound elastography: ultrasound elastography has been performed to acquire quantitative assessment of liver tissue stiffness, which is related to the grades of fibrosis. These technologies include strain elastography and shear wave elastography (SWE)[32]. Recently, some studies confirmed that the AI based on SWE has great value to identify and stage liver fibrosis.

Compared to conventional radiomics, a multiparametric ultrasonic model using machine learning algorithms demonstrated better manifestation in fibrosis assessment^[33]. By quantifying color information from SWE images, Gatos et al [34,35] created an SVM model that could differentiate patients with liver diseases from controls with accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of 87.3%, 93.5% and 81.2%, respectively.

Deep learning has also been applied in the assessment of liver fibrosis. A multicenter study used deep learning radiomics on 2D-SWE ultrasound images for the classification of liver fibrosis[36]. 2D-SWE ultrasound images had higher AUCs of 0.97 for F4, 0.98 for \geq F3, and 0.85 for \geq F2 fibrosis when compared with standard 2D-SWE.

It is necessary to contain a large training dataset for deep learning. However, it is difficult and expensive to get abundant medical images in clinics. One method to solve this problem is the employment of transfer learning (TL), which can enhance the performance by TL from other areas to the ultrasound area[37]. A study developed a CNN model by TL radiomics to assess ultrasound images of gray-scale modality and elastogram modality for the grade of accurate liver fibrosis. TL in gray-scale modality and elastogram modality revealed much higher diagnostic accuracy of AUCs compared with non-TL. Multimodal gray-scale modality + elastogram modality was confirmed to be the most precise diagnostic model with AUCs of 0.930, 0.932, and 0.950 for classifying \geq S2, \geq S3, and S4, respectively. It



was suggested that this TL model had excellent performance in liver fibrosis staging in clinical applications[38].

Focal liver lesion

Focal liver lesions (FLLs) are described as an abnormal part of the liver mainly coming from hepatocytes, biliary epithelium, and mesenchymal tissue[39]. Due to its cheap price, noninvasiveness, and real-time imaging, ultrasound is the preferred method for the diagnosis of FLLs. Based on this trend, the AI models using ultrasound images have more advantages over CT and MRI in routine clinical applications[40]. Table 2 shows the application of ultrasound-based AI in FLLs.

The application of AI in the diagnosis of benign and malignant FLLs: Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the fifth most common malignancy worldwide and accounts for the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths[41]. It is vital to identify benign and malignant FLLs for patients in the early stage.

AI based on conventional ultrasound: deep learning based on B-mode ultrasound has been demonstrated to be helpful in the diagnosis of benign and malignant FLLs. A CNN model was used to distinguish benign and malignant FLLs and achieved a higher accuracy than two experts [42]. Yang *et al* [43] developed a multicenter study to improve the B-mode ultrasound diagnostic performance for FLLs. The CNN of ultrasound performed high sensitivity and specificity in detecting FLLs, and it may be helpful for less-experienced doctors to enhance their judgment in liver cancer diagnosis.

AI based on B-mode ultrasound images has also been applied for the diagnosis of primary or secondary malignant liver tumors. A study proposed machine learning for discriminating HCC and metastatic liver tumors using SVM. The results revealed a classification accuracy of 91.6% with a sensitivity of 90.0% for HCCs and 93.3% for metastatic liver tumors[44].

AI based on contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS): Recently, CEUS has become a commonly used ultrasound modality for the detection of FLLs[45]. Many studies have indicated that CEUS images had better sensitivity and specificity for the differentiation of malignant and benign tumors compared with B-mode images. One of the advantages of CEUS is that the images can be analyzed quantitatively. Time intensity curve (TIC) is a common quantitative analysis tool for CEUS[46]. Recently, AI based on CEUS images was reported to have great performance for the discrimination of FLLs.

Gatos et al[47] created a pretrained SVM algorithm to distinguish benign and malignant FLLs. In this model, a complex segmentation method based on TIC was used to detect lesions and process contours of 52 CEUS images. The accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity were 90.3%, 93.1%, and 86.9%, respectively [47]. Another study using SVM revealed that the sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy of benign and malignant grading were 94.0%, 87.1%, and 91.8%, respectively, while the classification accuracy of HCC, metastatic liver tumor, and benign were 85.7%, 87.7%, and 84.4%, respectively [46].

In addition to TIC, extracting features except TICs from a region of interest on CEUS images and videos was also applied in AI. A two-stage multiview learning framework, which was the integration of deep canonical correlation analysis and multiple kernel learning for CEUS-based computer-aided diagnosis, was proposed to identify liver tumors. The deep canonical correlation analysis-multiple kernel learning framework achieved performance for discriminating benign from malignant liver tumors with the accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of 90.4%, 93.6%, and 86.8%, respectively [48].

The application of AI for the differential diagnosis of FLLs: With the development of AI, AI based on B-mode ultrasound images has great performance on the diagnosis of different FLLs. Hwang *et al*[49] extracted hybrid textural features from ultrasound images and used an ANN to diagnose FLLs. They indicated that the model revealed enormous potential with the diagnosis accuracy of over 96% among all FLLs groups (hemangioma vs malignant, cyst vs hemangioma, and cyst vs malignant)[49].

Deep learning was also applied in the distinction of different FLLs. Schmauch *et al*[50] created an algorithm that simultaneously detected and characterized FLLs. Although the amount of training data was relatively small, the average AUC of FLL detection and characterization was 0.935 and 0.916, respectively.

A CNN model was developed and validated for tumor detection and 6-class discrimination (HCC, focal fatty sparing, focal fatty infiltration, hemangiomas, and cysts)[51]. This model reached 87.0% detection rate, 83.9% sensitivity, and 97.1% specificity in the internal evaluation. In external validation groups, the model achieved 75.0% detection rate, 84.9% sensitivity, and 97.1% specificity.

CEUS also had excellent potential for AI to distinguish different FLLs. An ANN was applied to study the role of TIC analysis parameters of 4-class discrimination of liver tumors. The neural network had 94.45% training accuracy and 87.12% testing accuracy. The automatic classification process registered 93.2% sensitivity and 89.7% specificity^[52].

Căleanu et al[53] reported the 5-class classification of liver tumors using deep neural networks with an accuracy of 88%. In this study, deep neural network algorithms were compared with state-of-the-art architectures, and a novel leave-one-patient-out evaluation procedure was presented.

All these studies indicated that AI based on conventional ultrasound and CEUS played a vital role in the detection and distinction of FLLs.

The application of AI in the management of HCC patients: Because of the development of new treatments, the management of HCC patients has become much more complicated. Radiomics can offer



Liu JQ et al. Ultrasound AI in gastroenterology and hepatology

Table 2 Application of ultrasound-based artificial intelligence in focal liver lesions

Ref.	Diseases: number of cases	Type of ultrasound	Algorithm of Al	Performance
Xi et al[42]	Benign lesions: 300	B-mode	CNN	All lesions
				Accuracy: 84%
				Uncertain set of lesions
	Malignant lesions: 296			Accuracy: 79%
Yang et al[43]	Benign tumor: 427	B-mode	CNN	AUC for EV: 0.924
	Malignant tumor: 1786			Sensitivity: 86.5%
				Specificity: 85.5%
Virmani et al[44]	HCC: 27	B-mode	SVM	Accuracy of HCC: 91.6%
				Sensitivity
	Metastatic liver tumor: 24			HCC: 90%
				Metastatic liver tumor: 93.3%
Hwang et al[49]	Cyst: 29	B-mode	ANN	Accuracy: 96%
				Cyst vs hemangioma
	Hemangioma: 37			Cyst vs malignant
	Malignant: 33			Hemangioma vs malignant
Schmauch et al[50]	Non-tumorous liver: 258	B-mode	CNN	AUC
	Hemangioma: 17			FLL detection: 0.935
	Metastasis: 48			
	HCC: 6			FLL discrimination: 0.916
	Cyst: 30			
	FNH: 8			
Tiyarattanachai et al[51]	HCC: 2414	B-mode	CNN	Detection rate: 87.0%
	Cyst: 6600			Sensitivity: 83.9%
	Hemangioma: 5374			Specificity: 97.1%
	Focal fatty sparing: 5110			
	Focal fatty infiltration: 934			
Gatos et al[47]	Benign FLL: 30	CEUS	SVM	Accuracy: 90.3%
				Sensitivity: 93.1%
	Malignant FLL: 22			Specificity: 86.9%
Kondo <i>et al</i> [46]	Benign FLL: 31	CEUS	SVM	Benign vs malignant
				Accuracy: 91.8%
				Sensitivity: 94%
				Specificity: 87.1%
	Malignant FLL: 67			Accuracy
				Benign: 84.4%
				HCC: 87.7%
				Metastatic liver tumor: 85.7%
Guo et al[48]	Benign FLL: 46	CEUS	Deep canonical correlation	Accuracy: 90.4%
			learning	Sensitivity: 93.6%

Jaisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

	Malignant FLL: 47			Specificity: 86.8%
Streba <i>et al</i> [52]	HCC: 41	CEUS	ANN	Training accuracy: 94.5%
	Hypervascular liver metastasis: 20			Testing accuracy: 87.1%
	Hypovascular liver metastasis: 12			Sensitivity: 93.2%
	Hemangioma: 16			Specificity: 89.7%
	Focal fatty changes: 23			
Căleanu et al[53]	HCC: 30	CEUS	Deep neural network	Accuracy: 88%
	Hypervascular liver metastasis: 11			
	Hypovascular liver metastasis: 11			
	Hemangioma: 23			
	FNH: 16			
Dong et al[56]	HCC: 322	B-mode	Radiomics	AUC: 0.81
Hu et al[57]	HCC: 482	CEUS	Radiomics	AUC: 0.731
	Training cohort: 341			
	Validation cohort: 141			
Zhang et al[58]	HCC: 313	CEUS	Radiomics	AUC
	Primary cohort: 192			Primary dataset: 0.849
	Validation cohort: 121			Validation dataset: 0.788
Liu et al[63]	HCC: 130	CEUS	Deep learning radiomics	AUC: 0.93
	Training cohort: 89			
	Validation cohort: 41			
Ma <i>et al</i> [66]	HCC: 318	CEUS	Radiomics	AUC: 0.89
	Training cohort: 255			
	Validation cohort: 63			
Liu et al[69]	HCC: 419	CEUS	Deep learning radiomics	C-index
	RFA: 214			RFA: 0.726
	SR: 205			SR: 0.741

AI: Artificial intelligence; ANN: Artificial neural network; AUC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; CEUS: Contrast-enhanced ultrasound; CNN: Convolutional neural network; EV: External validation; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; FNH: Focal nodular hyperplasia; FLL: Focal liver lesion; RFA: Radiofrequency ablation; SR: Surgical resection; SVM: Support vector machine.

accurate assessment of great numbers of image features from medical images. These features that are difficult to detect by the human eye can be detected by machine learning or deep learning. AI models based on radiomics has also been reported to be applicable for the management of HCC, such as the prediction of microvascular invasion (MVI), curative transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) effect, recurrence after thermal ablation, and prognosis.

Predicting MVI: MVI is described as the invasion of tumor cells within a vascular space lined by endothelium. It has been proven that MVI is a predictor of early recurrence of HCC and poor survival outcomes[54]. The only way to confirm MVI is *via* histopathology after surgery. Patients with HCC can receive a great benefit when MVI is identified noninvasively and accurately before surgery[55]. The application of AI based on gray-scale ultrasound images and CEUS indicated good performance in predicting preoperative MVI.

A study indicated that the radiological features of gray-scale ultrasound images of gross tumoral area predicted preoperative MVI of HCC with an AUC of 0.81[56]. A CEUS-based radiomics score was built for preoperative prediction of MVI in HCC[57]. The radiomics nomogram revealed great potential in the detection of MVI with an AUC of 0.731 compared with the clinical nomogram with an AUC of 0.634. It

was indicated that the radiomics data based on ultrasound was a single predictor of MVI in HCC. Our group created a radiomics model based on CEUS to evaluate MVI of HCC patients before surgery. The model revealed a better detection in the primary group with an AUC of 0.849 *vs* 0.690 as well as the validation group with an AUC of 0.788 *vs* 0.661 when compared with the clinical model. We confirmed that the portal venous phase, delay phase, tumor size, rad-score, and alpha-fetoprotein level were single predictors related to MVI[58].

Predicting curative TACE effect: Pathways participating in important cancer-related progression, such as cell proliferation and angiogenesis, are major goals for the treatment of HCC patients. Additionally, transcription factors and cell cycle regulators are also considered to be interesting for anti-HCC drugs[59].

TACE is a widely used first-line therapy for HCC patients diagnosed at the intermediate stage. The tumor response to the first TACE treatment is highly different and obviously related to the subsequent therapies as well as the patients' survival[60]. Hence, the exact prediction of HCC responses after the first TACE treatment is vital for patients.

The prediction of tumor responses to TACE heavily depends on MRI and serological biomarkers[61, 62]. But these methods achieved unsatisfactory accuracy of prediction. The application of AI based on both B-mode ultrasound and CEUS demonstrated better prediction efficacy.

An AI-based radiomics was established and validated to predict the personalized responses of HCC to the first TACE session. The deep learning radiomics-based CEUS model showed better performance compared with the machine learning radiomics-based B-mode model and machine learning radiomics-based time intensity curve of CEUS model with AUCs of 0.93, 0.80, and 0.81, respectively[63]. They suggested that the deep learning-based radiomics could benefit TACE candidates in clinical work.

Predicting recurrence after thermal ablation: Thermal ablation has been confirmed to be an available therapy for early-stage HCC patients who are unsuitable for operation or recurrence after surgery[64]. In addition, the recent 2-year recurrence rates of HCC patients who underwent thermal ablation were reported as 2%-18%[65]. The accurate preoperative prediction of thermal ablation outcomes is of great importance for HCC patients. Compared with other imaging modalities, CEUS is radiation-free and has better temporal resolution when revealing the blood supply of the tumor. The application of AI based on CEUS could be performed for the preoperative prediction of thermal ablation outcomes.

A radiomics model was created to predict the early and late recurrence of HCC patients who accepted thermal ablation[66]. The combined model including CEUS, ultrasound radiomics, and clinical factors showed better performance for early recurrence with an AUC of 0.89 and for late recurrence prediction with a C-index of 0.77.

Predicting the prognoses: Surgical resection (SR) and radiofrequency ablation (RFA) are common curative strategies for HCC patients diagnosed at the early stage[64]. Some studies have compared the long-term survival of RFA and SR for early-stage HCC patients[67,68]. However, the conclusions were sharply different. Hence, it is necessary to find useful predictive means to select the optimal patients who are suitable for RFA or SR before surgery. AI models based on CEUS had great performance for the prediction of progression-free survival (PFS).

A deep learning-based radiomics from CEUS images was built to predict the PFS of SR and RFA for HCC patients. Both SR and RFA models achieved high prediction accuracy of 2-year PFS. They also identified that a higher average probability of 2-year PFS may be acquired while some RFA and SR patients exchange their choices[69]. By utilizing conventional ultrasound images and CEUS, these AI prediction models can be applied in the individualized management of HCC patients.

APPLICATION OF ULTRASOUND-BASED AI IN UPPER GASTROINTESTINAL DISEASE

Gastric mesenchymal tumors

The majority of gastric mesenchymal tumors are occasionally found during routine esophagogastroduodenoscopy examinations. The incidence of gastric mesenchymal tumors is uncertain, but the prevalence of subepithelial tumors identified under endoscopy in Korea was reported as 1.7%[70]. Most gastric mesenchymal tumors are gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs), which may metastasize to the liver and peritoneum after surgery[71,72]. Hence, distinguishing GISTs from benign mesenchymal tumors such as leiomyomas or schwannomas is of great importance in clinic practice. Endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) is a common method to assess gastric mesenchymal tumors. It helps doctors evaluate the detailed size, shape, origin, and border of the lesions[73-75]. But the interpretation of EUS images by endoscopists is subjective and has poor interobserver agreement. Recently, EUS image interpretation using AI has developed rapidly and is applied to distinguish GISTs from benign mesenchymal tumors.

A convolutional neural network computer-aided diagnosis (CNN-CAD) model based on EUS images was developed to assess gastric mesenchymal tumors. They reported the model distinguished GISTs from non-GIST tumors with 83.0% sensitivity, 75.5% specificity, and 79.2% accuracy[76]. The CNN-CAD model had the potential to provide diagnostic assistance to endoscopists in the future.

Pancreatic diseases

EUS is currently a common tool to diagnose pancreatic diseases in clinical practice. However, the specificity for the diagnosis of pancreatic diseases using EUS images is low and deeply depends on the subjective judgment of endoscopists. Studies have confirmed that AI based on EUS improves their performance for the diagnosis of pancreatic diseases. Recently, AI using EUS images has been applied in the differential diagnosis of PC, distinguishing intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms (IPMNs) and detecting pancreatic segmentation.

Pancreatic cancer: PC is relatively uncommon, with an incidence of 8-12 per 100000 per year. PC is attributed to hereditary germline or somatic acquired mutations in some genes such as tumor suppressor genes and cell cycle genes. These mutations are also associated with the progression and metastasis of PC. Moreover, shortened telomerase, cell turnover, and genomic instability have an important role in the development of PC[77].

The early diagnosis and surgery of PC, especially for lesions less than 1 cm, can achieve long-term prognoses with a 5-year survival rate of 80.4% [78]. However, PC is most frequently detected at an advanced stage, and the 5-year survival rate remains as low as 3%-15% [79]. Hence, early detection is vital for the treatment of PC patients. Studies have reported that AI based on EUS has great performance for the diagnosis of PC.

AI based on B-mode EUS: AI models based on B-mode EUS have been applied to improve their performance for the diagnosis of PC. Norton et al[80] first reported the use of CAD utilizing EUS images in pancreatic diseases in 2001. The study included 14 patients with focal chronic pancreatitis and 21 patients with PC. They showed the diagnostic sensitivity of the two diseases was 89%, and the overall accuracy was 80% [80]. However, this study cannot be referred to as AI-CAD in current applications as the number of patients was limited and the resolution of images were very low.

With the development of AI, ANN and SVM presented good performance in the diagnosis of PC[81-83]. Das et al[81] developed an ANN model to distinguish chronic pancreatitis from PC. The results achieved 93% sensitivity, 92% specificity, 87% PPV, 96% negative predictive value (NPV), and 0.93 AUC [81]. By using a multilayered neural network, the study confirmed the first machine learning results for the EUS images of the pancreas. But the sample size was small and lacked pathological evidence in the chronic pancreatitis and normal pancreas groups.

By selecting better texture features that included multifractal dimensional features, a quantitative measure of fractality (self-similarity), and complexity from EUS images, a SVM prediction model was created to identify PC and non-PC patients[83]. The model reached 97.98% accuracy, 94.32% sensitivity, 99.45% specificity, 98.65% PPV, and 97.77% NPV. The study demonstrated that SVM using EUS images is a useful tool for diagnosing PC and pancreatic diseases.

It was reported that AI was also applied for the age-dependent pancreatic changes on EUS images of PC cases. Ozkan et al[84] suggested a high-performance CAD model applying ANN to discriminate PC and noncancer patients in three age groups. In the under 40-year-old group, the accuracy, sensitivity and specificity were 92.0%, 87.5%, and 94.1%, respectively. In the 40-year-old to 60-year-old group, the accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity were 88.5%, 85.7%, and 91.7%, respectively. In the > 60-year-old group, the accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity were 91.7%, 93.3%, and 88.9%, respectively. The total performance of this model showed the accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity were 87.5%, 83.3%, and 93.3%, respectively.

Besides machine learning, deep learning has been applied to B-mode EUS images for analysis of PC. A CNN model using EUS images was developed for the detection of PC[85]. The sensitivity, specificity, PPV, and NPV were 90.2%, 74.9%, 80.1%, and 88.7%, respectively. The CNN model included six normalization layers, seven convolution layers, four max-pooling layers, and six activation layers. The EUS-CNN application was first reported to have the potential to detect PC from EUS images.

AI based on EUS elastography: Real-time EUS elastography can provide more information about the features of pancreatic masses by the use of strain assessment. It was reported that EUS elastography has been applied in the differential diagnosis of pancreatic lesions. However, the accuracy and reproducibility were unstable[86,87].

The application of AI improves their performance in the diagnosis of PC. A prospective, blinded, multicentric study using EUS elastography by ANN was performed in focal pancreatic lesions[88]. They demonstrated the sensitivity, specificity, PPV, and NPV values for the diagnosis of PC were 87.59%, 82.94%, 96.25%, and 57.22%, respectively. The study suggested that the ANN model may provide fast and accurate diagnoses in the clinical.

AI based on contrast-enhanced EUS: Contrast-enhanced EUS has been used to enhance the detection of pancreatic lesions[89]. AI based on contrast-enhanced EUS has great performance for the diagnosis of PC. An ANN model based on the TIC analysis from contrast-enhanced EUS images was designed to diagnose PC and chronic pancreatitis. The study reached 94.64% sensitivity, 94.44% specificity, 97.24% PPV, and 89.47% NPV[90]. The study suggested that the model could provide additional diagnostic value to CEUS interpretation and EUS fine needle aspiration results.

IPMNs: IPMNs are considered to be precursor lesions of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Early surgical resection of IPMNs can provide a survival benefit for patients[91]. EUS is often used to assess the



malignancy of IPMNs in clinics. Several predictive techniques were used to diagnose the malignancy of IPMNs with no satisfactory results (70%-80%)[92,93].

Compared with human diagnosis and conventional EUS features, AI via deep learning algorithms was confirmed to be a more exact and objective way for the differential diagnosis of malignant IPMNs. Kuwahara et al[94] performed a predictive CNN model using EUS images to detect malignant IPMNs. The model reached 95.7% sensitivity, 94.0% accuracy, and 92.6% specificity. The accuracy was higher compared with the diagnosis of a radiologist (56.0%). The author suggested that the application of AI can evaluate malignant IPMNs before surgery.

Pancreatic segmentation: AI using EUS images has also been applied in pancreatic segmentation. A deep learning-based classification system was created to utilize the "station approach" in EUS of pancreas[95]. The system obtained 90.0% accuracy in classification and 0.770 and 0.813 in blood vessel and pancreas segmentation, respectively. The results were similar to that of EUS experts. Thus, this study revealed that AI has the feasibility to detect the station and segmentation of the pancreas.

APPLICATION OF ULTRASOUND-BASED AI IN LOWER GASTROINTESTINAL DISEASE

Colorectal tumors

Colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer worldwide and accounts for the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths. Moreover, a growing number of patients diagnosed with rectal cancer are under 50-years-old[96]. Colorectal cancer is attributed to gene mutations of epithelial cells, such as oncogenes, tumor suppressor genes, and DNA repair genes. The specific molecular mechanisms implicated in this type of cancer may include the instability of chromosomes and microsatellites[97].

Recently, some researchers studied tumor deposits (TDs) of rectal cancer. TDs are described as focal aggregates of adenocarcinoma located in the surrounding fat of the colon or rectum. They are discontinuous with the primary tumor and unrelated to a lymph node[98,99].

It was reported that a patient who is TD-positive has more malignant tumors, with decreased diseasefree survival and overall survival [100]. However, TDs are often diagnosed by pathology only after surgery. Hence, the noninvasive preoperative prediction of TDs is important for rectal cancer patients. EUS is currently a common tool to detect rectal masses. Recently, ultrasound-based radiomics have been applied to predict the status of TDs.

Chen et al[101] developed an ANN system using ultrasound radiomics and clinical factors to predict TDs. Endorectal ultrasound and SWE examinations were conducted for 127 patients with rectal cancer. The accuracy was 75.0% in the validation group. The model reached 72.7% sensitivity, 75.9% specificity, and 0.743 AUC. The study suggested that ultrasound-based radiomics has the potential for the prediction of TDs before treatment. Table 3 shows the application of ultrasound-based AI in gastrointestinal disease.

CONCLUSION

In recent years, AI models using ultrasound images have developed rapidly. They can offer a more precise and efficient diagnosis and ease the burden of doctors. AI based on ultrasound has been confirmed to be helpful in diffuse liver diseases and FLLs, such as assessing the severity of NAFLD and the grade of liver fibrosis, distinguishing benign and malignant liver lesions, predicting the MVI of HCC, curative TACE effect, and prognoses after thermal ablation. In addition, AI based on EUS has great performance in gastrointestinal diseases, such as distinguishing gastric mesenchymal tumors, differential diagnosis of PC, distinguishing IPMNs, and predicting the status of TDs in rectal cancer.

However, the application of AI based on ultrasound in clinical practice has some limitations. The main reason may be due to the high variability between radiologists in ultrasound image acquisition and interpretation^[102]. Hence, it is necessary to unify the ultrasonic image acquisition process as well as the standard of ultrasonic data measurement during the ultrasound examination.

In addition, some studies of AI-powered ultrasound were retrospective and trained on limited data offered by a single hospital with potential data selection bias, and the amount of data in the training set was not enough. Abundant multicenter prospective studies should assure the efficiency and stability of these AI models. Additionally, deep learning needs a large number of images, so it is necessary to establish an abundant database with common collaborative efforts.

In addition, the application of AI based on EUS has some limitations. The number of EUS examinations is overwhelmingly low compared to other examinations such as endoscopy and CT, especially in gastrointestinal diseases.

In the future, AI based on ultrasound may be used to develop highly accurate and more efficient models for more digestive diseases such as peptic ulcers, stomach neoplasms, inflammatory bowel disease, and so on. These models may heavily reduce the workload for doctors by automatic identi-



Table 3 Application of ultrasound-based artificial intelligence in gastrointestinal disease				
Ref.	Diseases: number of cases	Type of ultrasound	Algorithm of Al	Performance
Kim <i>et al</i> [76]	GISTs: 125	B-mode EUS	CNN	Sensitivity: 83.0%
	Leiomyomas: 33			Specificity: 75.5%
	Schwannomas: 21			Accuracy: 79.2%
Norton <i>et al</i> [80]	Chronic pancreatitis: 14	B-mode EUS	Basic neural network	Sensitivity: 89%
	Pancreatic cancer: 21			Accuracy: 80%
Das <i>et al</i> [81]	Chronic pancreatitis: 12	B-mode EUS	ANN	Sensitivity: 93%
	Pancreatic cancer: 22			Specificity: 92%
	Normal patient: 22			AUC: 0.93
Zhu et al[82]	Chronic pancreatitis: 126	B-mode EUS	SVM	Sensitivity: 96.25%
				Specificity: 93.38%
	Pancreatic cancer: 262			Accuracy: 94.2%
Zhang et al[83]	Pancreatic cancer: 153	B-mode EUS	SVM	Sensitivity: 94.32%
	Normal patient: 63			Specificity: 99.45%
				Accuracy: 97.98%
Ozkan et al[84]	Pancreatic cancer: 202	B-mode EUS	ANN	Sensitivity: 83.3%
				Specificity: 93.3%
	Normal patient: 130			Accuracy: 87.5%
Tonozuka et al[85]	Chronic pancreatitis: 34	B-mode EUS	CNN	Sensitivity: 90.2%
	Pancreatic cancer: 76			
	Normal patient: 29			Specificity: 74.9%
Săftoiu et al[88]	Chronic pancreatitis: 47	EUS elastography	ANN	Sensitivity: 87.59%
	Pancreatic cancer: 211			Specificity: 82.94%
Săftoiu <i>et al</i> [90]	Chronic pancreatitis: 55	Contrast-enhanced EUS	ANN	Sensitivity: 94.64%
	Pancreatic cancer: 122			Specificity: 94.44%
Kuwahara et al[94]	IPMN: 50	B-mode EUS	CNN	Sensitivity: 95.7%
				Specificity: 92.6%
				Accuracy: 94.0%
Zhang et al[95]	Training: 291	B-mode EUS	CNN	Accuracy: 90.0%
	Testing: 181			
Chen <i>et al</i> [101]	Rectal cancer: 127	Endorectal ultrasound	ANN	Sensitivity: 72.7%
		Shear-wave elastography		Specificity: 75.9%
				AUC: 0.743

AI: Artificial intelligence; ANN: Artificial neural network; CNN: Convolutional neural network; GISTs: Gastrointestinal stromal tumors; IPMN: Intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm; EUS: Endoscopic ultrasonography; SVM: Support vector machine.

fication of disease on radiologic and histopathologic images. Moreover, the application of AI can enable building individual management for patients as well as predicting disease progression and complications in clinics. Additionally, AI may improve distance teaching by remote monitoring and enhance medical services in undeveloped areas.

Boishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Cui XW and Dietrich CF established the design and conception of the paper; Liu JQ, Ren JY, Xu XL, Xiong LY, Peng YX, Pan XF, Cui XW, and Dietrich CF explored the literature data; Liu JQ provided the first draft of the manuscript, which was discussed and revised critically for intellectual content by Ren JY, Xu XL, Xiong LY, Peng YX, Pan XF, Cui XW, and Dietrich CF; All authors discussed the statement and conclusions and approved the final version to be published.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82071953; and Medical Youth Top-notch Talent Project of Hubei Province.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Christoph F Dietrich 0000-0001-6382-6377; Xin-Wu Cui 0000-0003-3890-6660.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Gong ZM

REFERENCES

- Asrani SK, Devarbhavi H, Eaton J, Kamath PS. Burden of liver diseases in the world. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 151-171 1 [PMID: 30266282 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.09.014]
- Araújo AR, Rosso N, Bedogni G, Tiribelli C, Bellentani S. Global epidemiology of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease/non-2 alcoholic steatohepatitis: What we need in the future. Liver Int 2018; 38 Suppl 1: 47-51 [PMID: 29427488 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13643
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 2015; 3 65: 87-108 [PMID: 25651787 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21262]
- Peery AF, Dellon ES, Lund J, Crockett SD, McGowan CE, Bulsiewicz WJ, Gangarosa LM, Thiny MT, Stizenberg K, 4 Morgan DR, Ringel Y, Kim HP, DiBonaventura MD, Carroll CF, Allen JK, Cook SF, Sandler RS, Kappelman MD, Shaheen NJ. Burden of gastrointestinal disease in the United States: 2012 update. Gastroenterology 2012; 143: 1179-1187.e3 [PMID: 22885331 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.08.002]
- 5 Yadav D, Lowenfels AB. The epidemiology of pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterology 2013; 144: 1252-1261 [PMID: 23622135 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.01.068]
- Brody H. Medical imaging. Nature 2013; 502: S81 [PMID: 24187698 DOI: 10.1038/502s81a] 6
- Tchelepi H, Ralls PW, Radin R, Grant E. Sonography of diffuse liver disease. J Ultrasound Med 2002; 21: 1023-32; quiz 7 1033 [PMID: 12216750 DOI: 10.7863/jum.2002.21.9.1023]
- Vicas C, Lupsor M, Badea R, Nedevschi S. Usefulness of textural analysis as a tool for noninvasive liver fibrosis staging. J Med Ultrason (2001) 2011; 38: 105-117 [PMID: 27278498 DOI: 10.1007/s10396-011-0307-x]
- Wang S, Summers RM. Machine learning and radiology. Med Image Anal 2012; 16: 933-951 [PMID: 22465077 DOI: 10.1016/i.media.2012.02.005]
- Chen H, Sung JJY. Potentials of AI in medical image analysis in Gastroenterology and Hepatology. J Gastroenterol 10 Hepatol 2021; 36: 31-38 [PMID: 33140875 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15327]
- Mayerhoefer ME, Materka A, Langs G, Häggström I, Szczypiński P, Gibbs P, Cook G. Introduction to Radiomics. J Nucl 11 Med 2020; 61: 488-495 [PMID: 32060219 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.118.222893]
- 12 LeCun Y, Bengio Y, Hinton G. Deep learning. Nature 2015; 521: 436-444 [PMID: 26017442 DOI: 10.1038/nature14539]
- 13 Litjens G, Kooi T, Bejnordi BE, Setio AAA, Ciompi F, Ghafoorian M, van der Laak JAWM, van Ginneken B, Sánchez CI. A survey on deep learning in medical image analysis. Med Image Anal 2017; 42: 60-88 [PMID: 28778026 DOI: 10.1016/j.media.2017.07.005
- 14 Ros PR, Mortele KJ. Diffuse liver disease. Clin Liver Dis 2002; 6: 181-201 [PMID: 11933589 DOI: 10.1016/s1089-3261(03)00072-2
- Piccinino F, Sagnelli E, Pasquale G, Giusti G. Complications following percutaneous liver biopsy. A multicentre 15 retrospective study on 68,276 biopsies. J Hepatol 1986; 2: 165-173 [PMID: 3958472 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(86)80075-7]
- 16 Farrell GC, Larter CZ. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: from steatosis to cirrhosis. Hepatology 2006; 43: S99-S112 [PMID: 16447287 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20973]
- Sriraam N, Roopa J, Saranya M, Dhanalakshmi M. Performance evaluation of computer aided diagnostic tool (CAD) for 17 detection of ultrasonic based liver disease. J Med Syst 2009; 33: 267-274 [PMID: 19697693 DOI: 10.1007/s10916-008-9187-z



- Rinella ME. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review. JAMA 2015; 313: 2263-2273 [PMID: 26057287 DOI: 18 10.1001/jama.2015.5370]
- Acharya UR, Raghavendra U, Fujita H, Hagiwara Y, Koh JE, Jen Hong T, Sudarshan VK, Vijayananthan A, Yeong CH, 19 Gudigar A, Ng KH. Automated characterization of fatty liver disease and cirrhosis using curvelet transform and entropy features extracted from ultrasound images. Comput Biol Med 2016; 79: 250-258 [PMID: 27825038 DOI: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2016.10.022]
- Mathiesen UL, Franzén LE, Aselius H, Resjö M, Jacobsson L, Foberg U, Frydén A, Bodemar G. Increased liver 20 echogenicity at ultrasound examination reflects degree of steatosis but not of fibrosis in asymptomatic patients with mild/moderate abnormalities of liver transaminases. Dig Liver Dis 2002; 34: 516-522 [PMID: 12236486 DOI: 10.1016/s1590-8658(02)80111-6
- 21 Byra M, Styczynski G, Szmigielski C, Kalinowski P, Michałowski Ł, Paluszkiewicz R, Ziarkiewicz-Wróblewska B, Zieniewicz K, Sobieraj P, Nowicki A. Transfer learning with deep convolutional neural network for liver steatosis assessment in ultrasound images. Int J Comput Assist Radiol Surg 2018; 13: 1895-1903 [PMID: 30094778 DOI: 10.1007/s11548-018-1843-2
- Biswas M, Kuppili V, Edla DR, Suri HS, Saba L, Marinhoe RT, Sanches JM, Suri JS. Symtosis: A liver ultrasound tissue 22 characterization and risk stratification in optimized deep learning paradigm. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2018; 155: 165-177 [PMID: 29512496 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2017.12.016]
- Oelze ML, Mamou J. Review of Quantitative Ultrasound: Envelope Statistics and Backscatter Coefficient Imaging and 23 Contributions to Diagnostic Ultrasound. IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelectr Freq Control 2016; 63: 336-351 [PMID: 26761606 DOI: 10.1109/TUFFC.2015.2513958]
- 24 Han A, Byra M, Heba E, Andre MP, Erdman JW Jr, Loomba R, Sirlin CB, "Brien WD Jr. Noninvasive Diagnosis of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Quantification of Liver Fat with Radiofrequency Ultrasound Data Using Onedimensional Convolutional Neural Networks. Radiology 2020; 295: 342-350 [PMID: 32096706 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2020191160
- 25 Ishak K, Baptista A, Bianchi L, Callea F, De Groote J, Gudat F, Denk H, Desmet V, Korb G, MacSween RN. Histological grading and staging of chronic hepatitis. J Hepatol 1995; 22: 696-699 [PMID: 7560864 DOI: 10.1016/0168-8278(95)80226-6
- Amin A, Mahmoud-Ghoneim D. Texture analysis of liver fibrosis microscopic images: a study on the effect of 26 biomarkers. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) 2011; 43: 193-203 [PMID: 21258076 DOI: 10.1093/abbs/gmq129]
- Bharti P, Mittal D, Ananthasivan R. Computer-aided Characterization and Diagnosis of Diffuse Liver Diseases Based on 27 Ultrasound Imaging: A Review. Ultrason Imaging 2017; 39: 33-61 [PMID: 27097589 DOI: 10.1177/0161734616639875]
- 28 Yeh WC, Huang SW, Li PC. Liver fibrosis grade classification with B-mode ultrasound. Ultrasound Med Biol 2003; 29: 1229-1235 [PMID: 14553797 DOI: 10.1016/s0301-5629(03)01010-x]
- Zhang L, Li QY, Duan YY, Yan GZ, Yang YL, Yang RJ. Artificial neural network aided non-invasive grading evaluation 29 of hepatic fibrosis by duplex ultrasonography. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012; 12: 55 [PMID: 22716936 DOI: 10.1186/1472-6947-12-55]
- 30 Gao S, Peng Y, Guo H, Liu W, Gao T, Xu Y, Tang X. Texture analysis and classification of ultrasound liver images. Biomed Mater Eng 2014; 24: 1209-1216 [PMID: 24212015 DOI: 10.3233/BME-130922]
- 31 Lee JH, Joo I, Kang TW, Paik YH, Sinn DH, Ha SY, Kim K, Choi C, Lee G, Yi J, Bang WC. Deep learning with ultrasonography: automated classification of liver fibrosis using a deep convolutional neural network. Eur Radiol 2020; 30: 1264-1273 [PMID: 31478087 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-019-06407-1]
- Gatos I, Tsantis S, Spiliopoulos S, Karnabatidis D, Theotokas I, Zoumpoulis P, Loupas T, Hazle JD, Kagadis GC. 32 Temporal stability assessment in shear wave elasticity images validated by deep learning neural network for chronic liver disease fibrosis stage assessment. Med Phys 2019; 46: 2298-2309 [PMID: 30929260 DOI: 10.1002/mp.13521]
- Li W, Huang Y, Zhuang BW, Liu GJ, Hu HT, Li X, Liang JY, Wang Z, Huang XW, Zhang CQ, Ruan SM, Xie XY, 33 Kuang M, Lu MD, Chen LD, Wang W. Multiparametric ultrasomics of significant liver fibrosis: A machine learningbased analysis. Eur Radiol 2019; 29: 1496-1506 [PMID: 30178143 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-018-5680-z]
- 34 Gatos I, Tsantis S, Spiliopoulos S, Karnabatidis D, Theotokas I, Zoumpoulis P, Loupas T, Hazle JD, Kagadis GC. A new computer aided diagnosis system for evaluation of chronic liver disease with ultrasound shear wave elastography imaging. Med Phys 2016; 43: 1428-1436 [PMID: 26936727 DOI: 10.1118/1.4942383]
- 35 Gatos I, Tsantis S, Spiliopoulos S, Karnabatidis D, Theotokas I, Zoumpoulis P, Loupas T, Hazle JD, Kagadis GC. A Machine-Learning Algorithm Toward Color Analysis for Chronic Liver Disease Classification, Employing Ultrasound Shear Wave Elastography. Ultrasound Med Biol 2017; 43: 1797-1810 [PMID: 28634041 DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2017.05.002
- Wang K, Lu X, Zhou H, Gao Y, Zheng J, Tong M, Wu C, Liu C, Huang L, Jiang T, Meng F, Lu Y, Ai H, Xie XY, Yin 36 LP, Liang P, Tian J, Zheng R. Deep learning Radiomics of shear wave elastography significantly improved diagnostic performance for assessing liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B: a prospective multicentre study. Gut 2019; 68: 729-741 [PMID: 29730602 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-316204]
- 37 Liu S, Wang Y, Yang X, Lei B, Liu L, Li SX, Ni D, Wang T. Deep Learning in Medical Ultrasound Analysis: A Review. Engineering 2019; 5: 261-275 [DOI: 10.1016/j.eng.2018.11.020]
- Xue LY, Jiang ZY, Fu TT, Wang QM, Zhu YL, Dai M, Wang WP, Yu JH, Ding H. Transfer learning radiomics based on 38 multimodal ultrasound imaging for staging liver fibrosis. Eur Radiol 2020; 30: 2973-2983 [PMID: 31965257 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-019-06595-w]
- 39 Bruix J, Sherman M; American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma: an update. Hepatology 2011; 53: 1020-1022 [PMID: 21374666 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24199]
- 40 Nishida N, Kudo M. Artificial Intelligence in Medical Imaging and Its Application in Sonography for the Management of Liver Tumor. Front Oncol 2020; 10: 594580 [PMID: 33409151 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.594580]
- 41 Heimbach JK, Kulik LM, Finn RS, Sirlin CB, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, Zhu AX, Murad MH, Marrero JA. AASLD guidelines for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2018; 67: 358-380 [PMID: 28130846 DOI:



10.1002/hep.29086]

- 42 Xi IL, Wu J, Guan J, Zhang PJ, Horii SC, Soulen MC, Zhang Z, Bai HX. Deep learning for differentiation of benign and malignant solid liver lesions on ultrasonography. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2021; 46: 534-543 [PMID: 32681268 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-020-02564-w
- 43 Yang Q, Wei J, Hao X, Kong D, Yu X, Jiang T, Xi J, Cai W, Luo Y, Jing X, Yang Y, Cheng Z, Wu J, Zhang H, Liao J, Zhou P, Song Y, Zhang Y, Han Z, Cheng W, Tang L, Liu F, Dou J, Zheng R, Yu J, Tian J, Liang P. Improving B-mode ultrasound diagnostic performance for focal liver lesions using deep learning: A multicentre study. eBioMedicine 2020; 56: 102777 [PMID: 32485640 DOI: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102777]
- 44 Virmani J, Kumar V, Kalra N, Khandelwal N. Characterization of primary and secondary malignant liver lesions from Bmode ultrasound. J Digit Imaging 2013; 26: 1058-1070 [PMID: 23412917 DOI: 10.1007/s10278-013-9578-7]
- Claudon M, Cosgrove D, Albrecht T, Bolondi L, Bosio M, Calliada F, Correas JM, Darge K, Dietrich C, "Onofrio M, 45 Evans DH, Filice C, Greiner L, Jäger K, Jong Nd, Leen E, Lencioni R, Lindsell D, Martegani A, Meairs S, Nolsøe C, Piscaglia F, Ricci P, Seidel G, Skjoldbye B, Solbiati L, Thorelius L, Tranquart F, Weskott HP, Whittingham T. Guidelines and good clinical practice recommendations for contrast enhanced ultrasound (CEUS)-- update 2008. Ultraschall Med 2008; 29: 28-44 [PMID: 18270887 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-963785]
- 46 Kondo S, Takagi K, Nishida M, Iwai T, Kudo Y, Ogawa K, Kamiyama T, Shibuya H, Kahata K, Shimizu C. Computer-Aided Diagnosis of Focal Liver Lesions Using Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasonography With Perflubutane Microbubbles. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 2017; 36: 1427-1437 [PMID: 28141517 DOI: 10.1109/TMI.2017.2659734]
- 47 Gatos I, Tsantis S, Spiliopoulos S, Skouroliakou A, Theotokas I, Zoumpoulis P, Hazle JD, Kagadis GC. A new automated quantification algorithm for the detection and evaluation of focal liver lesions with contrast-enhanced ultrasound. Med Phys 2015; 42: 3948-3959 [PMID: 26133595 DOI: 10.1118/1.4921753]
- Guo LH, Wang D, Qian YY, Zheng X, Zhao CK, Li XL, Bo XW, Yue WW, Zhang Q, Shi J, Xu HX. A two-stage multi-48 view learning framework based computer-aided diagnosis of liver tumors with contrast enhanced ultrasound images. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 2018; 69: 343-354 [PMID: 29630528 DOI: 10.3233/CH-170275]
- 49 Hwang YN, Lee JH, Kim GY, Jiang YY, Kim SM. Classification of focal liver lesions on ultrasound images by extracting hybrid textural features and using an artificial neural network. Biomed Mater Eng 2015; 26 Suppl 1: S1599-S1611 [PMID: 26405925 DOI: 10.3233/BME-151459]
- 50 Schmauch B, Herent P, Jehanno P, Dehaene O, Saillard C, Aubé C, Luciani A, Lassau N, Jégou S. Diagnosis of focal liver lesions from ultrasound using deep learning. Diagn Interv Imaging 2019; 100: 227-233 [PMID: 30926443 DOI: 10.1016/j.diii.2019.02.009
- 51 Tiyarattanachai T, Apiparakoon T, Marukatat S, Sukcharoen S, Geratikornsupuk N, Anukulkarnkusol N, Mekaroonkamol P, Tanpowpong N, Sarakul P, Rerknimitr R, Chaiteerakij R. Development and validation of artificial intelligence to detect and diagnose liver lesions from ultrasound images. pLoS One 2021; 16: e0252882 [PMID: 34101764 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.02528821
- 52 Streba CT, Ionescu M, Gheonea DI, Sandulescu L, Ciurea T, Saftoiu A, Vere CC, Rogoveanu I. Contrast-enhanced ultrasonography parameters in neural network diagnosis of liver tumors. World J Gastroenterol 2012; 18: 4427-4434 [PMID: 22969209 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i32.4427]
- Căleanu CD, Sîrbu CL, Simion G. Deep Neural Architectures for Contrast Enhanced Ultrasound (CEUS) Focal Liver 53 Lesions Automated Diagnosis. Sensors (Basel) 2021; 21 [PMID: 34208548 DOI: 10.3390/s21124126]
- Lim KC, Chow PK, Allen JC, Chia GS, Lim M, Cheow PC, Chung AY, Ooi LL, Tan SB. Microvascular invasion is a 54 better predictor of tumor recurrence and overall survival following surgical resection for hepatocellular carcinoma compared to the Milan criteria. Ann Surg 2011; 254: 108-113 [PMID: 21527845 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31821ad884]
- 55 Banerjee S, Wang DS, Kim HJ, Sirlin CB, Chan MG, Korn RL, Rutman AM, Siripongsakun S, Lu D, Imanbayev G, Kuo MD. A computed tomography radiogenomic biomarker predicts microvascular invasion and clinical outcomes in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2015; 62: 792-800 [PMID: 25930992 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27877]
- 56 Dong Y, Zhou L, Xia W, Zhao XY, Zhang Q, Jian JM, Gao X, Wang WP. Preoperative Prediction of Microvascular Invasion in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Initial Application of a Radiomic Algorithm Based on Grayscale Ultrasound Images. Front Oncol 2020; 10: 353 [PMID: 32266138 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00353]
- 57 Hu HT, Wang Z, Huang XW, Chen SL, Zheng X, Ruan SM, Xie XY, Lu MD, Yu J, Tian J, Liang P, Wang W, Kuang M. Ultrasound-based radiomics score: a potential biomarker for the prediction of microvascular invasion in hepatocellular carcinoma. Eur Radiol 2019; 29: 2890-2901 [PMID: 30421015 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-018-5797-0]
- 58 Zhang D, Wei Q, Wu GG, Zhang XY, Lu WW, Lv WZ, Liao JT, Cui XW, Ni XJ, Dietrich CF. Preoperative Prediction of Microvascular Invasion in Patients With Hepatocellular Carcinoma Based on Radiomics Nomogram Using Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound. Front Oncol 2021; 11: 709339 [PMID: 34557410 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.709339]
- 59 Juaid N, Amin A, Abdalla A, Reese K, Alamri Z, Moulay M, Abdu S, Miled N. Anti-Hepatocellular Carcinoma Biomolecules: Molecular Targets Insights. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34639131 DOI: 10.3390/ijms221910774]
- 60 Kim BK, Kim SU, Kim KA, Chung YE, Kim MJ, Park MS, Park JY, Kim DY, Ahn SH, Kim MD, Park SI, Won JY, Lee DY, Han KH. Complete response at first chemoembolization is still the most robust predictor for favorable outcome in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2015; 62: 1304-1310 [PMID: 25637785 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.01.022]
- Loosen SH, Schulze-Hagen M, Leyh C, Benz F, Vucur M, Kuhl C, Trautwein C, Tacke F, Bruners P, Roderburg C, 61 Luedde T. IL-6 and IL-8 Serum Levels Predict Tumor Response and Overall Survival after TACE for Primary and Secondary Hepatic Malignancies. Int J Mol Sci 2018; 19 [PMID: 29899223 DOI: 10.3390/ijms19061766]
- Lahrsow M, Albrecht MH, Bickford MW, Vogl TJ. Predicting Treatment Response of Colorectal Cancer Liver Metastases to Conventional Lipiodol-Based Transarterial Chemoembolization Using Diffusion-Weighted MR Imaging: Value of Pretreatment Apparent Diffusion Coefficients (ADC) and ADC Changes Under Therapy. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2017; 40: 852-859 [PMID: 28357571 DOI: 10.1007/s00270-017-1634-0]
- Liu D, Liu F, Xie X, Su L, Liu M, Kuang M, Huang G, Wang Y, Zhou H, Wang K, Lin M, Tian J. Accurate prediction of 63 responses to transarterial chemoembolization for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma by using artificial intelligence in contrast-enhanced ultrasound. Eur Radiol 2020; 30: 2365-2376 [PMID: 31900703 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-019-06553-6]



- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatocellular 64 carcinoma. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 182-236 [PMID: 29628281 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019]
- 65 European Association For The Study Of The Liver. European Organisation For Research And Treatment Of Cancer. EASL-EORTC clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 908-943 [PMID: 22424438 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.12.001]
- Ma QP, He XL, Li K, Wang JF, Zeng QJ, Xu EJ, He XQ, Li SY, Kun W, Zheng RQ, Tian J. Dynamic Contrast-Enhanced 66 Ultrasound Radiomics for Hepatocellular Carcinoma Recurrence Prediction After Thermal Ablation. Mol Imaging Biol 2021; 23: 572-585 [PMID: 33483803 DOI: 10.1007/s11307-021-01578-0]
- Chen MS, Li JQ, Zheng Y, Guo RP, Liang HH, Zhang YQ, Lin XJ, Lau WY. A prospective randomized trial comparing 67 percutaneous local ablative therapy and partial hepatectomy for small hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann Surg 2006; 243: 321-328 [PMID: 16495695 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000201480.65519.b8]
- 68 Feng K, Yan J, Li X, Xia F, Ma K, Wang S, Bie P, Dong J. A randomized controlled trial of radiofrequency ablation and surgical resection in the treatment of small hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2012; 57: 794-802 [PMID: 22634125 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.05.007]
- Liu F, Liu D, Wang K, Xie X, Su L, Kuang M, Huang G, Peng B, Wang Y, Lin M, Tian J. Deep Learning Radiomics 69 Based on Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound Might Optimize Curative Treatments for Very-Early or Early-Stage Hepatocellular Carcinoma Patients. Liver Cancer 2020; 9: 397-413 [PMID: 32999867 DOI: 10.1159/000505694]
- Lee JH, Lee HL, Ahn YW, Lee KN, Jun DW, Lee OY, Han DS, Yoon BC, Choi HS. Prevalence of Gastric Subepithelial Tumors in Korea: A Single Center Experience. Korean J Gastroenterol 2015; 66: 274-276 [PMID: 26586350 DOI: 10.4166/kjg.2015.66.5.274]
- Blay JY, Bonvalot S, Casali P, Choi H, Debiec-Richter M, Dei Tos AP, Emile JF, Gronchi A, Hogendoorn PC, Joensuu 71 H, Le Cesne A, McClure J, Maurel J, Nupponen N, Ray-Coquard I, Reichardt P, Sciot R, Stroobants S, van Glabbeke M, van Oosterom A, Demetri GD; GIST consensus meeting panelists. Consensus meeting for the management of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Report of the GIST Consensus Conference of 20-21 March 2004, under the auspices of ESMO. Ann Oncol 2005; 16: 566-578 [PMID: 15781488 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdi127]
- 72 **Miettinen M**, Sobin LH, Lasota J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors of the stomach: a clinicopathologic, immunohistochemical, and molecular genetic study of 1765 cases with long-term follow-up. Am J Surg Pathol 2005; 29: 52-68 [PMID: 15613856 DOI: 10.1097/01.pas.0000146010.92933.de]
- Chak A, Canto MI, Rösch T, Dittler HJ, Hawes RH, Tio TL, Lightdale CJ, Boyce HW, Scheiman J, Carpenter SL, Van 73 Dam J, Kochman ML, Sivak MV Jr. Endosonographic differentiation of benign and malignant stromal cell tumors. Gastrointest Endosc 1997; 45: 468-473 [PMID: 9199902 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(97)70175-5]
- 74 Palazzo L, Landi B, Cellier C, Cuillerier E, Roseau G, Barbier JP. Endosonographic features predictive of benign and malignant gastrointestinal stromal cell tumours. Gut 2000; 46: 88-92 [PMID: 10601061 DOI: 10.1136/gut.46.1.88]
- 75 Kim GH, Park DY, Kim S, Kim DH, Choi CW, Heo J, Song GA. Is it possible to differentiate gastric GISTs from gastric leiomyomas by EUS? World J Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 3376-3381 [PMID: 19610138 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.3376]
- 76 Kim YH, Kim GH, Kim KB, Lee MW, Lee BE, Baek DH, Kim DH, Park JC. Application of A Convolutional Neural Network in The Diagnosis of Gastric Mesenchymal Tumors on Endoscopic Ultrasonography Images. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 33003602 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9103162]
- 77 Goral V. Pancreatic Cancer: Pathogenesis and Diagnosis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2015; 16: 5619-5624 [PMID: 26320426 DOI: 10.7314/apjcp.2015.16.14.5619]
- 78 Egawa S, Toma H, Ohigashi H, Okusaka T, Nakao A, Hatori T, Maguchi H, Yanagisawa A, Tanaka M. Japan Pancreatic Cancer Registry; 30th year anniversary: Japan Pancreas Society. Pancreas 2012; 41: 985-992 [PMID: 22750974 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e318258055c
- Pereira SP, Oldfield L, Ney A, Hart PA, Keane MG, Pandol SJ, Li D, Greenhalf W, Jeon CY, Koay EJ, Almario CV, 79 Halloran C, Lennon AM, Costello E. Early detection of pancreatic cancer. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 698-710 [PMID: 32135127 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30416-9]
- Norton ID, Zheng Y, Wiersema MS, Greenleaf J, Clain JE, Dimagno EP. Neural network analysis of EUS images to 80 differentiate between pancreatic malignancy and pancreatitis. Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 54: 625-629 [PMID: 11677484 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2001.118644]
- 81 Das A, Nguyen CC, Li F, Li B. Digital image analysis of EUS images accurately differentiates pancreatic cancer from chronic pancreatitis and normal tissue. Gastrointest Endosc 2008; 67: 861-867 [PMID: 18179797 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.08.036
- Zhu M, Xu C, Yu J, Wu Y, Li C, Zhang M, Jin Z, Li Z. Differentiation of pancreatic cancer and chronic pancreatitis using 82 computer-aided diagnosis of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) images: a diagnostic test. pLoS One 2013; 8: e63820 [PMID: 23704940 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0063820]
- Zhang MM, Yang H, Jin ZD, Yu JG, Cai ZY, Li ZS. Differential diagnosis of pancreatic cancer from normal tissue with 83 digital imaging processing and pattern recognition based on a support vector machine of EUS images. Gastrointest Endosc 2010; 72: 978-985 [PMID: 20855062 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.06.042]
- Ozkan M, Cakiroglu M, Kocaman O, Kurt M, Yilmaz B, Can G, Korkmaz U, Dandil E, Eksi Z. Age-based computer-84 aided diagnosis approach for pancreatic cancer on endoscopic ultrasound images. Endosc Ultrasound 2016; 5: 101-107 [PMID: 27080608 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.180473]
- Tonozuka R, Itoi T, Nagata N, Kojima H, Sofuni A, Tsuchiya T, Ishii K, Tanaka R, Nagakawa Y, Mukai S. Deep 85 learning analysis for the detection of pancreatic cancer on endosonographic images: a pilot study. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2021; 28: 95-104 [PMID: 32910528 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.825]
- 86 Iglesias-Garcia J, Larino-Noia J, Abdulkader I, Forteza J, Dominguez-Munoz JE. EUS elastography for the characterization of solid pancreatic masses. Gastrointest Endosc 2009; 70: 1101-1108 [PMID: 19647248 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.05.011]
- 87 Iglesias-Garcia J, Larino-Noia J, Abdulkader I, Forteza J, Dominguez-Munoz JE. Quantitative endoscopic ultrasound elastography: an accurate method for the differentiation of solid pancreatic masses. Gastroenterology 2010; 139: 1172-



1180 [PMID: 20600020 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.06.059]

- 88 Săftoiu A, Vilmann P, Gorunescu F, Janssen J, Hocke M, Larsen M, Iglesias-Garcia J, Arcidiacono P, Will U, Giovannini M, Dietrich CF, Havre R, Gheorghe C, McKay C, Gheonea DI, Ciurea T; European EUS Elastography Multicentric Study Group. Efficacy of an artificial neural network-based approach to endoscopic ultrasound elastography in diagnosis of focal pancreatic masses. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 10: 84-90.e1 [PMID: 21963957 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2011.09.014]
- 89 Dietrich CF, Braden B, Hocke M, Ott M, Ignee A. Improvedharacterizationn of solitary solid pancreatic tumours using contrast enhanced transabdominal ultrasound. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2008; 134: 635-643 [PMID: 17952469 DOI: 10.1007/s00432-007-0326-6
- 90 Săftoiu A, Vilmann P, Dietrich CF, Iglesias-Garcia J, Hocke M, Seicean A, Ignee A, Hassan H, Streba CT, Ioncică AM, Gheonea DI, Ciurea T. Quantitative contrast-enhanced harmonic EUS in differential diagnosis of focal pancreatic masses (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2015; 82: 59-69 [PMID: 25792386 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.11.040]
- 91 Moris D, Damaskos C, Spartalis E, Papalampros A, Vernadakis S, Dimitroulis D, Griniatsos J, Felekouras E, Nikiteas N. Updates and Critical Evaluation on Novel Biomarkers for the Malignant Progression of Intraductal Papillary Mucinous Neoplasms of the Pancreas. Anticancer Res 2017; 37: 2185-2194 [PMID: 28476781 DOI: 10.21873/anticanres.11553]
- Shimizu Y, Hijioka S, Hirono S, Kin T, Ohtsuka T, Kanno A, Koshita S, Hanada K, Kitano M, Inoue H, Itoi T, Ueki T, 92 Matsuo K, Yanagisawa A, Yamaue H, Sugiyama M, Okazaki K. New Model for Predicting Malignancy in Patients With Intraductal Papillary Mucinous Neoplasm. Ann Surg 2020; 272: 155-162 [PMID: 30499803 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000003108]
- Shimizu Y, Yamaue H, Maguchi H, Yamao K, Hirono S, Osanai M, Hijioka S, Hosoda W, Nakamura Y, Shinohara T, 93 Yanagisawa A. Predictors of malignancy in intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm of the pancreas: analysis of 310 pancreatic resection patients at multiple high-volume centers. Pancreas 2013; 42: 883-888 [PMID: 23508017 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e31827a7b84]
- 94 Kuwahara T, Hara K, Mizuno N, Okuno N, Matsumoto S, Obata M, Kurita Y, Koda H, Toriyama K, Onishi S, Ishihara M, Tanaka T, Tajika M, Niwa Y. Usefulness of Deep Learning Analysis for the Diagnosis of Malignancy in Intraductal Papillary Mucinous Neoplasms of the Pancreas. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2019; 10: 1-8 [PMID: 31117111 DOI: 10.14309/ctg.000000000000045]
- 95 Zhang J, Zhu L, Yao L, Ding X, Chen D, Wu H, Lu Z, Zhou W, Zhang L, An P, Xu B, Tan W, Hu S, Cheng F, Yu H. Deep learning-based pancreas segmentation and station recognition system in EUS: development and validation of a useful training tool (with video). Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 92: 874-885.e3 [PMID: 32387499 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.04.071]
- 96 Keller DS, Berho M, Perez RO, Wexner SD, Chand M. The multidisciplinary management of rectal cancer. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 17: 414-429 [PMID: 32203400 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-020-0275-y]
- 97 Alzahrani SM, Al Doghaither HA, Al-Ghafari AB. General insight into cancer: An overview of colorectal cancer (Review). Mol Clin Oncol 2021; 15: 271 [PMID: 34790355 DOI: 10.3892/mco.2021.2433]
- 98 Greene FL. Tumor deposits in colorectal cancer: a moving target. Ann Surg 2012; 255: 214-215 [PMID: 22202583 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182430eaa]
- 99 Tong LL, Gao P, Wang ZN, Song YX, Xu YY, Sun Z, Xing CZ, Xu HM. Is the seventh edition of the UICC/AJCC TNM staging system reasonable for patients with tumor deposits in colorectal cancer? Ann Surg 2012; 255: 208-213 [PMID: 21527844 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31821ad8a2]
- 100 Nagtegaal ID, Knijn N, Hugen N, Marshall HC, Sugihara K, Tot T, Ueno H, Quirke P. Tumor Deposits in Colorectal Cancer: Improving the Value of Modern Staging-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 1119-1127 [PMID: 28029327 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.68.9091]
- 101 Chen LD, Li W, Xian MF, Zheng X, Lin Y, Liu BX, Lin MX, Li X, Zheng YL, Xie XY, Lu MD, Kuang M, Xu JB, Wang W. Preoperative prediction of tumour deposits in rectal cancer by an artificial neural network-based US radiomics model. Eur Radiol 2020; 30: 1969-1979 [PMID: 31828415 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-019-06558-1]
- 102 Akkus Z, Cai J, Boonrod A, Zeinoddini A, Weston AD, Philbrick KA, Erickson BJ. A Survey of Deep-Learning Applications in Ultrasound: Artificial Intelligence-Powered Ultrasound for Improving Clinical Workflow. J Am Coll Radiol 2019; 16: 1318-1328 [PMID: 31492410 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacr.2019.06.004]


WÛ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5547-5556

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5547

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Oxidative stress bridges the gut microbiota and the occurrence of frailty syndrome

Si-Yue Chen, Tong-Yao Wang, Chao Zhao, Hui-Jing Wang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Almeida C, Portugal; Amedei A, Italy; Konopelski P, Poland; Yi B, China

Received: August 1, 2022 Peer-review started: August 1, 2022 First decision: August 19, 2022 Revised: August 31, 2022 Accepted: September 23, 2022 Article in press: September 23, 2022 Published online: October 14, 2022



Si-Yue Chen, Hui-Jing Wang, Laboratory of Neuropsychopharmacology, College of Fundamental Medicine, Shanghai University of Medicine & Health Science, Shanghai 201318, China

Tong-Yao Wang, Chao Zhao, Key Laboratory of Medical Molecular Virology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Shanghai Medical College & National Clinical Research Center for Aging and Medicine, Huashan Hospital, Shanghai Medical College, Fudan University, Shanghai 200032, China

Chao Zhao, Shanghai Frontiers Science Center of Pathogenic Microbes and Infection, Shanghai Frontiers Science Center, Shanghai 200032, China

Corresponding author: Hui-Jing Wang, PhD, Associate Professor, Laboratory of Neuropsychopharmacology, College of Fundamental Medicine, Shanghai University of Medicine & Health Science, No. 279, Zhouzhu Highway, Pudong New Area, Shanghai 201318, China. wanghj@sumhs.edu.cn

Abstract

The incidence of frailty gradually increases with age. This condition places a heavy burden on modern society, of which the aging population is increasing. Frailty is one of the most complicated clinical syndromes; thus, it is difficult to uncover its underlying mechanisms. Oxidative stress (OS) is involved in frailty in multiple ways. The association between the gut microbiota (GM) and frailty was recently reported. Herein, we propose that OS is involved in the association between the GM and the occurrence of frailty syndrome. An imbalance between oxidation and antioxidants can eventually lead to frailty, and the GM probably participates in this process through the production of reactive oxygen species. On the other hand, OS can disturb the GM. Such dysbiosis consequently induces or exacerbates tissue damage, leading to the occurrence of frailty syndrome. Finally, we discuss the possibility of improving frailty by intervening in the vicious cycle between the imbalance of OS and dysbiosis.

Key Words: Oxidative stress; Gut microbiota; Frail syndrome; Traditional Chinese medicine

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Frailty is defined as a decrease in the reserve and restoring capacity of the body. It is recognized that oxidative stress (OS) is involved in frailty in multiple ways; however, the underlying mechanisms are still unknown. The association between the gut microbiota (GM) and frailty was recently reported. Herein, we propose that OS is involved in the association between the GM and the occurrence of frailty syndrome. The role of the imbalance between OS and dysbiosis is discussed in this review.

Citation: Chen SY, Wang TY, Zhao C, Wang HJ. Oxidative stress bridges the gut microbiota and the occurrence of frailty syndrome. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28(38): 5547-5556 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5547.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5547

INTRODUCTION

Frailty is one of the most complicated clinical syndromes and is defined as a decrease in the reserve and restoring capacity of the body[1]. For frail people, a slight irritant can result in strong responses, which require a longer period to recover. Thus, frailty can also be regarded as a decline in the ability to maintain homeostasis. Multiple organs and systems, such as the skeletal muscle, immune, endocrine, hematopoiesis, and cardiovascular systems, are involved in the process of frailty^[2]. Patients with frailty have a high risk of developing age-related diseases, including neurodegenerative diseases (such as dementia), type II diabetes, atherosclerosis, and chronic heart failure[3]. Frailty places a heavy burden on modern society, which has an extensive elderly population.

Although there are a few hypotheses at present, the mechanisms involved in frailty remain unknown. Researchers have different opinions about the origin of frailty. It is generally accepted that frailty is related to aging. According to Jayanama et al's survey[4], among 9030 volunteers over the age of 20, the average age with a frailty index score of less than 0.1 was 39.7 years old. Moreover, those who had an average age of 65.3 years had a frailty index score of more than 0.3. Miller et al[5] reported that 75.4% of 18- to 64-year-old people have an simplified, 5-item frailty index (sFI) = 0, which means they are considered nonfrail. In contrast, 20.1% of the 80 to 89-year-old age group had an sFI \geq 3, and thus, this age group can be referred to as a frail population. There were 9252 patients included in this analysis.

The incidence of frailty increases with age. However, frailty is not necessarily related to aging. According to an investigation by Xing and Guo[6], 43.2% of 683 older people (\geq 60 years old) from Beijing did not have frailty, while the incidence of prefrailty was 45.7%, and 11.1% of the cohort was frail. These data suggest that healthy aging could be achieved by preventing and improving frailty status.

With the increasing focus on frailty, emerging evidence has increased our understanding of this syndrome. Findings from centenarians suggest that specific gut microbiota (GM) constituents may contribute to healthy aging. For example, *Escherichia*, *Ruminococcus*^[7], and *Clostridioides leptum* are increased, whereas Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and other species are decreased in centenarians[8]. Biagi et al[8] also showed that the proportion of Clostridioides cluster XIVa was significantly lower in centenarians than in elderly and younger adults. Furthermore, the diversity and abundance of the GM vary between elderly adults and centenarians. However, the bridge between the GM and the occurrence of frailty remains unclear. In this review, we proposed the possible mechanisms involved in frailty from the perspective of the GM and oxidative stress (OS). The correlations and potential causality among these factors are discussed. The idea of using GM biomarkers to predict frailty is then proposed prospectively. Notably, frailty is not an irreversible status[9]. Timely interventions have the potential to revert the prefrailty or frailty state to a nonfrailty state. According to existing research, dietary interventions are the most commonly used treatment for frailty[10]. Moreover, traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) is a unique application for the treatment of frailty (Figure 1). Achieving healthy aging is becoming a core goal of future research.

THE GM AND FRAILTY

The abundance and diversity of the GM changes with aging. Alterations in the GM partially lead to individual differences in the health status of elderly people by interacting with the host immune system [11]. Evidence has shown that the elderly population has higher abundances of *Clostridioides* cluster XIVa, Faecalibacterium prauanitzii, Actinomycetes (mainly Bifidobacterium) and Proteobacteria than those of young adults[12]. Biagi *et al*[8] showed that the abundance of *Clostridioides* cluster XIVa was significantly higher in the elderly population (49%) than in the centenarians (34%) and the young population (44%). There was no significant difference in the abundance of *Clostridioides* cluster IV among these three age groups, but the subgroups had a different tendency to change. The abundance of Faecalibacterium





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5547 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Oxidative stress is involved in the association between the gut microbiota and frailty syndrome. A: Involving molecular and pathways of how oxidative stress bridges gut microbiota and frailty; B and C: Potential bacterial species and oxidative markers which are valuable for prediction of frailty are listed in B and C, respectively. In addition, possible intervene strategies including traditional Chinese medicine and diet & nutrition are shown at the bottom of the figure. Created with BioRender.com. OS: Oxidative stress; TMA: Trimethylamine; SCFA: Short-chain fatty acid; FGF21: Fibroblast growth factor 21; IPA: Indole-3-propionic acid; RONS: Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species; 8-OdG: 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine; 4-HNE: 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal; GSSG: Glutathione.

prausnitzii et rel. decreased in centenarians, and the abundance of *Clostridioides leptum et rel*. was increased. Centenarians had the highest abundance of *Bacilli* (12%) and *Proteobacteria* (2.6%), and the young population and the old population had similar proportions of *Bacilli* (5%) and *Proteobacteria* (1.2%). Jackson *et al*[13] studied the relationship between frailty and the composition of the GM. They found that frailty was negatively correlated with the abundance of *Clostridioides* (in which it accounted for the largest proportion of the GM). Moreover, frailty was positively correlated with the abundance of *Eggerthella lenta*. Centenarians, who are regarded as the "healthy aging" population, have a different GM composition than the aged population. This finding indicates that the GM is not entirely chronological age-correlated but that it is more closely related to the frailty status of the body.

In addition to chronological age, physiological age may better reflect the correlation between frailty and the GM (Figure 1B). In the study by Maffei *et al*[14], 85 volunteers aged 43-79 years were divided into low, medium and upper groups according to either physiological age or chronological age. The chronological age is the number of years from birth to the present. Physiological age was assessed by 34 items of the frailty index (frailty index 34, FI₃₄). According to the FI₃₄ value, there were significant differences in the abundance and diversity of the GM among the three age groups. Excluding the effect of sex, body mass index, antibiotic usage, and other confounders, *Eggerthella, Rumen coccus* and *Coprobacillus* were the three main species with the greatest influence. According to the Rockwood FI value, *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* was negatively correlated with age, while *Eubacterium dolichum* and *Eggerthella lenta* were positively correlated with age[15]. However, there was no significant difference in the GM among the three groups according to chronological age. Although there are contradictory changes in certain strains in the gut, it can be concluded that the change in *Clostridioides* abundance with age is the most remarkable. All the experiments mentioned above suggest that the GM changes with frailty status and that there is a potential link between the GM and frailty syndrome.

In frailty, the most significant change in the GM is a decrease in diversity. In the frail aged population, the microbiota shifts toward a predomination by *Bacteroidetes*, especially in the genus *Prevotella* and its subspecies. Changes in microbiota diversity affect the influence of the metabolites and pathways related to the microbiota. For instance, the GM regulates estrogen levels by secreting β -glucuronidase. β -glucuronidase is an enzyme that can deconjugate estrogen into the active form. Low levels of estrogen downregulate physiological functions that affect neural development, cardiovascular



health, bone density and neoplastic diseases[16]. Scientific evidence suggests that estrogen supplementation could improve physiological functions that prevent or reverse frailty [17]. Said *et al* [18] found that diarylpropionitrile, an estrogen receptor β agonist, had longevity-promoting properties and could reverse frailty.

THE ROLE OF OS IN FRAILTY

OS was regarded as one of the main causes of frailty as early as the 1950s. Harman^[19] first proposed the free radical theory of aging; according to this theory, oxygen free radicals damage cell components and intercellular substances, causing the deterioration of body functions and age-related diseases. In the 1980s, OS was discovered. The advent of OS indicates that the balance between oxidation and antioxidation is inclined toward oxidation. This leads to neutrophil inflammatory infiltration, an increase in protease secretion, and the generation of a large number of oxidative intermediates. The study by Viña et al^[20] suggested that OS was an important negative factor that led to aging and diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, neurodegenerative disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or cancer and other illnesses in aged individuals. Some researchers have thought that oxidative damage may be due to the imbalance between antioxidation defenses and reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (RONS), thus inducing cell apoptosis. This imbalance would lead to alterations in the expression of a number of transcription factors and then cause chemical modifications in macromolecular substances, such as lipids, proteins and DNA[21,22].

Since the free radical theory of aging was proposed, increasing concern has been given to the influence of OS on frailty (Figure 1C). Wu et al [23] screened 90 volunteers who were older than 65 years old, dividing them into a frailty group, a prefrailty group and a nonfrailty group according to Fried's phenotype. The serum levels of OS biomarkers such as 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OdG), metabolic markers such as albumin, and inflammatory markers such as hypersensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) were measured by competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. The results demonstrated that the serum albumin and hs-CRP levels in the frail group were higher than those in the other two groups. Furthermore, the levels of 8-OdG and hs-CRP increased with the progression of frailty. Serviddio *et al*[24] compared the levels of oxidized glutathione (GSSG), tumor necrosis factor- α , malondialdehyde (MDA), 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (4-HNE), and other OS-related indicators in patients with frailty syndrome with those in nonfrail individuals. The data suggested that these indicators of OS were all significantly increased in frail individuals.

In addition to the direct evaluation of the frailty index, OS was also found to be related to sarcopenia. Severe sarcopenia in the elderly was defined as the prophase of frailty by the European Working Group on Sarcopenia. Bernabeu-Wittel et al^[25] found that in 444 polypathological patients, 97 patients had sarcopenia. The number of patients with a combination of sarcopenia and frailty was 80. The authors also reported that OS markers were significantly increased in patients with sarcopenia, frailty or both. OS was evaluated by the levels of catalase, GSSG reductase, total antioxidant capacity to reactive oxygen species (ROS), and superoxide dismutase (SOD). Coto Montes et al[26] found that sarcopenia was closely related to lipid peroxidation. Significant increases in biomarkers such as MDA and 4-HNE were observed in 200 independent 80-year-old persons who had been diagnosed with sarcopenia. Liu *et al*[27] also discovered that the incidence of frailty increased with a rise in the levels of interleukin-6 (IL-6), isoprostaglandin and lipoprotein phosphorylation A2. These studies suggested a correlation between frailty and OS. OS-related biomarkers in serum may be potential biomarkers for predicting frailty. This possibility needs further study.

THE UNDERLYING MECHANISM OF THE INFLUENCE OF THE GM ON FRAILTY SYNDROME WAS ANALYZED BY OS

OS is affected by many factors in vivo and in vitro. The GM plays a role as "environmental factors" which regulates ROS levels in plasma and maintaining the functions of the digestive, endocrine, immune, skeletal, cardiovascular, and nervous systems. The stability of the GM is fragile and easily affected by external factors, including diet, heavy use of drugs, geographic position, individual lifestyle, and the genetic background of the host[28]. Once the GM is disturbed ("dysbiosis"), it may cause a series of related illnesses, such as inflammatory bowel diseases, obesity, and type II diabetes. These diseases can also affect the oxidative balance, thus forming a vicious cycle.

For example, a variety of colon bacteria, such as Fusobacterium, Clostridioides, Escherichia, Salmonella, *Klebsiella, Streptococcus, Desulfovibrio* and *Enterobacter*, can convert sulfide to hydrogen sulfide (H_2S)[29]. Intestinal epithelial cells protect themselves by converting H_2S into thiosulfate $(S_2O_3^{-2})$. Thiosulfate can be oxidized to tetrathionate ions $(S_4O_6^{-2})$ in the case of intestinal inflammation (Figure 1A). This process is accompanied by the formation of RONS. In both anaerobic and microaerobic environments, tetrathionate can specifically promote the proliferation of Salmonella enterica Typhimurium model strains



[30]. It has also been reported that certain GM can cause a sharp increase in ROS. *Lactobacillus* is a strong inducer of ROS. It can stimulate the production of ROS by enhancing the ability to pass through the mucous membrane or increasing the secretion of mucus. Additionally, it can interact with certain cellular receptors, such as formylated peptide receptors or Toll-like receptors[31,32]. In addition, Lactobacilli promotes the oxidation of soluble redox proteins, such as GSSG and thioredoxin, and it facilitates the transcription of redox regulatory factors by activating the nuclear factor erythroid 2related factor 2 pathway [32]. The pathogenic mechanisms of action of *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) may also be related to its promotion of ROS production. H. pylori can induce severe white blood cell tissue infiltration and release virulence factors that stimulate epithelial cells to produce ROS and secrete myeloperoxidase, chemokines, and proinflammatory cytokines. Consequently, H. pylori results in gastrointestinal microbiome dysbiosis and induces nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)[33]. The antioxidant enzyme SOD can be used to treat NAFLD. SOD can convert superoxide anion into hydrogen peroxide and molecular oxygen, thus preventing the accumulation of ROS[34]. In addition to H. pylori, the GM has been proposed to be strongly associated with the development and progression of metabolic diseases, including NAFLD[33]. NAFLD patients showed lower fecal microbial diversity than that of healthy controls in one study[35]. At the taxonomic and functional levels, another recent study showed that Lactobacilli inhibited the incidence and development of NAFLD by improving hepatic mitochondria and lipid metabolism by promoting the production of the antioxidant GSSG[36].

These studies indicate that the activation of OS by the GM is a possible mechanism of frailty. For example, gut microbes metabolize choline, L-carnitine and betaine in the daily diet to trimethylamine (TMA). These substances are mainly found in red meat, meat products, eggs, and shellfish[37,38]. Nine GM strains can convert choline to TMA: Anaerococcus hydrogenalis, Clostridioides asparagiforme, Clostridioides hathewayi, Clostridioides sporogenes, Escherichia fergusonii, Proteus penneri, Providencia rettgeri, Edwardsiella tarda and Providencia rustiganii. These species belong to Firmicutes and Proteobacteria[39]. Liver enzymes further convert TMA to TMAO through the flavin-containing monooxygenase (FMO) family members FMO1 and FMO3[37]. Researchers have found that the level of TMAO was increased in the aged population and that TMAO was independently associated with frailty. Nam et al[40] reported that the average levels of TMAO were 3.21 µM and 4.04 µM in nonfrail and frail participants, respectively. Moreover, participants who had the highest plasma TMAO levels showed a significant 3.7fold increase in the incidence of frailty syndrome. A high level of plasma TMAO can increase the risk of stroke, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, congestive heart failure, chronic kidney disease, coronary artery disease, peripheral artery disease and other cardiovascular diseases, which are associated with frailty [40]. Moreover, TMAO significantly increases OS, inflammatory conditions and endothelial dysfunction. TMAO stimulates the TXNIP-NLRP3 inflammasome and activates the release of the inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and IL-18. However, it inhibits the production of endothelial nitric oxide (NO) synthase and NO[41]. It has also been reported that TMAO can promote inflammatory hepatocellular carcinoma by inducing ROS and activating ILK/AKT/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling via POSTN[42]. Our previous studies showed that administration of TMAO produced a novel model of frailty in mice[43]. In this TMAO-induced frailty model, the abundance of Firmicutes was decreased slightly, while the abundance of Bacteroidetes was significantly increased in the gut. The ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes (F/B) was significantly decreased. Relevantly, the F/B ratio is reported to be a potential marker of obesity and GM disorder[44], both of which are potential factors of frailty[45,46]. According to an investigation, obese females have higher FI values than those of nonobese females. In addition to TMAO, short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) are also common metabolites of the GM that are converted from undigested carbohydrates, such as starch and pectin (Figure 1A). Butyrate is a SCFA product. Studies have shown that there is a significant association between SCFAs/butyrate and gut/celiac diseases[47,48]. It is transcriptionally activated by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α by replacing histone deacetylase 3 on the fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21) promoter. This reaction actives FGF21 and induces the expression and secretion of FGF21[46]. FGF21 regulates the adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase-Sirtuin1-mTOR pathway, which is associated with longevity. FGF21 can also alleviate various diseases related to aging[49,50]. In addition, the GM can affect the levels of inflammation by regulating the immune system and can affect insulin resistance by regulating the metabolomic system[51].

In addition to these metabolites, indole-3-propionic acid (IPA), another microbiota-derived metabolite of tryptophan, has been proven to have a positive impact at the cellular level by preventing OS injury and lipoperoxidation and inhibiting the synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines[52], suggesting that IPA may be a promising new target for improving frailty.

The GM and metabolites changes with frailty. Scientific evidence also shows that some antibiotics can reverse frailty. This action may be due to the effect of antibiotics changing the composition of the GM. For example, rapamycin is a broad-spectrum antibiotic. It also acts as an immunosuppressor. Rapamycin regulates protein synthesis and redox reactions. Animal studies have shown that rapamycin prolongs lifespan and improves frailty[50]. These results indicate that the GM plays an important role in the process of frailty *via* OS.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

POTENTIAL INTERVENTIONS FOR FRAILTY

By understanding the role of the GM and OS in frailty, several interventions have been proposed to improve this syndrome and to achieve the goal of healthy aging.

Effect of diet on frailty

One possible intervention is to regulate the GM via the daily diet. Data from short-lived organisms, such as yeast, worms and fruit flies, showed that diet had an anti-senescence effect and prolonged the lives of these organisms by enhancing stress resistance, reliance on lipid fuel use, and the activation of proteostatic mechanisms^[53]. Such effects of diet and nutrition on aging can also be reproduced in humans [54]. For example, the Mediterranean diet can improve frailty. The Mediterranean diet is characterized by an increase in the consumption of vegetables, legumes, fruits, nuts, olive oil and fish[55]. At the same time, the consumption of meat and unsaturated fatty acids is reduced. The Mediterranean diet provides a higher intake of micronutrients, such as antioxidant nutrients, polyphenols and plant bioactive compounds[56]. Ghosh et al[57] found that one year of Mediterranean diet intervention can change the composition of the GM and alleviate frailty. Some of the GM that belong to the "diet positive" taxa increased, including Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, Roseburia, Eubacterium (E. rectale, E. eligens, and E. xylanophilum), Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron, Prevotella copri and Anaerostipes hadrus. An increase in these microbiotas facilitates the production of SCFAs and the enhancement of the anti-inflammatory capacity. On the other hand, the microbiota deemed to be "diet negative" taxa, such as Ruminococcus torques, Collinsella aerofaciens, Coprococcus comes, Dorea formicigenerans, Clostridioides ramosum, Veillonella dispar, Flavonifractor plautii and Actinomyces lingnae, were reduced. These "diet negative" taxa are associated with type II diabetes, colorectal cancer, atherosclerosis, cirrhosis and inflammatory bowel disease. With the progressive aggravation of frailty symptoms, the "diet-positive" taxa decreased, and the "dietnegative" taxa increased. Proper nutritional supplements can improve frailty. Bo conducted a doubleblind experiment and found that mixed supplementation with whey protein, vitamin D and vitamin E can significantly improve muscle mass and strength (handgrip strength)[58]. It was also used to treat elderly individuals with sarcopenia, and the supplementation improved frailty and quality of life. Moreover, the Mediterranean diet was found to tend to increase the plasma concentration of IPA[52]. IPA could reduce the level of OS in the body and help to improve frailty.

In addition to the Mediterranean diet, some other diet regimens can also improve GM and OS. For example, the replacement diet based on ancient Khorasan wheat results in beneficial GM compositional and functional modifications that positively correlate with an improvement in fibromyalgia symptomatology^[59]. A habitual diet supplemented with oral butyrate could reduce the production of ROS in leukocytes[60]. Whether these diet regimens could improve frailty remains to be further investigated.

Effect of TCM on frailty

With an increasing number of studies on TCM, many effective monomers and prescription preparations of TCM have been found to improve frailty by regulating the GM and OS. For example, Cistanche deserticola and Eucommia ulmoides are common TCM with a tonifying effect on the kidneys, which are important organs for aging[61-63]. Modern pharmacological investigations have demonstrated that both TCMs can regulate the GM and OS. Cistanche deserticola polysaccharide is one of the main active components of Cistanche deserticola. It can produce antiaging effects by scavenging free radicals, reducing telomerase activity, improving mitochondrial antioxidant capacity and improving mitochondrial energy metabolism[64]. Moreover, Cistanche deserticola polysaccharide can inhibit the growth of a variety of gut pathogenic bacteria and can promote the growth of probiotics. These effects help to maintain the health of the GM^[65]. Chlorogenic acid is one of the main effective components of Eucommia ulmoides, and it has strong anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects. It can reduce OS and improve mitochondrial dysfunction[66]. Furthermore, chlorogenic acid and its hydrolytic form, which is called caffeic acid, have been demonstrated to alleviate inflammation and OS by improving the GM[67]. This effect is manifested by an increase in the content of Ackermann bacteria and the restoration of the abundance of GM[68]. It can increase the expression of tight junction proteins in intestinal epithelial cells to repair the intestinal barrier and reduce permeability[69]. These actions may contribute to the antiaging effect of chlorogenic acid^[69] and further prolong the lifespan in experiments with Caenorhabditis elegans[70]. Liujunzi decoction, a TCM prescription consisting of Dangshen, Tuckahoe, Atracylodes macrocephala, Licorice, Pinellia ternata and Orange peel, was found to significantly improve the frailty state of elderly patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. This effect was significantly better than that of tiotropium bromide[71]. In addition, administration of Liujunzi decoction for eight weeks increased the muscle weight and exercise endurance of the frail patients. Supplementation with Chinese medicinal plant extracts from Lonicera hypoglauca and Scutellaria baicalensis, as well as Dihydroquercetin supplementation, could mitigate colonic inflammation by regulating OS and the GM[72,73].

Since TCM is popular in China, Japan and other East Asian regions, most of the available literature to date is limited to the data obtained from Asian populations. However, considering that most modern pharmacological studies are performed with standard experimental animals, the anti-frailty effect of

these TCMs may potentially be extended to Western populations based on these basic research data. However, these medicines still need to be more widely investigated in studies involving a larger population.

CONCLUSION

In summary, the abundance and diversity of the GM were found to change with age. Specific GMs and their metabolites stimulate the production of ROS and affect OS in the body, leading to damage to multiple biological macromolecules. The occurrence of OS may be the intermediate process of the GM that leads to frailty, producing a direct action on the body. This may be one of the precipitating factors of frailty syndrome. Thus, the GM and its metabolites can be used as biomarkers of frailty syndrome. Regulating the GM and OS by diet or TCM could help to improve frailty. Additionally, there is increasing evidence indicating that circadian rhythms may also play important roles in mediating the impact of the GM on chronic diseases[74]. Clarifying the mechanisms involved in frailty from the perspective of the GM may be important to achieving the goal of healthy aging.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Chen SY and Wang TY wrote the paper; Zhao C and Wang HJ supervised the writing and editing the manuscript.

Supported by the National Key Research and Development Program of China, No. 2018YFC2002000 and 2018YFC2000500/03; and Shanghai Natural Science Foundation, No. 21ZR1409200.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Tong-Yao Wang 0000-0002-8998-5509; Chao Zhao 0000-0001-7349-306X; Hui-Jing Wang 0000-0002-4246-233X.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet 2013; 381: 752-762 [PMID: 1 23395245 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9]
- 2 Fulop T, McElhaney J, Pawelec G, Cohen AA, Morais JA, Dupuis G, Baehl S, Camous X, Witkowski JM, Larbi A. Frailty, Inflammation and Immunosenescence. Interdiscip Top Gerontol Geriatr 2015; 41: 26-40 [PMID: 26301977 DOI: 10.1159/000381134]
- 3 Fülöp T, Dupuis G, Witkowski JM, Larbi A. The Role of Immunosenescence in the Development of Age-Related Diseases. Rev Invest Clin 2016; 68: 84-91 [PMID: 27103044]
- Jayanama K, Theou O, Blodgett JM, Cahill L, Rockwood K. Frailty, nutrition-related parameters, and mortality across the 4 adult age spectrum. BMC Med 2018; 16: 188 [PMID: 30360759 DOI: 10.1186/s12916-018-1176-6]
- 5 Miller SM, Wolf J, Katlic M, D'Adamo CR, Coleman J, Ahuja V. Frailty is a better predictor than age for outcomes in geriatric patients with rectal cancer undergoing proctectomy. Surgery 2020; 168: 504-508 [PMID: 32665144 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2020.05.027]
- 6 Xing X, Guo G. Research on the current situation of frailty and its influencing factors among the elderly in the community. Chinese Nursing Management 2014; 12: 1315-1319
- Rampelli S, Candela M, Turroni S, Biagi E, Collino S, Franceschi C, O'Toole PW, Brigidi P. Functional metagenomic profiling of intestinal microbiome in extreme ageing. Aging (Albany NY) 2013; 5: 902-912 [PMID: 24334635 DOI: 10.18632/aging.100623]
- Biagi E, Nylund L, Candela M, Ostan R, Bucci L, Pini E, Nikkïla J, Monti D, Satokari R, Franceschi C, Brigidi P, De Vos W. Through ageing, and beyond: gut microbiota and inflammatory status in seniors and centenarians. PLoS One 2010; 5: e10667 [PMID: 20498852 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010667]



- 9 Ulley J, Abdelhafiz AH. Frailty predicts adverse outcomes in older people with diabetes. Practitioner 2017; 261: 17-20 [PMID: 29023081]
- 10 Salminen KS. Suominen MH, Kautiainen H, Pitkälä KH, Associations between Nutritional Status, Frailty and Health-Related Quality of Life among Older Long-Term Care Residents in Helsinki. J Nutr Health Aging 2020; 24: 319-324 [PMID: 32115614 DOI: 10.1007/s12603-019-1320-9]
- Wu YL, Xu J, Rong XY, Wang F, Wang HJ, Zhao C. Gut microbiota alterations and health status in aging adults: From 11 correlation to causation. Aging Med (Milton) 2021; 4: 206-213 [PMID: 34553118 DOI: 10.1002/agm2.12167]
- Salazar N, Valdés-Varela L, González S, Gueimonde M, de Los Reyes-Gavilán CG. Nutrition and the gut microbiome in 12 the elderly. Gut Microbes 2017; 8: 82-97 [PMID: 27808595 DOI: 10.1080/19490976.2016.1256525]
- Jackson MA, Jeffery IB, Beaumont M, Bell JT, Clark AG, Ley RE, O'Toole PW, Spector TD, Steves CJ. Signatures of 13 early frailty in the gut microbiota. Genome Med 2016; 8: 8 [PMID: 26822992 DOI: 10.1186/s13073-016-0262-7]
- Maffei VJ, Kim S, Blanchard E 4th, Luo M, Jazwinski SM, Taylor CM, Welsh DA. Biological Aging and the Human Gut 14 Microbiota. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2017; 72: 1474-1482 [PMID: 28444190 DOI: 10.1093/gerona/glx042]
- 15 Ticinesi A, Lauretani F, Milani C, Nouvenne A, Tana C, Del Rio D, Maggio M, Ventura M, Meschi T. Aging Gut Microbiota at the Cross-Road between Nutrition, Physical Frailty, and Sarcopenia: Is There a Gut-Muscle Axis? Nutrients 2017; 9 [PMID: 29189738 DOI: 10.3390/nu9121303]
- Baker JM, Al-Nakkash L, Herbst-Kralovetz MM. Estrogen-gut microbiome axis: Physiological and clinical implications. 16 Maturitas 2017; 103: 45-53 [PMID: 28778332 DOI: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2017.06.025]
- 17 Schwartz E, Holtorf K. Hormone replacement therapy in the geriatric patient: current state of the evidence and questions for the future. Estrogen, progesterone, testosterone, and thyroid hormone augmentation in geriatric clinical practice: part 1. Clin Geriatr Med 2011; 27: 541-559 [PMID: 22062440 DOI: 10.1016/j.cger.2011.07.013]
- 18 Said SA, Isedowo R, Guerin C, Nar NN, Lillie L, Bukovac S, Simone JJ, Green MR, McCormick CM, Stuart JA. Effects of long-term dietary administration of estrogen receptor-beta agonist diarylpropionitrile on ovariectomized female ICR (CD-1) mice. Geroscience 2018; 40: 393-403 [PMID: 30099673 DOI: 10.1007/s11357-018-0038-7]
- Harman D. Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. J Gerontol 1956; 11: 298-300 [PMID: 13332224 19 DOI: 10.1093/geronj/11.3.298]
- 20 Viña J, Borras C, Gomez-Cabrera MC. A free radical theory of frailty. Free Radic Biol Med 2018; 124: 358-363 [PMID: 29958933 DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.06.028]
- 21 Liguori I, Russo G, Curcio F, Bulli G, Aran L, Della-Morte D, Gargiulo G, Testa G, Cacciatore F, Bonaduce D, Abete P. Oxidative stress, aging, and diseases. Clin Interv Aging 2018; 13: 757-772 [PMID: 29731617 DOI: 10.2147/CIA.S158513]
- 22 Soysal P, Isik AT, Carvalho AF, Fernandes BS, Solmi M, Schofield P, Veronese N, Stubbs B. Oxidative stress and frailty: A systematic review and synthesis of the best evidence. Maturitas 2017; 99: 66-72 [PMID: 28364871 DOI: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2017.01.006]
- 23 Wu IC, Shiesh SC, Kuo PH, Lin XZ. High oxidative stress is correlated with frailty in elderly chinese. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009; **57**: 1666-1671 [PMID: 19682113 DOI: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02392.x]
- Serviddio G, Romano AD, Greco A, Rollo T, Bellanti F, Altomare E, Vendemiale G. Frailty syndrome is associated with 24 altered circulating redox balance and increased markers of oxidative stress. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 2009; 22: 819-827 [PMID: 19822098 DOI: 10.1177/039463200902200328]
- 25 Bernabeu-Wittel M, Gómez-Díaz R, González-Molina Á, Vidal-Serrano S, Díez-Manglano J, Salgado F, Soto-Martín M, Ollero-Baturone M, On Behalf Of The Proteo Researchers. Oxidative Stress, Telomere Shortening, and Apoptosis Associated to Sarcopenia and Frailty in Patients with Multimorbidity. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 32824789 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9082669]
- Coto Montes A, Boga JA, Bermejo Millo C, Rubio González A, Potes Ochoa Y, Vega Naredo I, Martínez Reig M, Romero Rizos L, Sánchez Jurado PM, Solano JJ, Abizanda P, Caballero B. Potential early biomarkers of sarcopenia among independent older adults. Maturitas 2017; 104: 117-122 [PMID: 28923171 DOI: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2017.08.009]
- 27 Liu CK, Lyass A, Larson MG, Massaro JM, Wang N, D'Agostino RB Sr, Benjamin EJ, Murabito JM. Biomarkers of oxidative stress are associated with frailty: the Framingham Offspring Study. Age (Dordr) 2016; 38: 1 [PMID: 26695510 DOI: 10.1007/s11357-015-9864-z]
- Casati M, Ferri E, Azzolino D, Cesari M, Arosio B. Gut microbiota and physical frailty through the mediation of 28 sarcopenia. Exp Gerontol 2019; 124: 110639 [PMID: 31226349 DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2019.110639]
- 29 Blachier F, Beaumont M, Kim E. Cysteine-derived hydrogen sulfide and gut health: a matter of endogenous or bacterial origin. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2019; 22: 68-75 [PMID: 30461448 DOI: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000526]
- Winter SE, Thiennimitr P, Winter MG, Butler BP, Huseby DL, Crawford RW, Russell JM, Bevins CL, Adams LG, Tsolis 30 RM, Roth JR, Bäumler AJ. Gut inflammation provides a respiratory electron acceptor for Salmonella. Nature 2010; 467: 426-429 [PMID: 20864996 DOI: 10.1038/nature09415]
- 31 Jones RM, Mercante JW, Neish AS. Reactive oxygen production induced by the gut microbiota: pharmacotherapeutic implications. Curr Med Chem 2012; 19: 1519-1529 [PMID: 22360484 DOI: 10.2174/092986712799828283]
- 32 Jones RM, Neish AS. Redox signaling mediated by the gut microbiota. Free Radic Biol Med 2017; 105: 41-47 [PMID: 27989756 DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2016.10.495]
- Han H, Jiang Y, Wang M, Melaku M, Liu L, Zhao Y, Everaert N, Yi B, Zhang H. Intestinal dysbiosis in nonalcoholic fatty 33 liver disease (NAFLD): focusing on the gut-liver axis. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2021; 1-18 [PMID: 34404276 DOI: 10.1080/10408398.2021.1966738
- Borrelli A, Bonelli P, Tuccillo FM, Goldfine ID, Evans JL, Buonaguro FM, Mancini A. Role of gut microbiota and 34 oxidative stress in the progression of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease to hepatocarcinoma: Current and innovative therapeutic approaches. Redox Biol 2018; 15: 467-479 [PMID: 29413959 DOI: 10.1016/j.redox.2018.01.009]
- Del Chierico F, Nobili V, Vernocchi P, Russo A, De Stefanis C, Gnani D, Furlanello C, Zandonà A, Paci P, Capuani G, 35 Dallapiccola B, Miccheli A, Alisi A, Putignani L. Gut microbiota profiling of pediatric nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and obese patients unveiled by an integrated meta-omics-based approach. Hepatology 2017; 65: 451-464 [PMID: 27028797



DOI: 10.1002/hep.28572]

- 36 Rodrigues RR, Gurung M, Li Z, García-Jaramillo M, Greer R, Gaulke C, Bauchinger F, You H, Pederson JW, Vasquez-Perez S, White KD, Frink B, Philmus B, Jump DB, Trinchieri G, Berry D, Sharpton TJ, Dzutsev A, Morgun A, Shulzhenko N. Transkingdom interactions between Lactobacilli and hepatic mitochondria attenuate western diet-induced diabetes. Nat Commun 2021; 12: 101 [PMID: 33397942 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-20313-x]
- 37 Yang S, Li X, Yang F, Zhao R, Pan X, Liang J, Tian L, Liu L, Xing Y, Wu M. Gut Microbiota-Dependent Marker TMAO in Promoting Cardiovascular Disease: Inflammation Mechanism, Clinical Prognostic, and Potential as a Therapeutic Target. Front Pharmacol 2019; 10: 1360 [PMID: 31803054 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2019.01360]
- 38 He W, Luo Y, Liu JP, Sun N, Guo D, Cui LL, Zheng PP, Yao SM, Yang JF, Wang H. Trimethylamine N-Oxide, a Gut Microbiota-Dependent Metabolite, is Associated with Frailty in Older Adults with Cardiovascular Disease. Clin Interv Aging 2020; 15: 1809-1820 [PMID: 33061331 DOI: 10.2147/CIA.S270887]
- 39 Romano KA, Vivas EI, Amador-Noguez D, Rey FE. Intestinal microbiota composition modulates choline bioavailability from diet and accumulation of the proatherogenic metabolite trimethylamine-N-oxide. mBio 2015; 6: e02481 [PMID: 25784704 DOI: 10.1128/mBio.02481-14]
- Nam HS. Gut Microbiota and Ischemic Stroke: The Role of Trimethylamine N-Oxide. J Stroke 2019; 21: 151-159 [PMID: 40 31161760 DOI: 10.5853/jos.2019.00472]
- Sun X, Jiao X, Ma Y, Liu Y, Zhang L, He Y, Chen Y. Trimethylamine N-oxide induces inflammation and endothelial 41 dysfunction in human umbilical vein endothelial cells via activating ROS-TXNIP-NLRP3 inflammasome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2016; 481: 63-70 [PMID: 27833015 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.11.017]
- 42 Wu Y, Rong X, Pan M, Wang T, Yang H, Chen X, Xiao Z, Zhao C. Integrated Analysis Reveals the Gut Microbial Metabolite TMAO Promotes Inflammatory Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Upregulating POSTN. Front Cell Dev Biol 2022; 10: 840171 [PMID: 35676936 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2022.840171]
- Chen SY, Rong XY, Sun XY, Zou YR, Zhao C, Wang HJ. A Novel Trimethylamine Oxide-Induced Model Implicates Gut 43 Microbiota-Related Mechanisms in Frailty. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022; 12: 803082 [PMID: 35360115 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.803082]
- Grigor'eva IN. Gallstone Disease, Obesity and the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes Ratio as a Possible Biomarker of Gut 44 Dysbiosis. J Pers Med 2020; 11 [PMID: 33375615 DOI: 10.3390/jpm11010013]
- 45 Li G, Compston JE, Leslie WD, Thabane L, Papaioannou A, Lau A, Wang X, Qin C, Chen B, Chen M, Adachi JD. Relationship Between Obesity and Risk of Major Osteoporotic Fracture in Postmenopausal Women: Taking Frailty Into Consideration. J Bone Miner Res 2020; 35: 2355-2362 [PMID: 32717113 DOI: 10.1002/jbmr.4139]
- 46 Michaud M, Balardy L, Moulis G, Gaudin C, Peyrot C, Vellas B, Cesari M, Nourhashemi F. Proinflammatory cytokines, aging, and age-related diseases. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2013; 14: 877-882 [PMID: 23792036 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.05.009
- 47 Baldi S, Menicatti M, Nannini G, Niccolai E, Russo E, Ricci F, Pallecchi M, Romano F, Pedone M, Poli G, Renzi D, Taddei A, Calabrò AS, Stingo FC, Bartolucci G, Amedei A. Free Fatty Acids Signature in Human Intestinal Disorders: Significant Association between Butyric Acid and Celiac Disease. Nutrients 2021; 13: 742 [PMID: 33652681 DOI: 10.3390/nu13030742]
- Niccolai E, Baldi S, Ricci F, Russo E, Nannini G, Menicatti M, Poli G, Taddei A, Bartolucci G, Calabrò AS, Stingo FC, Amedei A. Evaluation and comparison of short chain fatty acids composition in gut diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25: 5543-5558 [PMID: 31576099 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i36.5543]
- Finlay BB, Pettersson S, Melby MK, Bosch TCG. The Microbiome Mediates Environmental Effects on Aging. Bioessays 49 2019; 41: e1800257 [PMID: 31157928 DOI: 10.1002/bies.201800257]
- Salminen A, Kaarniranta K, Kauppinen A. Regulation of longevity by FGF21: Interaction between energy metabolism and 50 stress responses. Ageing Res Rev 2017; 37: 79-93 [PMID: 28552719 DOI: 10.1016/j.arr.2017.05.004]
- 51 Ma L, Sha G, Zhang Y, Li Y. Elevated serum IL-6 and adiponectin levels are associated with frailty and physical function in Chinese older adults. Clin Interv Aging 2018; 13: 2013-2020 [PMID: 30410318 DOI: 10.2147/CIA.S180934]
- Konopelski P, Mogilnicka I. Biological Effects of Indole-3-Propionic Acid, a Gut Microbiota-Derived Metabolite, and Its 52 Precursor Tryptophan in Mammals' Health and Disease. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23: 1222 [PMID: 35163143 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23031222]
- 53 Palliyaguru DL, Moats JM, Di Germanio C, Bernier M, de Cabo R. Frailty index as a biomarker of lifespan and healthspan: Focus on pharmacological interventions. Mech Ageing Dev 2019; 180: 42-48 [PMID: 30926563 DOI: 10.1016/j.mad.2019.03.005
- 54 Longo VD, Anderson RM. Nutrition, longevity and disease: From molecular mechanisms to interventions. Cell 2022; 185: 1455-1470 [PMID: 35487190 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2022.04.002]
- Davis C, Bryan J, Hodgson J, Murphy K. Definition of the Mediterranean Diet; a Literature Review. Nutrients 2015; 7: 55 9139-9153 [PMID: 26556369 DOI: 10.3390/nu7115459]
- Ni Lochlainn M, Cox NJ, Wilson T, Hayhoe RPG, Ramsay SE, Granic A, Isanejad M, Roberts HC, Wilson D, Welch C, 56 Hurst C, Atkins JL, Mendonça N, Horner K, Tuttiett ER, Morgan Y, Heslop P, Williams EA, Steves CJ, Greig C, Draper J, Corish CA, Welch A, Witham MD, Sayer AA, Robinson S. Nutrition and Frailty: Opportunities for Prevention and Treatment. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 34371858 DOI: 10.3390/nu13072349]
- Ghosh TS, Rampelli S, Jeffery IB, Santoro A, Neto M, Capri M, Giampieri E, Jennings A, Candela M, Turroni S, Zoetendal EG, Hermes GDA, Elodie C, Meunier N, Brugere CM, Pujos-Guillot E, Berendsen AM, De Groot LCPGM, Feskins EJM, Kaluza J, Pietruszka B, Bielak MJ, Comte B, Maijo-Ferre M, Nicoletti C, De Vos WM, Fairweather-Tait S, Cassidy A, Brigidi P, Franceschi C, O'Toole PW. Mediterranean diet intervention alters the gut microbiome in older people reducing frailty and improving health status: the NU-AGE 1-year dietary intervention across five European countries. Gut 2020; 69: 1218-1228 [PMID: 32066625 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319654]
- Bo Y, Liu C, Ji Z, Yang R, An Q, Zhang X, You J, Duan D, Sun Y, Zhu Y, Cui H, Lu Q. A high whey protein, vitamin D and E supplement preserves muscle mass, strength, and quality of life in sarcopenic older adults: A double-blind randomized controlled trial. Clin Nutr 2019; 38: 159-164 [PMID: 29395372 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2017.12.020]



- 59 Baldi S, Pagliai G, Dinu M, Di Gloria L, Nannini G, Curini L, Pallecchi M, Russo E, Niccolai E, Danza G, Benedettelli S, Ballerini G, Colombini B, Bartolucci G, Ramazzotti M, Sofi F, Amedei A. Effect of ancient Khorasan wheat on gut microbiota, inflammation, and short-chain fatty acid production in patients with fibromyalgia. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 1965-1980 [PMID: 35664958 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i18.1965]
- Emmi G, Bettiol A, Niccolai E, Ramazzotti M, Amedei A, Pagliai G, Taddei N, Sofi F, Fiorillo C, Prisco D, Becatti M. 60 Butyrate-Rich Diets Improve Redox Status and Fibrin Lysis in Behçet's Syndrome. Circ Res 2021; 128: 278-280 [PMID: 33198585 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317789]
- Wang T, Zhang X, Xie W. Cistanche deserticola Y. C. Ma, "Desert ginseng": a review. Am J Chin Med 2012; 40: 1123-61 1141 [PMID: 23227786 DOI: 10.1142/S0192415X12500838]
- Hussain T, Tan B, Liu G, Oladele OA, Rahu N, Tossou MC, Yin Y. Health-Promoting Properties of Eucommia ulmoides: 62 A Review. Evid-Based Compl Alt 2016 [DOI: 10.1155/2016/5202908]
- 63 Huang L, Lyu Q, Zheng W, Yang Q, Cao G. Traditional application and modern pharmacological research of Eucommia ulmoides Oliv. Chin Med 2021; 16: 73 [PMID: 34362420 DOI: 10.1186/s13020-021-00482-7]
- 64 Gao X, Chen J, Peng Y. Research Situation of Pharmacological Effects of Cistanche Deserticol Polysaccharides. Food Drug 2015; 17: 136-139
- Deng N, Shen Y, Ding H, Song X, Zhang L. Research Progress on Pharmacological Action of Polysaccharides in Cistanche 65 Deserticola. J Liaoning University Tradition Chin Med 2020; 22: 67-71 [DOI: 10.13194/j.issn.1673-842x.2020.06.018]
- Wang Q, Du T, Zhang Z, Ji M, Hu H, Chen X. Advances in research on the pharmacological effects and mechanism of 66 action of chlorogenic acid. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica 2020; 55: 2273-2280 [DOI: 10.16438/j.0513-4870.2020-0423]
- 67 Wan F, Zhong R, Wang M, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Yi B, Hou F, Liu L, Zhao Y, Chen L, Zhang H. Caffeic Acid Supplement Alleviates Colonic Inflammation and Oxidative Stress Potentially Through Improved Gut Microbiota Community in Mice. Front Microbiol 2021; 12: 784211 [PMID: 34867926 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.784211]
- 68 Wu X. Studies on the regulation of UC inflammatory response and intestinal flora by chlorogenic acid. Proceedings of the Science and Technology Salon of the Youth Committee of the Chinese Toxicology Society; 2019 Jun 13; Hulunbuir, Nei Mongol, China: China Academic Journal Electronic Publishing House
- Mi S. Chlorogenic Acid Attenuates Intestinal Barrier Damage in Colitis Rats. Nanchang University, 2014
- Zheng SQ, Huang XB, Xing TK, Ding AJ, Wu GS, Luo HR. Chlorogenic Acid Extends the Lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans via Insulin/IGF-1 Signaling Pathway. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2017; 72: 464-472 [PMID: 27378235 DOI: 10.1093/gerona/glw105]
- 71 Han W. Clinical Benifit study of Senile COPD Patients in Stationary Phase Combined with Frailty with the Lung and Spleen Qi Deficiency Syndrome Treated with Liujunzi Decoction Combined Comprehensive Therapy. Chengdu University Tradition Chin Med 2021; 65
- 72 Wan F, Wang M, Zhong R, Chen L, Han H, Liu L, Zhao Y, Lv H, Hou F, Yi B, Zhang H. Supplementation With Chinese Medicinal Plant Extracts From Lonicera hypoglauca and Scutellaria baicalensis Mitigates Colonic Inflammation by Regulating Oxidative Stress and Gut Microbiota in a Colitis Mouse Model. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022; 11: 798052 [PMID: 35059326 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2021.798052]
- Wan F, Han H, Zhong R, Wang M, Tang S, Zhang S, Hou F, Yi B, Zhang H. Dihydroquercetin supplement alleviates 73 colonic inflammation potentially through improved gut microbiota community in mice. Food Function 2021; 12: 11420-11434 [DOI: 10.1039/D1FO01422F]
- Wang T, Rong X, Zhao C. Circadian Rhythms Coordinated With Gut Microbiota Partially Account for Individual 74 Differences in Hepatitis B-Related Cirrhosis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022; 12: 936815 [PMID: 35846774 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.936815]



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5557-5572

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5557

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study Effect of low-dose radiation on thyroid function and the gut microbiota

Jun-Yu Tong, Wen Jiang, Xia-Qing Yu, Ru Wang, Gang-Hua Lu, Ding-Wei Gao, Zhong-Wei Lv, Dan Li

Specialty type: Microbiology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

reviewed.

P-Reviewer: Bairwa DBL, India; Eccher A, Italy; Lee KS, South Korea

Received: May 11, 2022 Peer-review started: May 11, 2022 First decision: June 19, 2022 Revised: June 21, 2022 Accepted: September 8, 2022 Article in press: September 8, 2022 Published online: October 14, 2022



Jun-Yu Tong, Wen Jiang, Xia-Qing Yu, Ru Wang, Gang-Hua Lu, Ding-Wei Gao, Zhong-Wei Lv, Nuclear Medicine, Shanghai Tenth People's Hospital, Tongji University School of Medicine, Shanghai 200072, China

Dan Li, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Sun Yat-sen Memorial Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou 200072, Guangdong Province, China

Corresponding author: Dan Li, PhD, Professor, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Sun Yat-sen Memorial Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, No. 107 Yanjiangxi Road, Guangzhou 200072, Guangdong Province, China. plumredlinda@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

The thyroid-gut axis has a great influence on the maintenance of human health; however, we know very little about the effects of low-dose ionizing radiation (LDR) on thyroid hormone levels and gut microbiota composition.

AIM

To investigate the potential effects of low-dose X-ray radiation to male C57BL/6J mice.

METHODS

Peripheral blood was collected for enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), and stool samples were taken for 16S ribosomal RNA (rRNA) gene sequencing after irradiation.

RESULTS

We found that LDR caused changes in thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) levels in the irradiated mice, suggesting a dose-dependent response in thyroid function to ionizing radiation. No changes in the diversity and richness of the gut microbiota were observed in the LDR-exposed group in comparison to the controls. The abundance of Moraxellaceae and Enterobacteriaceae decreased in the LDR-exposed groups compared with the controls, and the Lachnospiraceae abundance increased in a dose-dependent manner in the radiated groups. And the abundances of uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter, uncultured_bacterium_ o_Mollicutes_RF39, uncultured_bacterium_g_Citrobacter, and uncultured_ bacterium_g_Lactococcus decreased in the radiated groups at the genus level, which showed a correlation with radiation exposure and diagnostic efficacy. Analysis of



functional metabolic pathways revealed that biological metabolism was predicted to have an effect on functional activities, such as nucleotide metabolism, carbohydrate metabolism, and glycan biosynthesis and metabolism. Furthermore, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathway annotation also suggested that changes in the gut microbiota were related to processing functions, including translation, replication and repair.

CONCLUSION

LDR can change thyroid function and the gut microbiota, and changes in the abundances of bacteria are correlated with the radiation dose.

Key Words: Low-dose ionizing radiation; Thyroid; Gut microbiota; Thyroid-gut axis

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: In this study, we administered low-dose X-ray radiation to male C57BL/6J mice to investigate the potential effects. Peripheral blood was collected for enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, and stool samples were taken for 16S ribosomal RNA gene sequencing after irradiation. We found that LDR caused changes in TSH levels in the irradiated mice and the gut microbiota, and changes in the abundances of bacteria are correlated with the radiation dose. Our research aims to explore the influence of LDR on homeostasis from the "thyroid-gut axis" perspective for the first time.

Citation: Tong JY, Jiang W, Yu XQ, Wang R, Lu GH, Gao DW, Lv ZW, Li D. Effect of low-dose radiation on thyroid function and the gut microbiota. *World J Gastroenterol* 2022; 28(38): 5557-5572 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5557.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5557

INTRODUCTION

According to microecological theory, the ecological balance of the nervous system, endocrine system, metabolic system, microbial system and immune system is the essence of life[1]. The thyroid is an important endocrine gland that regulates multiple metabolic pathways by producing thyroid hormones and has a great impact on the regulation of the internal environment[2]. Several investigations have indicated that the gut microbiota may indirectly participate in disease development and might become a promising biomarker for immune-related adverse events[3]. Studies have found that intestinal flora are related to various thyroid diseases, and the "thyroid-gut axis" theory has been proposed accordingly[4, 5]. The mechanism by which the thyroid-gut axis maintains homeostasis under external stimulation deserves further study.

As one of the environmental stressors affecting people worldwide, low-dose ionizing radiation (LDR) exposure is usually from medical radiotherapy, radiation-contaminated areas and human space exploration[6,7]. The studies previously reported have indicated that the biological responses of LDR exposure on epidemiology, animals, and cells are paradoxical due to discrepancies in the dose rate[8]. The role of LDR in inducing apoptosis, stimulating antioxidant capacity and repairing DNA damage has been well established[9]. Conversely, LDR exposure from radiotherapy for the treatment of autoimmune diseases or carcinoma is associated with an increasing risk of cardiovascular disease or secondary carcinoma[10]. For the thyroid, the levels of thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), free triiodo-thyronine (fT3) and free thyroxine (fT4) have been reported to be affected by LDR exposure[11]. In addition, changes between external irradiation and the gut microbiota have been preliminarily confirmed[12]. Thus, we want to know how the thyroid-gut axis response to radiation injury.

The objective of our research was to investigate changes in thyroid hormone levels and gut microbiota composition in LDR-exposed mice by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and 16S rRNA gene sequencing, respectively. Our research revealed the abundances of microbial species in the gut ecosystem following dose-modulated LDR exposure. These investigations predicted possible LDR-induced gut microbiota disorders based on variations in microbial species abundance. Our research aims to explore the influence of LDR on homeostasis from the "thyroid-gut axis" perspective for the first time and may provide a concrete conceptual and analytical basis for the additional study into the long-term impact of LDR on human health.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice and samples

Thirty 6-wk-old female wild-type C57BL/6J mice were divided equally into five groups after one week of adaptive feeding at the Science and Innovation Center of Shanghai Tenth People's Hospital (ID Number: SHDSYY-2022-4381). The low-dose irradiation conditions were as follows: Dose rate, 0.05 Gy/min; 1 min/time; and once every other day. Irradiation was completed by the Irradiation Center of the Institute of Radiation Medicine, Tongji University (160 keV, 1 mA). The two groups were the test group and control group. And the test group was further divided into four groups according to the radiation dose, namely, the 0.05 Gy group, 0.10 Gy group, 0.15 Gy group, and 0.20 Gy group. The general condition of the mice was observed during the experiment.

Assays of thyroid function and acquisition of thyroid tissue

Peripheral blood was collected from the mouse tail vein to measure thyroid hormone levels when the mice completed the planned dose of radiation exposure within 24 h. Serum levels of TSH, fT4, and fT3 were assayed by an ELISA kit (Rayto RT-6100). Histological sections of mouse thyroid tissue were prepared by paraffin embedding and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE).

DNA extraction and 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Stool samples were stored in a sterile container and snap-frozen with liquid nitrogen following collection at -80 °C (Sarstedt, 80.734.311, Germany). Using the E.Z.N.A. Soil Kit for DNA extraction (Omega, Bio-Tek, Norcross, GA, United States) and using a Nanodrop 2000 to measure the concentration of bacterial DNA (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, United States). All the fecal samples were stored at -20 °C until ready for sequencing. Then, the V3-V4 region of the bacterial 16S rRNA was amplified by polymerase chain reaction with barcode index primers using TransStart FastPfu DNA Polymerase (TransGen BioTech, AP221-02, Beijing, China) on an ABI GeneAmp 9700 polymerase chain reaction system (United States). Amplicons were then purified by gel extraction (AxyPrep DNA Gel Extraction Kit, Axygen Biosciences, United States) and quantified using QuantiFluor-ST (Promega, United States). The adapter sequences were added to the purified amplicons using a TruSeq[™] DNA Sample Prep Kit (Illumina, San Diego, United States), and paired-end sequencing was performed using an Illumina MiSeq instrument (Illumina, San Diego, United States) (Figure 1).

Microbial analysis

The paired-end readings obtained by MiSeq were first merged by overlapping sequences. Filtering and quality control allow the sequences to be optimized. Operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were clustered using a 97% similarity cutoff with UPARSE (version 10.0). Cohort was randomly generated for a crosssectional study that included 24 mice exposed to radiation and 6 controls. The alpha diversity was analyzed in terms of the species richness, including CHAO, ACE, SHANNON, and SIMPSON indices. Beta diversity was used to calculate structural variation by principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) and nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) and was mapped from principal coordinate analysis. Functional pathway analysis was conducted in accordance with the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database based on our microbial information.

Statistical analysis

Data that fit the normal distribution are expressed as the mean ± SD, and nonnormally distributed data are expressed as the median (interguartile). The t test or rank-sum test was used for comparing the thyroid hormone levels between the control group (n = 6) and test group (n = 24). Significant differences in the diversity index and microbial abundance between groups was determined by the Mann-Whitney U test. The microbial taxa with differences between the two groups were identified by linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size (LEfSe), with an LDA threshold value of > 2.0. The correlation between microbiota abundance and thyroid function was analyzed by Spearman correlation coefficient. The area under the curve (AUC) reflected the diagnostic accuracy of the bacterial indicators based on the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. Unless otherwise stated, all analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics (Version 20.0). Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05 for analyses.

RESULTS

LDR caused changes in TSH levels in the mice

To understand changes in thyroid function in the irradiated mice, the levels of thyroid hormones in peripheral blood were determined by ELISA, including TSH, fT3, and fT4. As shown in Figure 2A, the TSH level of mice in the test mice $(1.487 \pm 0.347 \text{ mU/L})$ was obviously lower than the control mice (1.799 mU/L) $\pm 0.289 \text{ mU/L}$), t = 2.188, P = 0.037). The level of TSH was the lowest in the 0.05 Gy group (1.262 ± 0.254 mU/L), which was the lowest among the four test subgroups, and in the 0.20 Gy group, it was the





Figure 1 Graphical abstract. Schematic showing sample workflow from sequencing to analysis. TSH: Thyroid stimulating hormone; ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; ROC: Receiver operating characteristic; KEGG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes; LEfSe: Linear discriminant analysis effect size.

highest (1.664 \pm 0.264 mU/L) (Figure 2A and B). The change in thyroid hormone levels increased with increasing radiation dose and was consistent with TSH regulation in the test mice. The average levels of fT3 and fT4 in the test mice [386.560 (323.973, 442.594) ng/mL and 6.211 (5.018, 8.536) ng/mL, respectively] were higher than those in the control groups [372.664 (260.701, 384.492) ng/mL and 4.428 (3.175, 6.781) ng/mL, respectively]; nevertheless, the difference was not statistically confirmed between the two groups (Figure 2C and E). Moreover, the changes in fT3 and fT4 Levels from the different dose groups were consistent with the regulation of TSH (Figure 2D and F). Figure 3 shows thyroid tissue from the different groups of mice, and there were no obvious structural abnormalities.

Overview of the 16S rRNA gene sequencing data

An overview of the thyroid hormone levels and taxonomic data of all mice is visualized in Figure 4. High-throughput sequencing results of the 16S rRNA V3-V4 hypervariable regions obtained from stool samples revealed that the tested taxa were abundant, including 11 phyla, 50 families, 110 genera, and 424 OTUs. Rank-abundance curves according to OTU levels indicated that the species were distributed evenly and richly (Figure 5A). Figure 5B indicates that the curves flattened as increasing the sample size, demonstrating that the sequencing data were adequate and appropriately capturing microbial diversity.

LDR does not cause gut microbiota diversity changes in irradiated mice

According to the outcome of alpha diversity analysis, the results showed that the test group had no differences in the diversity and abundances of certain microbes compared with the control group. The Chao and Ace indices, reflecting richness, indicated no considerable difference was found between the two groups (P > 0.05) (Figure 5C and D). Moreover, the Shannon and Simpson indices, which represent alpha diversity, indicated no meaningful difference between the two groups (P > 0.05, Figure 5E and F). Figure 5G-J shows the Chao, Ace, Shannon and Simpson indices among the different subgroups from the test group.

PCoA and NMDS analyses of the unweighted UniFrac distance were conducted on evaluation the overall microbiota diversity. PCoA indicated that there were no statistically significant variation in diversity of the microbiota between the test and control mice (R = -0.065, P = 0.715, Figure 5K). The NMDS results demonstrated no differences between the two groups (R = -0.065, P = 0.695, Figure 5L). Figure 5M and N show the results of the PCoA and NMDS analyses in the four test subgroups. These findings suggest that LDR in this study does not lead to altered microbiota diversity.

Changes in the composition of the gut microbiota in irradiated mice

The taxon compositions were further determined in the two groups. Eleven phyla, 50 families, and 110 genera were present in the samples from both groups. Figure 6A shows that *Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Patescibacteria*, and *Deferribacteres* were the four dominant phyla, with total abundances accounting for 97.83% \pm 1.23% and 97.68% \pm 0.75% of the microbiota of the test and control groups, respectively. The two dominant phyla were Firmicutes and *Bacteroidetes* in both the test and control group. At the phylum level, no meaningful variation in the relative abundances of the microorganisms was observed between the two groups (Figure 6B). We found that the *Firmicutes*-to-*Bacteroidetes* (F/B) ratio in the test group (median = 1.623 \pm 0.679) was higher than controls (median = 1.266 \pm 0.345), the differences were not confirmed by statistics. In addition, the microbiota was further analyzed according to the distribution at the family and genus levels.



Figure 2 The level of thyroid hormone in mice exposed to radiation. A: Box and whisker plots of the levels of thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) in the control (n = 6) and test (n = 24) groups. The TSH level of the mice in the test group was lower than that in the control mice (t = 2.188, P = 0.037); B: Histogram of the levels of TSH from the control and test groups. Statistically significant differences were not confirmed between the two groups; C: Box and whisker plots of the level of fT3 in the control (n = 6) and test groups (n = 24); D: Histogram of the level of fT3 in the control and test groups; E: Box and whisker plots of the level of fT4 in the control (n = 6) and test groups (n = 24); F: Histogram of the level of fT4 in the control and test subgroups. TSH: Thyroid stimulating hormone. ^aP < 0.05.

LEfSe analysis results indicated that the control group had relatively high abundance in two families and four genera (LDA > 2, P < 0.05, Figure 7A). *Muribaculaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Ruminococcaceae, Lactobacillaceae* and *Bacteroidaceae* were the five dominant families, with total abundances accounting for 83.04% \pm 4.59% and 80.68% \pm 6.93% of the microbiomes of the test group and control group, respectively (Figure 7A). At the family level, the test group had significantly lower levels of *Moraxellaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* (all P < 0.05, Figure 7B). We also found that the abundance of *Lachnospiraceae* in the test group (20.05% \pm 10.79%) was significantly higher than that in the controls (15.08% \pm 10.02%), which increased in a dose-dependent manner following LDR exposure (Figure 7B and C).

 $Uncultured_bacterium_f_Muribaculaceae$, Lactobacillus, $uncultured_bacterium_f_Lachnospiraceae$, Bacteroides, and $uncultured_bacterium_g_Ruminococcaceae_UCG-014$ were the five dominant genera, with total abundances accounting for 59.87% ± 11.92% and 67.05% ± 10.38% of the microbiomes of the test group and control group, respectively (Figure 6C and D). At the genus level, the test group had significantly lower levels of $uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter$, $uncultured_bacterium_o_Mollicutes_RF39$, $uncultured_bacterium_g_Citrobacter$, and $uncultured_bacterium_g_Lactococcus$ (all P < 0.05, Figure 7D).



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5557 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 Thyroid tissue from the mice exposed to radiation (HE, × 400). A-D: Thyroid tissue of radiation-exposed mice from the 0.05 Gy group, 0.10 Gy group, 0.15 Gy group, and 0.20 Gy group. TSH: Thyroid stimulating hormone.

ROC curve analysis reveals the diagnostic value of specific intestinal microbiota

Based on the altered gut microbiota composition between the test and control groups, we found that six kinds of bacteria might serve as diagnostic biomarkers. At the family level, *Moraxellaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* are the two different bacteria between the two groups, and we selected them to serve as diagnostic biomarkers. ROC curves were generated to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of these two families [AUC value of 0.819 (95% confidence interval: 0.640-0.999)] (Figure 8A).

At the genus level, we found four different bacteria and selected them to serve as diagnostic biomarkers, including *uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter*, *uncultured_bacterium_o_Mollicutes_RF39*, *uncultured_bacterium_g_Citrobacter*, and *uncultured_bacterium_g_Lactococcus*. ROC curves were generated to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of these four genera [AUC value of 0.882 (confidence interval: 0.728-1.000)]. At the same time, the accuracy of the prognostic variables of two families and four genera was also analyzed by ROC curves [AUC value of 0.854 (confidence interval: 0.673-1.000)] (Figure 8).

The test groups included the 0.05 Gy group, 0.10 Gy group, 0.15 Gy group, and 0.20 Gy group according to the total radiation dose the mice received. On the basis of these results, we investigated the following relationships among thyroid function tests, absorbed dose, and levels of the gut microor-ganisms: $f_Moraxellaceae$, $f_Enterobacteriaceae$, $uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter$, $uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter$, $uncultured_bacterium_g_Lactococcus$. We made an attempt to demarcate the functional influence of these flora according to the KEGG database to determine which biological pathways they may participate. Spearman correlation coefficient testing showed that *Moraxellaceae* (r = -0.789, P = 7.75E-7), *Enterobacteriaceae* (r=-0.662, P = 2.92E-4), *uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter* (r = -0.789, P = 7.75E-7), *uncultured_bacterium_o_Mollicutes_RF39* (r = -0.365, P = 0.0106), and *uncultured_bacterium_g_Lactococcus* (r = -0.667, P = 4.77E-3) levels were significantly negatively correlated with the absorbed dose (Figure 9).

The OTU abundance table was standardized to acquire information about the prediction of metabolic function in the KEGG pathway (Figure 10). According to the effect size, the top five pathways included carbohydrate metabolism, nucleotide metabolism, glycan biosynthesis and metabolism, xenobiotics biodegradation and metabolism, and metabolism of other amino acids. The effect size of the genetic information processing function is second only to metabolic function, which includes translation, replication and repair, folding, sorting and degradation, and transcription.



Figure 4 Taxonomic features of the thyroid hormone level and gut microbiota in the control mice (n = 6) and radiation-exposed group (n = 6) 24). A-D: The thyroid hormone level for all subjects (A), with an overview of the 5 most abundant phyla (B), 10 most abundant families (C) and 15 most abundant genera (D) in fecal samples identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. The taxa levels were determined by summing the operational taxonomic units and are presented by relative abundance.

DISCUSSION

As an important organ of the endocrine system, the thyroid participates in homeostatic regulation. Recent studies demonstrated that the gut microbiota, a sophisticated and metabolically active community, is closely related to homeostasis in the host[13]. Although LDR exposure has been demonstrated to induce contradictory effects previously, i.e., beneficial or harmful, the impacts of LDR exposure on the "thyroid-gut axis" have yet to be clarified. Therefore, we analyzed the association among LDR exposure, thyroid function and the gut microbiota in mice in this research. Our group indicated that as the LDR radiation dose increased, subclinical thyroid hyperthyroidism appeared in mice, and the observed species and OTU abundances showed no obvious changes in the radiated groups compared with the controls. It was thought that the low doses of radiation applied in this paper have an influence on the thyroid function of mice but are unable to alter the richness of the intestinal flora.

The thyroid is a radiation-sensitive organ, and internal radionuclide contamination external radiation and exposure (such as therapeutic radiation) may lead to thyroid dysfunction [14,15]. Our research found that the TSH level in the test mice was lower than the controls. Double-strand breaks can lead to cytotoxic, mutagenic and carcinogenic effects if unrepaired or misrepaired, although they only constitute a minority of DNA lesions induced by LDR, which will affect cell function [16,17]. Ishizaki et al[18] demonstrated a very small increase in γ H2AX-positive foci in a human diploid cell line after exposure to LDR, which indicates the presence of DNA double-strand breaks. Some studies have also suggested that radiation-induced thyroid dysfunction is induced by damage to small thyroid vessels and to the gland capsule, the mechanisms of which include direct thyroid cell injury from radiation damage[19]. Because of the low thyroid dose in patients treated with total body irradiation, the incidence of Graves' disease accompanying this management was also reported in a total body irradiation series[20]. Strikingly, our results indicate pronounced modulation of the TSH level in mice exposed to 0.05 Gy and 0.10 Gy, while those exposed to a much higher dose (0.20 Gy) consistently





Figure 5 Bioinformatic analysis of 16S rRNA gene sequencing data in the exploratory cohort at the operational taxonomic units level. A and B: Rank-abundance curves and rarefaction curves (SOB index) of the gut microbiota; C-F: Box and whisker plots of the alpha diversity indices for richness (Chao index and Ace index) and diversity (Shannon index and Simpson index) of the bacterial communities in control mice (n = 6) and the test mice (n = 24); G-J: Box and whisker plots of the alpha diversity indices for richness (Chao index and Ace index) and diversity (Shannon index and Simpson index) and Ace index) and diversity (Shannon index and Simpson index) of the bacterial communities among the test subgroups (0.05 Gy, 0.10 Gy, 0.15 Gy, and 0.20 Gy; n = 6 in each group); K and L: Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) and nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analyses indicated that the microbial diversity differed nonsignificantly between the control and test groups based on the

unweighted UniFrac distance (PCoA, R = -0.065, P = -0.715; NMDS, R = -0.065, P = 0.695); M and N: PCoA and NMDS analyses indicated that the microbial diversity differed nonsignificantly among the test subgroups based on the unweighted UniFrac distance (PCoA, R = 0.004, P = 0.24; NMDS, R = 0.215, P = 0.695).

clustered with controls in terms of thyroid hormone levels. We speculate that there is an intricate dosedependent response in thyroid function to ionizing radiation, with enhanced sensitivity for the lowest doses employed here. Therefore, thyroid function and microbial communities might be directly affected by LDR exposure.

Firmicules and *Bacteroidetes* were the two dominant microbiota in these two groups. We found that the *Firmicules* proportion in the irradiated group was higher than in the controls, while the *Bacteroidetes* proportion was lower in the irradiated group. One study about environmental radionuclides on the gut microbiota from Lavrinienko came to similar conclusions that the F/B ratio was increased almost 2-fold compared with an unirradiated group[21]. Previous investigation have also revealed that patients with metabolic diseases such as obesity, diabetes, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease have a reduced F/B ratio compared to healthy individuals[22-24]. Recently, our group demonstrated that thyroid diseases, including Graves' disease and thyroid carcinoma, can cause changes in the F/B ratio[25,26]. Therefore, we speculate that the composition and function of microbial communities might be affected by LDR exposure directly or indirectly through changes in thyroid function.

Compared with the controls, the abundances of *Moraxellaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* were decreased in the test group at the family level. Obvious differences in the levels of four species were observed between the two groups at the genus level, and *uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter*, *uncultured_*





Figure 6 The gut microbiota composition in the control and test groups. A: Bar plots show the gut microbiota composition at the phylum level; B: Box and whisker plots of the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio in the control (n = 6) and test groups (n = 24), and there was no difference between the groups; C: Bar plots show the gut microbiota composition at the family level; D: Bar plots show the gut microbiota composition at the genus level.

> bacterium_o_Mollicutes_RF39, uncultured_bacterium_g_Citrobacter and uncultured_bacterium_g_Lactococcus were reduced in the test group. On the one hand, the decreased abundance of the bacterium might be directly caused by radiation damage. On the other hand, changes in microbial abundance inhibit the development of gastrointestinal mucositis and promote intestinal repair mechanisms[27]. We hypothesize that metabolites from bacteria impair intestinal barrier function. By regulating bacterial abundance and reducing the release of proinflammatory factors, the intestinal barrier could repair the damage from LDR exposure. Another significant finding in this research was that the abundance of Lachnospiraceae increased in a dose-dependent manner following LDR exposure, which was in accordance with the performance outcome of the group of mice that have recovered from high-dose radiation to live a normal life span[28].

> The synthesis of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) by fermenting polysaccharides in food has made members of the Lachnospira family well known[29]. SCFAs are essential substrates for the maintenance of the intestinal epithelium, regulation of the immune system and inflammatory response[30,31]. Broad inhibition of systemic inflammation, through reduction the levels of proinflammatory cytokines or through induction of anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-10, mediated by SCFAs may also potentially provide radioprotection. Elevated abundances of Lachnospiraceae have been shown to be connected with the repair of gastrointestinal after exposure to radiation[32].

> Additionally, we employed KEGG pathway analysis to characterize changes in the gut microbiota associated with the stress from LDR exposure. KEGG pathway analysis based on OTU abundance indicated that biological metabolism was predicted to influence functional activities, including carbohydrate metabolism, glycan biosynthesis and metabolism, and nucleotide metabolism. The gut microbiota composition and metabolic pathways were influenced by LDR exposure. Moreover, processing functions were second only to metabolic functions according to the effect size, including translation, replication and repair. As the most significant influence of radiation, base modifications are a common type of DNA lesion[33]. KEGG pathway analysis may suggest a relationship between radiation damage and functional repair. Nevertheless, our observations provide circumstantial the proof of host-microbiome interactions; more investigations are required to uncover the crosstalk within LDR-responsive alterations and host-derived targets or signals.

> Our research did not consider the following issues, and these limitations will also become the focus of follow-up research. First, the effects of exposure dose and recovery time on the thyroid and gut microbiota in the mice were not considered. Second, this was a descriptive study in nature and lacked





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5557 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 7 Altered gut microbiota composition in the radiation-exposed group compared with the control group. A: Identification of the significantly different species in the radiation-exposed group and controls at the family and genus levels as determined by linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size (LEfSe). Only taxa meeting a significant linear discriminant analysis threshold value of > 2.0 and P < 0.05 are shown; B: Comparison of *Moraxellaceae*, *Enterobacteriaceae*, and Lachnospiraceae abundances between the test group and control group at the family level; C: Histogram of the abundance of *Lachnospiraceae* in the control and test subgroups; D: Comparison of the differential bacterial abundances between the test group and controls at the genus level, including *uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter*, *uncultured_bacterium_o_Mollicutes_RF39*, *uncultured_bacterium_g_Citrobacter*, and *uncultured_bacterium_g_Lactococcus*. ^aP < 0.05.

evidence regarding the underlying mechanisms of the responses to LDR exposure, which could be used to determine the alterations in metabolites from the gut microbiota. Finally, our experiment was a single-center study that lacked external validation. Despite these limitations, our research is one of the few to indicate the effects of LDR on homeostasis from the "thyroid-gut axis" perspective. In summary, our study constitutes a baseline analysis that can not only be used to further study the effects of LDR on human health but also provide potential targets for preventing or predicting radiation damage.

CONCLUSION

LDR can change the thyroid function and gut microbiota of mice, and changes in the abundances of bacteria are correlated with the radiation dose.



Figure 8 The diagnostic accuracy of the bacteria based on the linear discriminant analysis effect size results. ROC: Receiver operating characteristic.



Figure 9 The relationship between the dose and predictive bacteria as well as thyroid function tests. Positive correlations are represented in red, negative correlations are colored in blue. ^aP < 0.05; ^bP < 0.01; ^cP < 0.001.



Raishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 10 The histogram shows the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes categories that differed significantly between the test group and controls. A: Metabolic function; B: Processing function.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The thyroid-gut axis has a great influence on the maintenance of human health.

Research motivation

We know very little about the effects of low-dose ionizing radiation (LDR) on thyroid hormone levels and gut microbiota composition.

Research objectives

To investigate the potential effects by administering low-dose X-ray radiation to male C57BL/6J mice.

Research methods

Peripheral blood was collected for enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), and stool samples were taken for 16S ribosomal RNA (rRNA) gene sequencing after irradiation.

Research results

We found that LDR caused changes in thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) levels in the irradiated mice, suggesting a dose-dependent response in thyroid function to ionizing radiation. No changes in the diversity and richness of the gut microbiota were observed in the LDR-exposed group in comparison to the controls. The abundance of Moraxellaceae and Enterobacteriaceae decreased in the LDR-exposed groups compared with the controls, and the Lachnospiraceae abundance increased in a dose-dependent manner in the radiated groups. And the abundances of *uncultured_bacterium_g_Acinetobacter*, uncultured_bacterium_o_Mollicutes_RF39, uncultured_bacterium_g_Citrobacter, and uncul-tured_



bacterium_g_Lactococcus decreased in the radiated groups at the genus level, which showed a correlation with radiation exposure and diagnostic efficacy. Analysis of functional metabolic pathways revealed that biological metabolism was predicted to have an effect on functional activities, such as nucleotide metabolism, carbohydrate metabolism, and glycan biosynthesis and metabolism. Furthermore, KEGG pathway annotation also suggested that changes in the gut microbiota were related to processing functions, including translation, replication and repair.

Research conclusions

LDR can change thyroid function and the gut microbiota, and changes in the abundances of bacteria are correlated with the radiation dose.

Research perspectives

We administered low-dose X-ray radiation to male C57BL/6J mice to investigate the potential effects. Peripheral blood was collected for ELISA, and stool samples were taken for 16S rRNA gene sequencing after irradiation.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Tong JY performed the statistical analysis and drafted this manuscript; Jiang W designed and performed the experiments; Yu XQ, Wang R, Lu CH, and Gao DW contributed to data collection; Lv ZW and Li D conceived the project and reviewed the manuscript; all authors approved the final version of the manuscript; Tong JY and Jiang W contributed equally to this work.

Supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Shanghai, No. 21ZR1449600; Shanghai Tenth People's Hospital, Tongji University School of Medicine, No. 2021SYPDRC064; and the Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82071964.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All procedures involving animals were reviewed and approved by the Shanghai Tenth People's Hospital institutional review board (Approval No. SHDSYY-2022-4381).

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

ARRIVE guidelines statement: The authors have read the ARRIVE Guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE Guidelines.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Dan Li 0000-0002-9815-1792.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YX

REFERENCES

- Fröhlich E, Wahl R. Microbiota and Thyroid Interaction in Health and Disease. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2019; 30: 479-1 490 [PMID: 31257166 DOI: 10.1016/j.tem.2019.05.008]
- Baş Y, Hassan HA, Adıgüzel C, Bulur O, Ibrahim İA, Soydan S. The distribution of cancer cases in Somalia. Semin Oncol 2 2017; 44: 178-186 [PMID: 29248129 DOI: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2017.10.007]
- von Itzstein MS, Khan S, Gerber DE. Investigational Biomarkers for Checkpoint Inhibitor Immune-Related Adverse Event 3 Prediction and Diagnosis. Clin Chem 2020; 66: 779-793 [PMID: 32363387 DOI: 10.1093/clinchem/hvaa081]
- Knezevic J, Starchl C, Tmava Berisha A, Amrein K. Thyroid-Gut-Axis: How Does the Microbiota Influence Thyroid Function? Nutrients 2020; 12 [PMID: 32545596 DOI: 10.3390/nu12061769]
- 5 Samimi H, Haghpanah V. Gut Microbiome and Radioiodine-Refractory Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma Pathophysiology.



Trends Endocrinol Metab 2020; 31: 627-630 [PMID: 32273149 DOI: 10.1016/j.tem.2020.03.005]

- 6 Huang R, Zhou P. Double-edged effects of noncoding RNAs in responses to environmental genotoxic insults: Perspectives with regards to molecule-ecology network. Environ Pollut 2019; 247: 64-71 [PMID: 30654255 DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2019.01.014]
- 7 Liu X, Zhou Y, Wang S, Guan H, Hu S, Huang R, Zhou P. Impact of Low-dose Ionising Radiation on the Composition of the Gut Microbiota of Mice. Toxicol Sci 2019 [PMID: 31236581 DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/kfz144]
- Ebrahimian TG, Beugnies L, Surette J, Priest N, Gueguen Y, Gloaguen C, Benderitter M, Jourdain JR, Tack K. Chronic 8 Exposure to External Low-Dose Gamma Radiation Induces an Increase in Anti-inflammatory and Anti-oxidative Parameters Resulting in Atherosclerotic Plaque Size Reduction in ApoE^{-/-} Mice. Radiat Res 2018; 189: 187-196 [PMID: 29227739 DOI: 10.1667/RR14823.1]
- Farooque A, Mathur R, Verma A, Kaul V, Bhatt AN, Adhikari JS, Afrin F, Singh S, Dwarakanath BS. Low-dose radiation therapy of cancer: role of immune enhancement. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2011; 11: 791-802 [PMID: 21554054 DOI: 10.1586/era.10.217]
- Skov KA. Radioresponsiveness at low doses: hyper-radiosensitivity and increased radioresistance in mammalian cells. Mutat Res 1999; 430: 241-253 [PMID: 10631339 DOI: 10.1016/s0027-5107(99)00136-0]
- Cioffi DL, Fontana L, Leso V, Dolce P, Vitale R, Vetrani I, Galdi A, Iavicoli I. Low dose ionizing radiation exposure and 11 risk of thyroid functional alterations in healthcare workers. Eur J Radiol 2020; 132: 109279 [PMID: 32950799 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2020.109279]
- Li Y, Dong J, Xiao H, Zhang S, Wang B, Cui M, Fan S. Gut commensal derived-valeric acid protects against radiation injuries. Gut Microbes 2020; 11: 789-806 [PMID: 31931652 DOI: 10.1080/19490976.2019.1709387]
- Virili C, Centanni M. "With a little help from my friends" The role of microbiota in thyroid hormone metabolism and 13 enterohepatic recycling. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2017; 458: 39-43 [PMID: 28167127 DOI: 10.1016/j.mce.2017.01.053]
- Sassolas G, Hafdi-Nejjari Z, Casagranda L, Berger C, Bournaud C, Decaussin-Petrucci M, Berger N, Borson-Chazot F. 14 Thyroid cancers in children, adolescents, and young adults with and without a history of childhood exposure to therapeutic radiation for other cancers. Thyroid 2013; 23: 805-810 [PMID: 23286372 DOI: 10.1089/thy.2011.0370]
- 15 Bang HS, Choi MH, Kim CS, Choi SJ. Gene expression profiling in undifferentiated thyroid carcinoma induced by highdose radiation. J Radiat Res 2016; 57: 238-249 [PMID: 27006382 DOI: 10.1093/jrr/rrw002]
- 16 Asaithamby A, Chen DJ. Mechanism of cluster DNA damage repair in response to high-atomic number and energy particles radiation. Mutat Res 2011; 711: 87-99 [PMID: 21126526 DOI: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2010.11.002]
- Bhattacharya S, Asaithamby A. Ionizing radiation and heart risks. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2016; 58: 14-25 [PMID: 26849909 17 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.01.045]
- Ishizaki K, Hayashi Y, Nakamura H, Yasui Y, Komatsu K, Tachibana A. No induction of p53 phosphorylation and few 18 focus formation of phosphorylated H2AX suggest efficient repair of DNA damage during chronic low-dose-rate irradiation in human cells. J Radiat Res 2004; 45: 521-525 [PMID: 15635261 DOI: 10.1269/jrr.45.521]
- 19 Jereczek-Fossa BA, Alterio D, Jassem J, Gibelli B, Tradati N, Orecchia R. Radiotherapy-induced thyroid disorders. Cancer Treat Rev 2004; 30: 369-384 [PMID: 15145511 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2003.12.003]
- 20 Thomas O, Mahé M, Campion L, Bourdin S, Milpied N, Brunet G, Lisbona A, Le Mevel A, Moreau P, Harousseau J, Cuillière J. Long-term complications of total body irradiation in adults. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001; 49: 125-131 [PMID: 11163505 DOI: 10.1016/s0360-3016(00)01373-0]
- Lavrinienko A, Mappes T, Tukalenko E, Mousseau TA, Møller AP, Knight R, Morton JT, Thompson LR, Watts PC. 21 Environmental radiation alters the gut microbiome of the bank vole Myodes glareolus. ISME J 2018; 12: 2801-2806 [PMID: 29988064 DOI: 10.1038/s41396-018-0214-x]
- 22 Riva A, Borgo F, Lassandro C, Verduci E, Morace G, Borghi E, Berry D. Pediatric obesity is associated with an altered gut microbiota and discordant shifts in Firmicutes populations. Environ Microbiol 2017; 19: 95-105 [PMID: 27450202 DOI: 10.1111/1462-2920.13463
- Loomba R, Seguritan V, Li W, Long T, Klitgord N, Bhatt A, Dulai PS, Caussy C, Bettencourt R, Highlander SK, Jones 23 MB, Sirlin CB, Schnabl B, Brinkac L, Schork N, Chen CH, Brenner DA, Biggs W, Yooseph S, Venter JC, Nelson KE. Gut Microbiome-Based Metagenomic Signature for Non-invasive Detection of Advanced Fibrosis in Human Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Cell Metab 2017; 25: 1054-1062.e5 [PMID: 28467925 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.001]
- 24 Brown CT, Davis-Richardson AG, Giongo A, Gano KA, Crabb DB, Mukherjee N, Casella G, Drew JC, Ilonen J, Knip M, Hyöty H, Veijola R, Simell T, Simell O, Neu J, Wasserfall CH, Schatz D, Atkinson MA, Triplett EW. Gut microbiome metagenomics analysis suggests a functional model for the development of autoimmunity for type 1 diabetes. PLoS One 2011; 6: e25792 [PMID: 22043294 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025792]
- 25 Jiang W, Yu X, Kosik RO, Song Y, Qiao T, Tong J, Liu S, Fan S, Luo Q, Chai L, Lv Z, Li D. Gut Microbiota May Play a Significant Role in the Pathogenesis of Graves' Disease. Thyroid 2021; 31: 810-820 [PMID: 33234057 DOI: 10.1089/thy.2020.0193
- Yu X, Jiang W, Kosik RO, Song Y, Luo Q, Qiao T, Tong J, Liu S, Deng C, Qin S, Lv Z, Li D. Gut microbiota changes and 26 its potential relations with thyroid carcinoma. J Adv Res 2022; 35: 61-70 [PMID: 35003794 DOI: 10.1016/j.jare.2021.04.001
- 27 Touchefeu Y, Montassier E, Nieman K, Gastinne T, Potel G, Bruley des Varannes S, Le Vacon F, de La Cochetière MF. Systematic review: the role of the gut microbiota in chemotherapy- or radiation-induced gastrointestinal mucositis - current evidence and potential clinical applications. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2014; 40: 409-421 [PMID: 25040088 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12878
- 28 Guo H, Chou WC, Lai Y, Liang K, Tam JW, Brickey WJ, Chen L, Montgomery ND, Li X, Bohannon LM, Sung AD, Chao NJ, Peled JU, Gomes ALC, van den Brink MRM, French MJ, Macintyre AN, Sempowski GD, Tan X, Sartor RB, Lu K, Ting JPY. Multi-omics analyses of radiation survivors identify radioprotective microbes and metabolites. Science 2020; 370 [PMID: 33122357 DOI: 10.1126/science.aay9097]
- Reichardt N, Duncan SH, Young P, Belenguer A, McWilliam Leitch C, Scott KP, Flint HJ, Louis P. Phylogenetic 29 distribution of three pathways for propionate production within the human gut microbiota. ISME J 2014; 8: 1323-1335



[PMID: 24553467 DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2014.14]

- 30 Smith PM, Howitt MR, Panikov N, Michaud M, Gallini CA, Bohlooly-Y M, Glickman JN, Garrett WS. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. Science 2013; 341: 569-573 [PMID: 23828891 DOI: 10.1126/science.1241165]
- 31 Arpaia N, Campbell C, Fan X, Dikiy S, van der Veeken J, deRoos P, Liu H, Cross JR, Pfeffer K, Coffer PJ, Rudensky AY. Metabolites produced by commensal bacteria promote peripheral regulatory T-cell generation. Nature 2013; 504: 451-455 [PMID: 24226773 DOI: 10.1038/nature12726]
- Xiao HW, Cui M, Li Y, Dong JL, Zhang SQ, Zhu CC, Jiang M, Zhu T, Wang B, Wang HC, Fan SJ. Gut microbiota-32 derived indole 3-propionic acid protects against radiation toxicity via retaining acyl-CoA-binding protein. Microbiome 2020; 8: 69 [PMID: 32434586 DOI: 10.1186/s40168-020-00845-6]
- 33 Cadet J, Delatour T, Douki T, Gasparutto D, Pouget JP, Ravanat JL, Sauvaigo S. Hydroxyl radicals and DNA base damage. Mutat Res 1999; 424: 9-21 [PMID: 10064846 DOI: 10.1016/s0027-5107(99)00004-4]



WU

World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5573-5588

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5573

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study Hypoxia inducible factor 1α promotes interleukin-1 receptor antagonist expression during hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury

Zhao-Yang Wang, Yu Liu, Shi-Peng Li, Jian-Jun Li, Zhen Zhang, Xue-Chun Xiao, Yang Ou, Hang Wang, Jin-Zhen Cai, Shuang Yang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology	Zhao-Yang Wang, Jian-Jun Li, Xue-Chun Xiao, Yang Ou, Hang Wang , Tianjin Key Laboratory of Tumor Microenvironment and Neurovascular Regulation, Medical College of Nankai University, Tianjin 300071, China	
Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.	Yu Liu, Department of Internal Medicine, Wangdingdi Hospital, Tianjin 300071, China Shi-Peng Li, Liver Transplant Center of Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical	
Peer-review model: Single blind	University, Beijing 100050, China	
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification	Zhen Zhang , Institute of Clinical Medicine, Jiangxi Provincial People's Hospital Affiliated to Nanchang University, Nanchang 330006, Jiangxi Province, China	
Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C	Jin-Zhen Cai , Organ Transplantation Center, Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao 266000, Shandong Province, China	
Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0	Shuang Yang, Institute of Transplantation Medicine, Tianjin First Central Hospital, Nankai University, Tianjin 300071, China	
P-Reviewer: Katada K, Japan; Tzeng IS, Taiwan	Corresponding author: Shuang Yang, PhD, Professor, Institute of Transplantation Medicine, Tianjin First Central Hospital, Nankai University, No. 94 Weijin Road, Nankai District, Tianjin 300071, China. yangshuang@mail.nankai.edu.cn	
Received: May 30, 2022		
Peer-review started: May 30, 2022		
First decision: August 1, 2022	Abstract	
Revised: August 16, 2022	BACKGROUND Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is a major risk associated with liver surgery and	
Accepted: September 21, 2022		
Article in press: September 21, 2022	transplantation, and its pathological mechanism is complex. Interleukin-1 receptor	
Published online: October 14, 2022	antagonist (IL-1ra) can protect the liver from IRI. However, the regulatory	
	<i>AIM</i> To identify the mechanism that could protect the liver in the early stage of IRI.	
	METHODS	
	To screen the key genes in hepatic IRI, we performed RNA sequencing and gene	

To screen the key genes in hepatic IRI, we performed RNA sequencing and gene enrichment analysis on liver tissue from mice with hepatic IRI. Subsequently, we verified the expression and effect of IL-1ra in hepatic IRI. We also used promoter mutagenesis and chromatin immunoprecipitation assay to search for the transcriptional regulatory sites of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1α. Finally, to explore the protective mechanism of ischemic preconditioning (IP), we examined the expression of HIF-1 α and IL-1ra after IP.

RESULTS

We identified IL-1ra as a key regulator in hepatic IRI. The expression of IL-1ra was significantly upregulated after hepatic IRI both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Furthermore, we found that HIF-1 α regulated *ll-1ra* transcription in response to hypoxia. Increased HIF-1α accumulation promoted IL-1ra expression, whereas inhibition of HIF-1 α exhibited the opposite effect. We also confirmed a predominant role for hypoxia response element in the regulation of Il1ra transcription by HIF-1 α activation. Of note, we demonstrated that IP protects against hepatic IRI by inducing IL-1ra expression, which is mediated through HIF-1 α .

CONCLUSION

We demonstrated that ischemia or hypoxia leads to increased expression of IL-1ra through HIF-1a. Importantly, IP protects the liver from IRI *via* the HIF-1α–IL-1ra pathway.

Key Words: Hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury; Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; Hypoxia inducible factor 1α; Ischemic preconditioning

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is a major risk associated with liver surgery and transplantation, and its pathological mechanism is complex. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) can protect the liver from IRI. The expression of IL-1ra was significantly upregulated after IRI in mice. Hypoxia promoted the expression of IL-1ra. Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1α accumulation contributed to increased Il-1ra transcription. Ischemic preconditioning protected the liver from IRI via the HIF-1a-IL-1ra pathway.

Citation: Wang ZY, Liu Y, Li SP, Li JJ, Zhang Z, Xiao XC, Ou Y, Wang H, Cai JZ, Yang S. Hypoxia inducible factor 1a promotes interleukin-1 receptor antagonist expression during hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28(38): 5573-5588

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5573.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5573

INTRODUCTION

Hepatic ischemia (IS)-reperfusion injury (IRI) is a common complication in liver surgery and transplantation[1]. IRI usually results from restoration of the blood supply after brief IS[2]. The sterile inflammatory response induced by hypoxic stress leads to hepatic IRI[3]. The pathogenesis of hepatic IRI is complex and affected by various factors[4,5], which involve the damage-associated molecular patterns, innate immune response, and inflammation. Among them, the inflammation caused by interleukin (IL)-1β plays an important role[6,7]. During hepatic IRI, injured cells activate the inflammasome pathway, allowing the IL-1β precursor to be cleaved into its mature form by caspase-1 and subsequently released. Mature IL-1 β is a broad-acting proinflammatory cytokine that increases the recruitment of endothelial adhesion molecules to innate immune cells and promotes the development of inflammatory phenotypes[8]. However, blocking the action of IL-1 can reduce hepatic damage[9,10]. As a natural anti-inflammatory factor, IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) is highly expressed in a variety of inflammatory diseases and is closely related to the occurrence and progression of inflammation[11-14]. Several studies have shown a potential protective effect of IL-1ra in inflammation. For example, IL-1ra competes with IL-1β to bind to IL-1 receptor I, thus playing an anti-inflammatory role[15]. However, the transcriptional regulatory mechanism of IL-1ra during IRI remains unclear.

As a transcription factor, hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 α is an important molecule for cell regulation in the hypoxic environment [16,17]. There have been a few reports confirming that HIF-1 α plays an irreplaceable role in hepatic IRI[18]. HIF-1 α can regulate the expression of multiple genes in cells after hypoxia[19], and consequently reduce organ IRI by regulating metabolism[20]. Furthermore, the mechanism of HIF-1α protection against hepatic IRI deserves further study.

Ischemic preconditioning (IP) was first reported by Murry et al[21] in 1986, who demonstrated that multiple IP reduces cell death after coronary artery occlusion. Although the protective effect of IP on hepatic IRI has been subsequently reported [22], its mechanism of action remains unclear. Therefore, it is



necessary to confirm the mechanism underlying this protective effect, which would be of great clinical significance. In the present study, we found that IL-1ra was expressed in hepatic tissue during IRI and was regulated by IS-induced HIF-1 α . We also confirmed that the protective effect of IP was exerted precisely *via* the HIF-1 α -IL-1ra pathway, leading to inhibition of IL-1 β signaling and subsequent reduction in hepatic IRI.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents and antibodies

2-MeOE2 (S1233) and DMOG (S7483) were purchased from Selleck (China). Percoll (17089101) was purchased from GE Healthcare (United States). Collagenase IV (C8160) was purchased from Solarbio (China). Mouse monoclonal antibody for β -actin (sc-47778) was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, United States). A rabbit monoclonal antibody for IL-1ra (ab124962) was purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, MA, United States). Rabbit antibodies for HIF-1a (36169), BAX (14796), Bcl-2 (3498), and cleaved caspase-3 (9664) were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA, United States). ELISA kits for detecting mouse alanine transaminase (ALT) (JL12668), aspartate transaminase (AST) (JL13793), and IL-1ra (JL20255) were purchased from Jonln (China). Recombinant IL-1ra (200-01RA) was purchased from PeproTech (United States).

Animals

Wild-type male C57BL/6 mice, aged 6-8 wk, were purchased from Beijing HFK Bioscience (Beijing, China). The mice were raised in standard conditions[23] and received humanitarian care. The mice were acclimated to the rearing environment for 3-4 d before experimentation.

Animal experiments

Mice were randomly grouped and marked. The mice were weighed and anesthetized with 1% pentobarbital (50 mg/kg). For the hepatic IR experiments, mice were divided into six groups (*n* = 5 each): Sham group: The portal vein was exposed, and no blood vessels were clamped; ischemia reperfusion (IS) 1.5 h group: We only clamped the left and middle lobe vessels for 1.5 h; IR 3-24 h group: Reperfusion was performed for the corresponding time after the vessels had been clamped for 1.5 h; IP group: We briefly clamped the vessel for 10 min and released it for 10 min before IS; this was named an IP cycle; sh*ll1ra* group: Adenovirus carrying *ll1ra* shRNA was injected *via* the tail vein 48 h before IR. At the end of the experiment, the ischemic hepatic lobes were isolated for subsequent processing or stored at -80 °C. The animal study protocol was approved by the Animal Ethical and Welfare Committee (protocol code: IRM-DWLL-2020173 and date of approval: September 15, 2020).

Nonparenchymal cell and hepatocyte isolation

Nonparenchymal cells (NPCs) and hepatocytes were isolated from mice by collagenase digestion and differential centrifugation using Percoll, as previously described[24].

Histological examination of liver tissue

The left lobe samples of mouse livers were fixed in formaldehyde solution, dehydrated, paraffinembedded, and cut into 4- μ m-thick sections. The IL-1ra levels were determined by immunohistochemistry. The histological analysis was performed using the histochemistry score. A section was selected from the left lobe in every liver, and five views (200 ×) were captured for calculation in each section.

Cell culture

Mouse liver parenchymal cells, AML12 (SCSP-550; American Type Culture Collection, Manassas, VA, United States), were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM)/F12 (11965092; Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (10099133; Gibco) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin at 37 °C in an atmosphere containing 5% CO_2 . HEK293T cells were cultured in DMEM (11320033; Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% sodium pyruvate, 1% non-essential amino acids, and 2% glutamine.

Cell experiment

AML12 cells were subjected to hypoxia and reoxygenation to simulate the ischemic and reperfusion environment *in vivo*. During hypoxia, cells were cultured in a 37 °C incubator with 95% N₂ and 5% CO₂. After a specific time period, cells were removed and placed back into the 37 °C incubator with 5% CO₂. To interfere with HIF-1 α , cells were treated with DMOG or 2-MeOE2 at a concentration of 100 μ M for 6 h before subsequent experiments were performed.

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Primer sequences			
Gene	Forward sequence	Reverse sequence	
ll1ra	TCTTGGGCATCCACGGG	GAGGCTCACAGGACGGTCAG	
β-actin	GTGACGTTGACATCCGTAAAGA	GCCGGACTCATCGTACTCC	
ll1ra pro-2.1K	CGGAGCTCGCCAGCAAGATTTTAAGTGATTCT	CCAGATCTGGGTGAGCTAAACAGGACACAAGGT	
<i>ll1ra</i> pro-1.5K	CGGAGCTCCCCAACAACTTCCAGACTTCCCTC	CCAGATCTGGGTGAGCTAAACAGGACACAAGGT	
<i>ll1ra</i> pro-1.1K	CGGAGCTCATCAGTCTAAGGCTGGGCAGGGAG	CCAGATCTGGGTGAGCTAAACAGGACACAAGGT	
<i>ll1ra</i> pro-0.6K	CGGAGCTCCCCAGCTCAAATGCCACCATTCTC	CCAGATCTGGGTGAGCTAAACAGGACACAAGGT	
ll1ra Mut1	TTTATGCACATTCCCTCTTTCAGC	AGAGGGAATGTGCATAAACTTGT	
Il1ra Mut2	GATATGGACTTGCCATTTTGACTC	AAATGGCAAGTCCATATCTTTCTT	

Plasmid construction

The mouse ll1ra promoter (-2113/+143) sequences were obtained by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) from mouse genomic DNA and cloned into the pGL3-basic vector (Promega, Madison, WI, United States). Mutagenesis of HRE-I and HRE-II in the mouse *Illra* promoter was performed using a Quick-Change® Lightning Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, United States). The primer sequences are listed in Table 1. The mouse *ll1ra* shRNA plasmid was purchased from Hanbio Biotechnology (Shanghai, China), and packaged into adenoviral particles.

RNA extraction and quantitative qPCR

Total RNA from liver tissue and AML12 cells was extracted using Trizol (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, United States). cDNA was synthesized using reverse transcriptase (Takara, Japan). The specific product of Il1ra was amplified by qPCR using the TransStart Green Q-PCR SuperMix Kit (TransGen, China). β-Actin was used as a normalization control. The primer sequences are listed in Table 1.

Immunoblotting assay

Tissues and cell lysates were prepared in RIPA buffer with protease and phosphatase inhibitors. The immunoblotting procedures can be found in the literature[25].

Luciferase assay

Cells were transfected with wild-type or mutant mouse *ll1ra* promoters, followed by treatment with DMOG or 2-MeOE2 under hypoxia in 24-well plates. Lysates were prepared 48 h after transfection, and the luciferase activity was measured using the Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega). The luciferase activity was normalized to the values for Renilla luciferase.

Chromatin immunoprecipitation

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays were performed using an EZ-ChIP kit (Millipore, Billerica, MA, United States). The primers and antibodies used in these experiments are shown in Table 1.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 7.0 (San Diego, CA, United States). All the data are presented as the mean ± SEM and represent three or five independent experiments. One-way analysis of variance was used to compare means among treatment groups. Student's t-test for unpaired observations was applied. P < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Screening of protective genes during hepatic IRI

To screen key genes that potentially play protective roles in the liver in IRI, we constructed a mouse model of hepatic IRI and performed transcriptome sequencing using mRNAs of the liver from the Sham, IS 1.5 h, and IR 3 h groups (Figure 1A). Gene enrichment analysis showed that, after IR 3h, a group of genes enriched in the IL-1 pathway were upregulated (Figure 1B). Expression of 25 genes was significantly increased (> 2-fold) in both IS and IR periods (Figure 1C). These genes were then ranked in descending order of ischemic expression abundance, and *ll1ra*, as a key antagonist of the IL-1 signaling, was shown to be one of the highly differentially expressed genes (Figure 1D). Thus, we chose *ll1ra* for further investigation on its regulatory mechanism in the hepatic IRI.





Figure 1 Construction of a mouse model of hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury and gene enrichment analysis. A: Model of ischemiareperfusion injury (IRI) in mice; B: GO enrichment analysis upon IR for 3 h; C: Venn diagram shows that the expression of genes for IR 3 h and ischemia (IS) 1.5 h was more than 2-fold than that in the Sham group; D: Twenty-five genes were elevated in both IR 3 h and IS 1.5 h groups according to IS 1.5 h expression level. IS: Ischemia; IR: Ischemia-reperfusion; IRI: Ischemia-reperfusion injury.

IL-1ra expression is elevated during hepatic IRI

We detected IL-1ra expression in mice with IRI. This confirmed that mRNA expression of *ll1ra* was increased in mice that experienced hepatic IRI as compared with the Sham group (Figure 2A). Upregulation of IL-1ra in liver tissue was confirmed at the protein level by immunoblotting (Figures 2B and C), ELISA (Figure 2D), and immunohistochemistry (Figures 2E and F), demonstrating that expression of IL-1ra is significantly elevated in response to hepatic IRI in mice.

Hepatocytes and hepatic NPCs both express high levels of IL-1ra after IRI

The liver is composed of several different embryonic-derived cell types, including hepatocytes, bile duct epithelial cells, stellate cells, Kupffer cells, and sinusoidal endothelial cells[26]. The liver consists of 80% hepatocytes, and 20% of the other cells are collectively called NPCs. Hepatocytes are the major epithelial cell population of the liver and perform various physiological functions. Therefore, we aimed to identify whether there is a difference in the expression of IL-1ra in hepatocytes and NPCs after IRI. To do so, gradient centrifugation was used to separate hepatocytes and NPCs from mouse liver tissue, and





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5573 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist expression is elevated after hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in mice. A: Relative mRNA levels of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (*II1ra*) in the liver upon ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI); B: Protein levels of IL-1ra in the liver upon IRI; C: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1Ra upon IRI; D: Protein content of IL-1ra in serum upon IRI; E. Representative images of immunohistochemical staining for IL-1ra in the liver upon IRI. Scale bars, 100 µm; F: Statistical analysis of immunohistochemical scores. Indicated *P* values were calculated using a two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test. Data are presented as the mean \pm SEM. Data are representative of five independent experiments. ^a*P* < 0.05, ^b*P* < 0.01, ^c*P* < 0.001. IS: Ischemia; IR: Ischemia-reperfusion; IL-1ra: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist.

expression of IL-1ra was detected. There was no significant difference in the expression of IL-1ra at both the mRNA (Figure 3A) and protein (Figures 3B and C) levels between hepatocytes and NPCs after IR treatment.

To confirm these results *in vitro*, we performed the hypoxia-reoxygenation experiments in the mouse hepatic cell line AML12 to simulate IRI. We found that the mRNA (Figure 3D) and protein (Figures 3E and F) expression of IL-1ra was increased in AML12 cells upon hypoxia and reoxygenation. Similarly, the content of IL-1ra in the culture medium of the hypoxia-reoxygenation group was significantly higher than that in the control group (Figure 3G). Together, these data suggested that IL-1ra is highly expressed in both hepatocytes and NPCs after IRI.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5573 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist is expressed in both mouse hepatocytes and nonparenchymal cells. A: Relative mRNA levels of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (II1ra) in hepatocytes and nonparenchymal cells (NPCs) after ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI); B: Protein levels of IL-1ra in hepatocytes and NPCs after IRI; C: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1Ra in hepatocytes and NPCs after IRI; D: Relative mRNA levels of II1ra in AML12 cells upon hypoxia-reoxygenation (HR); E: Protein levels of IL-1ra in AML12 cells upon HR; F: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1Ra in AML12 cells upon HR; G: Protein content of IL-1ra in culture medium upon HR. Indicated P values were calculated using two-tailed unpaired Student's t-tests. Data are presented as the mean ± SEM. Data are representative of five independent experiments. nsP > 0.05, aP < 0.05, bP < 0.001. HR: Hypoxia-reoxygenation; NPCs: Nonparenchymal cells; IL-1ra: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist

IL-1ra expression is upregulated upon IS and hypoxia

To verify the regulation of IL-1ra expression in the early stage of hepatic IRI, we constructed hypoxic models at different time points in vivo and in vitro. Compared with the Sham group, ischemic treatment in mice increased IL-1ra expression in a time-dependent manner at both the mRNA (Figure 4A) and protein (Figures 4B-D) levels. Similar results were also revealed in AML12 cells (Figures 4E-H), demonstrating that IS and hypoxia could promote the expression of IL-1ra.

HIF-1a promotes IL-1ra expression under hypoxic conditions

HIF-1 α , as a transcriptional regulator, plays an important role under hypoxic conditions. Therefore, we



Raisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5573 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 4 Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist expression is elevated during ischemia or hypoxia. A: Relative mRNA levels of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (II/1ra) in the liver upon ischemia; B: Protein levels of IL-1ra in the liver upon ischemia; C: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1ra upon ischemia; D: Protein content of IL-1ra in serum upon ischemia; E: Relative mRNA levels of II1ra in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; F: Protein levels of IL-1ra in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; G: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1Ra in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; H: Protein content of IL-1ra in culture medium upon ischemia. Indicated P values were calculated using two-tailed unpaired Student's t-tests. Data are presented as the mean ± SEM. Data are representative of five independent experiments. ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.01, ^cP < 0.001. Hypo: Hypoxia; IS: Ischemia; IL-1ra: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist.

> speculated that HIF-1a would regulate the expression of IL-1ra. Thus, we moved to evaluate the relationship between HIF-1a and IL-1ra expression in hepatic IRI. Increased expression of HIF-1a was observed upon ischemic treatment in mice in a time-dependent manner (Figures 5A and B). Similar results were confirmed in AML12 cells (Figures 5C and D). Immunofluorescence analysis indicated that HIF-1α was localized in the nuclei of AML12 cells after 1.5 h of hypoxia (Figure 5E).

> We treated AML12 cells with 2-MeOE2 (a specific HIF-1 α inhibitor) or DMOG (a specific HIF-1 α agonist). 2-MeOE2 reduced the expression of *ll-1ra* mRNA during hypoxia, while DMOG increased *ll-*1ra expression under normoxia (Figure 5F). Immunoblotting (Figures 5G-I) and ELISA (Figure 5J) confirmed that 2-MeOE2 reduced the protein levels of HIF-1 α and IL-1ra in AML12 cells; however, DMOG had the opposite effect. These results indicated that HIF-1 α independently promotes the expression of IL-1ra.

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Hypoxia-inducible factor-1a promotes the expression of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist during ischemia or hypoxia. A: Protein

Carishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

October 14, 2022 Volume 28 Issue 38

levels of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 α in the liver upon ischemia; B: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1 α in the liver upon ischemia; C: Protein levels of HIF-1 α in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; D: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1 α in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; D: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1 α in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; D: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1 α in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; D: Statistical analysis of protein levels of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (*II1ra*) in AML12 cells treated with 2-MeOE2 (100 µM) and DMOG (100 µM) upon hypoxia; G: Protein levels of HIF-1 α and IL-1ra in AML12 cells treated with 2-MeOE2 and DMOG upon hypoxia; H: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1 α in AML12 cells treated with 2-MeOE2 and DMOG upon hypoxia; H: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1 α in AML12 cells treated with 2-MeOE2 and DMOG upon hypoxia; H: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1 α in AML12 cells treated with 2-MeOE2 and DMOG upon hypoxia; H: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1 α in AML12 cells treated with 2-MeOE2 and DMOG upon hypoxia; H: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1ra in AML12 cells treated with 2-MeOE2 and DMOG upon hypoxia; J: Protein content of IL-1ra in culture medium of in AML12 cells treated with 2-MeOE2 and DMOG upon hypoxia. Indicated *P*-values were calculated using two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-tests. Data are presented as the mean \pm SEM. Dots depict individual samples. ⁿ*P* < 0.05, ⁿ*P* < 0.05, ^h*P* < 0.01, ^o*P* < 0.001. Hypo: Hypoxia; IS: Ischemia; HIF: Hypoxia-inducible factor; IL-1ra: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; IgG: Immunoglobulin G.

HIF-1α transcriptionally upregulates IL-1ra expression

To investigate the regulatory mechanism of IL-1ra by HIF-1 α , we transfected a mouse *ll1ra* promoterreporter construct into AML12 cells (Figure 6A). Upon treatment with hypoxia, we found that *ll1ra* promoter activity was significantly increased (Figure 6B). To explore the transcriptional regulatory elements of the *ll1ra* promoter in response to hypoxia, we generated a series of truncated *ll1ra* promoter-reporter constructs. *ll1ra*-p-2.1k promoter activity was significantly increased upon hypoxic treatment, while the truncated promoter activity of *ll1ra*-p-1.5k, *ll1ra*-p-1.1k, and *ll1ra*-p-0.6k was not altered by hypoxia (Figure 6C).

We used the JASPAR database to predict the binding site of HIF-1 α on the *ll1ra*-p-2.1k promoter and found two possible binding elements, HRE I (-2018/-2011) and HRE II (-1895/-1888) (Figure 6D). Sitedirected mutagenesis showed that mutation of HRE II did not affect hypoxia-induced activation of the *ll1ra* promoter, while mutation of either HRE I or HRE I + II eliminated this effect (Figure 6D). Importantly, we used the ChIP assay to verify that HIF-1 α was able to be recruited to the HRE I element in the *ll1ra* promoter (Figures 6E and F).

IP protects the liver from IRI via the HIF-1 α -IL-1ra pathway

It has been reported that IP can alleviate hepatic IRI[27]. However, the protective mechanism of IP is not yet clear. Here, we speculated that IL-1ra might play a potential role in the regulation of IP. Thus, the mice were subjected to IP with the indicated cycles. Compared with the control group, the IP group had significantly lower ALT and AST levels in their serum, which were further reduced by increased IP cycles (Figures 7A and B). Similar results of IL-1ra upregulation were observed by immunoblotting (Figures 7C and D) and ELISA (Figure 7E).

To verify whether IL-1ra plays a protective role in IP, we injected adenovirus carrying *ll1ra* shRNA *via* the tail vein to knock down the expression of IL-1ra in mice. Expression of IL-1ra in the liver and serum of mice injected with adenovirus was significantly decreased (Figures 7F-H). The ALT and AST levels were increased by knockdown of IL-1ra in the liver (Figures 7I and J).

It has been reported that HIF-1 α plays an important role in IP[28], and we thus speculated that the expression of IL-1ra in IP is regulated by HIF-1 α . We found that IP induced accumulation of HIF-1 α in the liver (Figures 7K-M); however, 2-MeOE2 significantly attenuated this effect (Figures 7M-P). These results collectively suggested that IP might exert a protective effect on the liver from IRI through regulating the HIF-1 α -IL-1ra signaling.

DISCUSSION

Hepatic IRI is a common complication of liver surgery. Previous studies have demonstrated that the IL-1 signaling pathway plays a pivotal role in the regulation of hepatic IRI. Here, we extended the study, showing that the expression of IL-1ra, an inhibitor of the IL-1 signaling pathway, is increased in response to hepatic IRI, especially in the ischemic stage. Mechanistically, hypoxia induces the transcriptional expression of IL-1ra through HIF-1 α accumulation. Of note, we proved that IP could protect the liver from IRI by promoting IL-1ra expression in a HIF-1 α -dependent manner. Thus, our study has provided additional evidence for the regulatory mechanism of IL-1ra during IS, indicating a practical strategy for alleviating hepatic IRI.

Previous studies have shown that hepatic IRI not only causes damage to the liver itself, but also leads to the abnormal functioning of various organs, and induces systemic inflammatory response syndrome [29]. Therefore, the question of how to reduce or even eliminate hepatic IRI has received constant attention among clinicians and researchers. Hepatic IRI is a complex pathophysiological process with numerous and relational influencing factors. Among them, the early inflammatory response plays a crucial role in the occurrence and development of hepatic IRI[30], because it is located in the upstream region of the injury response chain. Upon activation, downstream factors often promote each other and thus aggravate the injury[31]. If the activation of early inflammation can be reduced or even blocked, it may be possible to prevent the occurrence and development of hepatic IRI at source.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com


Figure 6 Hypoxia-inducible factor transcriptionally upregulates interleukin-1 receptor antagonist expression. A: Luciferase assay for the wildtype promoter (-2113/+143) of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (I/Ira) in AML12 cells; B: Luciferase assay for the wild-type promoter of I/Ira in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; C: Luciferase assay for wild-type and truncated promoters of II1ra in AML12 cells upon hypoxia; D: Luciferase assay for wild-type (-2113/+143) and HREmutated promoters of II1ra upon hypoxia; E: Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay for hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1a binding to HRE sites upon hypoxia; F and G: Quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis for the recruitment of HIF-1a to the endogenous *II1ra* promoter in AML12 cells upon hypoxia. Indicated *P*-values were calculated using two-tailed unpaired Student's t-tests. Data are presented as the mean ± SEM. Data are representative of independent experiments. "P > 0.05, ^aP < 0.01, ^bP < 0.001. Hypo: Hypoxia; IS: Ischemia; HIF: Hypoxia-inducible factor; IL-1ra: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; IgG: Immunoglobulin G.

Current studies have shown that many proinflammatory cytokines are released in the early stage of hepatic IRI[4]. For example, blocking the activation of proinflammatory IL-1 signaling significantly prevents IRI[32]. IL-1 is a major inflammatory response mediator[33]. Experimental results have shown that large amounts of IL-1 β and tumor necrosis factor- α are produced in the tissue after hepatic IS and reperfusion^[34]. At the same time, this can also stimulate the secretion of inflammatory cells, leading to the inflammatory destruction of local tissues. IL-1 β and the nucleotide-binding and leucine-rich repeat protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome play a role through high mobility group box 1 protein[35], nuclear



Figure 7 Ischemic preconditioning protects the liver by promoting interleukin-1 receptor antagonist expression via hypoxia-inducible

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Baishideng®

factor-1a. A: Serum alanine transaminase (ALT) levels in mice undergoing ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) after different ischemic preconditioning (IP) cycles; B: Serum aspartate transaminase (AST) levels in mice undergoing IRI after different IP cycles; C: Protein levels of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) in the liver after different IP cycles; D: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1ra after different IP cycles; E: Protein content of IL-1ra in serum after different IP cycles; F: Protein levels of IL-1ra in the liver with sh/l1ra injection after three IP cycles; G: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1ra with sh/l1ra injection after three IP cycles; H: Protein content of IL-1ra in serum with sh/l1ra injection after three IP cycles; I: Serum ALT levels in mice with sh/l1ra injection after three IP cycles; J: Serum AST levels in mice with sh//1ra injection after three IP cycles; K: Protein levels of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1a and IL-1ra in the liver after different IP cycles; L: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1a after different IP cycles; M: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1ra after different IP cycles; N: Protein levels of HIF-1a and IL-1ra in the liver with 2-MeOE2 treatment after different IP cycles; O: Statistical analysis of protein levels of HIF-1a with 2-MeOE2 treatment after different IP cycles; P: Statistical analysis of protein levels of IL-1ra with 2-MeOE2 treatment after different IP cycles; Indicated P values were calculated using twotailed unpaired Student's t-tests. Data are presented as the mean ± SEM. Data are representative of five independent experiments. nsP > 0.05, aP < 0.05, bP < 0.01, P < 0.001. IP: Ischemic preconditioning; AST: Aspartate transaminase; ALT: Alanine transaminase; IL-1ra: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist; HIF: Hypoxia-inducible factor

> factor-KB and Toll-like receptor 4 in lesions caused by warm IRI[7]. Of note, NLRP3 may be involved in IRI independently of the inflammasome pathway by recruiting neutrophils. Macrophages secrete pro-IL-1 β , which is subsequently cleaved and activated by neutrophil-derived proteases in a mouse model. Mature IL-1 β is required to induce inflammation during hepatic IR, and the interaction between macrophages and neutrophils is essential in this process[6]. Therefore, the antagonism of proinflammatory IL-1 cytokines has important therapeutic potential for reducing IRI.

> IL-1ra is a naturally occurring polypeptide. Recent research has focused on the role of IL-1ra in various pathophysiological states or the effects of recombinant IL-1ra administration in animals and humans[36]. It has been reported that the delivery of the *ll-1ra* gene to the rat liver via the adenovirus vector or lipofection can significantly reduce IR-induced proinflammatory cytokine production and hepatocyte injury[15]. This is consistent with our results showing that the knockdown of IL-1ra significantly increased the damage during hepatic IRI, suggesting a potential inhibitory effect of IL-1ra on inflammation in response to hepatic IR.

> In the process of IRI, IS is a prerequisite. It is precisely regulated because the depletion of oxygen and energy in the ischemic period cause a series of injuries in the subsequent reperfusion period. In the state of hepatic IS, the metabolic mode switches from aerobic to anaerobic, the redox process in hepatocytes is blocked, the ATP-dependent cellular metabolic activity gradually stops, and the intracellular ATP is rapidly depleted. At the same time, the absence of oxygen causes HIF-1α to gradually accumulate. The increased transport of HIF-1a into the nucleus triggers the expression of genes involved in oxygen transport, oxygen utilization, glycolytic metabolism, cell death, cell survival, and other processes that affect cell survival during IS. Recent studies have demonstrated that HIF-1α can alleviate IRI by regulating the expression of inducible NO synthase[37]. HIF-1a may also enhance tissue anti-inflammatory effects by increasing heme oxygenase-1 expression, thereby reducing damage[38]. In this study, we further showed that HIF-1a, as an important protective factor in IRI, could protect the liver from injury by promoting the expression of IL-1ra and subsequently inhibiting activation of the IL-1 signaling pathway. In terms of the mechanism, we found that HIF-1a recognizes and binds to the basic helix-loophelix protein sequence in the *ll1ra* promoter region, resulting in the increased transcription of *ll1ra*.

> Recent studies have shown that IP has broad protective effects against IRI[39]. However, due to the complexity of IRI, the underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms of IP remain largely unknown. In the present study, we provided evidence that IP promotes the expression and release of IL-1ra into the hepatic microenvironment, thus blocking the downstream activation of IL-1 β and protecting the liver from the cascading effects of inflammatory factors. We demonstrated that IP can induce the accumulation of HIF-1 α , which increases with the number of IP cycles. These results would explain the protective effect of IP at a mechanistic level and lay a theoretical foundation for the better application of IP.

CONCLUSION

Our study demonstrated a protective effect of IL-1ra on hepatic IRI through the transcriptional regulation of IL-1ra by HIF-1a. Importantly, we found that IP can regulate the expression of IL-1ra through HIF-1 α at early stage of hepatic IRI, thereby blocking the inflammatory IL-1 signaling pathway to protect the liver from IRI (Figure 8).

Wang ZY et al. HIF-1a promotes IL-1ra during HIRI



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5573 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 8 Model of ischemic preconditioning-induced hypoxia-inducible factor- 1α -interleukin-1 receptor antagonist signaling to alleviate hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury. Ischemic preconditioning promotes the accumulation of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)- 1α , which subsequently increases HIF- 1α entry into the nucleus and promotes the transcriptional expression of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra). In turn, this inhibits the pro-inflammatory effects of IL- 1β and eventually protects against hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury. HIF: Hypoxia-inducible factor; IL-1ra: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) is associated with transplant failures, graft dysfunction, and a relatively poor prognosis. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonists (IL-1ra) play an important role in protecting the liver from IRI. However, the mechanism of its regulatory expression remains unclear.

Research motivation

Inhibition of hepatic inflammation by promoting the expression of IL-1ra is one of the key targets for the treatment of hepatic IRI.

Research objectives

To investigate the regulatory mechanism of hepatocyte-derived IL-1ra expression in the process of hepatic IRI to provide a therapeutic target for hepatic IRI.

Research methods

A 70% hepatic IRI model was established in mice, and AML12 cells were subjected to hypoxia/ reoxygenation for the simulation of IRI *in vitro*. The *ll-1ra* promoter-reporter system was constructed to detect the regulatory effect of hypoxia. The ischemic preconditioning (IP) model was established to investigate its regulatory effect on IL-1ra.

Research results

IL-1ra is a key regulator of hepatic IRI. Il-1ra expression was significantly up-regulated after hepatic IRI *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1α regulates *ll-1ra* transcription during hypoxia. IP prevents hepatic IRI by inducing the expression of IL-1ra, which is mediated by HIF-1α.

Research conclusions

Ischemia or hypoxia leads to increased IL-1ra expression through HIF-1α. In addition, IP protects the hepatic tissue from IRI through the HIF-1α-IL-1ra pathway.

Research perspectives

 $HIF-1\alpha$ -IL-1ra pathway is a potential mechanism of hepatic protection during hepatic IRI, and also a key target for the treatment of hepatic IRI.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Yi Shi and Wei Sun (Medical College of Nankai University) for their skillful technical assistance.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wang ZY, Li SP, Cai JZ, and Yang S designed and coordinated the study; Wang ZY, Liu Y, Li JJ, Zhang Z, Xiao XC, Ou Y, and Wang H performed the experiments, and acquired and analyzed the data; Wang ZY and Yang S interpreted the data; Wang ZY and Yang S wrote the manuscript; and all authors approved the final



version of the article.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81670600.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: The animal study protocol was approved by the Animal Ethical and Welfare Committee (protocol code: IRM-DWLL-2020173 and date of approval: September 15, 2020).

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

ARRIVE guidelines statement: The authors have reviewed the ARRIVE guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE guidelines.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Zhao-Yang Wang 0000-0001-7618-5353; Yu Liu 0000-0003-1657-2946; Shi-Peng Li 0000-0001-8615-2440; Zhen Zhang 0000-0002-6400-6052; Jin-Zhen Cai 0000-0001-5414-1050; Shuang Yang 0000-0002-4779-8553.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Asrani SK, Devarbhavi H, Eaton J, Kamath PS. Burden of liver diseases in the world. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 151-171 1 [PMID: 30266282 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.09.014]
- 2 Jennings RB, Sommers HM, Smyth GA, Flack HA, Linn H. Myocardial necrosis induced by temporary occlusion of a coronary artery in the dog. Arch Pathol 1960; 70: 68-78 [PMID: 14407094]
- 3 Ji H, Liu Y, Zhang Y, Shen XD, Gao F, Busuttil RW, Kuchroo VK, Kupiec-Weglinski JW. T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain 4 (TIM-4) signaling in innate immune-mediated liver ischemia-reperfusion injury. Hepatology 2014; 60: 2052-2064 [PMID: 25066922 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27334]
- Peralta C, Jiménez-Castro MB, Gracia-Sancho J. Hepatic ischemia and reperfusion injury: effects on the liver sinusoidal milieu. J Hepatol 2013; 59: 1094-1106 [PMID: 23811302 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.06.017]
- 5 Zhai Y, Petrowsky H, Hong JC, Busuttil RW, Kupiec-Weglinski JW. Ischaemia-reperfusion injury in liver transplantation-from bench to bedside. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 10: 79-89 [PMID: 23229329 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2012.225
- Sadatomo A, Inoue Y, Ito H, Karasawa T, Kimura H, Watanabe S, Mizushina Y, Nakamura J, Kamata R, Kasahara T, Horie H, Sata N, Takahashi M. Interaction of Neutrophils with Macrophages Promotes IL-1ß Maturation and Contributes to Hepatic Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. J Immunol 2017; 199: 3306-3315 [PMID: 28972095 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700717
- 7 Kamo N, Ke B, Ghaffari AA, Shen XD, Busuttil RW, Cheng G, Kupiec-Weglinski JW. ASC/caspase-1/IL-1ß signaling triggers inflammatory responses by promoting HMGB1 induction in liver ischemia/reperfusion injury. Hepatology 2013; 58: 351-362 [PMID: 23408710 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26320]
- Sims JE, Smith DE. The IL-1 family: regulators of immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2010; 10: 89-102 [PMID: 20081871 DOI: 8 10.1038/nri2691
- Gehrke N, Hövelmeyer N, Waisman A, Straub BK, Weinmann-Menke J, Wörns MA, Galle PR, Schattenberg JM. Hepatocyte-specific deletion of IL1-RI attenuates liver injury by blocking IL-1 driven autoinflammation. J Hepatol 2018; 68: 986-995 [PMID: 29366909 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.01.008]
- 10 Dinarello CA, Simon A, van der Meer JW. Treating inflammation by blocking interleukin-1 in a broad spectrum of diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2012; 11: 633-652 [PMID: 22850787 DOI: 10.1038/nrd3800]
- Arend WP. The balance between IL-1 and IL-1Ra in disease. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2002; 13: 323-340 [PMID: 11 12220547 DOI: 10.1016/s1359-6101(02)00020-5]
- Arend WP, Malyak M, Guthridge CJ, Gabay C. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: role in biology. Annu Rev Immunol 12 1998; 16: 27-55 [PMID: 9597123 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.27]
- 13 Thompson RC, Dripps DJ, Eisenberg SP. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) as a probe and as a treatment for IL-1 mediated disease. Int J Immunopharmacol 1992; 14: 475-480 [PMID: 1535616 DOI: 10.1016/0192-0561(92)90178-n]
- 14 Dayer JM. Evidence for the biological modulation of IL-1 activity: the role of IL-1Ra. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2002; 20: S14-S20 [PMID: 14989424]
- Harada H, Wakabayashi G, Takayanagi A, Shimazu M, Matsumoto K, Obara H, Shimizu N, Kitajima M. Transfer of the 15 interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene into rat liver abrogates hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury. Transplantation 2002;



74: 1434-1441 [PMID: 12451245 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200211270-00016]

- 16 McGettrick AF, O'Neill LAJ. The Role of HIF in Immunity and Inflammation. Cell Metab 2020; 32: 524-536 [PMID: 32853548 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.08.002]
- 17 Schumacker PT. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1). Crit Care Med 2005; 33: S423-S425 [PMID: 16340411 DOI: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000191716.38566.e0]
- 18 Guo Y, Feng L, Zhou Y, Sheng J, Long D, Li S, Li Y. Systematic review with meta-analysis: HIF-1α attenuates liver ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Transplant Rev (Orlando)* 2015; 29: 127-134 [PMID: 26007634 DOI: 10.1016/j.trre.2015.05.001]
- 19 Zhang H, Bosch-Marce M, Shimoda LA, Tan YS, Baek JH, Wesley JB, Gonzalez FJ, Semenza GL. Mitochondrial autophagy is an HIF-1-dependent adaptive metabolic response to hypoxia. *J Biol Chem* 2008; 283: 10892-10903 [PMID: 18281291 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M800102200]
- 20 Semenza GL. Oxygen sensing, homeostasis, and disease. N Engl J Med 2011; 365: 537-547 [PMID: 21830968 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1011165]
- 21 Murry CE, Jennings RB, Reimer KA. Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. *Circulation* 1986; **74**: 1124-1136 [PMID: 3769170 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.74.5.1124]
- 22 Liu A, Fang H. Ischemic Preconditioning on Liver Ischemia Reperfusion Injury: How Far is the Bedside from the Bench? J Invest Surg 2020; 33: 884-885 [PMID: 30885026 DOI: 10.1080/08941939.2019.1578443]
- 23 Ferreira-Silva M, Faria-Silva C, Carvalheiro MC, Simões S, Marinho HS, Marcelino P, Campos MC, Metselaar JM, Fernandes E, Baptista PV, Fernandes AR, Corvo ML. Quercetin Liposomal Nanoformulation for Ischemia and Reperfusion Injury Treatment. *Pharmaceutics* 2022; 14 [PMID: 35057000 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics14010104]
- 24 Alchera E, Chandrashekar BR, Clemente N, Borroni E, Boldorini R, Carini R. Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury of Fatty Liver Is Protected by A2AR and Exacerbated by A1R Stimulation through Opposite Effects on ASK1 Activation. *Cells* 2021; 10 [PMID: 34831394 DOI: 10.3390/cells10113171]
- 25 Jiang H, Zhou C, Zhang Z, Wang Q, Wei H, Shi W, Li J, Wang Z, Ou Y, Wang W, Wang H, Zhang Q, Sun W, Sun P, Yang S. Jagged1-Notch1-deployed tumor perivascular niche promotes breast cancer stem cell phenotype through Zeb1. *Nat Commun* 2020; 11: 5129 [PMID: 33046710 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-18860-4]
- 26 Malik R, Selden C, Hodgson H. The role of non-parenchymal cells in liver growth. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 2002; **13**: 425-431 [PMID: 12468243 DOI: 10.1016/s1084952102001301]
- 27 Lloris-Carsí JM, Cejalvo D, Toledo-Pereyra LH, Calvo MA, Suzuki S. Preconditioning: effect upon lesion modulation in warm liver ischemia. *Transplant Proc* 1993; 25: 3303-3304 [PMID: 8266552]
- 28 Cai Z, Zhong H, Bosch-Marce M, Fox-Talbot K, Wang L, Wei C, Trush MA, Semenza GL. Complete loss of ischaemic preconditioning-induced cardioprotection in mice with partial deficiency of HIF-1 alpha. *Cardiovasc Res* 2008; 77: 463-470 [PMID: 18006459 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvm035]
- Quesnelle KM, Bystrom PV, Toledo-Pereyra LH. Molecular responses to ischemia and reperfusion in the liver. Arch Toxicol 2015; 89: 651-657 [PMID: 25566829 DOI: 10.1007/s00204-014-1437-x]
- 30 Beg AA. Endogenous ligands of Toll-like receptors: implications for regulating inflammatory and immune responses. *Trends Immunol* 2002; 23: 509-512 [PMID: 12401394 DOI: 10.1016/s1471-4906(02)02317-7]
- 31 Suzuki S, Toledo-Pereyra LH, Rodriguez FJ, Cejalvo D. Neutrophil infiltration as an important factor in liver ischemia and reperfusion injury. Modulating effects of FK506 and cyclosporine. *Transplantation* 1993; 55: 1265-1272 [PMID: 7685932 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199306000-00011]
- 32 Zhu P, Duan L, Chen J, Xiong A, Xu Q, Zhang H, Zheng F, Tan Z, Gong F, Fang M. Gene silencing of NALP3 protects against liver ischemia-reperfusion injury in mice. *Hum Gene Ther* 2011; 22: 853-864 [PMID: 21128730 DOI: 10.1089/hum.2010.145]
- 33 Wang J, Yu S, Li J, Li H, Jiang H, Xiao P, Pan Y, Zheng J, Yu L, Jiang J. Protective role of *N*-acetyl-l-tryptophan against hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury *via* the RIP2/caspase-1/IL-1β signaling pathway. *Pharm Biol* 2019; **57**: 385-391 [PMID: 31184936 DOI: 10.1080/13880209.2019.1617750]
- 34 Saleh H, El-Shorbagy HM. Chitosan protects liver against ischemia-reperfusion injury via regulating Bcl-2/Bax, TNF-α and TGF-β expression. Int J Biol Macromol 2020; 164: 1565-1574 [PMID: 32735924 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.07.212]
- 35 Zhong W, Rao Z, Rao J, Han G, Wang P, Jiang T, Pan X, Zhou S, Zhou H, Wang X. Aging aggravated liver ischemia and reperfusion injury by promoting STING-mediated NLRP3 activation in macrophages. *Aging Cell* 2020; 19: e13186 [PMID: 32666684 DOI: 10.1111/acel.13186]
- 36 Carter DB, Deibel MR Jr, Dunn CJ, Tomich CS, Laborde AL, Slightom JL, Berger AE, Bienkowski MJ, Sun FF, McEwan RN. Purification, cloning, expression and biological characterization of an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein. *Nature* 1990; 344: 633-638 [PMID: 2139180 DOI: 10.1038/344633a0]
- 37 Xi L, Taher M, Yin C, Salloum F, Kukreja RC. Cobalt chloride induces delayed cardiac preconditioning in mice through selective activation of HIF-1alpha and AP-1 and iNOS signaling. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2004; 287: H2369-H2375 [PMID: 15284066 DOI: 10.1152/ajpheart.00422.2004]
- 38 Ockaili R, Natarajan R, Salloum F, Fisher BJ, Jones D, Fowler AA 3rd, Kukreja RC. HIF-1 activation attenuates postischemic myocardial injury: role for heme oxygenase-1 in modulating microvascular chemokine generation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2005; 289: H542-H548 [PMID: 15805230 DOI: 10.1152/ajpheart.00089.2005]
- 39 Suzuki S, Inaba K, Konno H. Ischemic preconditioning in hepatic ischemia and reperfusion. *Curr Opin Organ Transplant* 2008; 13: 142-147 [PMID: 18685294 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e3282f6a164]

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WU

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5589-5601

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5589

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study

No long-term survival benefit with sustained-release 5-fluorouracil implants in patients with stages II and III gastric cancer

Yun-Zi Wu, Ming Wu, Xiao-Hao Zheng, Bing-Zhi Wang, Li-Yan Xue, Shi-Kang Ding, Lin Yang, Jian-Song Ren, Yan-Tao Tian, Yi-Bin Xie

Specialty type: Gastroenterology	Yun-Zi Wu, Xiao-Hao Zheng, Shi-Kang Ding, Yan-Tao Tian, Yi-Bin Xie, Department of Pancreatic
and hepatology	and Gastric Surgery, National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for
.	Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical
Provenance and peer review:	College, Beijing 100021, China
Unsolicited article; Externally peer	Ming Wu Department of Costaniatesting Sugary, Vue Chang Contas Hegnital Vueshang
reviewed.	044000 Shawi Brovince, China
Peer-review model: Single blind	044000, Shalixi Flovince, China
reer-review model. Snigle blind	Bing-Zhi Wang, Li-Yan Xue, Department of Pathology, National Cancer Center/National Clinical
Peer-review report's scientific	Research Center/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union
quality classification	Medical College, Beijing 100021, China
Grade A (Excellent): A	
Grade B (Very good): B, B	Lin rang, Department of Medical Oncology, National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research
Grade C (Good): 0	Center/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical
Grade D (Fair): D, D, D	College, Beijing 100021, China
Grade E (Poor): 0	Jian-Song Ren, Office of Cancer Screening, National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research
P-Reviewer: Liu YO, United States:	Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union
Mishra TS, India; Sempokuya T,	Medical College, Beijing 100021, China
United States; Socea B, Romania	Yi-Bin Xie, Department of Pancreatic and Gastric Surgery, National Cancer Center/National
Dessived I 0.0000	Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Hebei Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical
Received: June 8, 2022	Sciences, Langfang 065001, Hebei Province, China
Peer-review started: June 8, 2022	
First decision: September 2, 2022	Corresponding author: Yi-Bin Xie, MD, Doctor, Department of Pancreatic and Gastric Surgery,
Revised: September 10, 2022	National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese
Accepted: September 23, 2022	Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, No. 17 Panjiayuan South
Article in press: September 23, 2022	Lane, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100021, China. yibinxie_2003@163.com
Published online: October 14, 2022	



Abstract

BACKGROUND

The prognosis of gastric cancer in an advanced stage remains poor. The exact efficacy of the use of intraoperative sustained-release chemotherapy with 5fluorouracil (5-FU) in advanced-stage gastric cancer is still unelucidated.

AIM

To explore the long-term survival benefit of using sustained-release 5-FU implants



in stage II and stage III gastric cancer patients.

METHODS

Patients with gastric cancer in a locally advanced stage and who underwent an R0 radical resection between Jan 2014, to Dec 2016, in this single institution were included. Patients with pathological diagnoses other than adenocarcinoma were excluded. All included patients were grouped according to whether intraoperative sustained-release (SR) chemotherapy with 5-FU was used or not (NSR). The primary end-point was 5-year overall survival. Kaplan-Meier method with logrank test was used to analyze the overall survival of patients and Cox analysis was used to analyze prognosis factors of these patients.

RESULTS

In total, there were 563 patients with gastric cancer with locally advanced stage, who underwent an R0 radical resection. 309 patients were included in the final analysis. 219 (70.9%) were men, with an average age of 58.25 years. Furthermore, 56 (18.1%) received neoadjuvant chemotherapy, and 191 (61.8%) were in TNM stage III. In addition, 158 patients received intraoperative sustainedrelease chemotherapy with 5-FU and were included in the SR group, while the other 161 patients were included in the NSR group. The overall complication rate was 12.94% in the whole group and 10.81%, 16.46% in SR and NSR groups, respectively. There were no significant differences between the two groups in overall survival and complication rate (P > 0.05). The multivariate cox analysis indicated that only N Stage and neoadjuvant therapy were independent influencing factors of survival.

CONCLUSION

Intraoperative sustained-release chemotherapy usage with 5-FU, did not improve the survival of patients who underwent an R0 radical resection in locally advanced stage of gastric cancer.

Key Words: Sustained-release 5-fluorouracil implants; Gastric cancer; 5-year survival rate; Safety; Prognostic factor; R0 radical resection

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Intraoperative drug administration shows promise in preventing the recurrence of gastric cancer. Sustained-release 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) implant is a new convenient and continuous drug release method that ensures locally high drug concentration for approximately 1 mo. 5-FU implants are widely used to treat various gastric tumors. However, presently, only retrospective research and a small-scale clinical study conducted in China have reported on its use in patients with gastric cancer. In our real-world study, we collected complete datasets, making this the largest study in China. Unfortunately, 5-FU implants did not improve the long-term survival of gastric cancer patients.

Citation: Wu YZ, Wu M, Zheng XH, Wang BZ, Xue LY, Ding SK, Yang L, Ren JS, Tian YT, Xie YB. No longterm survival benefit with sustained-release 5-fluorouracil implants in patients with stages II and III gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28(38): 5589-5601

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5589.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5589

INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer is the fifth most common newly diagnosed cancer and the third most common cause of cancer mortality worldwide[1-3]. In China, there are approximately 400000 new patients with gastric cancer, and nearly 300000 people die of gastric cancer every year[4]. At present, locally advanced gastric cancer with the American Joint Committee on Cancer TNM stages II and III accounts for the majority of these cases[5]. For locally-advanced gastric cancer patients, the current standard treatment is D2 gastrectomy, followed by adjuvant chemotherapy [6]. However, even in those who received standard treatment, 30–60% of them may relapse either locally or distantly^[7].

Patients with stages II and III gastric cancer have been found to have a tendency to relapse after treatment[8]. According to the findings of a study by Yago et al[9], the 5-year recurrence-free survival rate was 88.3% for stage IIA, 73.8% for stage IIB, 67.4% for stage IIIA, 55.7% for stage IIIB, and 29.9% for stage IIIC. Of the three major recurrence patterns namely hematogenous, peritoneal, and lymph nodal



recurrences after curative gastrectomy, the latter two account for the majority of the cases [10-13]. In order to decrease local recurrence after resection, methods, such as extended peritoneal lavage^[14], hyperthermic intraperitoneal perfusion chemotherapy[15], peritoneal lavage with 5-FU, and continuous intraperitoneal chemotherapy using a retained tube or pump, have been developed[16]. Furthermore, it has been reported that intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy can reduce the mortality risk[17]. In addition, increasing the temperature of chemotherapeutic drugs has a synergistic effect with the increase of intraperitoneal chemotherapy. The CYTO-CHIP study group reported that compared with the routine method of cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, it can improve median overall survival time and increase the 3-and 5-year overall survival rates [18]. In another study, the use of catheter-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy showed similar results of increased the 5-year overall survival rate and reduced the peritoneal recurrence rate [19]. The use of sustained-release 5-FU implants intraoperatively is a relatively newly developed method and has been used widely in almost all types of digestive tract cancer in China^[20]. When this drug was placed intraoperatively into the tumor bed, it was released continuously, and it maintained a locally high drug concentration for approximately 1 mo[21]. The potential remnant tumor tends to grow quickly in the first year after resection owing to the decreased immunity and absence of adjuvant chemotherapy[9]. This is the theoretical basis for the use of sustained-release 5-FU implants.

Moreover, optimistic results concerning the use of sustained-release 5-FU implants in the treatment of gastric cancer have been shown. Recently, a multi-center, randomized, open-label, controlled clinical study showed that for cTNM stage III gastric cancer patients, the use of intraoperative 5-FU implants, combined with postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy, may reduce the risk of peritoneal recurrence and prolong progression-free survival significantly[22]. Another retrospective study with 5-FU implants in advanced gastric cancer patients showed that the use of 5-FU implants may improve 5-years overall survival (OS) and progression-free survival rates after surgery in gastric cancer patients[21]. However, these studies had limitations. The sample size of these studies was limited, the follow-up times were insufficient, and the rate of loss of follow-up was extremely high. In order to explore the long-term survival benefit of the use of sustained-release 5-FU implants, we conducted a real-world study using our own clinical data from a single institution.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data Collection and Primary Outcomes

In total, we treated 563 stages II and III gastric cancer patients between January 2014 and December 2016. The inclusion criteria were the presence of clinical TNM stage II and stage III, pathologically diagnosed adenocarcinoma of the stomach, a complete record of history, and age between 18-80 years. The exclusion criteria were the presence of gastric remnant cancer, distant metastases, positive peritoneal cytology, palliative resection, and any unsuitable condition for 5-FU chemotherapy. The primary clinical outcome was 5-year OS. Information on the patients' age, sex, body mass index, tumor (TNM Stage, Borrmann classification, Lauren classification, pathological classification, differentiation, number of resected lymph nodes, number of positive lymph nodes, as well as the extent of nerve invasion, and presence of a vascular tumor thrombus), treatment (resections, neoadjuvant therapy, and use of 5-FU implants), postoperative complications (pulmonary infections, anastomotic fistulas, bleeding, abdominal infections, intestinal obstructions, and admissions to the intensive care unit), and their follow-up results were extracted from our hospital's electronic records.

Treatment methods

All our patients underwent a standard D2 gastric resection with or without neoadjuvant therapy. In addition, all the patients received 6-8 cycles of adjuvant chemotherapy with an S-1 + oxaliplatin regimen. In the sustained-release (SR) group, sustained-release 5-FU implants in a fixed dosage of 1000 mg were placed intraoperatively near the tumor bed after resection. Other patients were divided into non-sustained-release (NSR) group. The placement of 5-FU implants near vessels and anastomotic stoma should be avoided.

Statistical analyses

The continuous variables were presented as central tendencies (means or medians) and dispersions (standard deviations or interquartile ranges). For the group comparisons of the numeric variables, the Student's t-test was used when the data were normally distributed, and the Mann-Whitney test for the variables in which distribution was not normal. When the categorical predictors were compared between the groups, we used Pearson's χ^2 test or Fisher's exact test. The survival analysis included the use of the Kaplan-Meier estimator for OS. A Cox regression analysis was performed to obtain the crude and adjusted hazard ratios for OS. Significance level for all tests was reached when the two-tailed P value was < 0.05. Statistical analyzes were performed using the IBM SPSS Statistics (version 26.0, IBM Inc., Armonk, NY, United States), and Prism software (version 9, GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, United States).



RESULTS

Clinicopathological characteristics

In total, 241 patients with incomplete data and 13 patients with a pathological diagnosis of gastric neuroendocrine tumor were excluded. Finally, 309 patients were included in this study, and they were divided into two groups according to whether sustained-release 5-FU was used or not. Therefore, there were 158 patients in the SR group and 164 patients in the NSR group (Figure 1).

The average age of the whole group was 58.25 ± 11.2 years, with male patients being the majority (70.9%). All the patients were diagnosed pathologically as having a stomach adenocarcinoma of TNM stages II and III. Furthermore, 32.4% of patients had signet ring cell carcinoma. All of the patients underwent an R0 resection surgery. As shown in Table 1, we compared the differences in the clinicopathological characteristics between the two patient cohorts. There were no significant differences between the two groups with respect to age, sex, body mass index, and TNM stage. Similarly, there were no differences between the two groups with respect to their pathological characteristics such as the Borrmann classification, Lauren classification, and differentiation. Although the number of resected lymph nodes in the SR group was higher than that in the NSR (P = 0.0145), the number of positive lymph nodes number was similar (P = 0.2319). Lymph node dissection was satisfactory in both groups, even though there was a gap between the two groups (Table 1).

Postoperative complications in patients

Table 2 shows the major postoperative complications, such as pulmonary inflections, anastomotic fistulas, postoperative bleeding, abdominal infections, and intestinal obstructions. There were no significant differences between the two groups with respect to the incidence of postoperative complications (P > 0.05).

Prognostic factors in gastric cancer patients

Figure 2 shows the results of the univariate and multivariate Cox analyses. From the univariate analysis, N stage (P < 0.001), T stage (P = 0.001), TNM stage (P < 0.001) neoadjuvant therapy (P < 0.001), Borrmann classification (P = 0.001), and resection type (P = 0.002) were found to be influencing prognostic factors in this group of patients. As per the multivariate Cox analysis, only N stage (P =0.030) and neoadjuvant therapy were found to be independent influencing prognostic factors (Figure 2 and Table 3). The use of sustained-release 5-FU implants was not an independent influencing prognostic factor in this group (P = 0.786).

Survival outcomes

The 5-years OS rate of the SR and NSR groups were 68.2% and 67.9%, respectively (P = 0.9850). The median survival time for both groups was not obtained, as patient mortality numbers were too low to calculate. Furthermore, we performed subgroup comparisons according to the patient's age, sex, and TNM stage. There were no significant differences in any of the subgroups (P > 0.05) (Figures 3 and 4, Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Gastric cancer remains one of the most lethal cancers in China[23,24]. Almost 70% of the relapses occur within 2 years and more than 90% within 5 years [7,25]. In clinical practice, the recurrence patterns are classified as locoregional, peritoneal, and hematogenous. As reported by Wu, approximately all of the recurrences (99.5%) occurred within 7 years after the surgery, with 53.5% having had peritoneal dissemination, 43.3% hematogenous metastases, and 28.6% distant lymphatic spread[26]. The locoregional and peritoneal recurrences, which usually occur in gastric cancer patients, were found to be a critical problem. Peritoneal recurrence has been reported as the most common recurrence pattern in locally advanced gastric cancer patients, which accounts for 50% of the cases and occurs within 2 years after surgery^[27]. In another study, almost 60% of the gastric cancer patients experienced a recurrence, which included 32.4% locoregional recurrences, 13.7% peritoneal metastases, and 44.3% distant metastases[28].

To reduce locoregional recurrences, intraperitoneal chemotherapy has been used widely worldwide. Different from other methods, the use of intraoperative sustained-release 5-FU is promising because of the convenient usage and a long effective time of approximately 1 mo. The use of sustained-release 5-FU implants has shown survival benefits in different types of digestive system tumors such as colon cancer and primary hepatic cellular cancer [29,30]. Furthermore, a few studies on the treatment of gastric cancer, which showed similar results, were also reported by Chinese researchers [21,22]. However, P values of survival benefits obtained in previous studies on gastric cancer were lower, but close to 0.05. Therefore, we conducted this real-world study to confirm the findings.

In the present study, the use of sustained-release 5-FU implants did not improve the long-term survival of gastric cancer patients with either TNM stage II or III. The estimated 5-year survival of patients with gastric cancer with TNM stage III in SR and NSR group was 50% and 49%, respectively (P



Table 1 Clinicopathological characteristics of different gastric cancer group							
	SR group (<i>n</i> = 148)	NSR group (<i>n</i> =161)	P value				
Age (yr)	57.15 ± 10.71	59.27 ± 11.52	0.2917				
Gender, <i>n</i> (%)			0.781				
Male	106 (71.6)	113 (70.2)					
Female	42 (28.4)	48 (29.8)					
BMI (kg/m ²)	23.97 ± 3.591	23.68 ± 3.488	0.9716				
Neoadjuvant therapy, <i>n</i> (%)			0.52				
Yes	29 (19.6)	27 (16.8)					
No	119 (80.4)	134 (83.2)					
Cardiovascular disease, n (%)			0.503				
Yes	32 (21.6)	40 (24.8)					
No	116 (78.4)	121 (75.2)					
Diabetes, <i>n</i> (%)			0.093				
Yes	10 (6.8)	20 (12.4)					
No	138 (93.2)	141 (87.6)					
T stage, <i>n</i> (%)			0.699				
T1 and T2	23 (15.5)	21 (13.0)					
T3 and T4	96 (64.9)	113 (70.2)					
yp T1 and T2	5 (3.4)	3 (1.9)					
yp T3 and T4	24 (16.2)	24 (14.9)					
N stage, <i>n</i> (%)			0.533				
N0 and N1	44 (29.7)	51 (31.7)					
N2 and N3	75 (50.7)	83 (51.6)					
yp N0 and yp N1	11 (7.4)	15 (9.3)					
yp N2 and yp N3	18 (12.2)	12 (7.5)					
M stage, <i>n</i> (%)			> 0.999				
M0	148 (100.00)	161 (100)					
TNM stage, <i>n</i> (%)			0.91				
Stage II	57 (38.5)	61 (37.9)					
Stage III	91 (61.5)	100 (62.1)					
Borrmann classification, n (%)			0.207				
Superficial type	3 (2.0)	1 (0.6)					
Type I	10 (6.8)	9 (5.6)					
Type II	41 (27.7)	36 (22.4)					
Type III	73 (49.3)	78 (48.4)					
Type IV	2 (1.4)	9 (5.6)					
NA	19 (12.8)	28 (17.4)					
Lauren classification, n (%)			0.782				
Intestinal type	42 (28.4)	48 (29.8)					
Diffuse type	64 (43.2)	69 (42.9)					
Mixed type	34 (23.0)	39 (24.2)					
NA	8 (5.4)	5 (3.1)					



Differentiation, n (%)			0.666
Low	88 (59.5)	91 (56.5)	
Low-medium	36 (24.3)	39 (24.2)	
Medium	19 (12.8)	26 (16.1)	
Medium-high and high	2 (1.4)	4 (2.5)	
NA	3 (2.0)	1 (0.6)	
Nerve invasion, <i>n</i> (%)			0.26
Yes	73 (49.3)	92 (57.1)	
No	24 (16.2)	27 (16.8)	
NA	51 (34.5)	42 (26.1)	
Vascular tumor thrombus, n (%)			0.23
Yes	57 (38.5)	57 (38.5)	
No	40 (27.0)	54 (33.5)	
NA	51 (34.5)	42 (26.1)	
Pathological classification, n (%)			0.481
Signet-ring cell carcinoma	45 (30.4)	55 (34.2)	
Another adenocarcinoma	103 (69.6)	106 (65.8)	
Resection type, <i>n</i> (%)			0.057
Total gastrectomy	53 (35.8)	54 (33.5)	
Proximal gastrectomy	7 (4.7)	20 (12.4)	
Distal gastrectomy	88 (59.5)	87 (54.0)	
R0 resection	148 (100.00)	161 (100)	> 0.999
Resected lymph nodes number	39.21 ± 14.13	35.73 ± 13.53	0.0145
Positive lymph nodes number	7.393 ± 8.864	6.856 ± 9.743	0.2319

SR: Sustained-release; NSR: Not sustained-release; BMI: Body mass index; NA: Not available.

Table 2 Postoperative complications in patients							
	SR group (<i>n</i> = 148), <i>n</i> (%)	NSR group (<i>n</i> = 161), <i>n</i> (%)	P value				
Pulmonary infection	3 (2.0)	6 (3.8)	0.583				
Anastomotic fistula	6 (4.0)	6 (3.8)	0.882				
Postoperative bleeding	1 (0.7)	3 (1.9)	0.675				
Abdominal infection	3 (2.0)	9 (5.6)	0.105				
Intestinal obstruction	3 (2.0)	1 (0.6)	0.556				

SR: Sustained-release; NSR: Not sustained-release.

= 0.775), slightly higher than that of previous studies[31,32]. This may have been due to the R0 radical resection decreasing the risk of local-regional recurrence and compromising the effects of the sustainedrelease drug. Therefore, we may hypothesize that in cases of incomplete resections, such as an R1 resection, or if the lymph node dissection did not reach the D2 resection standard, the use of a sustained-release drug may improve survival. Previous results of drug use in the treatment of unresectable tumors, such as pancreatic cancer and colorectal cancer, provided evidence for this hypothesis[33].

Similar to the findings of previous studies, the use of the sustained-release 5-FU implants did not increase postoperative complications, and systemic toxicity was rare in the present study. The use of 5-FU implants is usually recommended in gastric cancer patients, particularly at TNM stage T4 or N1-3

Baishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Univariate and multivariate Cox analysis of patients						
	Univariate analysis			Multivariate analysis		
Characteristics	HR	95%CI	P value	HR	95%CI	P value
Gender						
Male	Reference					
Female	1.058	0.712-1.572	0.781			
Age, yr						
< 60	Reference					
≥60	1.03	0.717-1.481	0.872			
Neoadjuvant therapy						
No	Reference					
Yes	2.188	1.448-3.306	< 0.001	2.118	1.194-3.759	0.01
BMI						
Normal < 24	Reference					
Abnormal ≥ 24	0.752	0.516-1.098	0.14			
Cardiovascular disease						
No	Reference					
Yes	0.943	0.606-1.467	0.794			
Diabetes						
No	Reference					
Yes	0.891	0.479-1.658	0.715			
Drug administration						
No	Reference					
Yes	1.052	0.731-1.513	0.786			
Resection type						
Total gastrectomy	Reference					
Partial gastrectomy	0.558	0.387-0.804	0.002	0.663	0.428-1.027	0.066
Borrmann classification						
Superficial type, Type I and II	Reference					
Type III and IV	2.203	1.378-3.522	0.001	1.562	0.951-2.566	0.078
Lauren classification						
Intestinal type	Reference					
Others	1.158	0.762-1.762	0.492			
Differentiation type						
Low	Reference					
Others	0.874	0.535-1.430	0.593			
TNM stage						
Stage II	Reference					
Stage III	3.12	1.977-4.926	< 0.001	1.315	0.561-3.084	0.528
T stage						
T1 and T2	Reference					
T3 and T4	3.382	1.649-6.937	0.001	1.9	0.777-4.645	0.159
N stage						



Wu YZ et al. 5-FU implants would not extent overall survival

N0 and N1	Reference					
N2 and N3	2.516	1.636-3.869	< 0.001	2.224	1.082-4.572	0.03
Signet-ring cell carcinoma						
Yes	Reference					
No	1.188	0.736-1.916	0.481			
Nerve invasion						
No	Reference					
Yes	1.703	0.938-3.093	0.08			
Vascular tumor thrombus						
No	Reference					
Yes	1.099	0.701-1.722	0.681			

HR: Hazard ratio; CI: Confidence interval; BMI: Body mass index.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5589 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Flowchart of the selection of gastric cancer patients. 5-FU: 5-fluorouracil; NSR: Non-sustained-release.

[34]. In our study, the selection criteria were based on preoperative image examinations. Patients treated with 5-FU implants were in stage II and III, which is in accordance with the recommendations from the Chinese expert consensus[34].

Our study had some limitations. First, the sample size was insufficient. However, to date it remains the largest group studied. Second, selection biases existed. Many patients had incomplete history records, which may have contributed to a contrary result. Finally, the exact relapse time and the first site of recurrence were recorded incompletely. Owing to a lack of analysis of the relapses, the results were compromised. In order to understand the survival benefit of the sustained-release 5-FU plants on gastric cancer, a randomized controlled large-scale study is needed.

CONCLUSION

While the use of intraoperative sustained-release chemotherapy with 5-FU did not improve the survival of patients in an advanced stage of gastric cancer who underwent an R0 radical resection, it was a safe method, and it did not increase the complication rate.



Wu YZ et al. 5-FU implants would not extent overall survival

3 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5589 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

2

Figure 2 Univariate and Multivariate Cox analyses of prognostic factors of 5-year survival in this group. N stage (N0 and N1 vs N2 and N3), T stage (T1 and T2 vs T3 and T4), TNM stage (stage II and stage III), surgery type (Total gastrectomy vs Partial gastrectomy), Neoadjuvant therapy (No vs Yes) and Borrmann classification (Superficial Type, Type I and Type II vs Type III and Type IV) are the prognosis factor of gastric cancer patients.

4

0.066

0.010a

0.078

5

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Resection type Neoadjuvant therapy

6

Borrmann classification



Figure 3 Survival Outcomes in gastric cancer patients. A: Overall survival analysis in all gastric cancer patients; B: Overall survival analysis in stage II gastric cancer patients; C: Overall survival analysis in stage III gastric cancer patients. NSR: Non-sustained-release.



Figure 4 Survival analysis in the age and gender subgroups. A: Survival analysis in male gastric cancer patients; B: Survival analysis in female gastric cancer patients; C: Survival analysis in gastric cancer patients less than 60 years old; D: Survival analysis in gastric cancer patients is mor than 60 years old. NSR: Non-sustained-release.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The prognosis of gastric cancer in an advanced stage remains poor. The exact efficacy of the use of intraoperative sustained-release chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) in advanced-stage gastric cancer is still unelucidated.

Research motivation

To explore the long-term survival benefit of using sustained-release 5-FU implants in stage II and stage III gastric cancer patients.

Research objectives

To explore the long-term survival benefit of using sustained-release 5-FU implants in stage II and stage III gastric cancer patients.

Research methods

All included patients were grouped according to whether intraoperative sustained-release (SR) chemotherapy with 5-FU was used or not (NSR). The primary end-point was 5-year overall survival. Kaplan-Meier method with log-rank test was used to analyze the overall survival of patients and Cox analysis was used to analyze prognosis factors of these patients.

Research results

309 patients were included in the final analysis. In addition, 158 patients received intraoperative sustained-release chemotherapy with 5-FU and were included in the SR group, while the other 161 patients were included in the NSR group. The overall complication rate was 12.94% in the whole group and 10.81%, 16.46% in SR and NSR groups, respectively. There were no significant differences between the two groups in overall survival and complication rate (P > 0.05).

Research conclusions

Intraoperative sustained-release chemotherapy usage with 5-FU, did not improve the survival of patients who underwent an R0 radical resection in locally advanced stage of gastric cancer.

Research perspectives

5-FU implants did not improve survival.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wu YZ and Xie YB contributed to the manuscript writing; Wu YZ, Zheng XH, Ming Wu, and Ding SK contributed to the data collection; Wu YZ and Ren JS contributed to the data analysis; Wang BZ and Xue LY contributed to the pathological diagnosis; Xie YB, Tian YT, and Yang L contributed to the clinical treatment and manuscript modification; all the authors contributed to the manuscript and approved the submitted version.

Supported by the CAMS Initiative for Innovative Medicine, No. 2016-I2M-1-007.

Institutional review board statement: This study was approved by the ethics committee of the National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, and Peking Union Medical College.

Informed consent statement: Informed consent from patients was waived by the ethics committee of the National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, and Peking Union Medical College.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement – checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yun-Zi Wu 0000-0002-8254-8998; Ming Wu 0000-0002-1172-1351; Xiao-Hao Zheng 0000-0002-0282-1684; Bing-Zhi Wang 0000-0001-9622-7151; Li-Yan Xue 0000-0001-5185-0126; Shi-Kang Ding 0000-0001-5578-2845; Lin Yang 0000-0002-4829-3119; Jian-Song Ren 0000-0002-6445-0153; Yan-Tao Tian 0000-0001-6479-7547; Yi-Bin Xie 0000-0002-0255-3018.

S-Editor: Wu YXJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang XD

REFERENCES

- 1 Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71: 209-249 [PMID: 33538338 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21660]
- Wong MCS, Huang J, Chan PSF, Choi P, Lao XQ, Chan SM, Teoh A, Liang P. Global Incidence and Mortality of Gastric 2



Cancer, 1980-2018. JAMA Netw Open 2021; 4: e2118457 [PMID: 34309666 DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.18457]

- 3 Lin Y, Zheng Y, Wang HL, Wu J. Global Patterns and Trends in Gastric Cancer Incidence Rates (1988-2012) and Predictions to 2030. Gastroenterology 2021; 161: 116-127.e8 [PMID: 33744306 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.03.023]
- Zheng R, Zhang S, Zeng H, Wang S, Sun K, Chen R, Li L, Wei W, He J. Cancer incidence and mortality in China, 2016. Guojia Aizheng Zhongxin Zazhi 2022 [DOI: 10.1016/j.jncc.2022.02.002]
- Sano T, Coit DG, Kim HH, Roviello F, Kassab P, Wittekind C, Yamamoto Y, Ohashi Y. Proposal of a new stage grouping of gastric cancer for TNM classification: International Gastric Cancer Association staging project. Gastric Cancer 2017; 20: 217-225 [PMID: 26897166 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-016-0601-9]
- 6 Wang FH, Zhang XT, Li YF, Tang L, Qu XJ, Ying JE, Zhang J, Sun LY, Lin RB, Qiu H, Wang C, Qiu MZ, Cai MY, Wu Q, Liu H, Guan WL, Zhou AP, Zhang YJ, Liu TS, Bi F, Yuan XL, Rao SX, Xin Y, Sheng WQ, Xu HM, Li GX, Ji JF, Zhou ZW, Liang H, Zhang YQ, Jin J, Shen L, Li J, Xu RH. The Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology (CSCO): Clinical guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of gastric cancer, 2021. Cancer Commun (Lond) 2021; 41: 747-795 [PMID: 34197702 DOI: 10.1002/cac2.12193]
- 7 Li JH, Zhang SW, Liu J, Shao MZ, Chen L. Review of clinical investigation on recurrence of gastric cancer following curative resection. Chin Med J (Engl) 2012; 125: 1479-1495 [PMID: 22613657]
- Nakauchi M, Vos E, Tang LH, Gonen M, Janjigian YY, Ku GY, Ilson DH, Maron SB, Yoon SS, Brennan MF, Coit DG, 8 Strong VE. Outcomes of Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy for Clinical Stages 2 and 3 Gastric Cancer Patients: Analysis of Timing and Site of Recurrence. Ann Surg Oncol 2021; 28: 4829-4838 [PMID: 33566242 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-021-09624-5
- 9 Yago A, Haruta S, Ueno M, Hamada Y, Ogawa Y, Ohkura Y, Urabe M, Udagawa H. Adequate period of surveillance in each stage for curatively resected gastric cancer: analyzing the time and rates of recurrence. Gastric Cancer 2021; 24: 752-761 [PMID: 33400037 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-020-01147-4]
- Roviello F, Marrelli D, De Manzoni G, Morgagni P, Di Leo A, Saragoni L, De Stefano A. Prospective study of peritoneal recurrence after curative surgery for gastric cancer. Br J Surg 2003; 90: 1113-1119
- Yoo CH, Noh SH, Shin DW, Choi SH, Min JS. Recurrence following curative resection for gastric carcinoma. Br J Surg 11 2000; **87**: 236-242 [PMID: 10671934 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2168.2000.01360.x]
- 12 Nakanishi Y, Ohara M, Domen H, Shichinohe T, Hirano S, Ishizaka M. Differences in risk factors between patterns of recurrence in patients after curative resection for advanced gastric carcinoma. World J Surg Oncol 2013; 11: 98 [PMID: 23683476 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7819-11-98]
- 13 D'Angelica M, Gonen M, Brennan MF, Turnbull AD, Bains M, Karpeh MS. Patterns of initial recurrence in completely resected gastric adenocarcinoma. Ann Surg 2004; 240: 808-816 [PMID: 15492562 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000143245.28656.15
- Li S, Li L, Tan B, Wang J, Xue S. The benefits of surgery plus extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage (EIPL) for 14 patients with gastric cancer compared with surgery alone: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Updates Surg 2022; 74: 65-72 [PMID: 34170498 DOI: 10.1007/s13304-021-01120-5]
- 15 Zhang JF, Lv L, Zhao S, Zhou Q, Jiang CG. Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) Combined with Surgery: A 12-Year Meta-Analysis of this Promising Treatment Strategy for Advanced Gastric Cancer at Different Stages. Ann Surg Oncol 2022; 29: 3170-3186 [PMID: 35175455 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-021-11316-z]
- 16 Joshi SS, Badgwell BD. Current treatment and recent progress in gastric cancer. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71: 264-279 [PMID: 33592120 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21657]
- Huang JY, Xu YY, Sun Z, Zhu Z, Song YX, Guo PT, You Y, Xu HM. Comparison different methods of intraoperative and 17 intraperitoneal chemotherapy for patients with gastric cancer: a meta-analysis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2012; 13: 4379-4385 [PMID: 23167347 DOI: 10.7314/apjcp.2012.13.9.4379]
- 18 Bonnot PE, Piessen G, Kepenekian V, Decullier E, Pocard M, Meunier B, Bereder JM, Abboud K, Marchal F, Quenet F, Goere D, Msika S, Arvieux C, Pirro N, Wernert R, Rat P, Gagnière J, Lefevre JH, Courvoisier T, Kianmanesh R, Vaudoyer D, Rivoire M, Meeus P, Passot G, Glehen O; FREGAT and BIG-RENAPE Networks. Cytoreductive Surgery With or Without Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Gastric Cancer With Peritoneal Metastases (CYTO-CHIP study): A Propensity Score Analysis. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 2028-2040 [PMID: 31084544 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.18.01688]
- 19 Kwon OK, Chung HY, Yu W. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for macroscopically serosa-invading gastric cancer patients. Cancer Res Treat 2014; 46: 270-279 [PMID: 25038762 DOI: 10.4143/crt.2014.46.3.270]
- 20 Li L, Li C, Zhou J. Effective sustained release of 5-FU-loaded PLGA implant for improving therapeutic index of 5-FU in colon tumor. Int J Pharm 2018; 550: 380-387 [PMID: 30040972 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.07.045]
- Ge J, Liu T, Lei T, Li X, Song K, Azizi S, Liu H, Tang M. Retrospective Cohort Study of Intraoperative Administration of 21 Sustained-Release 5-Fluorouracil Implants in Advanced Gastric Cancer Patients. Front Pharmacol 2021; 12: 659258 [PMID: 33927633 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2021.659258]
- 22 Xu Y, Zhang R, Li C, Sun Z, Deng J, Wang X, Ding X, Wang B, Xue Q, Ke B, Zhan H, Liu N, Liu Y, Liang H, Xue Y, Xu H. Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy Using Fluorouracil Implants Combined With Radical Resection and Postoperative Adjuvant Chemotherapy for Stage III Gastric Cancer: A Multi-Center, Randomized, Open-Label, Controlled Clinical Study. Front Oncol 2021; 11: 670651 [PMID: 34307140 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.670651]
- Gao K, Wu J. National trend of gastric cancer mortality in China (2003-2015): a population-based study. Cancer Commun 23 (Lond) 2019; **39**: 24 [PMID: 31046840 DOI: 10.1186/s40880-019-0372-x]
- 24 Zeng H, Ran X, An L, Zheng R, Zhang S, Ji JS, Zhang Y, Chen W, Wei W, He J; HBCR Working Group. Disparities in stage at diagnosis for five common cancers in China: a multicentre, hospital-based, observational study. Lancet Public Health 2021; 6: e877-e887 [PMID: 34838194 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00157-2]
- Smyth EC, Nilsson M, Grabsch HI, van Grieken NC, Lordick F. Gastric cancer. Lancet 2020; 396: 635-648 [DOI: 25 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31288-5
- 26 Wu CW, Lo SS, Shen KH, Hsieh MC, Chen JH, Chiang JH, Lin HJ, Li AF, Lui WY. Incidence and factors associated with recurrence patterns after intended curative surgery for gastric cancer. World J Surg 2003; 27: 153-158 [PMID: 12616428 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-002-6279-71



- 27 Maehara Y, Hasuda S, Koga T, Tokunaga E, Kakeji Y, Sugimachi K. Postoperative outcome and sites of recurrence in patients following curative resection of gastric cancer. Br J Surg 2000; 87: 353-357 [PMID: 10718807 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2168.2000.01358.x]
- 28 Liu D, Lu M, Li J, Yang Z, Feng Q, Zhou M, Zhang Z, Shen L. The patterns and timing of recurrence after curative resection for gastric cancer in China. World J Surg Oncol 2016; 14: 305 [PMID: 27931221 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-016-1042-y]
- Yuan H, Zheng B, Tu S. Clinical research of intraperitoneal implantation of sustained-release 5-fluorouracil in advanced 29 colorectal cancer. World J Surg Oncol 2015; 13: 320 [PMID: 26596801 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-015-0737-9]
- 30 Chen J, Zhang J, Wang C, Yao K, Hua L, Zhang L, Ren X. Safety of implanting sustained-release 5-fluorouracil into hepatic cross-section and omentum majus after primary liver cancer resection. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 2016; 29: 475-479 [PMID: 27207445 DOI: 10.1177/0394632016648176]
- 31 Liang Y, Zhao L, Chen H, Lin T, Chen T, Zhao M, Hu Y, Yu J, Liu H, Li G. Survival analysis of elderly patients over 65 years old with stage II/III gastric cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy after laparoscopic D2 gastrectomy: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Cancer 2021; 21: 196 [PMID: 33632161 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-021-07919-0]
- 32 Huang H, Wang W, Chen Z, Jin JJ, Long ZW, Cai H, Liu XW, Zhou Y, Wang YN. Prognostic factors and survival in patients with gastric stump cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 1865-1871 [PMID: 25684953 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1865
- Shim IK, Yi HJ, Yi HG, Lee CM, Lee YN, Choi YJ, Jeong SY, Jun E, Hoffman RM, Cho DW, Kim SC. Locally-applied 33 5-fluorouracil-loaded slow-release patch prevents pancreatic cancer growth in an orthotopic mouse model. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 40140-40151 [PMID: 28498800 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.17370]
- 34 Chen HQ, Gong JP, He YL, Huang CM, Liang H, Meng XL, Xu HM, Xue YW, Yan M, Zhou ZW. Expert consensus on intraoperative regional sustained-release chemotherapy for advanced gastric cancer. Zhonghua Wichang Waike Zazhi 2012; 15: 981-983



WO

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5602-5613

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5602

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study

Timing of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in the treatment of acute cholangitis of different severity

Yao-Chi Huang, Chi-Huan Wu, Mu Hsien Lee, Sheng Fu Wang, Yung-Kuan Tsou, Cheng-Hui Lin, Kai-Feng Sung, Nai-Jen Liu

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Isogai M, Japan; Liao JX, China

Received: June 27, 2022 Peer-review started: June 27, 2022 First decision: August 1, 2022 Revised: August 12, 2022 Accepted: September 23, 2022 Article in press: September 23, 2022 Published online: October 14, 2022



Yao-Chi Huang, Yung-Kuan Tsou, Department of Medicine, College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan

Chi-Huan Wu, Mu Hsien Lee, Sheng Fu Wang, Yung-Kuan Tsou, Cheng-Hui Lin, Kai-Feng Sung, Nai-Jen Liu, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan

Corresponding author: Yung-Kuan Tsou, MD, Associate Professor, Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, No. 5 Fu-Shin Street, Kweishan, Taoyuan 333, Taiwan. flying@adm.cgmh.org.tw

Abstract

BACKGROUND

The optimal timing of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) in acute cholangitis (AC) is uncertain, especially in patients with AC of varying severity.

AIM

To report whether the timing of ERCP is associated with outcomes in AC patients with different severities.

METHODS

According to the 2018 Tokyo guidelines, 683 patients who met the definite diagnostic criteria for AC were retrospectively identified. The results were first compared between patients receiving ERCP \leq 24 h and > 24 h and then between patients receiving ERCP ≤ 48 h and > 48 h. Subgroup analyses were performed in patients with grade I, II or III AC. The primary outcome was 30-d mortality. Secondary outcomes were intensive care unit (ICU) admission rate, length of hospital stay (LOHS) and 30-d readmission rate.

RESULTS

Taking 24 h as the critical value, compared with ERCP > 24 h, malignant biliary obstruction as a cause of AC was significantly less common in the ERCP \leq 24 h group (5.2% vs 11.5%). The proportion of cardiovascular dysfunction (11.2% vs 2.6%), respiratory dysfunction (14.2% vs 5.3%), and ICU admission (11.2% vs 4%) in the ERCP \leq 24 h group was significantly higher, while the LOHS was significantly shorter (median, 6 d vs 7 d). Stratified by the severity of AC, higher ICU



admission was only observed in grade III AC and shorter LOHS was only observed in grade I and II AC. There were no significant differences in 30-d mortality between groups, either in the overall population or in patients with grade I, II or III AC. With 48 h as the critical value, compared with ERCP > 48 h, the proportion of choledocholithiasis as the cause of AC was significantly higher in the ERCP \leq 48 h group (81.5% *vs* 68.3%). The ERCP \leq 48 h group had significantly lower 30-d mortality (0 vs 1.9%) and shorter LOHS (6 d vs 8 d). Stratified by AC severity, lower 30-d mortality (0 vs 6.1%) and higher ICU admission rates (22.2% vs 10.2%) were only observed in grade III AC, and shorter LOHS was only observed in grade I and II AC. In the multivariate analysis, cardiovascular dysfunction and time to ERCP were two independent factors associated with 30-d mortality.

CONCLUSION

 $ERCP \le 48$ h conferred a survival benefit in patients with grade III AC. Early ERCP shortened the LOHS in patients with grade I and II AC.

Key Words: Acute cholangitis; Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; severity; Timing; Thirtyday mortality; Length of hospital stay

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Compared with endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) > 24 h, ERCP ≤ 24 h group had a significantly higher intensive care unit (ICU) admission rate and shorter length of hospital stay (LOHS). Subgroup analysis showed higher ICU admission rate was only in grade III acute cholangitis (AC); shorter LOHS was only in grade II and I AC. Compared with ERCP > 48 h, ERCP \leq 48 h group had significantly lower 30-d mortality and shorter LOHS. Subgroup analysis revealed lower 30-d mortality was only in grade III AC; shorter LOHS was only in grade II and I AC. We concluded that ERCP \leq 48 h conferred a survival benefit in grade III AC; early ERCP shortened LOHS in grade II and I AC.

Citation: Huang YC, Wu CH, Lee MH, Wang SF, Tsou YK, Lin CH, Sung KF, Liu NJ. Timing of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in the treatment of acute cholangitis of different severity. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28(38): 5602-5613

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5602.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5602

INTRODUCTION

Without treatment, patients with acute cholangitis (AC) may progress to septicemia and organ failure resulting in mortality[1,2]. Over the past two decades, endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) has been generally accepted as a first-line treatment for AC[3,4]. Although delayed biliary drainage may not affect the risk of complications in patients who respond well to antibiotics, some patients with AC require early ERCP to avoid (persistent) organ failure or mortality [2,5,6]. Despite consensus on the need for biliary drainage, the optimal timing for early ERCP remains unclear due to mixed results in the literature[7]. Different definitions of early ERCP have been used in the literature, ranging from 12 h to 72 h[2,5,8-11]. The varied definitions among studies have led to inconsistent conclusions. In addition, the definitions of AC are not uniform across studies. More importantly, most studies did not define the timing of ERCP by stratifying the severity of AC[7]. In this context, the recently published Tokyo Guidelines 2018 (TG18) provide not only a diagnosis of AC but also a severity grading, which is important for predicting prognosis and determining treatment strategies[3]. However, although TG18 recommends early or urgent biliary drainage for moderate or severe cholangitis, there is no specific timing for early or urgent ERCP. Therefore, this study aims to investigate whether the timing of ERCP is associated with improved outcomes in AC patients with different severities.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This was a retrospective study conducted at Chang Gung Memorial Hospital Linkou Center. At our center, ERCP has been the first-line of treatment for patients with AC for the past two decades. This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Chang Gung Memorial Hospital (IRB No. 202200881B0). Since this was a retrospective study using routine clinical treatment or diagnostic



medical records, the Chang Gung Medical Foundation Institutional Review Board approved the waiver of the participant's consent. All methods were carried out under relevant guidelines and regulations.

Definition of acute cholangitis

The diagnostic criteria for AC were based on the 2018 Tokyo Guidelines, including systemic inflammation, cholestasis and imaging findings[3]. Systemic inflammation included fever (body temperature > 38 °C) or evidence of an inflammatory response [white blood cell (WBC) count < 4000 or > 10000/ μ L or C-reactive protein ≥ 1 mg/dL]. Cholestasis included jaundice (serum total bilirubin ≥ 2 mg/dL) or abnormal liver function tests (serum alkaline phosphatase, r-glutamyl transferase, aspartate aminotransferase, or alanine aminotransferase > 1.5 times the upper limit of the normal value). Imaging findings included bile duct dilatation or imaging evidence of etiology such as strictures, stones or stents. A definite diagnosis of AC was defined as one item in systemic inflammation, one item in cholestasis and one item in imaging findings.

Definition of the severity of acute cholangitis

AC severity was divided into three grades based on the 2018 Tokyo Guidelines[3]. Grade III (severe) AC was AC associated with the onset of dysfunction in at least one of the following organs/systems: cardiovascular dysfunction (defined as hypotension requiring dopamine $\geq 5 \,\mu g/kg$ per min, or any dose of norepinephrine), neurological dysfunction (presence of conscious disturbance), respiratory dysfunction (defined as PaO₂/FiO₂ ratio < 300), renal dysfunction (oliguria, serum creatinine > 2.0 mg/dL), hepatic dysfunction [defined as prothrombin time-international normalized ratio (PT-INR) > 1.5] or hematological dysfunction (defined as platelet count < 100 × 10³/ μ L). Grade II (moderate) AC was AC associated with any two of the following conditions: abnormal WBC count (> 12000/ μ L or < 4000/ μ L), high fever (\geq 39 °C), old age (\geq 75 years), hyperbilirubinemia (serum total bilirubin \geq 5 mg/dL), or hypoalbuminemia (< lower limit of normal value × 0.7). Grade I (mild) AC was AC that did not meet the criteria of "Grade III" or "Grade II" AC at initial diagnosis.

Definition of time to ERCP

Time to ERCP was defined as the time from the emergency department visit to the commencement of ERCP.

Patient selection and clinical variables

The study flow chart is shown in Figure 1. Between 2016 and 2017, 2121 patients who underwent ERCP in our center were retrospectively collected from the computer database of the Therapeutic Endoscopy Center. The inclusion criteria were patients who met the TG18/TG13 criteria for a definite diagnosis of AC. The exclusion criteria were: (1) Patients who did not meet the criteria for a definite diagnosis of AC; (2) inpatients who developed AC after hospitalization; and (3) patients who received ERCP 7 or more days after an emergency department visit. For patients readmitted for AC during the study period, we included only the first admission and the ERCP procedure.

Medical records were reviewed, and the following data were obtained: sex; age; clinical manifestations, including body temperature, systolic blood pressure, heart rate, saturation, respiratory rate and urine output; laboratory values including WBC count, platelet count, PT-INR, C-reactive protein, creatinine, bilirubin, alkaline phosphatase, r-glutamyl transferase, aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase and albumin; diagnosis and treatment of ERCP, including causes of obstruction (such as stones, malignant strictures or stent dysfunction); and the timing of ERCP.

Outcome assessments

The primary outcome was 30-d mortality. Secondary outcomes were ICU admission rate, length of hospital stay (LOHS) and 30-d readmission rate. The results were first compared for patients receiving ERCP \leq 24 h *vs* > 24 h and then for patients receiving ERCP \leq 48 h *vs* > 48 h. Subgroup analyses were also performed in patients with grade I, II, and III AC.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variable data are represented by the median and interquartile range (IQR); categorical variables are presented as a number (%). For comparisons, the Kruskal-Wallis test was used for continuous variable data and the chi-square test or Fisher's exact test was used for suitable categorical variables. Logistic regression analysis was performed to identify factors associated with 30-d mortality. Only variables with a *P* value < 0.05 in the univariate analysis were included in the multivariate analysis. Two-tailed *P* values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant and *P* values = 0.05 were considered marginally significant. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software (version 22.0; SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, United States).

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5602 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022

Figure 1 Study flow chart. AC: Acute cholangitis; ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.

RESULTS

A total of 683 patients who met the eligibility criteria were included in the study. Among them, there were 170 (24.9%) grade III AC patients, 179 grade II AC patients (26.4%) and 334 grade I AC patients (48.9%).

Patient characteristics

The baseline characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 1. The median (IQR) age of the patients was 66 (53-78) years; 57.2% were male. The median body temperature was 37.5 (36.8-38.4) °C and 58.4% of patients had abnormal WBC counts. The median platelet count was 198×10^3 (148×10^3 -251 \times 10³)/µL. The median serum levels of aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase and alkaline phosphatase were 150 U/L, 166 U/L and 265 U/L, respectively. Serum amylase and lipase data were available for 307 (44.9%) and 487 (71.3%) patients with median levels of 65 U/L and 37 U/L, respectively. The median serum bilirubin level was 3.7 (2.3-6.3) mg/dL and the median creatine level was 0.93 (0.73-1.24) mg/dL. The median PT/INR was 1.1 (1.1-1.2). Only 133 (19.5%) patients had data on serum albumin and the median level was 3.56 (3.05-3.98) g/dL. Twenty-nine (4.2%) patients had cardiovascular dysfunction, 35 (5.1%) patients had neurological dysfunction and 48 (7%) patients had respiratory dysfunction.

Comparisons between ERCP ≤ 24 h and ERCP > 24 h: Compared with ERCP > 24 h, patients with ERCP \leq 24 h had significantly lower body temperature (median, 37.2 °C vs 37.5 °C. P = 0.003), significantly higher serum alanine aminotransferase (median, 194 U/L vs 156 U/L, P = 0.02) and serum creatinine levels (median, 0.96 vs 0.93, P = 0.004), and significantly higher proportions of abnormal WBC counts (70.9% vs 55.4%, P = 0.001), cardiovascular dysfunction (11.2% vs 2.6%, P < 0.001) and respiratory dysfunction (14.2% *vs* 5.3%, *P* < 0.001).

Comparisons between ERCP ≤ 48 h and ERCP > 48 h: Compared with ERCP > 48 h, patients with ERCP \leq 48 h had significantly lower body temperature (median, 37.4 °C vs 37.6 °C, P = 0.009), significantly higher serum alanine aminotransferase levels (median, 188 U/L vs 142 U/L, P = 0.004) and significantly lower PT/INR (median, 1.1 vs 1.2, P = 0.001).

ERCP characteristics and causes of AC

The characteristics of ERCP are listed in Table 2. Causes of AC included common bile duct stones (CBDS, 74.4%), malignant biliary obstruction (MBO, 10.2%), biliary stent dysfunction (8.9%), benign biliary stricture (4.5%) and others (1.9%). ERCP failed in 1% of patients. For patients with successful ERCP, endoscopic treatments during ERCP included endoscopic sphincterotomy (81.7%), endoscopic papillary balloon dilatation (0.7%), bile duct stone retrieval (73.5%), stone-free bile duct clearance (5.4%), removal of old biliary stents (8.8%), insertion of new biliary stents (27.4%), dilation of biliary strictures (1%) and others (0.4%).

Comparisons between ERCP ≤ 24 h and ERCP > 24 h: The median time to ERCP was 17.7 (9.0-20.4) h in the ERCP \leq 24 h group and 67.6 (43.6-98.9) h in the ERCP > 24 h group. Only malignant biliary obstruction as a cause of AC was significantly less common in the ERCP \leq 24 h group (5.2% vs 11.5%, P = 0.032). In the rapeutic ERCP, bile duct stone retrieval was higher in the ERCP \leq 24 h group (80.6% vs 71.8%, P = 0.038) whereas the old biliary stent removal rate was lower (4.5% vs 9.8%, P = 0.049).



Table 1	Charact	eristics of	the pa	tients
---------	---------	-------------	--------	--------

		Time to ERCP di	vided by 24 h		Time to ERCP divided by 48 h		
Patient characteristics	Total, <i>n</i> = 683	ERCP ≤ 24 h, <i>n</i> = 134	ERCP > 24 h, <i>n</i> = 549	<i>P</i> value	ERCP ≤ 48 h, <i>n</i> = 314	ERCP > 48 h, <i>n</i> = 369	P value
Age in yr ¹	66 (53-78)	64 (56-75.5)	66 (52-78)	0.803	65 (54-79)	66 (51-79)	0.518
Male sex, n (%)	391 (57.2)	76 (56.7)	315 (57.4)	0.890	171 (54.5)	220 (59.6)	0.174
Body temperature in $^{\circ}C^{1}$	37.5 (36.8-38.4)	37.2 (36.7-38.1)	37.5 (36.9-38.5)	0.003	37.4 (36.8-38.28)	37.6 (36.9-38.5)	0.009
Abnormal WBC count ² , <i>n</i> (%)	399 (58.4)	95 (70.9)	304 (55.4)	0.001	195 (62.1)	204 (55.3)	0.072
Platelet count as $/\mu L^1$	198 (148-251)	205 (142-256)	196.5 (149-250)	0.806	195 (148-249.8)	200 (148-251.5)	0.844
AST in U/L^1	150 (83-305)	175 (97-406)	145 (80-289)	0.063	164 (95-311)	139 (76-302)	0.08
ALT in U/L ¹	166 (82-300)	194 (118-337)	156 (79-292)	0.02	188 (101-311)	142 (69-277)	0.004
ALK-P in U/L ¹	205 (133-327)	198 (123-321)	209 (133-327)	0.486	190 (123-329)	211 (140-324)	0.208
Amylase in U/L ¹	65 (41-170) (<i>n</i> = 307)	68 (42-634) (<i>n</i> = 66)	65 (40-145) (<i>n</i> = 241)	0.126	68 (41-367) (<i>n</i> = 138)	62 (40-139) (<i>n</i> = 169)	0.118
Lipase in U/L ¹	37 (26-144) (n = 487)	46 (25-1297) (n = 97)	36 (26-99) (<i>n</i> = 390)	0.104	41 (26-339) (<i>n</i> = 232)	35 (26-76) (<i>n</i> = 255)	0.094
Bilirubin in mg/dL ¹	3.7 (2.3-6.3)	4.1 (2.6-5.8)	3.7 (2.3-6.3)	0.395	3.8 (2.4-6.2)	3.7 (2.3-6.5)	0.878
PT/INR ¹	1.1 (1.1-1.2)	1.1 (1.1-1.3)	1.1 (1.1-1.2)	0.685	1.1 (1.1-1.2)	1.2 (1.1-1.3)	0.001
Creatinine in mg/dL^1	0.93 (0.73-1.24)	0.96 (0.78-1.45)	0.93 (0.72-1.20)	0.040	0.95 (0.75-1.28)	0.93 (0.72-1.21)	0.389
Albumin in g/dL^1	3.56 (3.05-3.98) (<i>n</i> = 133)	3.83 (3.24-4.0) (<i>n</i> = 23)	3.48 (3.05-3.98) (<i>n</i> = 110)	0.218	3.69 (3.21-3.96) (<i>n</i> = 43)	3.46 (2.98-3.99) (<i>n</i> = 90)	0.334
Cardiovascular dysfunction, <i>n</i> (%)	29 (4.2)	15 (11.2)	14 (2.6)	< 0.001	18 (5.7)	11 (3.0)	0.076
Neurological disturbance, <i>n</i> (%)	35 (5.1)	9 (6.7)	26 (4.7)	0.351	16 (5.1)	19 (5.1)	0.975
Respiratory dysfunction, <i>n</i> (%)	48 (7)	19 (14.2)	29 (5.3)	< 0.001	24 (7.6)	24 (6.5)	0.562

¹Expressed as median (interquartile range).

²Abnormal WBC count is defined as WBC < $4000/\mu$ L or > $12000/\mu$ L.

ALK-P: Alkaline phosphatase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; BT: Body temperature; ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; PT/INR: Prothrombin time/international normalized ratio; WBC: White blood cell count.

> **Comparisons between ERCP ≤ 48 h and ERCP > 48 h:** The median time to ERCP was 26.0 (18.8-40.1) h in the ERCP \leq 48 h group and 88.5 (67.2-114.6) h in the ERCP > 48 h group. Regarding indications for ERCP, CBDS was more common in the ERCP \leq 48 h group (81.5% vs 68.3%, P < 0.001) whereas malignant biliary obstruction (6.1% vs 13.8%, P < 0.001) and stent dysfunction were less common (5.4%) vs 11.9%, P = 0.003). In therapeutic ERCP, endoscopic sphincterotomy (85.7% vs 78.3%, P = 0.013) and bile duct stone retrieval (79.6% vs 68.3%, P = 0.001) were more frequent in the ERCP \leq 48 h group whereas the removal of old biliary stents (5.4% vs 11.7%, P = 0.004) and the insertion of new biliary stents (22.3% *vs* 31.7%, *P* = 0.006) were less frequent.

Primary and secondary outcomes

The primary and secondary outcomes are summarized in Table 3.

Overall patients: Overall, the 30-d mortality rate was 1.02% (or 7/683). The ICU admission rate was 5.4%; the median LOHS was 7 (5-10) d; and the 30-d readmission rate was 12.7%.

(1) Comparisons between ERCP \leq 24 h and ERCP \geq 24 h: The overall 30-d mortality rate was 0 in the ERCP ≤ 24 h group and 1.3% in the ERCP > 24 h group. However, the difference did not reach statistical significance (P = 0.356). Regarding secondary outcomes, the ERCP ≤ 24 h group had significantly higher ICU admission rates (11.2% vs 4.0%, P = 0.001) and shorter LOHS (median, 6 d vs 7 d, P = 0.018).

(2) Comparisons between ERCP \leq 48 h and ERCP > 48 h: Overall, the 30-d mortality rate was significantly lower in the ERCP \leq 48 h group than in the ERCP > 48 h group (0 vs 1.9%, P = 0.017). For secondary outcomes, the ERCP \leq 48 h group had a significantly shorter LOHS (median, 6 d vs 8 d, P <



Table 2 Characteristics of endoscopic retrograde cholanglopancreatography								
	Total n -	Time to ERCP divid	ded by 24 h		Time to ERCP divi	ded by 48 h		
Patient characteristics	683	ERCP ≤ 24 h, <i>n</i> = 134	ERCP > 24 h, <i>n</i> = 549	P value	ERCP ≤ 48 h, <i>n</i> = 314	ERCP > 48 h, <i>n</i> = 369	P value	
Time to ERCP in h ¹	53.8 (28.4- 90.7)	17.7 (9.0-20.4)	67.6 (43.6-98.9)	-	26.0 (18.8-40.1)	88.5 (67.2-114.6)		
Indications of ERCP, n (%)								
Common bile duct stones	508 (74.4)	107 (79.9)	401 (73)	0.106	256 (81.5)	252 (68.3)	< 0.001	
Malignant obstruction	70 (10.2)	7 (5.2)	63 (11.5)	0.032	19 (6.1)	51 (13.8)	< 0.001	
Stent dysfunction	61 (8.9)	8 (6.0)	53 (9.7)	0.180	17 (5.4)	44 (11.9)	0.003	
Benign stricture	31 (4.5)	8 (6.0)	23 (4.2)	0.375	15 (4.8)	16 (4.3)	0.783	
Others	13 (1.9)	4 (3.0)	9 (1.6)	0.296	7 (2.2)	6 (1.6)	0.565	
Treatment during ERCP, <i>n</i> (%)								
ES	558 (81.7)	112 (83.6)	446 (81.2)	0.529	269 (85.7)	289 (78.3)	0.013	
EPBD	5 (0.7)	0	5 (0.9)	0.589	2 (0.6)	3 (0.8)	1	
Stone retrieval	502 (73.5)	108 (80.6)	394 (71.8)	0.038	250 (79.6)	252 (68.3)	0.001	
Clearance without stone	37 (5.4)	5 (3.7)	32 (5.8)	0.336	16 (5.1)	21 (5.7)	0.732	
Removal of old stents	60 (8.8)	6 (4.5)	54 (9.8)	0.049	17 (5.4)	43 (11.7)	0.004	
Stent insertion	187 (27.4)	35 (26.1)	152 (27.7)	0.715	70 (22.3)	117 (31.7)	0.006	
Biliary stricture dilatation	7 (1.0)	1 (0.7)	6 (1.1)	1	1 (0.3)	6 (1.6)	0.132	
Others	3 (0.4)	0	3 (0.5)	1	0	3 (0.8)	0.254	
ERCP failure, n (%)	7 (1.0)	0	7 (1.3)	0.356	1 (0.3)	6 (1.6)	0.132	

¹Expressed as median (interquartile range). EPBD: Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation; ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; ES: Endoscopic sphincterotomy.

0.001).

Patients with Grade III AC: The 30-d mortality rate was 3.5% (or 6/170) for patients with grade III AC. The ICU admission rate was 15.3%; the median LOHS was 7 (7-14) d; and the 30-d readmission rate was 13.5% in this patient group.

(1) Comparisons between ERCP ≤ 24 h and ERCP > 24 h: The 30-d mortality rate for grade III AC patients was 0 in the ERCP ≤ 24 h group and 4.6% in the ERCP > 24 h group. However, the difference did not reach statistical significance (P = 0.338). Regarding secondary outcomes, the ERCP ≤ 24 h group had significantly higher ICU admission rates (9.0% vs 2.6%, P = 0.002).

(2) Comparisons between ERCP \leq 48 h and ERCP > 48 h: Among grade III AC patients, the 30-d mortality rate was significantly lower in the ERCP \leq 48 h group than in the ERCP > 48 h group (0 vs 6.1%, P = 0.039). Regarding secondary outcomes, the ERCP \leq 48 h group had significantly higher ICU admission rates (22.2% vs 10.2%, P = 0.031).

Patients with Grade II AC: The 30-d mortality rate was 0 for patients with grade II AC. The ICU admission rate was 2.8%; the median LOHS was 7 (5-10) d; and the 30-d readmission rate was 13.4% in this patient group.

(1) Comparisons between ERCP \leq 24 h and ERCP > 24 h: The only significant finding in grade II AC patients was that the LOHS was shorter (median, 6 d vs 7 d, P = 0.047) in the ERCP \leq 24 h group.

(2) Comparisons between ERCP \leq 48 h and ERCP > 48 h: Among grade II AC patients, the only significant finding was that the LOHS was shorter (median, 6 d vs 8 d, P = 0.001) in the ERCP \leq 48 h group.

Patients with Grade I AC: The 30-d mortality rate was 0.3% (or 1/334) for patients with grade I AC. The ICU admission rate was 1.8%; the median LOHS was 6 (5-9) d; and the 30-d readmission rate was 12% in this patient group.

(1) Comparisons between ERCP ≤ 24 h and ERCP > 24 h: The only significant finding in grade I AC patients was that the LOHS was shorter (median, 6 d vs 7 d, P = 0.005) in the ERCP \leq 24 h group.



Paishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Primary and secondary outcomes								
•		Time to ERCP div	vided by 24 h		Time to ERCP div	Time to ERCP divided by 48 h		
Outcomes	lotal	ERCP ≤ 24 h	ERCP > 24 h	P value	ERCP ≤ 48 h	ERCP > 48 h	P value	
Overall	<i>n</i> = 683	<i>n</i> = 134	n = 549		n = 314	n = 369		
30-d mortality, <i>n</i> (%)	7 (1.02)	0	7 (1.3)	0.356	0	7 (1.9)	0.017	
ICU admission, n (%)	37 (5.4)	15 (11.2)	22 (4)	0.001	22 (7.0)	15 (4.07)	0.091	
LOHS in d ¹	7 (5-10)	6 (4-10)	7 (5-10)	0.018	6 (4-9)	8 (6-11)	< 0.001	
30-d readmission, n (%)	87 (12.7)	16 (11.9)	71 (12.9)	0.757	40 (12.7)	47 (12.7)	0.999	
Grade III AC	n = 170	n = 39	n = 131		<i>n</i> = 72	n = 98		
30-d mortality, n (%)	6 (3.5)	0	6 (4.6)	0.338	0	6 (6.1)	0.039	
ICU admission, n (%)	26 (15.3)	12 (9.0)	14 (2.6)	0.002	16 (22.2)	10 (10.2)	0.031	
LOHS in d ¹	7 (7-14)	10 (6-16.5)	9 (7-12)	0.637	9 (6-15)	9 (7-12)	0.448	
30-d readmission, n (%)	23 (13.5)	4 (3)	19 (14.5)	0.602	10 (13.9)	13 (13.3)	0.906	
Grade II AC	n = 179	<i>n</i> = 39	n = 140		n = 88	n = 91		
30-d mortality, <i>n</i> (%)	0	0	0	-	0	0	-	
ICU admission, n (%)	5 (2.8)	2 (5.1)	3 (2.1)	0.299	3 (3.4)	2 (2.2)	0.679	
LOHS in d ¹	7 (5-10)	6 (4-9.5)	7 (5.8-10)	0.047	6 (4.8-9)	8 (6-11)	0.001	
30-d readmission, n (%)	24 (13.4)	4 (10.3)	20 (14.3)	0.514	8 (9.1)	16 (17.6)	0.096	
Grade I AC	n = 334	n = 56	n = 278		n = 154	n = 180		
30-d mortality, n (%)	1 (0.3)	0	1 (0.36)	1	0	1 (0.56)	1	
ICU admission, n (%)	6 (1.8)	1 (1.8)	5 (1.8)	1	3 (1.9)	3 (1.7)	1	
LOHS in d ¹	6 (5-9)	6 (4-8.3)	7 (5-9.8)	0.005	6 (4-7)	7 (6-11)	< 0.001	
30-d readmission, n (%)	40 (12)	8 (14.3)	32 (11.5)	0.56	22 (14.3)	18	0.229	

¹Expressed as median (interquartile range). AC: Acute cholangitis; ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; ICU: Intensive care unit; LOHS: Length of hospital stay.

> (2) Comparisons between ERCP \leq 48 h and ERCP > 48 h: Among grade I AC patients, the only significant finding was that the LOHS was shorter (median, 6 d vs 7 d, P < 0.001) in the ERCP \leq 48 h group.

Factors associated with 30-d mortality

The results of the univariate and multivariate analyses are listed in Table 4. The univariate analysis revealed that malignant biliary obstruction (OR: 6.817, 95%CI: 1.494-31.109, P = 0.013), hepatic dysfunction (OR: 8.896, 95%CI: 1.645-48.119, *P* = 0.011), respiratory dysfunction (OR: 10.517, 95%CI: 2.284-48.431, P = 0.003), neurological dysfunction (OR: 15.094, 95%CI: 3.241-70.298, P = 0.001), cardiovascular dysfunction (OR: 18.750, 95% CI: 3.990-88.112, P < 0.001), severity of AC (severe vs moderate + mild, OR: 18.732, 95% CI: 2.239-156.728, P = 0.007), ICU admission (OR: 7.326, 95% CI: 1.373-39.101, *P* = 0.02), and time to ERCP (every 1-d delay, OR: 1.950, 95%CI: 1.252-3.038, *P* = 0.003) were associated with 30-d mortality. The multivariate analysis revealed that time to ERCP (every 1-d delay, OR: 2.081, 95% CI: 1.154-3.753, P = 0.015) was the only independent factor associated with 30-d mortality. However, cardiovascular dysfunction (OR: 17.756, 95% CI: 0.994-317.241, P = 0.050) was of marginal significance.

DISCUSSION

Kiriyama et al[3] reported that early or urgent ERCP significantly reduced 30-d mortality only in patients with grade II AC compared with patients who did not receive early or urgent ERCP. This result may be due to the lack of well-defined timing for early or urgent ERCP. In a meta-analysis published in 2020, Du et al[7] reported that early ERCP reduced in-hospital mortality regardless of whether it was defined as < 24 h, < 48 h or < 72 h. In the present study, we found that ERCP ≤ 48 h but not ERCP ≤ 24 h



Table 4 Univariate and multivariate a	inalyses of the facto	ors associated with 30-c	Imortality		
Mariah la a		Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis	
Variables		OR (95%CI)	P value	OR (95%CI)	P value
Age	≥75 yr	1.772 (0.393-7.991)	0.456		
	< 75 yr	Reference			
Common bile duct stones	Yes	0.254 (0.056-1.146)	0.075		
	No	Reference			
Malignant biliary obstruction	Yes	6.817 (1.494-31.109)	0.013	7.718 (0.664-89.660)	0.102
	No	Reference			
Fever, BT \ge 39 °C	Yes	1.045 (0.124-8.777)	0.968		
	No	Reference			
Abnormal WBC count	Yes	1.789 (0.345-9.289)	0.489		
	No	Reference			
Hyperbilirubinemia, $\geq 5 \text{ mg/dL}$	Yes	1.382 (0.307-6.228)	0.673		
	No	Reference			
Hepatic dysfunction, PT-INR > 1.5	Yes	8.896 (1.645-48.119)	0.011	2.257 (0.275-18.553)	0.449
	No	Reference			
Hematological dysfunction, PLT < 100×10^{3} (]	Yes	4.885 (0.919-25.649)	0.063		
10 / μL	No	Reference			
Renal dysfunction, Cr > 2.0 mg/dL	Yes	4.548 (0.862-23.998)	0.074		
	No	Reference			
Respiratory dysfunction, PaO_2/FiO_2	Yes	10.517 (2.284-48.431)	0.003	1.644 (0.172-15.676)	0.666
1410 - 500	No	Reference			
Neurological dysfunction, conscious	Yes	15.094 (3.241-70.298)	0.001	2.773 (0.380-20.238)	0.315
distui bance	No	Reference			
Cardiovascular dysfunction ¹	Yes	18.750 (3.990-88.112)	< 0.001	17.756 (0.994-317.241)	0.050
	No	Reference			
Severity of AC	Grade III	18.732 (2.239-156.728)	0.007	3.603 (0.274-47.356)	0.329
	Grade II + I	Reference			
ICU admission	Yes	7.326 (1.373-39.101)	0.02	2.463 (0.204-29.703)	0.478
	No	Reference			
Time to ERCP	Every 1-d delay	1.950 (1.252-3.038)	0.003	2.081 (1.154-3.753)	0.015

¹Defined as hypotension requiring dopamine $\geq 5 \ \mu g/kg$ per min, or any dose of norepinephrine. AC: Acute cholangitis; BT: Body temperature; ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; ICU: Intensive care unit; PT/INR: Prothrombin time/international normalized ratio; WBC: White blood cell count.

significantly reduced 30-d mortality. Our results were consistent with the 2021 American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy guidelines recommending ERCP \leq 48 h in AC patients[12]. In that study, however, the data were insufficient to stratify by disease severity. In a subgroup analysis, we found that the same survival benefit was observed only in patients with grade III AC but not in patients with grade II or I AC. These results were because patients with grade III AC had significantly higher 30-d mortality than those with grade II or I AC (3.5% *vs* 0 *vs* 0.3%, *P* = 0.001). Hakuta *et al*[10] reported that time to ERCP was not associated with clinical outcomes (including in-hospital mortality) in patients with non-grade III AC. Therefore, we recommend emergent ERCP (\leq 48 h) for patients with grade III AC in terms of survival benefit.

However, 30-d mortality in AC has been reported to range from 1% to 16% between studies, which may be one of the reasons leading to inconsistent conclusions about the optimal timing of ERCP[11,13-

15]. Differences in mortality may be due to different patient populations in different studies, *e.g.*, patients with AC due to CBDS and MBO may have different clinical courses and prognoses. Kiriyama *et al*[14] reported that patients with AC associated with MBO had a higher 30-d mortality rate than those with AC associated with CBDS. In our univariate analysis, MBO was a factor associated with 30-d mortality. Therefore, one of the reasons for the low 30-d mortality in our study was the low proportion of patients with MBO (10.2%). In contrast, Tan *et al*[11] included 43% of MBO patients in their study and reported a 30-d mortality rate of 16%. However, Park *et al*[15] included only patients with AC associated with distal MBO and reported an overall 30-d mortality rate of 4.8%. Therefore, there may be some other factors associated with 30-d mortality between studies.

Of the five organ failure criteria used to diagnose grade III AC, cardiovascular dysfunction was the only independent factor associated with 30-d mortality in the current study. Therefore, among grade III AC patients, those with cardiovascular dysfunction may need to be treated differently[16,17]. Karvellas *et al*[17] reported an overall mortality rate of 37% in 260 patients with AC-related septic shock. They found that delayed biliary decompression > 12 h from the onset of shock was one of three independent factors associated with mortality. The 2019 European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy guidelines recommend biliary drainage (preferably endoscopic) within 12 h of shock onset for AC patients with CBDS-related septic shock[16]. Therefore, cardiovascular dysfunction should be weighed when developing new guidelines in the future.

Some studies found no survival benefit but did find early ERCP to reduce the LOHS[18-21]. Hou *et al* [20] reported that in a multivariate analysis, the LOHS increased by 1.44 d for every 1-d delay in ERCP (P < 0.001). Similar results were seen in the study by Zhu *et al*[18]: LOHS increased by 1.49 d for every 1-d delay in biliary drainage (P < 0.0001). However, these findings were not stratified by disease severity. Although we did not perform a multivariate analysis of the LOHS, our results suggested that the LOHS could be significantly reduced regardless of ERCP ≤ 24 h or ≤ 48 h. In subgroup analyses stratified by disease severity, this benefit was only observed in patients with grade I or II AC. The benefit of early ERCP in shortening the LOHS might be offset by higher ICU admission rates in grade III AC patients. Similar findings were found by Jang *et al*[19], who recommended urgent ERCP (≤ 24 h) for patients with grade I or II AC because it can shorten the LOHS.

This study has several limitations. First, this retrospective, single-center study might have inherent selection bias. Patients with cardiovascular dysfunction and respiratory dysfunction tended to receive ERCP ≤ 24 h. Therefore, caution is required when interpreting the results of this subgroup analysis. Second, we identified patients from the endoscopy database. AC patients who died before receiving ERCP might not have been included in this study, resulting in an underestimation of 30-d mortality. Third, data on albumin, one of the criteria for class II AC, were available in only 19.5% of patients. Therefore, some patients with grade II AC may be misclassified as grade I AC and vice versa.

CONCLUSION

 $ERCP \le 48$ h but not ≤ 24 h has a survival benefit in AC patients; this benefit is only observed in patients with grade III AC. Early ERCP is also recommended for patients with grade I or II AC because it shortens the LOHS.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The optimal timing of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) for acute cholangitis has been inconsistently reported and there are few studies on the timing of ERCP in acute cholangitis of varying severity.

Research motivation

On the one hand, unnecessary emergent ERCP increases medical costs and the burden on physicians and technicians; on the other hand, delayed ERCP may increase morbidity and mortality in patients with acute cholangitis. The findings of this study may guide the avoidance of unnecessary urgent and delayed ERCP for acute cholangitis.

Research objectives

This study aims to answer the optimal timing of ERCP for acute cholangitis of different severity according to 30-d mortality after ERCP. Answering this question can serve as important evidence for future guideline development.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Research methods

The retrospective cohort study included 683 patients who met the diagnostic criteria for acute cholangitis defined by the 2018 Tokyo Guidelines. Among them, there were 170 (24.9%) grade III acute cholangitis patients, 179 grade II acute cholangitis patients (26.4%) and 334 grade I acute cholangitis patients (48.9%). Results are first compared between patients receiving ERCP \leq 24 h and > 24 h, and then between patients receiving ERCP \leq 48 h and > 48 h. Subgroup analyses are performed on patients with grade III, II or I acute cholangitis.

Research results

When 24 h was considered a critical value for ERCP timing, we found that patients with malignant biliary obstruction received ERCP \leq 24 h less frequently when compared with ERCP > 24 h (5.2% vs 11.5%). Patients with organ dysfunction such as cardiovascular dysfunction (11.2% vs 2.6%) and respiratory dysfunction (14.2% vs 5.3%) or those admitted to the ICU (11.2% vs 4%) tended to receive ERCP \leq 24 h. Patients with ERCP \leq 24 h had significantly shorter hospital stays (median, 6 d vs 7 d). Stratified by the severity of acute cholangitis, higher ICU admission was only observed in grade III acute cholangitis and a shorter length of hospital stay was only observed in grade I and II acute cholangitis. Regarding 30-d mortality, the results of ERCP \leq 24 h and > 24 h were not significantly different, either in the overall population or in patients with grade I, II or III acute cholangitis. When 48 h was considered a critical value for ERCP timing, patients with choledocholithiasis received ERCP ≤ 48 h more frequently (81.5% vs 68.3%). Patients who received ERCP ≤ 48 h had significantly lower 30-d mortality (0 vs 1.9%) and shorter hospital stays (6 d vs 8 d). Stratified by the severity of acute cholangitis, lower 30-d mortality (0 vs 6.1%) and higher ICU admission rates (22.2% vs 10.2%) were only observed in grade III acute cholangitis and a shorter length of hospital stay was only observed in grade I and II acute cholangitis. In the multivariate analysis, cardiovascular dysfunction and time to ERCP were two independent factors associated with 30-d mortality.

Research conclusions

ERCP \leq 48 h but not \leq 24 h has a survival benefit in acute cholangitis patients; this benefit is only observed in patients with grade III acute cholangitis. Early ERCP is also recommended for patients with grade I and II acute cholangitis because it shortens the length of hospital stay.

Research perspectives

Of the five organ failure criteria used to diagnose grade III AC, cardiovascular dysfunction was the only independent factor associated with 30-d mortality in the current study. Therefore, cardiovascular dysfunction should be weighed more heavily in the development of new guidelines in the future.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Huang YC contributed to the conceptualization of the study and original manuscript; Wu CH, Lee MH and Wang SF contributed to data planning, interpretation and formal analysis; Lin CH and Sung KF contributed to data collection; Tsou YK is committed to the conceptualization of the study, manuscript writing, review and editing; Liu NJ contributed to revising the final version of the manuscript for submission.

Institutional review board statement: This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Chang Gung Memorial Hospital (IRB No. 202200881B0).

Informed consent statement: Since this was a retrospective study using clinical routine treatment or diagnostic medical records, the Chang Gung Medical Foundation Institutional Review Board approved the waiver of the participant's consent.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Technical appendix, statistical code and dataset available from the corresponding author at flying@adm.cgmh.org.tw.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement-checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



Country/Territory of origin: Taiwan

ORCID number: Chi-Huan Wu 0000-0002-3913-8010; Mu Hsien Lee 0000-0003-3664-5313; Sheng Fu Wang 0000-0002-7856-2957; Yung-Kuan Tsou 0000-0002-7254-7369; Cheng-Hui Lin 0000-0001-8102-0625; Kai-Feng Sung 0000-0001-6118-0234; Nai-Jen Liu 0000-0002-7992-0234.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Gong ZM

REFERENCES

- 1 Mosler P. Diagnosis and management of acute cholangitis. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 2011; 13: 166-172 [PMID: 21207254 DOI: 10.1007/s11894-010-0171-71
- Lee F, Ohanian E, Rheem J, Laine L, Che K, Kim JJ. Delayed endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography is 2 associated with persistent organ failure in hospitalised patients with acute cholangitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2015; 42: 212-220 [PMID: 25997554 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13253]
- Kiriyama S, Kozaka K, Takada T, Strasberg SM, Pitt HA, Gabata T, Hata J, Liau KH, Miura F, Horiguchi A, Liu KH, Su CH, Wada K, Jagannath P, Itoi T, Gouma DJ, Mori Y, Mukai S, Giménez ME, Huang WS, Kim MH, Okamoto K, Belli G, Dervenis C, Chan ACW, Lau WY, Endo I, Gomi H, Yoshida M, Mayumi T, Baron TH, de Santibañes E, Teoh AYB, Hwang TL, Ker CG, Chen MF, Han HS, Yoon YS, Choi IS, Yoon DS, Higuchi R, Kitano S, Inomata M, Deziel DJ, Jonas E, Hirata K, Sumiyama Y, Inui K, Yamamoto M. Tokyo Guidelines 2018: diagnostic criteria and severity grading of acute cholangitis (with videos). J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2018; 25: 17-30 [PMID: 29032610 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.512]
- 4 Xu MM, Carr-Locke DL. Early ERCP for severe cholangitis? Gastrointest Endosc 2018; 87: 193-195 [PMID: 29241849 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.06.008]
- Khashab MA, Tariq A, Tariq U, Kim K, Ponor L, Lennon AM, Canto MI, Gurakar A, Yu Q, Dunbar K, Hutfless S, Kalloo 5 AN, Singh VK. Delayed and unsuccessful endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography are associated with worse outcomes in patients with acute cholangitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 10: 1157-1161 [PMID: 22507875 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.03.029]
- Iqbal U, Khara HS, Hu Y, Khan MA, Ovalle A, Siddique O, Sun H, Shellenberger MJ. Emergent versus urgent ERCP in 6 acute cholangitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 91: 753-760.e4 [PMID: 31628955 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2019.09.040]
- Du L, Cen M, Zheng X, Luo L, Siddiqui A, Kim JJ. Timing of Performing Endoscopic Retrograde 7 Cholangiopancreatography and Inpatient Mortality in Acute Cholangitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2020; 11: e00158 [PMID: 32352721 DOI: 10.14309/ctg.00000000000158]
- Navaneethan U, Gutierrez NG, Jegadeesan R, Venkatesh PG, Sanaka MR, Vargo JJ, Parsi MA. Factors predicting adverse short-term outcomes in patients with acute cholangitis undergoing ERCP: A single center experience. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2014; 6: 74-81 [PMID: 24634711 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v6.i3.74]
- Nishino T, Hamano T, Mitsunaga Y, Shirato I, Shirato M, Tagata T, Shimada M, Yoshida S, Mitsunaga A. Clinical evaluation of the Tokyo Guidelines 2013 for severity assessment of acute cholangitis. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2014; 21: 841-849 [PMID: 25410528 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.189]
- Hakuta R, Hamada T, Nakai Y, Kogure H, Uchino R, Takahara N, Mizuno S, Suzuki T, Sato T, Takeda T, Ishigaki K, Saito K, Saito T, Tada M, Isayama H, Koike K. No Association of Timing of Endoscopic Biliary Drainage with Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Non-severe Acute Cholangitis. Dig Dis Sci 2018; 63: 1937-1945 [PMID: 29663264 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-018-5058-8]
- 11 Tan M, Schaffalitzky de Muckadell OB, Laursen SB. Association between early ERCP and mortality in patients with acute cholangitis. Gastrointest Endosc 2018; 87: 185-192 [PMID: 28433613 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.04.009]
- Buxbaum JL, Buitrago C, Lee A, Elmunzer BJ, Riaz A, Ceppa EP, Al-Haddad M, Amateau SK, Calderwood AH, Fishman 12 DS, Fujii-Lau LL, Jamil LH, Jue TL, Kwon RS, Law JK, Lee JK, Naveed M, Pawa S, Sawhney MS, Schilperoort H, Storm AC, Thosani NC, Qumseya BJ, Wani S. ASGE guideline on the management of cholangitis. Gastrointest Endosc 2021; 94: 207-221.e14 [PMID: 34023065 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.12.032]
- On W, Watters C, Dwyer L, Hood S, Saleem R, Sturgess R, Stern N. P55 Timing of ERCP and outcomes in patients with 13 acute gallstone cholangitis graded by severity. Gut 2021; 70 (Suppl 1): A69 [DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-bsgcampus.130]
- 14 Kiriyama S, Takada T, Hwang TL, Akazawa K, Miura F, Gomi H, Mori R, Endo I, Itoi T, Yokoe M, Chen MF, Jan YY, Ker CG, Wang HP, Wada K, Yamaue H, Miyazaki M, Yamamoto M, Clinical application and verification of the TG13 diagnostic and severity grading criteria for acute cholangitis: an international multicenter observational study. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2017; 24: 329-337 [PMID: 28419764 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.458]
- 15 Park N, Lee SH, You MS, Kim JS, Huh G, Chun JW, Cho IR, Paik WH, Ryu JK, Kim YT. Optimal timing of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography for acute cholangitis associated with distal malignant biliary obstruction. BMC *Gastroenterol* 2021; 21: 175 [PMID: 33865307 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-021-01755-z]
- 16 Manes G, Paspatis G, Aabakken L, Anderloni A, Arvanitakis M, Ah-Soune P, Barthet M, Domagk D, Dumonceau JM, Gigot JF, Hritz I, Karamanolis G, Laghi A, Mariani A, Paraskeva K, Pohl J, Ponchon T, Swahn F, Ter Steege RWF, Tringali A, Vezakis A, Williams EJ, van Hooft JE. Endoscopic management of common bile duct stones: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guideline. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 472-491 [PMID: 30943551 DOI: 10.1055/a-0862-0346]
- Karvellas CJ, Abraldes JG, Zepeda-Gomez S, Moffat DC, Mirzanejad Y, Vazquez-Grande G, Esfahani EK, Kumar A; 17



Cooperative Antimicrobial Therapy of Septic Shock (CATSS) Database Research Group. The impact of delayed biliary decompression and anti-microbial therapy in 260 patients with cholangitis-associated septic shock. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2016; 44: 755-766 [PMID: 27506331 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13764]

- 18 Zhu Y, Tu J, Zhao Y, Jing J, Dong Z, Pan W. Association of Timing of Biliary Drainage with Clinical Outcomes in Severe Acute Cholangitis: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Int J Gen Med 2021; 14: 2953-2963 [PMID: 34234525 DOI: 10.2147/IJGM.S315306]
- Jang SE, Park SW, Lee BS, Shin CM, Lee SH, Kim JW, Jeong SH, Kim N, Lee DH, Park JK, Hwang JH. Management for 19 CBD stone-related mild to moderate acute cholangitis: urgent versus elective ERCP. Dig Dis Sci 2013; 58: 2082-2087 [PMID: 23456495 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-013-2595-z]
- 20 Hou LA, Laine L, Motamedi N, Sahakian A, Lane C, Buxbaum J. Optimal Timing of Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography in Acute Cholangitis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2017; 51: 534-538 [PMID: 27875357 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.00000000000763]
- Aboelsoud M, Siddique O, Morales A, Seol Y, Al-Qadi M. Early biliary drainage is associated with favourable outcomes 21 in critically-ill patients with acute cholangitis. Prz Gastroenterol 2018; 13: 16-21 [PMID: 29657606 DOI: 10.5114/pg.2018.74557]



WŨ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5614-5625

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5614

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Clearance of the liver remnant predicts short-term outcome in patients undergoing resection of hepatocellular carcinoma

Atsushi Miki, Yasunaru Sakuma, Hideyuki Ohzawa, Akira Saito, Yoshiyuki Meguro, Jun Watanabe, Kazue Morishima, Kazuhiro Endo, Hideki Sasanuma, Atsushi Shimizu, Alan Kawarai Lefor, Yoshikazu Yasuda, Naohiro Sata

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ali SNH, Jordan; Finotti M, Italy

Received: November 16, 2021 Peer-review started: November 16, 2021 First decision: May 10, 2022 Revised: May 21, 2022 Accepted: August 16, 2022 Article in press: August 16, 2022 Published online: October 14, 2022



Atsushi Miki, Yasunaru Sakuma, Hideyuki Ohzawa, Akira Saito, Yoshiyuki Meguro, Jun Watanabe, Kazue Morishima, Kazuhiro Endo, Hideki Sasanuma, Atsushi Shimizu, Alan Kawarai Lefor, Yoshikazu Yasuda, Naohiro Sata, Department of Surgery, Jichi Medical University, Shimotsuke 329-0498, Tochigi, Japan

Corresponding author: Atsushi Miki, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Surgery, Jichi Medical University, 3311-1 Yakushiji, Shimotsuke 329-0498, Tochigi, Japan. amiki@jichi.ac.jp

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Estimation of the functional reserve of the remnant liver is important to reduce morbidity and mortality.

AIM

To estimate the functional reserve of the remnant liver in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

METHODS

We reviewed the medical records of 199 patients who underwent resection of HCC. Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver was calculated using fusion images of ^{99m}Tc-labelled galactosyl-human serum albumin liver scintigraphy and computed tomography. Posthepatectomy liver failure (PHLF) was classified according to the International Study Group of Liver Surgery. Complications was classified according to Clavien-Dindo classification. We analyzed by the risk factors for PHLF, morbidity and mortality with multivariate analysis.

RESULTS

Twenty-seven (30%) patients had major complications and 23 (12%) developed PHLF. The incidence of major complications increased with increasing albumin-bilirubin (ALBI) grade. The area under the curve values for hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, liver to heart-plus-liver radioactivity at 15 min (LHL15), and ALBI score predicting PHLF were 0.868, 0.629, and 0.655, respectively. The area under the curve for hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and ALBI score predicting major complications were 0.758, 0.594, and



0.647, respectively. The risk factors for PHLF and major complications were hepatic clearance of the remnant liver and intraoperative bleeding.

CONCLUSION

The measurement of hepatic clearance may predict PHLF and major complications for patients undergoing resection of HCC.

Key Words: Liver function; Hepatectomy; Cirrhosis; Fusion image; Complication; Mortality

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Little is known about the association of remnant hepatic clearance with morbidity and mortality. The aim of present study was to evaluate the effectiveness of measuring hepatic clearance of the remnant liver and to determine its association with morbidity and mortality in patients undergoing hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma. Risk factors significantly associated with morbidity and mortality were remnant liver clearance and intraoperative blood loss. Hepatic clearance was associated with posthepatectomy liver failure and the development of major complications. The estimation of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver may provide guidance for determining the extent of resection in a patient-specific manner.

Citation: Miki A, Sakuma Y, Ohzawa H, Saito A, Meguro Y, Watanabe J, Morishima K, Endo K, Sasanuma H, Shimizu A, Lefor AK, Yasuda Y, Sata N. Clearance of the liver remnant predicts short-term outcome in patients undergoing resection of hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2022; 28(38): 5614-5625 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5614.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5614

INTRODUCTION

Advances in surgical technique and postoperative care have improved the outcomes of patients undergoing hepatectomy. However, posthepatectomy liver failure (PHLF) can lead to increased rates of morbidity and mortality in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) especially in patients with chronic liver damage[1]. Major hepatectomy must be performed to preserve the maximal remnant liver function. However, adequate hepatectomy must be performed to ensure adequate surgical margins around the tumor[2]. Therefore, preoperative assessment of remnant liver function reserve is important to determine the appropriate surgical procedure.

An algorithm including the presence of ascites, serum bilirubin, serum albumin concentration, prothrombin time and encephalopathy is commonly used to determine the indications for resection of HCC. The indocyanine green (ICG) test is the most commonly used test and is considered relatively reliable for assessment of liver functional reserve[3]. However, the Child-Pugh score and ICG test do not accurately predict the development of PHLF[4]. A simple method using conventional data has been reported. The albumin-bilirubin (ALBI) score is an effective predictor of PHLF in patients with HCC compared to that of ICG test[5].

Computed tomography (CT) volumetry can accurately determine the regional liver volume, and has been used to estimate remnant liver function[6]. However, CT volumetry can never reflect the function of the remnant liver. The liver function of each lobe varies with progression of chronic liver disease or steatosis, which indicate that liver function is not distributed homogeneously[7]. Liver function is unevenly modified, resulting from impaired blood circulation[8], biliary stenosis, or induction by the tumor[9]. Changes in portal hemodynamics and a regional reduction in liver function must be considered to determine the optimal surgical procedure[7,10]. A novel method is needed to preoperatively plan for hepatic resection.

Taniguchi *et al*[11] described that ^{99m}Tc-labelled galactosyl-human serum albumin (GSA) hepatic clearance strongly correlates with the degree of liver fibrosis and conventional liver function tests. GSA scintigraphy is widely used to evaluate liver function[10,12-16]. Asialoglycoprotein receptors exist predominantly in the liver on the surface of hepatocytes and are responsible for the metabolism of serum glycoproteins[17]. The receptor density in the liver is closely related to serum asialoglycoprotein level and hepatocyte function[18]. However, little is known about the clinical utility of hepatic clearance for the prediction of PHLF, morbidity and mortality. The aim of present study was to evaluate the effectiveness of measuring hepatic clearance of the remnant liver and to verify risk factors based on the standardized PHLF criteria and complications in patients undergoing hepatectomy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

We included patients who underwent hepatectomy between July 2011 and March 2021 at Jichi Medical University (Shimotsuke, Tochigi, Japan). The protocol for this research project was approved by a suitably constituted Ethics Committee of the institution and it conformed to the provision of the Declaration of Helsinki (Committees of Jichi Medical University, Approval No. A21-029). Blood samples obtained preoperatively were analyzed for conventional liver tests.

The procedures for hepatectomy were categorized according to the Brisbane Nomenclature from the International Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Association^[19]. The anatomical resection was defined as resection of the tumor together with the related portal vein branches and the corresponding hepatic territory. The procedure was classified as a hemihepatectomy, an extended hemihepatectomy (hepatectomy plus removal of additional contiguous segments), a sectionectomy (resection of two Couinaud subsegments), or segmentectomy (resection of one Couinaud subsegment). All other nonanatomical procedures were classified as limited resections.

Contrast-enhanced CT

A three-phase enhanced helical CT scan of the liver was used to confirm tumor location and margins before surgery. A 16-row multi-detector CT scan was performed at 3 mm intervals with 100 mL iohexol (Omnipaque 300; Daiichi Sankyo, Tokyo, Japan) (3 mL/s) injected intravenously.

GSA single photon emission CT image

Patients underwent preoperative GSA scintigraphy using a dual-head rotating gamma camera system and a dedicated data processing unit (Prism Axis; Picker Prism International, Cleveland, OH, USA). A single bolus of 3 mg GSA (185 MBq; Nihon Medi-Physics, Tokyo, Japan) was injected intravenously. After confirmation that the detector covered the area in the liver and heart, acquisition of planar images was begun with an acquisition time of 15 s each for 16 min immediately after injection. After acquisition of planar images, dynamic single photon emission CT (SPECT) acquisition was started with an acquisition time of 20 s every 5 min. To generate a set of images equivalent to static SPECT images, projection data from dynamic SPECT were merged. Total liver function was calculated as the total liver GSA clearance, expressed as mL/min by the Patlak plot method.

Region of interest (ROI) was also generated over the entire liver on the tomographic images using isocount methods (25% cutoff of minimal count) to estimate the liver functional volume (mL). Functional liver volume does not include function parameters.

Estimation of function of the remnant liver

Hepatic clearance and functional volume of the remnant liver were estimated from the fusion with CT scan images (Figure 1). Images from the CT scan were aligned with the slice of the liver SPECT image with reference to the hepatic vein on every 3-mm liver cross-slice as a landmark on contrast-enhanced helical CT (Figure 1). After the transection line was set on the SPECT images based on the surgical procedure, the remnant liver with the resection line was determined manually. Remnant liver function was calculated from the proportional allocation of voxel count in static SPECT by the Patlak plot method and expressed by GSA clearance (mL/min). Regional functional liver volume (mL) was also calculated from the SPECT data by the outline extraction method[7].

Definition of major complication and PHLF

Postoperative complications were defined according to the Clavien-Dindo classification[20]. A major complication was defined as grade IIIa or higher. Postoperative mortality was defined as death within 30 d after surgery. PHLF was defined following the definition of the International Study Group of Liver Surgery^[21]. Patients with increased prothrombin time-international normalized ratio (PT-INR) and hyperbilirubinemia (according to the normal cut-off levels defined by the local laboratory) on or after postoperative day 5 were considered to have PHLF. PHLF Grade A resulted in abnormal laboratory parameters and required no change in clinical management. Grade B was a deviation from the regular, postoperative clinical pathway, but patients could be managed without invasive treatment. Grade C resulted in deviation from the regular clinical management and required invasive treatment.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as mean ± standard deviation. All categorical data were analyzed by Pearson's χ^2 test. Normally distributed values were analyzed by Student's t test. Non-normally distributed values were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. We analyzed the power for the prediction of PHLF, morbidity and mortality with the parameters of GSA scintigraphy with the area under the receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curves, and the area under the ROC curve was calculated. In multivariate analysis, risk factors for PHLF were determined by logistic regression multivariate analysis with JMP statistical software (version 13; SAS, Inc. Cary, NC, USA). The level of statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.





SPECT image Fusion image DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5614 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Schematic model for analysis of regional hepatic clearance with computed tomography fusion images. The images of 99mTcgalactosyl serum albumin scintigraphy single photon emission computed tomography and computed tomography scans were merged using software. The cutting line was set based on tumor location and size on each fusion image. The liver function was calculated automatically as 99mTc-galactosyl serum albumin scintigraphy parameters. CT: Computed tomography; SPECT: Single photon emission computed tomography.

RESULTS

Clinicopathological characteristics

A total of consecutive 199 patients with HCC were included, including 156 men and 43 women, with a median age of 70 (range, 24-87 years) (Table 1). Among the 199 patients, 94 (47%) had hepatitis C virus infection and 22 (11%) had hepatitis B virus infection. Most patients were Child-Pugh class A (197/199, 99%) and the remaining patients were class B (2/199, 1%). According to ALBI grade, 68% (135/199) of patients were stratified into Grade 1, 32% (64/199) Grade 2, and 1% (2/199) Grade 3. There were 6% of ALBI Grade 1 patients who developed major complications and 18% ALBI Grade 2 patients had major complications (P = 0.04).

Postoperative morbidity, PHLF and mortality

Among the 199 patients, 41 (21%) developed postoperative complications (Table 2). The most common complication was PHLF (12%, 23/199), followed by wound infection (5.0%, 10/199). Thirty-three (17%) patients developed minor complications, including Grade I complications in 25 (13%) patients and Grade II complications in eight (4.0%) patients. Major complications occurred in 27 (14%) patients, including Grade IIIa (11%, 21/199), Grade IIIb (1.5%, 3/199), Grade IVa (0.5%, 1/199) and Grade V (1%, 2/199). Eleven patients (5%) had PHLF Grade A, eight (4%) had PHLF Grade B, and four (2%) had PHLF Grade C. Two patients died of PHLF within 30 d after surgery, for a postoperative mortality rate of 1% (Table 2).



Table 1 Patient characteristics				
Variables	All patients (<i>n</i> = 199)	No PHLF < Grade B (<i>n</i> = 187)	PHLF ≥ Grade B (<i>n</i> = 12)	P value
General				
Age (yr)	69.1 ± 9.0	69.2 ± 9.12	66.9 ± 7.05	0.53
Gender (male : female)	154 : 45	144:43	10:2	0.61
Child-Pugh class (A : B : C)	196 : 3 :0	184:3:0	12:0:0	0.31
Preoperative laboratory tests				
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	0.85 ± 0.38	0.82 ± 0.38	1.06 ± 0.32	0.01
PT-INR	1.12 ± 0.20	1.12 ± 0.21	1.13 ± 0.08	0.70
Albumin (mg/dL)	4.1 ± 0.5	4.1 ± 0.5	3.9 ± 0.4	0.16
AST (IU/L)	43 ± 41	41 ± 40	56 ± 47	0.11
ALT (IU/L)	40 ± 34	39 ± 33	47 ± 40	0.31
Choline esterase(U/L)	262 ± 77	267 ± 76	226 ± 73	0.02
PNI score	48.6 ± 6.0	48.9 ± 6.0	46.4 ± 5.6	0.08
ALBI score	-2.76 ± 0.4	-2.78 ± 0.4	-2.57 ± 0.35	0.14
NLR	2.48 ± 2.03	2.50 ± 2.12	2.31 ± 1.07	0.82
PLR	0.12 ± 0.08	0.13 ± 0.09	0.10 ± 0.05	0.29
Procedure-related factors				
Limited resection	80 (39.8%)	77 (38.7%)	3 (1.5%)	0.43
Segmentectomy	57 (28.4%)	51 (25.6%)	6 (3.0%)	
Secteionectomy	36 (17.9%)	33 (16.6%)	1 (0.5%)	
Hemihepatectomy	24 (11.9%)	22 (11.1%)	2 (1.0%)	
Trisectionectomy	4 (2.0%)	4 (2.1%)	0 (0%)	
Operative time (min)	304 ± 109	299 ± 104	345 ± 135	0.06
Intraoperative blood loss (mL)	848 ±1006	743 ± 889	1604 ± 1456	< 0.001
Liver function tests				
Total Liver hepatic clearance (mL/min)	285 ± 98	315 ± 106	258 ± 91	0.02
Total Liver Functional volume (mL)	1321 ± 280	1340 ± 278	1202 ± 270	0.04
Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver (mL/min)	248 ± 95	261 ± 91	149 ± 47	< 0.001
Functional volume of the remnant liver (mL)	1057 ± 334	1104 ± 317	710 ± 239	< 0.001
LHL15	0.92 ± 0.03	0.925 ± 0.03	0.906 ± 0.05	0.02
HH15	0.60 ± 0.07	0.602 ± 0.07	0.651 ± 0.07	0.01
Surgical outcome				
PHLF grade (0 : A : B : C)	176 : 11 : 8 : 4	176 : 11 : 0 : 0	0:0:8:4	-
Hospital length of stay (d)	15 (7-119)	14 (7-119)	25 (12-74)	< 0.001

PNI: Prognostic nutrition index; ALBI: Albumin-bilirubin; NLR: Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio; PLR: Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio; LHL15: liver to heartplus-liver radioactivity at 15 min; PHLF: Posthepatectomy liver failure; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; PT-INR: Prothrombin time international normalized ratio.

Correlations between hepatic clearance of the remnant liver and PHLF

ROC curve analysis of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, liver to heart-plus-liver radioactivity at 15 min (LHL15), and ALBI score were used to predict the risk of developing PHLF (Figure 2A). The area under the ROC curve for hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and ALBI score for predicting


Table 2 Postoperative morbidity in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma									
Complication	Clavien-Dinc	T-4-1 (0/)							
Complication	I	II	Illa	lllb	IVa	IVb	۷	10tal (%)	
Pleural effusion or ascites	6		1					7 (3.5)	
Pneumonia		1	1					2 (1.0)	
Biliary leakage		1	5					6 (3.0)	
Arrhythmia	1							1 (1.0)	
Wound infection	10							10 (5.0)	
Intra-abdominal abscess		1	8					9 (4.5)	
Intra-abdominal hemorrhage			1	1				2 (1.0)	
PHLF	8	5	5	2	1		2	23 (11.6)	
Total (%)	25 (12.5)	8 (4.0)	21 (10.6)	3 (1.5)	1 (0.5)	0	2 (1.0)	60 (30.0)	

PHLF: Posthepatectomy liver failure.



Figure 2 Analysis of hepatic clearance for post hepatectomy liver failure. A: Receiver-operating characteristic curve analysis of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and albumin–bilirubin (ALBI) score in predicting PHLF. The area under the receiver-operating characteristic curve values for analysis of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and ALBI score in predicting PHLF were 0.868, 0.629, and 0.655, respectively; B: Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver for each PHLF. The median hepatic clearances of the remnant liver were 239, 153, 150.5, and 119.5 mL/min for normal, Grades A, B, and C, respectively. LHL15: liver to heart-plus-liver radioactivity at 15 min; ALBI score: Albumin–bilirubin score; PHLF: Post hepatectomy liver failure.

the development of PHLF were 0.868, 0.629, and 0.655, respectively. Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver had the highest area under the curve for predicting the development of PHLF. The cutoff values for predicting PHLF with highest sensitivity and specificity were 192 mL/min (sensitivity, 87.0%; specificity, 76.1%) for hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, 0.91 (sensitivity, 47.8%; specificity, 73.3%) for LHL15, 2.96 (sensitivity, 34.9%; specificity, 95.7%) for ALBI score. The relationship between hepatic clearance of the remnant liver and PHLF grade was evaluated (Figure 2B). The median hepatic clearances of the remnant liver were 239, 153, 150.5 and 119.5 mL/min for no PHLF, Grades A, B and C, respectively. The differences were significant for no PHLF and Grade A (P = 0.002), no PHLF and Grade B (P = 0.003), and no PHLF and Grade C (P = 0.02).

Correlation between hepatic clearance of remnant liver and morbidity and mortality

ROC curve analysis of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and ALBI score were used to predict the risk of developing major complications (Figure 3A). The area under ROC curves for hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and ALBI score for predicting major complications were 0.758, 0.594, and 0.647, respectively. Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver had the highest area under the curve for predicting the development of major complications. The cutoff values for predicting PHLF with highest sensitivity and specificity were 237 mL/min (sensitivity, 100%; specificity, 51.9%) for



Figure 3 Analysis of hepatic clearance for morbidity and mortality. A: Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and albumin–bilirubin (ALBI) score in predicting major morbidity. The area under the receiver operating characteristic curve analysis of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and ALBI score in predicting major morbidity were 0.758, 0.594, and 0.647, respectively; B: Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver for Clavien–Dindo classification. The median hepatic clearances of the remnant liver were 238 and 179 mL/min for Clavien–Dindo < III and Clavien–Dindo \geq III. LHL15: liver to heart-plus-liver radioactivity at 15 min; ALBI score: Albumin–bilirubin score.

hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, 0.94 (sensitivity, 84.2%; specificity, 36.2%) for LHL15, 2.63 (sensitivity, 69.3%; specificity, 63.2%) for ALBI score. The relationship between hepatic clearance of the remnant liver and Clavien-Dindo classification was evaluated (Figure 3B). The median hepatic clearances of the remnant liver were 238 and 179 mL/min for Clavien-Dindo < IIIa and Clavien-Dindo \geq IIIa. The differences were significant for Clavien-Dindo < IIIa and Clavien-Dindo \geq IIIa (*P* = 0.0004).

Multivariate analysis for PHLF Grade B or C

Multivariate regression analysis was performed between variables, with statistically significant differences following the univariate analysis regarding PHLF Grade B or C (Table 3). Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver [P = 0.001, odds ratio (OR): 0.973, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.952–0.995] and intraoperative blood loss (P = 0.006, OR: 1.001, 95%CI: 1.0002–1.002) were independent risk factors for PHLF Grade B or C.

Multivariate analysis for major complication and mortality

Multivariate regression analysis was performed between variables, with significant differences following the univariate analysis regarding major complications (Table 4). Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver (P = 0.004, OR: 0.988, 95% CI: 0.979–0.999) and intraoperative blood loss (P = 0.005, OR: 1.0005, 95% CI: 1.0002–1.0014) were independent risk factors for developing major complications.

DISCUSSION

Hepatic clearance was associated with PHLF and major complications. The independent risk factors for developing PHLF and major complications were the hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, and intraoperative blood loss. The results of this study show that the measurement of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver is reliable for predicting the development of PHLF and major complications.

The results of this study support the use of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver, LHL15, and ALBI score for predicting the development of PHLF and postoperative major complications in patient with HCC. LHL15 and HH15, which are hepatic uptake and blood clearance ratios in GSA scintigraphy, are the most popular and widely used in many institutions. However, they may be insufficient for accurately estimating the degree of liver function because these indices are calculated from planar scintigraphic images, which do not correctly reflect hepatocyte volume[11]. In contrast, hepatic clearance measured by SPECT analysis contains volumetric information and may correctly estimate the hepatocyte volume[11]. LHL15 reflects the function of the whole liver, but the hepatic clearance of remnant liver shows the liver function of remnant liver, therefore, hepatic clearance may reflect functional reserve and short term outcome.

Many studies have investigated the relationship between GSA scintigraphy and PHLF. However, this is the first report comparing residual liver function and major complications using GSA scintigraphy. Patients with lower remnant liver function are at higher risk for PHLF, morbidity and mortality. The



Table 3 Predictive factors for post-hepatectomy liver failure in grade B, or C								
	Univariate anal	ysis		Multivariate an				
	Р	OR	95%CI	Р	OR	95%CI		
Age (yr)	0.53	1.02	0.96-1.08					
Gender (male : female)	0.59	0.67	0.10-2.66					
Child-Pugh class	0.47	1.63	0.06-1.63					
PT-INR	0.86	0.79	0.05-11.0					
AST	0.34	0.99	0.98-1.00					
ALT	0.14	0.99	0.98-1.00					
Choline Esterase	0.24	1.00	0.99-1.01					
ALBI score	0.15	0.37	0.09-1.41	0.375	3.31	0.37-29.3		
Operation time	0.02	1.01	0.99-1.00	0.110	1.010	0.99-1.01		
Intraoperative blood loss	0.001	1.0007	1.0003-1.0012	0.033	1.001	1.0002-1.002		
Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver	< 0.001	0.972	0.958-0.987	0.002	0.973	0.952-0.995		
Functional volume of the remnant liver	0.002	0.997	0.994-0.999	0.351	0.998	0.995-1.00		
LHL15	0.02	52	2.03-1382	0.362	9.597	0.08-1211		

AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; PT-INR: Prothrombin time international normalized ratio; ALBI: Albumin-bilirubin; LHL15: liver to heart-plus-liver radioactivity at 15 min; OR: Odds ratio; CI: Confidence interval.

> quality and volume of the postoperative remnant liver have been shown to be associated with postoperative outcomes[22]. Surgeons should emphasize the remnant liver functional reserve rather than the resected liver volume[12,23]. Elevation of serum bilirubin and PT-INR are associated with morbidity and mortality, regardless of the extent of resection[24]. Liver failure after limited resection can develop. Patients with reduced reserve of the remnant liver are at higher risk for the development of PHLF and major complications[22,25,26]. The extent of surgery should be considered to preserve as much liver function as possible. Moreover PHLF grade C is most severe types of liver failure that may lead to in-hospital death[24]. In ROC curve analysis, the cutoff line of PHLF grade C was 151 mL/min (sensitivity 87.5%, specificity 100%). Patients below the cutoff line should be given special consideration by surgeons before surgery and may not be ideal candidates for hepatic resection. Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver below 100 mL/min is associated with a high mortality rate. Therefore, PTPE should be performed when hepatic clearance of the remnant liver is below 100 mL/min, and surgery should be considered when the clearance is above 100 mL/min. In addition, if hepatic clearance of the remnant liver is greater than 100 mL/min preoperatively, unnecessary PTPE can be avoided.

> The risk for developing PHLF and major complications is determined by patient and surgical factors. Intraoperative blood loss is a well-known risk factor for morbidity and mortality after hepatic resection [25,27-30]. Hemorrhage can lead to the development of metabolic acidosis as a consequence of intracellular derangements in oxygen and substrate utilization[29]. Reduced levels of cytokines and humoral factors, such as interleukin-6, hepatocyte growth factors, and growth hormone after extensive blood loss may result in decreased liver regeneration because of loss of growth factors needed for regeneration^[28].

> The present study had some limitations, including a retrospective design, and being a single center study. Preoperative GSA scintigraphy was routinely performed to estimate total liver function in this hospital. Total liver function, remnant liver function, laboratory data, and liver failure were objectively assessed in advance, which limited the risk of observation bias. Prospective multicenter trials are needed to validate the results of this study.

CONCLUSION

Lower functional reserve of the remnant liver results in a higher risk of developing PHLF and major complications in patients undergoing resection of HCC. The estimation of hepatic clearance of the remnant liver may provide guidance for determining the extent of resection in a patient-specific manner.



Table 4 Predictive factors for morbidity (Clavien–Dindo classification ≥ IIIa)								
	Univariate analysis N			Multivariate ar				
	Р	OR	95%CI	Р	OR	95%CI		
Age (yr)	0.68	1.01	0.96-1.06					
Gender (male : female)	0.69	0.80	0.27-2.36					
Child-Pugh class	0.89	1.09	0.29-2.91					
PT-INR	0.97	1.03	0.09-11.6					
AST	0.27	0.99	0.98-1.00					
ALT	0.11	0.99	0.98-1.00					
Cholinesterase	0.58	1.00	0.99-1.01					
ALBI score	0.02	3.57	1.19-10.7	0.790	1.22	0.286-5.19		
Operation time	0.01	1.01	1.00-1.01	0.166	1.004	0.991-1.015		
Intraoperative blood loss	0.001	1.0006	1.0002-1.001	0.005	1.0005	1.0002-1.0014		
Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver	< 0.001	0.986	0.978-0.994	0.004	0.988	0.979-0.999		
Functional volume of the remnant liver	0.003	0.998	0.996-0.999	0.329	0.99	0.997-1.00		
LHL15	0.13	9.9	0.53-183	0.914	1.27	0.02-99.2		

AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; PT-INR: Prothrombin time international normalized ratio; ALBI: Albumin-bilirubin; LHL15: liver to heart-plus-liver radioactivity at 15 min; OR: Odds ratio; CI: Confidence interval.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Preoperative assessment of liver function is important to reduce the rate of complications.

Research motivation

Few studies evaluate the relationship of residual liver function to complications and prognosis using hepatic clearance.

Research objectives

To measure hepatic clearance of the remnant liver using ^{99m}Tc-galactosyl serum albumin (GSA) scintigraphy, single photon emission computed tomography, to elucidate the association between residual liver function and morbidity and mortality, and to identify risk factors for those factors.

Research methods

We collected data from 199 patients who underwent resection of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatic clearance of the remnant liver was measured using fusion images of ^{99m}Tc-labelled GSA liver scintigraphy and computed tomography scans. Risk factors were determined using logistic regression multivariate analysis.

Research results

Risk factors for posthepatectomy liver failure, morbidity, and mortality were low hepatic clearance of the remnant liver and intra-operative bleeding.

Research conclusions

Lower residual liver function is associated with a poor short-term prognosis.

Research perspectives

Preoperative estimation of remnant liver function is useful to determine the surgical approach.

Zaishidena® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I especially thank Michio Ashizaki for helping patient data acquisition.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Miki A, Sakuma Y, Shimizu A and Yasuda Y designated the overall concept and outline the manuscript; Ohzawa H, Saito A, Meguro Y, Watanabe J, Morishima K, Endo K, Sasanuma H, and Sata N contributed to the discussion and design of the manuscript; Miki A and Lefor AK contributed to the writing, editing the manuscript, illustrations, and review of literature.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of Jichi Medical University, Approval No. A21-029.

Informed consent statement: Written informed consent from any patient for data collection in a prospectively collected data base is available. However, the need for written informed consent for this study was waived by the Institutional Review Board of Jichi Medical University in view of the retrospective design of the study, based on national and local guidelines such as the fact that all clinical/ laboratory measurements and procedures were part of routine care.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interest for this study.

Data sharing statement: The database contains highly confidential data which may provide insight in clinical and personnel information about patients and lead to their identification. Therefore, according to organizational restrictions and regulations these data cannot be made publicly available. However, the datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

ORCID number: Atsushi Miki 0000-0002-2908-0177; Yasunaru Sakuma 0000-0003-3633-3221; Hideyuki Ohzawa 0000-0001-9422-2840; Akira Saito 0000-0002-3247-7845; Yoshiyuki Meguro 0000-0003-4328-1909; Jun Watanabe 0000-0003-4477-4238; Kazue Morishima 0000-0002-7837-3742; Kazuhiro Endo 0000-0002-2845-3533; Hideki Sasanuma 0000-0002-9758-7295; Atsushi Shimizu 0000-0001-6249-4489; Alan Kawarai Lefor 0000-0001-6673-5630; Yoshikazu Yasuda 0000-0002-4101-6629; Naohiro Sata 0000-0002-6689-5623.

S-Editor: Chang KL L-Editor: Kerr C P-Editor: Chang KL

REFERENCES

- Shimada M, Takenaka K, Fujiwara Y, Gion T, Shirabe K, Yanaga K, Sugimachi K. Risk factors linked to postoperative 1 morbidity in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Surg 1998; 85: 195-198 [PMID: 9501814 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2168.1998.00567.x
- Huang J, Hernandez-Alejandro R, Croome KP, Zeng Y, Wu H, Chen Z. Hepatic resection for huge (>15 cm) multinodular 2 HCC with macrovascular invasion. J Surg Res 2012; 178: 743-750 [PMID: 22656039 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2012.04.058]
- Wang YY, Zhao XH, Ma L, Ye JZ, Wu FX, Tang J, You XM, Xiang BD, Li LQ. Comparison of the ability of Child-Pugh score, MELD score, and ICG-R15 to assess preoperative hepatic functional reserve in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. J Surg Oncol 2018; 118: 440-445 [PMID: 30259515 DOI: 10.1002/jso.25184]
- Tomimaru Y, Eguchi H, Gotoh K, Kawamoto K, Wada H, Asaoka T, Noda T, Yamada D, Ogawa H, Umeshita K, Nagano H, Doki Y, Mori M. Platelet count is more useful for predicting posthepatectomy liver failure at surgery for hepatocellular carcinoma than indocyanine green clearance test. J Surg Oncol 2016; 113: 565-569 [PMID: 26751258 DOI: 10.1002/jso.24166]
- Park HJ, Seo KI, Kim SJ, Lee SU, Yun BC, Han BH, Shin DH, Choi YI, Moon HH. Effectiveness of Albumin-bilirubin 5 Score as a Predictor of Post-hepatectomy Liver Failure in Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Korean J Gastroenterol 2021; 77: 115-122 [PMID: 33658474 DOI: 10.4166/kjg.2020.148]
- Kubota K, Makuuchi M, Kusaka K, Kobayashi T, Miki K, Hasegawa K, Harihara Y, Takayama T. Measurement of liver volume and hepatic functional reserve as a guide to decision-making in resectional surgery for hepatic tumors. Hepatology



1997; 26: 1176-1181 [PMID: 9362359 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.1997.v26.pm0009362359]

- 7 Sugahara K, Togashi H, Takahashi K, Onodera Y, Sanjo M, Misawa K, Suzuki A, Adachi T, Ito J, Okumoto K, Hattori E, Takeda T, Watanabe H, Saito K, Saito T, Sugai Y, Kawata S. Separate analysis of asialoglycoprotein receptors in the right and left hepatic lobes using Tc-GSA SPECT. Hepatology 2003; 38: 1401-1409 [PMID: 14647051 DOI: 10.1016/j.hep.2003.09.031]
- Akaki S, Okumura Y, Sasai N, Sato S, Tsunoda M, Kuroda M, Kanazawa S, Hiraki Y. Hepatectomy simulation 8 discrepancy between radionuclide receptor imaging and CT volumetry: influence of decreased unilateral portal venous flow. Ann Nucl Med 2003; 17: 23-29 [PMID: 12691127 DOI: 10.1007/BF02988255]
- Li XF, Taki J, Kinuya S, Higuchi T, Konishi S, Hwang EH, Shuke N, Nakajima K, Tonami N. Asialoglycoprotein receptor concentration in tumor-bearing livers and its fate early after their sectorial resection. Ann Nucl Med 2003; 17: 489-493 [PMID: 14575385 DOI: 10.1007/BF03006440]
- 10 limuro Y, Kashiwagi T, Yamanaka J, Hirano T, Saito S, Sugimoto T, Watanabe S, Kuroda N, Okada T, Asano Y, Uyama N, Fujimoto J. Preoperative estimation of asialoglycoprotein receptor expression in the remnant liver from CT/99mTc-GSA SPECT fusion images correlates well with postoperative liver function parameters. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2010; 17: 673-681 [PMID: 20703846 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-010-0264-6]
- Taniguchi M, Okizaki A, Watanabe K, Imai K, Uchida K, Einama T, Shuke N, Miyokawa N, Furukawa H. Hepatic clearance measured with (99m)Tc-GSA single-photon emission computed tomography to estimate liver fibrosis. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 16714-16720 [PMID: 25469042 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i44.16714]
- 12 Yumoto Y, Yagi T, Sato S, Nouso K, Kobayashi Y, Ohmoto M, Yumoto E, Nagaya I, Nakatsukasa H. Preoperative estimation of remnant hepatic function using fusion images obtained by (99m)Tc-labelled galactosyl-human serum albumin liver scintigraphy and computed tomography. Br J Surg 2010; 97: 934-944 [PMID: 20474004 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.7025]
- 13 Ha-Kawa SK, Tanaka Y, Hasebe S, Kuniyasu Y, Koizumi K, Ishii Y, Yamamoto K, Kashiwagi T, Ito A, Kudo M, Ikekubo K, Tsuda T, Murase K. Compartmental analysis of asialoglycoprotein receptor scintigraphy for quantitative measurement of liver function: a multicentre study. Eur J Nucl Med 1997; 24: 130-137 [PMID: 9021109 DOI: 10.1007/BF02439544]
- 14 Harada K, Mizuguchi T, Katagiri Y, Kawamoto M, Nakamura Y, Meguro M, Ota S, Sasaki S, Miyanishi K, Sonoda T, Mori M, Shinomura Y, Kato J, Hirata K. Area between the hepatic and heart curves of (99m)Tc-galactosyl-human serum albumin scintigraphy represents liver function and disease progression for preoperative evaluation in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2012; 19: 667-673 [PMID: 22179579 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-011-0486-2]
- Shuke N, Okizaki A, Kino S, Sato J, Ishikawa Y, Zhao C, Kinuya S, Watanabe N, Yokoyama K, Aburano T. Functional 15 mapping of regional liver asialoglycoprotein receptor amount from single blood sample and SPECT. J Nucl Med 2003; 44: 475-482 [PMID: 12621017]
- Kwon AH, Ha-Kawa SK, Uetsuji S, Inoue T, Matsui Y, Kamiyama Y. Preoperative determination of the surgical procedure 16 for hepatectomy using technetium-99m-galactosyl human serum albumin (99mTc-GSA) liver scintigraphy. Hepatology 1997; 25: 426-429 [PMID: 9021958 DOI: 10.1002/hep.510250228]
- 17 Kwon AH, Ha-Kawa SK, Uetsuji S, Kamiyama Y, Tanaka Y. Use of technetium 99m diethylenetriamine-pentaacetic acidgalactosyl-human serum albumin liver scintigraphy in the evaluation of preoperative and postoperative hepatic functional reserve for hepatectomy. Surgery 1995; 117: 429-434 [PMID: 7716725 DOI: 10.1016/s0039-6060(05)80063-7]
- 18 Sawamura T, Kawasato S, Shiozaki Y, Sameshima Y, Nakada H, Tashiro Y. Decrease of a hepatic binding protein specific for asialoglycoproteins with accumulation of serum asialoglycoproteins in galactosamine-treated rats. Gastroenterology 1981; 81: 527-533 [PMID: 7250640]
- Pang YY. The Brisbane 2000 terminology of liver anatomy and resections. HPB 2000; 2:333-39. HPB (Oxford) 2002; 4: 99; author reply 99-99; author reply100 [PMID: 18332933 DOI: 10.1080/136518202760378489]
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien PA. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort 20 of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg 2004; 240: 205-213 [PMID: 15273542 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000133083.54934.ae
- Rahbari NN, Garden OJ, Padbury R, Brooke-Smith M, Crawford M, Adam R, Koch M, Makuuchi M, Dematteo RP, Christophi C, Banting S, Usatoff V, Nagino M, Maddern G, Hugh TJ, Vauthey JN, Greig P, Rees M, Yokoyama Y, Fan ST, Nimura Y, Figueras J, Capussotti L, Büchler MW, Weitz J. Posthepatectomy liver failure: a definition and grading by the International Study Group of Liver Surgery (ISGLS). Surgery 2011; 149: 713-724 [PMID: 21236455 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2010.10.001]
- 22 Safiri S, Ayubi E. Comments on combining albumin-bilirubin score with future liver remnant predicts posthepatectomy liver failure in HBV-associated HCC patients. Liver Int 2018; 38: 761 [PMID: 28792643 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13542]
- Vauthey JN, Chaoui A, Do KA, Bilimoria MM, Fenstermacher MJ, Charnsangavej C, Hicks M, Alsfasser G, Lauwers G, 23 Hawkins IF, Caridi J. Standardized measurement of the future liver remnant prior to extended liver resection: methodology and clinical associations. Surgery 2000; 127: 512-519 [PMID: 10819059 DOI: 10.1067/msy.2000.105294]
- Reissfelder C, Rahbari NN, Koch M, Kofler B, Sutedja N, Elbers H, Büchler MW, Weitz J. Postoperative course and 24 clinical significance of biochemical blood tests following hepatic resection. Br J Surg 2011; 98: 836-844 [PMID: 21456090 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.7459]
- 25 Kokudo N, Vera DR, Tada K, Koizumi M, Seki M, Matsubara T, Ohta H, Yamaguchi T, Takahashi T, Nakajima T, Muto T. Predictors of successful hepatic resection: prognostic usefulness of hepatic asialoglycoprotein receptor analysis. World J Surg 2002; 26: 1342-1347 [PMID: 12297928 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-002-6262-3]
- 26 Torizuka K, Ha-Kawa SK, Kudo M, Kubota Y, Yamamoto K, Itoh K, Nagao K, Uchiyama G, Koizumi K, Sasaki Y. [Phase III multi-center clinical study on 99mTc-GSA, a new agent for functional imaging of the liver]. Kaku Igaku 1992; 29: 159-181 [PMID: 1564788]
- Yang T, Zhang J, Lu JH, Yang GS, Wu MC, Yu WF. Risk factors influencing postoperative outcomes of major hepatic 27 resection of hepatocellular carcinoma for patients with underlying liver diseases. World J Surg 2011; 35: 2073-2082 [PMID: 21656309 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-011-1161-0]
- Shirabe K, Motomura T, Takeishi K, Morita K, Kayashima H, Taketomi A, Ikegami T, Soejima Y, Yoshizumi T, Maehara Y. Human early liver regeneration after hepatectomy in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: special reference to age.



Scand J Surg 2013; 102: 101-105 [PMID: 23820685 DOI: 10.1177/1457496913482250]

- 29 Cucchetti A, Siniscalchi A, Ercolani G, Vivarelli M, Cescon M, Grazi GL, Faenza S, Pinna AD. Modification of acid-base balance in cirrhotic patients undergoing liver resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann Surg 2007; 245: 902-908 [PMID: 17522516 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000256356.23026.9f]
- 30 Jarnagin WR, Gonen M, Fong Y, DeMatteo RP, Ben-Porat L, Little S, Corvera C, Weber S, Blumgart LH. Improvement in perioperative outcome after hepatic resection: analysis of 1,803 consecutive cases over the past decade. Ann Surg 2002; 236: 397-406; discussion 406 [PMID: 12368667 DOI: 10.1097/01.SLA.0000029003.66466.B3]



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5626-5635

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5626

Retrospective Study

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

A new scoring system to evaluate adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy

Quan Xu, Wen-Zhe Kang, Jian-Ping Xiong, Xin-Xin Shao, Wei-Kun Li, Hai-Tao Hu, Yan-Tao Tian

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): E

P-Reviewer: Acikgoz Y, Turkey; Dumitrașcu T, Romania; Hsu JT, Taiwan; Hwang GS, South Korea; Liu YQ, United States; Ntavatzikos A, Greece

Received: June 9, 2022 Peer-review started: June 9, 2022 First decision: August 1, 2022 Revised: August 19, 2022 Accepted: September 21, 2022 Article in press: September 21, 2022 Published online: October 14, 2022



Quan Xu, Wen-Zhe Kang, Jian-Ping Xiong, Xin-Xin Shao, Wei-Kun Li, Hai-Tao Hu, Yan-Tao Tian, Department of Pancreatic and Gastric Surgery, National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing 100021, China

Corresponding author: Yan-Tao Tian, PhD, Professor, Department of Pancreatic and Gastric Surgery, National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, No. 17 Panjiayuan Nanli, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100021, China. tianyantao@cicams.ac.cn

Abstract

BACKGROUND

At present, there is insufficient medical evidence to determine whether adjuvant chemotherapy is necessary for T2N0M0 gastric cancer.

AIM

To obtain a risk score to assess the need for adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer.

METHODS

We identified 325 patients with pathological T2N0M0 stage primary gastric cancer at the National Cancer Center between 2011 and 2018. Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses were performed to predict factors affecting prognosis. Vascular invasion, tumor site, and body mass index were assessed, and a scoring system was established. We compared the survival outcomes and benefits of adjuvant chemotherapy between the different subgroups.

RESULTS

Five-year survival rates of the score 0, 1, 2, and 3 groups were 92%, 95%, 80%, and 50%, respectively (P < 0.001). In the score 2-3 group, five-year survival rates for patients in the adjuvant chemotherapy group and postoperative observation group were 95% and 61%, respectively (P = 0.021).

CONCLUSION

For patients with T2N0M0 stage gastric cancer and two or more risk factors, adjuvant chemotherapy after D2 gastrectomy may have a survival benefit.

Key Words: Gastric cancer; Risk score; T2N0M0; Adjuvant chemotherapy; D2



gastrectomy; Survival

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: It is controversial whether adjuvant chemotherapy is necessary for stage T2N0M0 gastric cancer. In our study, we assessed the risk score of patients with pathologic T2N0M0 gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy, based on clinicopathological factors, and identified a high-risk subgroup that could benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy. For patients with T2N0M0 stage gastric cancer with two or more risk factors, adjuvant chemotherapy after D2 gastrectomy may have a survival benefit.

Citation: Xu Q, Kang WZ, Xiong JP, Shao XX, Li WK, Hu HT, Tian YT. A new scoring system to evaluate adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28(38): 5626-5635

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5626.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5626

INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer is one of the most common malignancies worldwide[1-3]. D2 gastrectomy combined with postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy is the main treatment modality for advanced gastric cancer [4-8]. According to the 8th edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) guidelines for gastric cancer, T2 was defined as tumor invasion of the muscularis propria[9]. It is controversial whether adjuvant chemotherapy is necessary for stage T2N0M0 gastric cancer[10-16]. Previous studies have suggested that patients with stage I gastric cancer cannot benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy[17]. However, there are some risk factors for recurrence of T2N0M0 gastric cancer, such as lymphatic and/or blood vessel invasion, tumor diameter, perineural invasion, proximal tumor location, and poor differentiation[14,18]. Postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy may inhibit the recurrence in these patients. To further clarify the indications for the use of postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy in T2N0M0 gastric cancer, we reviewed 325 patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer admitted to the National Cancer Center between 2011 and 2018. In this study, we assessed the risk score of patients with pathologic T2N0M0 gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy based on clinicopathological factors and identified a high-risk subgroup that could benefit from postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient selection

We identified 402 patients with pathological T2N0M0 stage primary gastric carcinoma and gastroesophageal junction carcinoma (as defined by the AJCC guidelines, 8th edition) who were admitted to the Department of Pancreatic and Gastric Surgery, National Cancer Center, from 2011 to 2018. Three hundred and twenty-five patients were included in our study, all of whom underwent D2 gastrectomy. A total of 63 patients received post-operative adjuvant chemotherapy. The major chemotherapy regimens included platinum + 5-FU; paclitaxel + platinum + 5-FU; and others. Adjuvant chemotherapy is usually performed for 4-6 cycles. Exclusion criteria included loss to follow-up, lack of adenocarcinoma, neoadjuvant chemotherapy, adjuvant radiotherapy, Siewert I type/Siewert II type gastroesophageal junction carcinoma invading the dentate line, and postoperative survival time < 1 mo. Patients were followed-up by telephone. The follow-up was completed on April 30, 2020. The median follow-up time was 65.4 mo.

Statistical analyses

Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses were performed to screen for prognostic variables. Variables with a *P* value < 0.05 and < 0.25 in the univariate and multivariable Cox regression analyses were included in the study. Three variables were included in total: Vascular invasion, tumor site, and body mass index (BMI). The tumor site was classified as cardiac or non-cardiac. Cardiac cancer refers to Siewert type II gastroesophageal junction carcinoma that does not invade the dentate line and Siewert type III gastroesophageal junction carcinoma. BMI of < 18.5 or > 23.9, positive result of vascular invasion, and cardiac cancer were defined as risk factors. Each risk factor was assigned one point, and a total of four groups were obtained, which were defined as scores 0, 1, 2, and 3, respectively. We found that patients with a score \geq 2 had a poor prognosis, and chemotherapy significantly improved



Table 1 Clinicopathologic variables of	325 T2N0N	10 gastric cancer patients		
Variable	Overall	Adjuvant chemotherapy group	Postoperative observation group	P value
	325	63	262	
Age (yr) <i>n</i> (%)				0.609
< 40	20 (6.2)	3 (4.8)	17 (6.5)	
≥ 40	305 (93.8)	60 (95.2)	245 (93.5)	
Sex, <i>n</i> (%)				0.878
Male	250 (76.9)	48 (76.2)	202 (77.1)	
Female	75 (23.1)	15 (23.8)	60 (22.9)	
Smoking history, n (%)				0.363
Yes	169 (52.0)	36 (57.1)	133 (50.8)	
No	156 (48.0)	27 (42.9)	129 (49.2)	
Family history of gastric cancer, <i>n</i> (%)				0.852
Yes	24 (7.4)	5 (7.9)	19 (7.3)	
No	301 (92.6)	58 (92.1)	243 (92.7)	
BMI, n (%)				0.150
< 18.5 or > 23.9	176 (54.2)	29 (46.0)	147 (56.1)	
18.5-23.9	149 (45.8)	34 (54.0)	115 (43.9)	
Postoperative hospital stay, n (%)				0.747
≤ 14 d	285 (87.7)	56 (88.9)	229 (87.4)	
> 14 d	40 (12.3)	7 (11.1)	33 (12.6)	
Tumor site, <i>n</i> (%)				0.004
Cardia cancer	105 (32.3)	30 (47.6)	75 (28.6)	
Non-cardia gastric cancer	220 (67.7)	33 (52.4)	187 (71.4)	
The degree of differentiation, n (%)				0.571
Poorly differentiated	121 (37.2)	24 (38.1)	97 (37.0)	
Moderately differentiated	178 (54.8)	36 (57.1)	142 (54.2)	
Highly differentiated	26 (8.0)	3 (4.8)	23 (8.8)	
Vascular invasion, <i>n</i> (%)				0.014
Yes	54 (16.6)	17 (27.0)	37 (14.1)	
No	271 (83.4)	46 (73.0)	225 (85.9)	

BMI: Body mass index.

prognosis. According to the study results, scores of 2-3 were defined as the high-risk group. The Kaplan-Meier method was used to calculate the 5-year survival rate and compare the overall survival (OS) between the different score groups.

Statistical analysis was performed using the R software 4.0.5 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) and the SPSS 22.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). Each test was bilateral, and statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Clinicopathological characteristics, univariate and multivariable cox regression analyses

A total of 325 patients were recruited for this study. Table 1 summarizes the clinicopathological characteristics of the patients enrolled in this study. Univariate Cox regression analysis demonstrated that the tumor site (P = 0.022, Table 2), vascular invasion (P < 0.001, Table 2), and BMI (P = 0.036, Table 2) were



Table 2 Univariate Cox Proportional Hazards Modeling for overall survival						
Clinicopathological features	HR (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value				
Sex						
Male	Reference					
Female	0.278 (0.066-1.172)	P = 0.081				
Smoking history						
Yes	Reference					
No	0.605 (0.276-1.323)	P = 0.208				
Family history of gastric cancer						
Yes	Reference					
No	0.550 (0.075-4.057)	P = 0.558				
BMI						
18.5-23.9	Reference					
> 23.9 or < 18.5	2.509 (1.060-5.937)	<i>P</i> = 0.036				
Postoperative hospital stay						
≤14 d	Reference					
> 14 d	0.990 (0.298-3.292)	P = 0.987				
Tumor site						
Cardia cancer	Reference					
Non-cardia gastric cancer	0.411 (0.192-0.878)	P = 0.022				
The degree of differentiation						
Poorly differentiated	Reference					
Moderately differentiated	1.330 (0.574-3.082)	P = 0.507				
Highly differentiated	0.857 (0.182-4.043)	<i>P</i> = 0.846				
Vascular invasion						
Yes	Reference					
No	0.097 (0.044-0.212)	<i>P</i> < 0.001				

BMI: Body mass index; HR: Hazard ratio; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.

significant risk factors for OS. Multivariate Cox regression analysis demonstrated that vascular invasion was an independent risk factor for OS (P < 0.001, Table 3).

Vascular invasion, tumor site, and BMI were assessed in the study, and a scoring system was established.

Survival results of different groups

Figure 1A summarizes the survival curves of patients with scores of 0, 1, 2, and 3. There were significant differences among all groups except for the score 0 and 1 groups (score 0 group *vs* score 1 group, P = 0.537; score 0 group *vs* score 2 group, P = 0.049; score 0 group *vs* score 3 group, P < 0.001; score 1 group *vs* score 2 group, P = 0.003; score 1 group *vs* score 3 group, P < 0.001; score 3 group, P = 0.003; score 1 group *vs* score 3 group, P < 0.001; score 2 group, P = 0.003; score 1 group *vs* score 3 group, P < 0.001; score 2 group *vs* score 3 group, P = 0.008). For all patients, 5-year survival rates of the adjuvant chemotherapy and postoperative observation groups were 96% and 90%, respectively (P = 0.676, Table 4). Five-year survival rates of the score 0, 1, 2, and 3 groups were 92%, 95%, 80%, and 50%, respectively (P < 0.001, Table 4). In the score 0 and score 1 groups, there were no differences in the 5-year survival rates between the postoperative observation and adjuvant chemotherapy groups. In the score 2-3 group, 5-year survival rates for patients in the adjuvant chemotherapy group and postoperative observation group were 95% and 61%, respectively (P = 0.021, Table 4).

Figure 1B-D summarizes the survival curves of patients with scores of 0, 1, and score 2-3 T2N0M0 gastric cancer in the adjuvant chemotherapy and postoperative observation groups. Table 5 summarizes the distribution of the different risk factors in each risk score group.

Table 3 Multivariable Cox Proportional Hazards Modeling for overall survival							
Clinicopathological features	HR (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value					
Sex							
Male	Reference						
Female	0.390 (0.076-1.988)	P = 0.257					
Smoking history							
Yes	Reference						
No	0.725 (0.308-1.710)	P = 0.463					
Family history of gastric cancer							
Yes	Reference						
No	0.495 (0.058-4.224)	P = 0.521					
BMI							
18.5-23.9	Reference						
> 23.9 or < 18.5	1.848 (0.760-4.490)	P = 0.175					
Postoperative hospital stay							
≤ 14 d	Reference						
> 14 d	1.198 (0.350-4.100)	P = 0.960					
Tumor site							
Cardia cancer	Reference						
Non-cardia gastric cancer	0.620 (0.277-1.390)	<i>P</i> = 0.246					
The degree of differentiation							
Poorly differentiated	Reference						
Moderately differentiated	0.517 (0.206-1.300)	P = 0.161					
Highly differentiated	0.390 (0.077-1.960)	P = 0.305					
Vascular invasion							
Yes	Reference						
No	0.106 (0.045-0.246)	<i>P</i> < 0.001					

HR: Hazard ratio; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.

DISCUSSION

Our study found that adjuvant chemotherapy is necessary for the treatment of T2N0M0 gastric cancer patients with two or more risk factors. The risk factors included vascular invasion, BMI, and tumor site. Based on these results, we obtained a simple risk score to assess the need for adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer. Patients with a score 2-3 were assigned to the high-risk group.Previous studies have shown that adjuvant chemotherapy can prolong OS in advanced gastric cancer and reduce recurrence^[19]. However, evidence of the survival benefits of adjuvant chemotherapy for early gastric cancer is lacking. Although there is no lymph node metastasis in T2N0M0 gastric cancer, some patients still experience recurrence[10-16]. Therefore, it is important to identify patients with stage T2N0M0 gastric cancer who are at high risk of recurrence and may require adjuvant chemotherapy. Univariate Cox regression analysis demonstrated that tumor site (P = 0.022, Table 2), vascular invasion (P < 0.001, Table 2), and BMI (P = 0.036, Table 2) were significant risk factors for OS in patients with T2N0M0 disease. Multivariate Cox regression analysis showed that vascular invasion was an independent prognostic indicator in patients with T2N0M0 disease[14]. Tumor site has been reported to be a prognostic risk factor for stage IB gastric cancer[11]. The 5-year OS rate of patients with stage IB gastric cancer whose tumors are located in the upper third of the stomach is only 81.8%, which is lower than that of patients with stage II disease receiving S-1 adjuvant chemotherapy[5]. Another study that followed 532 patients reported poorer long-term survival in patients with proximal gastric cancer than in those with distal gastric cancer^[20]. Proximal gastric cancer has a higher proportion of undifferentiated tumors, and tumors located in this region can metastasize to almost all lymph nodes, except in the



Table 4 Five-year survival rates of different groups							
	Group	n	5-year survival rate	Log rank test			
All patients				P = 0.676			
	Adjuvant chemotherapy	63	96%				
	Postoperative observation	262	90%				
Risk score				P < 0.001			
	Score 0 group	98	92%				
	Score 1 group	152	95%				
	Score 2 group	69	80%				
	Score 3 group	6	50%				
Score 0 group				P = 0.825			
	Adjuvant chemotherapy	13	92%				
	Postoperative observation	85	92%				
Score 1 group				P = 0.308			
	Adjuvant chemotherapy	22	92%				
	Postoperative observation	130	96%				
Score 2-3 group				P = 0.021			
	Adjuvant chemotherapy	28	95%				
	Postoperative observation	47	61%				

Table 5 Distribution of three different risk factors in each score group BMI < 18.5 or > 23.9 Vascular invasion Cardia cancer All 149 54 105 Score 0 group 0 0 0 Score 1 group 92 15 45 Score 2 group 51 33 54 Score 3 group 6 6 6

BMI: Body mass index.

five groups[11]. These factors may account for the lower survival rates of patients with proximal gastric cancer. Several studies have shown that BMI affects the prognosis of patients with gastric cancer[21-26]. Low BMI was associated with malnutrition, whereas high BMI was associated with a higher risk of surgery and a higher rate of postoperative complications. A high BMI also increases the risk of stomach cancer[27]. The degree of tumor differentiation was not included in the study, possibly because poorly differentiated tumors do not show significant aggressiveness in the early stages of tumor development.

Based on these findings, we developed a scoring system to assess the need for the use of adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer. Patients with no or only one risk factor had good prognosis after D2 gastrectomy and did not require adjuvant chemotherapy. Patients in the score 2-3 group had a significantly worse prognosis and could benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy. Our study may help to provide targeted treatment for patients with stage T2N0M0 gastric cancer. This study had some limitations. This was a single-center retrospective study with a lower level of evidence than that of a prospective study. We did not classify the patients into subgroups based on the number of lymph nodes removed. The number of lymph node dissections has a significant effect on OS. For patients with stage T1-2 node-negative gastric cancer, the 5-year survival rate increased by 7.6% for every 10 Lymph nodes examined[28]. No recurrence-free survival or recurrence pattern was observed. We did not discuss the genetic characteristics of patients with gastric cancer included in the study. Genetic characteristics of patients with gastric cancer included in the study. Genetic characteristics of patients with gastric cancer included in the study.

Zaishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Survival curves. A: The survival curves of score 0 group, score 1 group, score 2 group and score 3 group patients; B: The survival curves of score 0 T2N0M0 gastric cancer patients in adjuvant chemotherapy group and postoperative observation group; C: The survival curves of score 1 T2N0M0 gastric cancer patients in adjuvant chemotherapy group and postoperative observation group; D: The survival curves of score 2-3 T2N0M0 gastric cancer patients in adjuvant chemotherapy group. OS: Overall survival.

CONCLUSION

For patients with T2N0M0 stage gastric cancer and two or more risk factors, adjuvant chemotherapy after D2 gastrectomy may have a survival benefit. Individualized treatment should be adopted according to examination and pathological results in patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

It is controversial whether adjuvant chemotherapy is necessary for stage T2N0M0 gastric cancer.

Research motivation

To further clarify the indications for the use of postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer.

Research objectives

To obtain a risk score to assess the need for adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer.

Research methods

Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses were performed to predict factors affecting prognosis. Vascular invasion, tumor site, and BMI were assessed, and a scoring system was established.



We compared the survival outcomes and benefits of adjuvant chemotherapy between the different subgroups.

Research results

Five-year survival rates of the score 0, 1, 2, and 3 groups were 92%, 95%, 80%, and 50%, respectively ($P < 10^{-10}$ 0.001). In the score 2-3 group, five-year survival rates for patients in the adjuvant chemotherapy group and postoperative observation group were 95% and 61%, respectively (P = 0.021).

Research conclusions

For patients with T2N0M0 stage gastric cancer and two or more risk factors, adjuvant chemotherapy after D2 gastrectomy may have a survival benefit.

Research perspectives

Individualized treatment should be adopted according to examination and pathological results in patients with T2N0M0 gastric cancer.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Xu Q and Kang WZ contributed equally to this work; Tian YT and Xu Q designed the research; Kang WZ, Xiong JP, and Shao XX analyzed the data and wrote the paper; Li WK and Hu HT collected the patient's clinical data.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82072734.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College Institutional Review Board (Approval No. 17-156/1412).

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Dataset available from the author at kwz@whu.edu.cn.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Quan Xu 0000-0001-6177-9503; Wen-Zhe Kang 0000-0001-9965-8109; Jian-Ping Xiong 0000-0001-6593-6377; Xin-Xin Shao 0000-0002-1826-3832; Wei-Kun Li 0000-0002-3883-1497; Hai-Tao Hu 0000-0003-0585-6070; Yan-Tao Tian 0000-0001-6479-7547.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: 1 GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71: 209-249 [PMID: 33538338 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21660]
- 2 Chen W, Zheng R, Baade PD, Zhang S, Zeng H, Bray F, Jemal A, Yu XQ, He J. Cancer statistics in China, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 2016; 66: 115-132 [PMID: 26808342 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21338]
- Smyth EC, Nilsson M, Grabsch HI, van Grieken NC, Lordick F. Gastric cancer. Lancet 2020; 396: 635-648 [PMID: 3 32861308 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31288-5]
- 4 Bang YJ, Kim YW, Yang HK, Chung HC, Park YK, Lee KH, Lee KW, Kim YH, Noh SI, Cho JY, Mok YJ, Ji J, Yeh TS, Button P, Sirzén F, Noh SH; CLASSIC trial investigators. Adjuvant capecitabine and oxaliplatin for gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy (CLASSIC): a phase 3 open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2012; 379: 315-321 [PMID: 22226517 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61873-4]
- Sasako M, Sakuramoto S, Katai H, Kinoshita T, Furukawa H, Yamaguchi T, Nashimoto A, Fujii M, Nakajima T, Ohashi Y. Five-year outcomes of a randomized phase III trial comparing adjuvant chemotherapy with S-1 versus surgery alone in stage II or III gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 4387-4393 [PMID: 22010012 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2011.36.5908]



- 6 Yoshida K, Kodera Y, Kochi M, Ichikawa W, Kakeji Y, Sano T, Nagao N, Takahashi M, Takagane A, Watanabe T, Kaji M, Okitsu H, Nomura T, Matsui T, Yoshikawa T, Matsuyama J, Yamada M, Ito S, Takeuchi M, Fujii M. Addition of Docetaxel to Oral Fluoropyrimidine Improves Efficacy in Patients With Stage III Gastric Cancer: Interim Analysis of JACCRO GC-07, a Randomized Controlled Trial. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 1296-1304 [PMID: 30925125 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.18.01138
- 7 Yoshikawa T, Terashima M, Mizusawa J, Nunobe S, Nishida Y, Yamada T, Kaji M, Fukushima N, Hato S, Choda Y, Yabusaki H, Yoshida K, Ito S, Takeno A, Yasuda T, Kawachi Y, Katayama H, Fukuda H, Boku N, Sano T, Sasako M. Four courses versus eight courses of adjuvant S-1 for patients with stage II gastric cancer (JCOG1104 [OPAS-1]): an open-label, phase 3, non-inferiority, randomised trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 4: 208-216 [PMID: 30679107 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(18)30383-2
- Noh SH, Park SR, Yang HK, Chung HC, Chung IJ, Kim SW, Kim HH, Choi JH, Kim HK, Yu W, Lee JI, Shin DB, Ji J, Chen JS, Lim Y, Ha S, Bang YJ; CLASSIC trial investigators. Adjuvant capecitabine plus oxaliplatin for gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy (CLASSIC): 5-year follow-up of an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014; 15: 1389-1396 [PMID: 25439693 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70473-5]
- 9 Amin MB, Edge S, Greene F, Byrd DR, Brookland RK, Washington MK, Gershenwald JE, Compton CC, Hess KR, Sullivan DC, Jessup JM, Brierley JD, Gaspar LE, Schilsky RL, Balch CM, Winchester DP, Asare EA, Madera M, Gress DM, Meyer LR. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 8th ed. New York: Springer
- Yu B, Park JY, Park KB, Kwon OK, Lee SS, Chung HY. Prognostic Factors in Stage IB Gastric Cancer after Surgical Resection. J Gastric Cancer 2020; 20: 328-336 [PMID: 33024588 DOI: 10.5230/jgc.2020.20.e30]
- 11 Aoyama T, Yoshikawa T, Fujikawa H, Hayashi T, Ogata T, Cho H, Yamada T, Hasegawa S, Tsuchida K, Yukawa N, Oshima T, Oba MS, Morita S, Rino Y, Masuda M. Prognostic factors in stage IB gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 6580-6585 [PMID: 24914380 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i21.6580]
- 12 Wang Z, Yan J, Hu W, Zhang J, Huo B. Adjuvant chemotherapy provided survival benefit for stage T2N0 gastric cancer with high-risk factors. Neoplasma 2018; 65: 592-598 [PMID: 29940758 DOI: 10.4149/neo 2018 170620N436]
- 13 In H, Kantor O, Sharpe SM, Baker MS, Talamonti MS, Posner MC. Adjuvant Therapy Improves Survival for T2N0 Gastric Cancer Patients with Sub-optimal Lymphadenectomy. Ann Surg Oncol 2016; 23: 1956-1962 [PMID: 26753752 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-015-5075-1
- Du C, Zhou Y, Huang K, Zhao G, Fu H, Shi Y. Defining a high-risk subgroup of pathological T2N0 gastric cancer by 14 prognostic risk stratification for adjuvant therapy. J Gastrointest Surg 2011; 15: 2153-2158 [PMID: 21938559 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-011-1684-6
- Saito H, Murakami Y, Miyatani K, Kuroda H, Matsunaga T, Fukumoto Y, Osaki T, Ikeguchi M. Predictive factors for 15 recurrence in T2N0 and T3N0 gastric cancer patients. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2016; 401: 823-828 [PMID: 27460840 DOI: 10.1007/s00423-016-1480-6]
- 16 Gabriel E, Attwood K, Narayanan S, Brady M, Nurkin S, Hochwald S, Kukar M. Does neoadjuvant/perioperative chemotherapy improve overall survival for T2N0 gastric adenocarcinoma? J Surg Oncol 2018; 117: 659-670 [PMID: 29127704 DOI: 10.1002/jso.24894]
- Coburn NG, Govindarajan A, Law CH, Guller U, Kiss A, Ringash J, Swallow CJ, Baxter NN. Stage-specific effect of 17 adjuvant therapy following gastric cancer resection: a population-based analysis of 4,041 patients. Ann Surg Oncol 2008; 15: 500-507 [PMID: 18026800 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-007-9640-0]
- 18 Jin LX, Moses LE, Squires MH 3rd, Poultsides GA, Votanopoulos K, Weber SM, Bloomston M, Pawlik TM, Hawkins WG, Linehan DC, Strasberg SM, Schmidt C, Worhunsky DJ, Acher AW, Cardona K, Cho CS, Kooby DA, Levine E, Winslow ER, Saunders ND, Spolverato G, Maithel SK, Fields RC. Factors Associated With Recurrence and Survival in Lymph Node-negative Gastric Adenocarcinoma: A 7-Institution Study of the US Gastric Cancer Collaborative. Ann Surg 2015; 262: 999-1005 [PMID: 25607760 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000001084]
- 19 Jiang Z, Sun Y, Zhang W, Cui C, Yang L, Zhou A. Comparison of S-1 plus oxaliplatin (SOX) and capecitabine plus oxaliplatin (XELOX) as adjuvant chemotherapies for stage II and III gastric cancer after D2 resection: A single-center retrospective study. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2020; 16: 180-186 [PMID: 32077628 DOI: 10.1111/ajco.13321]
- 20 Piso P, Werner U, Lang H, Mirena P, Klempnauer J. Proximal versus distal gastric carcinoma--what are the differences? Ann Surg Oncol 2000; 7: 520-525 [PMID: 10947021 DOI: 10.1007/s10434-000-0520-0]
- Wada T, Kunisaki C, Ono HA, Makino H, Akiyama H, Endo I. Implications of BMI for the Prognosis of Gastric Cancer 21 among the Japanese Population. Dig Surg 2015; 32: 480-486 [PMID: 26529523 DOI: 10.1159/000440654]
- 22 Guo ZQ, Yu JM, Li W, Fu ZM, Lin Y, Shi YY, Hu W, Ba Y, Li SY, Li ZN, Wang KH, Wu J, He Y, Yang JJ, Xie CH, Song XX, Chen GY, Ma WJ, Luo SX, Chen ZH, Cong MH, Ma H, Zhou CL, Wang W, Luo Q, Shi YM, Qi YM, Jiang HP, Guan WX, Chen JQ, Chen JX, Fang Y, Zhou L, Feng YD, Tan RS, Li T, Ou JW, Zhao QC, Wu JX, Deng L, Lin X, Yang LQ, Yang M, Wang C, Song CH, Xu HX, Shi HP; Investigation on the Nutrition Status and Clinical Outcome of Common Cancers (INSCOC) Group. Survey and analysis of the nutritional status in hospitalized patients with malignant gastric tumors and its influence on the quality of life. Support Care Cancer 2020; 28: 373-380 [PMID: 31049672 DOI: 10.1007/s00520-019-04803-3
- Chen S, Nie RC, OuYang LY, Li YF, Xiang J, Zhou ZW, Chen Y, Peng J. Body mass index (BMI) may be a prognostic factor for gastric cancer with peritoneal dissemination. World J Surg Oncol 2017; 15: 52 [PMID: 28228146 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-016-1076-1]
- 24 Lianos GD, Bali CD, Glantzounis GK, Katsios C, Roukos DH. BMI and lymph node ratio may predict clinical outcomes of gastric cancer. Future Oncol 2014; 10: 249-255 [PMID: 24490611 DOI: 10.2217/fon.13.188]
- Feng F, Zheng G, Guo X, Liu Z, Xu G, Wang F, Wang Q, Guo M, Lian X, Zhang H. Impact of body mass index on 25 surgical outcomes of gastric cancer. BMC Cancer 2018; 18: 151 [PMID: 29409475 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-018-4063-9]
- 26 Tsekrekos A, Lovece A, Chrysikos D, Ndegwa N, Schizas D, Kumagai K, Rouvelas I. Impact of obesity on the outcomes after gastreetomy for gastric cancer: A meta-analysis. Asian J Surg 2022; 45: 15-26 [PMID: 33965317 DOI: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2021.04.033]
- Hirabayashi M, Inoue M, Sawada N, Saito E, Abe SK, Hidaka A, Iwasaki M, Yamaji T, Shimazu T, Shibuya K, Tsugane 27



S; JPHC Study Group. Effect of body-mass index on the risk of gastric cancer: A population-based cohort study in A Japanese population. Cancer Epidemiol 2019; 63: 101622 [PMID: 31654882 DOI: 10.1016/j.canep.2019.101622]

28 Smith DD, Schwarz RR, Schwarz RE. Impact of total lymph node count on staging and survival after gastrectomy for gastric cancer: data from a large US-population database. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23: 7114-7124 [PMID: 16192595 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2005.14.621]



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5636-5647

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5636

Observational Study

Grade B (Very good): B

P-Reviewer: Hu BL, China; Xu RY,

Peer-review started: July 4, 2022

Article in press: September 21, 2022

Published online: October 14, 2022

First decision: July 31, 2022

Revised: August 7, 2022 Accepted: September 21, 2022

Grade C (Good): C, C

China; Zhu CW, China

Received: July 4, 2022

Grade D (Fair): D

Grade E (Poor): 0

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Red blood cell distribution width derivatives in alcohol-related liver cirrhosis and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease

Agata Michalak, Małgorzata Guz, Joanna Kozicka, Marek Cybulski, Witold Jeleniewicz, Tomasz Lach, Halina Cichoż-Lach

Agata Michalak, Joanna Kozicka, Halina Cichoż-Lach, Department of Gastroenterology, Medical Specialty type: Gastroenterology University of Lublin, Lublin 20-954, Poland and hepatology Małgorzata Guz, Marek Cybulski, Witold Jeleniewicz, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Provenance and peer review: Biology, Medical University of Lublin, Lublin 20-093, Poland Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed. Tomasz Lach, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Medical University of Lublin, Lublin 20-954, Poland Peer-review model: Single blind Corresponding author: Halina Cichoż-Lach, PhD, Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, Peer-review report's scientific Medical University of Lublin, Jaczewski Str. 8, Lublin 20-954, Poland. lach.halina@wp.pl quality classification Grade A (Excellent): 0

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Looking for undiscovered blood markers of liver fibrosis and steatosis still remains an issue worth exploring. There are still plenty of unresolved issues related to the actual role of hematological indices as potential markers of liver function.

AIM

To study red blood cell distribution width (RDW), RDW-to-platelet ratio (RPR) and RDW-to-lymphocyte ratio (RLR) in alcohol-related liver cirrhosis (ALC) and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD).

METHODS

The study group was composed of 302 people: 142 patients with ALC and 92 with MAFLD; 68 persons were included as controls. RDW, RPR and RLR were measured in each person. Indirect and direct parameters of liver fibrosis were also assessed [aspartate transaminase to alkaline transaminase ratio, aspartate transaminase to platelet ratio index (APRI), fibrosis-4 (FIB-4), gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase to platelet ratio (GPR), procollagen I carboxyterminal propeptide, procollagen III aminoterminal propeptide, transforming growth factor-α, plateletderived growth factor AB, laminin]. MELD score in ALC patients and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) fibrosis score together with BARD score were obtained in the MAFLD group. The achieved results were compared to controls. Then a correlation between assessed markers was done. Diagnostic value of each investigated parameter and its suggested cut-off in the research group



were evaluated with area under the curve (AUC).

RESULTS

RDW, RPR and RLR values turned out to be significantly higher in ALC and MAFLD groups compared to controls (ALC: P < 0.0001; NAFLD: P < 0.05, P < 0.0001 and P < 0.0001, respectively). RPR correlated positively with MELD score (P < 0.01) and indirect indices of liver fibrosis (FIB-4 and GPR; *P* < 0.0001) in ALC patients; negative correlations were found between PDGF-AB and both: RDW and RPR (P < 0.01 and P < 0.0001, respectively). RPR correlated positively with NAFLD fibrosis score and APRI (P < 0.0001) in the MAFLD group; a positive relationship was observed between RDW and FIB-4, too (P < 0.05). AUC values and suggested cut-offs for RDW, RPR and RLR in ALC patients were: 0.912 (> 14.2%), 0.965 (> 0.075) and 0.914 (> 8.684), respectively. AUC values and suggested cut-offs for RDW, RPR and RLR in MAFLD patients were: 0.606 (> 12.8%), 0.724 (> 0.047) and 0.691 (> 6.25), respectively.

CONCLUSION

RDW with its derivatives appear to be valuable diagnostic markers in patients with ALC. They can also be associated with a deterioration of liver function in this group.

Key Words: Hematological indices; Alcohol-related liver cirrhosis; Metabolic-associated liver disease; Red blood cell distribution width; Red blood cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio; Red blood cell distribution width-to-lymphocyte ratio

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Red blood cell distribution width (RDW), RDW-to-platelet ratio (RPR) and RDW-tolymphocyte ratio (RLR) remain uninvestigated in Polish patients suffering from alcohol-related liver cirrhosis (ALC) and metabolic-associated liver disease. Based on the available literature, association between RDW, RPR, RLR and serological (indirect and direct) indices of liver fibrosis have never been explored in a single study to date. We consider RPR as a potential reliable diagnostic tool in the assessment of ALC patients, corresponding with MELD score and serous markers of liver cirrhosis. Hematological parameters could be perceived as possible indices in the noninvasive evaluation of people with liver disorders.

Citation: Michalak A, Guz M, Kozicka J, Cybulski M, Jeleniewicz W, Lach T, Cichoż-Lach H. Red blood cell distribution width derivatives in alcohol-related liver cirrhosis and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28(38): 5636-5647

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5636.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5636

INTRODUCTION

Alcohol-related liver cirrhosis (ALC) and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) belong to pathologies with an undeniable global impact. Their monitoring and prediction of a possible outcome are of crucial importance. Due to the progress in hepatology and increased access to new imaging techniques, the evaluation of advanced liver fibrosis (even without a biopsy) turned out to be available. Nevertheless, liver elastography in an ultrasound or magnetic resonance mode are not commonly accessible tools in all medical centers. Direct and indirect markers of liver fibrosis obtained from the blood still remain quite trustworthy indices, but they are not perfect, either. Thus, looking for potentially novel parameters of liver disease progression is a key goal in the field of hepatology[1-4]. The most meaningful and valuable future diagnostic tools are new noninvasive blood markers of liver fibrosis; red blood cell distribution width (RDW) together with RDW-to-platelet ratio (RPR) were suggested to be such probable indices. Nevertheless, their probable role in the course of liver steatosis has been poorly explored. RDW reflects the diversity of red blood cells in volume and size. It is obtained from automated hematology analyzers in everyday clinical practice. In the past, RDW was clinically applied only to diagnose anemia or related maladies. Nowadays the spectrum of its possible clinical performance has been significantly broadened. RDW and RPR have already been proven to achieve higher levels in the course of the neoplastic process, being connected with an overall poor survival (e.g., in the course of cervical, colorectal and prostate cancers), as well[5-7]. Cardiovascular disorders and stroke constitute other pathologies that were explored in the context of RDW. Its high level was even



Michalak A et al. Red blood cell and liver disorders



Figure 1 Flow chart demonstrating the selection of study participants. ALC: Alcohol-related liver cirrhosis; MAFLD: Metabolic-associated fatty liver disease; US: Ultrasound.

> proved to be associated with a 3-mo poor functional outcome in the course of thrombolytic therapy due to acute ischemic stroke. RDW was additionally described as a marker of acutely decompensated chronic heart failure and an indicator of increased mortality among critically ill patients with myocardial infarction[8-11]. Of note, except for RDW derivatives, hematocrit was found to be inseparably connected with the development of atherosclerosis (evaluated as internal carotid intimamedia thickness) in MAFLD patients, suggesting a common potential role of hematological markers not only in MAFLD, but also due to MAFLD-followed cardiovascular disorders[12]. Thus, RDW derivatives can be perceived as systemic markers of various pathologies. Moreover, according to previously conducted studies, RDW and RPR can even correlate with MELD score and are suggested to behave as markers of poor survival in patients with chronic liver pathologies. RDW-to-lymphocyte ratio (RLR) appears to be a relatively uninvestigated parameter in patients with liver disorders[13-16]. We suspect that no survey to date has explored the diagnostic role of RDW derivatives and their relationships with serological indices of liver fibrosis in the course of ALC and MAFLD. Furthermore, our investigation appears to be the first one performed on Polish patients to evaluate existing dependences between hematological indices and serological markers of liver fibrosis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The survey was accepted by the local ethics committee of the Medical University of Lublin (No. KE-0254/86/2016) and all participants signed an informed written consent on the basis of the Helsinki Declaration for the procedures they followed.

Materials

The investigation was conducted retrospectively on 302 persons. The study group was formed by 142 patients with ALC and 92 with MAFLD. The control group was represented by 68 healthy volunteers. Figure 1 displays the selection of the participants included in the survey. Table 1 shows clinical features of the study population. The diagnosis of liver cirrhosis (LC) was established in accordance with commonly used criteria. The doppler mode abdominal ultrasound examination was applied to confirm the presence of portal hypertension (diameter of portal vein \geq 13 mm). Different underlying factors leading to portal hypertension were ruled out. Panendoscopy was performed in each of the 142 persons belonging to the ALC group - in 126 of them varices in the esophagus or stomach of the different stages were visualized. Ascites was found in 92 of the ALC patients, leading consequently to the paracentesis in 84 of them. None from the study group suffered from hepatic encephalopathy or spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. All persons enrolled to the survey were given 0/9 points on the CHESS scale. Alcohol-related etiology of LC was figured out due to the proven daily intake of pure ethanol more than 30 g. A detailed history of alcohol addiction was obtained directly from the patients or their trustworthy family members. In addition, all included in the study of ALC patients got positive results on the



Table 1 Clinical characteristics of study participants									
Parameter	ALC, <i>n</i> = 142	MAFLD, <i>n</i> = 92	Controls, <i>n</i> = 68	Together, <i>n</i> = 302					
Sex (F/M)	36/106	33/59	36/32	105/197					
Age (yr), (mean ± SD; median; min-max)	54 ± 12; 55; 31-84	60 ± 15; 61; 22-90	46 ± 16; 45; 20-85	54 ± 15; 55; 20-90					
BMI (kg/m ²) (mean \pm SD; median; minmax)	25.89 ± 9.31; 25.91; 16.7- 36.71	29.49 ± 4.9; 28.7; 16.26- 43.01	21.95 ± 2.62; 22.45; 16.18- 24.86	-					
DM type 2	0/142	22/92	-	-					
AH	32/142	46/92	-	-					

F: Female; M: Male; min: Minimum; max: Maximum; BMI: Body mass index; DM: Diabetes mellitus; AH: Arterial hypertension.

conducted CAGE test. On the other hand, MAFLD was diagnosed according to the previous history, physical examination, laboratory findings and ultrasound imaging. A daily alcohol consumption amount was not greater than 20 g in men and 10 g in women. Disorders potentially responsible for the development of liver steatosis (celiac disease, Wilson's disease, hepatobiliary infections and alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency) had been ruled out. Diabetes mellitus type 2 was identified among 22 persons. The presence of diabetes mellitus type 1 caused the exclusion from the survey. None of the MAFLD patients was diagnosed with impaired fasting glucose. Forty six of them were found to suffer from arterial hypertension; 84 persons presented features of metabolic syndrome. Viral/autoimmune liver diseases, clinically relevant inflammatory process and anemia constituted other excluding criteria. None of the survey participants was on steroid therapy.

Procedures

Venous blood samples obtained from peripheral blood were collected from all study participants. EDTA was applied to evaluate hematological indices and citrate to evaluate clotting. Biochemical indices were obtained from the blood samples without an anticoagulant. We collected the blood after at least 12 h of fasting. Hematological and biochemical procedures were performed 4 h after blood sample collection. All of the measurements were conducted in the laboratory of Clinical Hospital Number 4, Lublin, Poland. The remaining part of the blood samples, without an anticoagulant, were centrifuged at the speed of 2000 g for 10 min within 15 min after blood collection. The obtained serum was then stored in 1 mL Eppendorf test tubes at the temperature of -80 °C until the evaluation of direct markers of liver fibrosis with ELISA. Among morphotic parameters of the blood, the RDW, RPR and RLR were obtained. The evaluation of indirect indices of liver cirrhosis concerned: Aspartate transaminase to alkaline transaminase ratio (AAR), aspartate transaminase to platelet ratio index (APRI), FIB-4 (fibrosis-4) and gammaglutamyl transpeptidase to platelet ratio (GPR) (GGT to PLT Ratio). MELD score was assessed in the ALC patients and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) fibrosis score and BARD score were applied to the MAFLD group. Procollagen I carboxyterminal propeptide (PICP), procollagen III aminoterminal propeptide (PIIINP), platelet-derived growth factor AB (PDGF-AB), transforming growth factor-α (TGF- α) and laminin belonged to direct indices of liver fibrosis that were measured. Laboratory procedures were performed in the Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Medical University of Lublin according to the recommended indications. The assessment of PICP and PIIINP was conducted with quantitative ELISA tests. PDGF-AB and TGF- α were evaluated with the use of R&D Systems Quantikine ELISA Kits. Finally, the measurement of the concentration of laminin was possible because of the Takara Laminin EIA Kit without Sulphuric Acid.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of the results was carried out with Statistica 13.0 (StatSoft Polska Sp. z o.o., Kraków, Poland) for Windows system. The demographic characteristics of study participants and findings of laboratory investigations were shown as the mean \pm SD and Student's *t* test was applied to compare these data. Deviation from normality was assessed with the use of Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Data collected in the study were shown as the median and range (minimum–maximum). The Mann-Whitney *U* test was applied for between-group comparisons due to non-normal distribution. The correlations were verified with Spearman correlation analyses. All probability values were two-tailed, and a value of *P* less than 0.05 was perceived as statistically significant. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves and area under the curve (AUC) values were used to evaluate the sensitivity and specificity of investigated indices and to verify suggested cut-offs of tested markers in ALC and MAFLD patients.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Michalak A et al. Red blood cell and liver disorders

Table 2 Results of used scores in research group									
Saara	ALC				MAFLD				
Score	mean ± SD	Median	Min	Max	mean ± SD	Median	Min	Max	
MELD	17 ± 8	16	6	45	-	-	-	-	
BARD	-	-	-	-	2 ± 1	2	0	4	
NAFLD fibrosis score	-	-	-	-	-1.36 ± 1.5	-1.16	-5.83	1.74	

Min: Minimum; Max: Maximum; MELD: Model for end-stage liver disease; NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease.



Figure 2 Receiver operating characteristics for red blood cell distribution width. A: Alcohol-related liver cirrhosis (ALC), area under the curve (AUC) = 0.912 (cut-off > 14.2%); B: Metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD), AUC = 0.606 (cut-off > 12.8%). Youden index cut-off for red blood cell distribution width in ALC and MAFLD groups = 15.1% and 13%, respectively.

RESULTS

Table 2 presents results of applied scores in the research group. Results of hematological parameters are presented in Table 3. The RDW level was above the reference range in both the ALC and MAFLD groups; its level was significantly higher in comparison to the controls (P < 0.0001 and P < 0.05, respectively). RPR and RLR values turned out to be significantly higher among ALC and MAFLD patients compared to the control group (P < 0.0001). Table 3 presents results of indirect and direct indices of liver fibrosis, as well. The medians of AAR, APRI, FIB-4 and GPR were shown to be significantly higher within the ALC group in comparison to the controls (P < 0.0001). Excluding AAR, patients with MAFLD were observed to present notably higher values of all the enumerated above indirect markers of liver fibrosis compared to the control group (P < 0.0001). According to the direct parameters of liver fibrosis, laminin value in the course of ALC was importantly higher than in the control group (P < 0.05). Except for PICP, medians of PIIINP, PDGF-AB and TGF- α had notably lower levels (P < 0.01, P < 0.001, P < 0.0001, respectively). Concentrations of TGF- α and laminin in MAFLD patients in comparison to controls were found to be remarkably lower (P < 0.0001). PICP, PIIINP and PDGF-AB medians did not differ in a significant pattern. Table 4 presents noted correlations between evaluated indices in ALC and MAFLD groups. We observed meaningful positive dependences between RPR and indirect parameters of liver cirrhosis - FIB-4 and GPR (P < 0.0001) in the ALC patients. RDW and RPR correlated in a negative pattern with PDGF-AB (P < 0.01 and P < 0.0001, respectively). A positive correlation was found between RPR and MELD scores (P < 0.01). Other positive dependences were observed between: RDW and FIB-4 (P < 0.05), and between RPR and APRI (P < 0.0001), in the MAFLD group. RPR correlated positively with the NAFLD fibrosis scores (P < 0.0001), as well. Table 5 shows diagnostic accuracy of evaluated hematological markers. ROCs describing investigated parameters in the ALC and MAFLD groups are shown below in Figures 2-4. AUC values with





Figure 3 Receiver operating characteristics for red blood cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio. A: Alcohol-related liver cirrhosis (ALC), area under the curve (AUC) = 0.965 (cut off > 0.075); B: Metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD), AUC = 0.724 (cut-off > 0.047). Youden index cut-off for red blood cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio in ALC and MAFLD groups = 0.08 and 0.06, respectively.



Figure 4 Receiver operating characteristics for red blood cell distribution width-to-lymphocyte ratio. A: Alcohol-related liver cirrhosis (ALC), area under the curve (AUC) = 0.914 (cut-off > 8.684); B: Metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD), AUC = 0.691 (cut-off > 6.25). Youden index cut-off for red blood cell distribution width-to-lymphocyte ratio in ALC and MAFLD groups = 11.16 and 6.25, respectively.

suggested cut-offs for RDW, RPR and RLR in ALC patients were: 0.912 (> 14.2%), 0.965 (> 0.075) and 0.914 (> 8.684), respectively. AUC values and proposed cut-offs for RDW, RPR and RLR in the MAFLD groups were: 0.606 (> 12.8%), 0.724 (> 0.047) and 0.691 (> 6.25), respectively.

DISCUSSION

New reliable blood markers required in the evaluation of liver fibrosis and clinical prognosis of cirrhosis are permanently in the interest of scientists. Several years ago, basic hematological indices, used in



Table 3 Results of indirect and direct markers of liver fibrosis together with hematological markers in examined patients												
Parameter	ALC				MAFLD				Controls			
(reference range)	mean ± SD	Median	Min	Мах	mean ± SD	Median	Min	Max	mean ± SD	Median	Min	Max
RDW (11%-15%)	17.27 ± 3.26	16.7 ^d	12.2	27.9	14.25 ± 2.52	13.85 ^a	4.2	25	13.45 ± 1.1	13.4	11.1	15
RPR	0.26 ± 0.37	0.18 ^d	0.04	3.55	0.06 ± 0.02	0.06 ^d	0.02	0.18	0.05 ± 0.01	0.05	0.03	0.08
RLR	19.14 ± 12.27	15.73 ^d	1.6	79.23	10.89 ± 8.55	8.13 ^d	0.66	60	7.09 ± 2.48	6.24	3.38	12.5
FIB-4	11.67 ± 25.46	6.34 ^d	0.69	287.59	1.92 ± 1.63	1.57 ^d	0.23	11.58	0.85 ± 0.54	0.71	0.28	3.27
GPR	15.73 ± 28.54	6.65 ^d	0.18	188.71	2.76 ± 5.57	0.54 ^d	0.13	35.41	0.25 ± 0.1	0.24	0.06	0.63
PICP (ng/mL)	63.32 ± 31.53	60.53	6.15	161.12	52.14 ± 27.56	46.08	10.10	147.27	58.26 ± 37.39	44.18	0	202.89
PIIINP (ng/mL)	9.28 ± 4.33	8.4 ^b	2.43	28.65	11.41 ± 3.99	11.00	2.18	25.35	11.07 ± 5.61	10.25	4.35	43.63
PDGF-AB (pg/mL)	18280.47 ± 8061.06	17343.71 [°]	1925.68	42823.84	26858.68 ± 7335.09	26682.83	10821.02	49808.07	23579.28 ± 10068.8	25623.2	1638.2	47758.7
TGF-α (pg/mL)	24 ± 45.33	13.77 ^d	0.872	507.09	17.89 ± 19.18	12.09 ^d	1.39	142.63	28.44 ± 17.21	24.59	1.31	93.55
Laminin (ng/mL)	976.34 ± 705.29	832.06 ^a	101.933	3301.00	48 ± 230.24	375.23 ^d	72.87	1335.92	718.24 ± 386.1	663.27	140.88	1813.88

 $^{a}P < 0.05.$

 $^{b}P < 0.01.$

 $^{c}P < 0.001.$

 $^{\rm d}P < 0.0001.$

ALC: Alcoholic liver cirrhosis; MAFLD: Metabolic associated fatty liver disease; Min: Minimum; Max: Maximum; AAR: Aspartate transaminase to alkaline transaminase ratio; APRI: Aspartate transaminase to platelet ratio index; FIB-4: Fibrosis-4; GPR: Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase to platelet ratio; PICP: Procollagen I carboxyterminal propeptide; PIIINP: Procollagen III aminoterminal propeptide; PDGF-AB: Platelet-derived growth factor AB; TGF-a: Transforming growth factor-a; RDW: Red blood cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio; RLR: Red blood cell distribution width-to-lymphocyte ratio.

> everyday life, were proposed as potential candidates in this area, *e.g.*, mean platelet volume, platelet crit and RDW. It is assumed that their linkage with liver disorders is due to the inflammation and the release of interleukin-6, interfering hemolytic anemia, hypersplenism and bone marrow activation. The greatest number of surveys in this area of hepatology seems to concern hepatitis B virus- and hepatitis C virus-related cirrhosis; the ALC and MAFLD patients were not explored as much[17-20]. Moreover, a quick diagnosis and further staging of liver steatosis is also a crucial goal nowadays, due to the global prevalence of MAFLD together with its possible severe consequences. RDW derivatives require further investigations in the context of liver disorders. Being the marker of red blood cells heterogeneity, RDW was commonly used as an indicator of anemia. However, it turned out that its potential role can be even more complex. Former surveys proved that the progression of liver cirrhosis is accompanied by an increase in RDW and its elevation might even be a marker of poor prognosis. Similar observations were made with reference to its derivative - RPR. Recent meta-analyses by Cai *et al*[21] and Milas *et al*[22] confirmed these data. RDW and RPR were even found to be markers of increased mortality in ALC

Table 4 Correlations between examined parameters in examined alcohol-related liver cirrhosis and metabolic-associated fatty liver	
disease patients	

Pair	R Spearman	<i>P</i> value
ALC		
RPR vs FIB-4	0.733	<i>P</i> < 0.0001
RPR vs GPR	0.398	P < 0.0001
RPR vs MELD	0.267	<i>P</i> < 0.01
RDW vs PDGF-AB	-0.257	<i>P</i> < 0.01
RPR vs PDGF-AB	-0.380	P < 0.0001
MAFLD		
RDW vs FIB-4	0.215	<i>P</i> < 0.05
RPR vs APRI	0.469	P < 0.0001
RPR vs NFS	0.688	<i>P</i> < 0.0001

ALC: Alcoholic liver cirrhosis; MAFLD: Metabolic-associated fatty liver disease; RDW: Red blood cell distribution width; RPR: Red blood cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio; MELD: Model of end stage liver disease; APRI: Aspartate transaminase to platelet ratio index; FIB-4: Fibrosis-4; GPR: Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase to platelet ratio; PDGF-AB: Platelet-derived growth factor AB; NFS: NAFLD fibrosis score.

patients - independently of MELD score. Lately, RDW elevation was found to accompany severe inflammation and liver fibrosis in three independent studies on autoimmune hepatitis patients[23-25]. RDW was even proposed as a prognostic marker in the course of hepatocellular carcinoma[26,27]. What is more, recently a higher level of RLR has been explored as a potential marker of its recurrence[28]. In our ALC group, RPR correlated positively with MELD score and the diagnostic accuracy of both: RDW and RPR turned out to be high (AUC = 0.912 and AUC = 0.965, respectively). A close relationship between RDW derivatives and indirect indices of liver fibrosis in the course of cirrhosis was already established and our results support this association. However, it seems that previous surveys did not explore relationships between RDW derivatives and indirect parameters of liver fibrosis. According to the available literature, we are the first to note a negative correlation between PDGF-AB concentration and both: RDW and RPR levels in the course of ALC. RLR appears to be explored so far, among liver pathologies, only in the course of primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) and in people affected with acute hepatitis E virus (HEV) infection. Its diagnostic accuracy in the assessment of liver fibrosis in PBC patients and in the diagnosis of HEV infection in symptomatic patients was better compared to APRI, FIB-4 and RPR[29-31]. Our study appears to be the first one concentrating on the role of RLR in ALC and MAFLD. Interestingly, its diagnostic accuracy in the ALC patients turned out to be very high (AUC = 0.914). The data on RDW derivatives in MAFLD patients are very limited. However, previous research observed that elevation in RDW can be assumed as a sign of the progression of simple steatosis to steatohepatitis and the progression of liver fibrosis in the course of MAFLD[32-36]. In our examined MAFLD patients, RPR correlated positively with indirect parameters of liver fibrosis and NAFLD fibrosis score, however, its diagnostic accuracy was quite disappointing (AUC = 0.606). In our survey, we did not aim to perform the comparison of selected hematological markers between the ALC and MAFLD patients. The purpose of our study was to find out whether deviations in certain hematological parameters might accompany an isolated liver steatosis. Our investigation focused on the population of people with MAFLD without the evaluation of possible features of hepatitis in liver biopsy. In the future, we would like to differentiate patients with a simple steatosis and already developed steatohepatitis confirmed by liver biopsy in the context of potential deviations among hematological markers.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study gives a new insight into the tight relationship between serological indices of liver fibrosis and RDW derivatives in patients with liver pathologies. Especially, RLR seems to be a valuable unexplored parameter in the course of ALC. Its high diagnostic accuracy in our ALC patients is a promising message for subsequent studies. Undoubtedly, this direction of research should be continued to define a potential role of commonly accessible RDW derivatives as indicators of liver disorders in everyday clinical life.

Zaishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 5 Diagnostic accuracy of hematological indices in examined alcohol-related liver cirrhosis and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease patients																
Parameter	ALC						MAFLD									
	Diagnostic accuracy							Diagnostic accuracy								
	AUC	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)	PLR	NLR	P value	AUC	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)	PLR	NLR	P value
RDW	0.912	91	71	87	79	3.14	0.13	P < 0.0001	0.606	88	32	64	67	1.29	0.38	P < 0.05
RPR	0.965	88	97	98	80	29.33	0.12	P < 0.0001	0.724	77	54	70	64	1.67	0.43	P < 0.0001
RLR	0.914	89	77	89	78	3,87	0,14	P < 0.0001	0.691	80	52	69	66	1.67	0.38	P < 0.0001

ALC: Alcoholic liver cirrhosis; MAFLD: Metabolic-associated fatty liver disease; AUC: Area under the curve; PPV: Positive predictive value; NPV: Negative predictive value; NLR: Negative likelihood; NLR: Negative likelihood; and the curve; PPV: Positive predictive value; NPV: Negative predictive value; NLR: Negative likelihood; N

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The most meaningful and valuable future diagnostic tools are new noninvasive blood markers of liver fibrosis, and red blood cell distribution width (RDW) together with RDW-to-platelet-(PLT)-ratio (RPR) were suggested to be such probable indices. Their potential role in the course of liver disorders still requires further elucidation.

Research motivation

In light of the above, we decided to study the diagnostic role of RDW derivatives and their relationships with direct and indirect indices of liver fibrosis in patients with alcohol-related liver cirrhosis (ALC) and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD). It seems to be the first investigation performed among Polish patients to evaluate the potential dependences between hematological parameters and serological markers of liver fibrosis.

Research objectives

The aim of the study was the evaluation of RDW, RPR and RDW-to-lymphocyte ratio (RLR) in ALC and MAFLD patients.

Research methods

The study group was comprised of 302 persons: 142 patients with ALC, 92 with MAFLD and 68 volunteers as controls. RDW, RPR and RLR were assessed in each participant. Indirect and direct indices of liver fibrosis were also measured [aspartate transaminase to alkaline transaminase ratio, aspartate transaminase to platelet ratio index (APRI), fibrosis-4 (FIB-4), gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase to platelet ratio (GPR), procollagen I carboxyterminal propeptide, procollagen III aminoterminal propeptide, transforming growth factor- α , platelet-derived growth factor AB, laminin]. MELD score in the ALC patients and NAFLD fibrosis score together with BARD score were obtained in the MAFLD

group. The achieved results were compared to controls. Then a correlation between investigated parameters was done. Diagnostic value of each evaluated marker together with suggested cut-off in the research group were assessed with area under the curve (AUC).

Research results

RDW, RPR and RLR values were significantly higher in ALC and MAFLD patients in comparison to controls. RPR correlated positively with MELD score and indirect parameters of liver fibrosis in the ALC group. RPR correlated positively with the NAFLD fibrosis score and APRI in the MAFLD patients; a positive dependency was noted between the RDW and FIB-4. The AUC values and suggested cut-offs for RDW, RPR and RLR in ALC patients were: 0.912 (> 14.2%), 0.965 (> 0.075) and 0.914 (> 8.684), respectively. AUC values and proposed cut-offs for RDW, RPR and RLR in MAFLD patients were: 0.606 (> 12.8%), 0.724 (> 0.047) and 0.691 (> 6.25), respectively.

Research conclusions

Our study gives a new insight into the tight relationship between serological indices of liver fibrosis and RDW derivatives in ALC and MAFLD patients. RLR seems to be a valuable unexplored parameter in the course of ALC patients. Its high diagnostic accuracy in ALC is a promising message for subsequent studies. Undoubtedly, this direction of research should be continued to define a potential role of commonly accessible RDW derivatives as indicators of liver disorders in everyday clinical life.

Research perspectives

It seems that our results have important clinical implications and could be applied in everyday diagnostics of patients with liver disorders.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Michalak A, Lach T and Cichoż-Lach H prepared data; Michalak A and Cichoż-Lach H invented and conducted the study; Guz M, Kozicka J and Jeleniewicz W applied the experiments, gained and interpreted data; Cybulski M statistically analyzed the data; Michalak A and Cichoż-Lach H wrote the article; All authors accepted the current version of the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The survey was accepted by the local ethics committee of the Medical University of Lublin (No. KE-0254/86/2016).

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement-checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Poland

ORCID number: Agata Michalak 0000-0003-4426-6321; Małgorzata Guz 0000-0001-6783-8017; Joanna Kozicka 0000-0002-3094-8789; Marek Cybulski 0000-0003-0540-1199; Witold Jeleniewicz 0000-0003-1423-0504; Tomasz Lach 0000-0003-1370-7657; Halina Cichoż-Lach 0000-0002-7337-835X.

S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Gao CC

REFERENCES

Lackner C, Tiniakos D. Fibrosis and alcohol-related liver disease. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 294-304 [PMID: 30658730 DOI:



10.1016/j.jhep.2018.12.003]

- 2 Sookoian S, Pirola CJ. Review article: shared disease mechanisms between non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and metabolic syndrome - translating knowledge from systems biology to the bedside. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019; 49: 516-527 [PMID: 30714632 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15163]
- 3 Grgurevic I, Podrug K, Mikolasevic I, Kukla M, Madir A, Tsochatzis EA. Natural History of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Implications for Clinical Practice and an Individualized Approach. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 2020: 9181368 [PMID: 32051820 DOI: 10.1155/2020/9181368]
- 4 Gustot T, Jalan R. Acute-on-chronic liver failure in patients with alcohol-related liver disease. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 319-327 [PMID: 30658733 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.12.008]
- 5 Orabi H, Howard L, Amling CL, Aronson WJ, Cooperberg MR, Kane CJ, Terris MK, Klaassen Z, Janes JL, Freedland SJ, Polascik TJ. Red Blood Cell Distribution Width Is Associated with All-cause Mortality but Not Adverse Cancer-specific Outcomes in Men with Clinically Localized Prostate Cancer Treated with Radical Prostatectomy: Findings Based on a Multicenter Shared Equal Access Regional Cancer Hospital Registry. Eur Urol Open Sci 2022; 37: 106-112 [PMID: 35243395 DOI: 10.1016/j.euros.2022.01.003]
- Li Y, Li Z, Zhang G. Clinical Utility of Red Blood Cell Distribution Width for the Diagnosis and Prognosis of Cervical 6 Cancer. Int J Gen Med 2022; 15: 2597-2606 [PMID: 35282652 DOI: 10.2147/IJGM.S354569]
- Cheng KC, Lin YM, Liu CC, Wu KL, Lee KC. High Red Cell Distribution Width Is Associated with Worse Prognosis in Early Colorectal Cancer after Curative Resection: A Propensity-Matched Analysis. Cancers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 35205691 DOI: 10.3390/cancers14040945]
- Zhang Y, Xing Z, Zhou K, Jiang S. The Predictive Role of Systemic Inflammation Response Index (SIRI) in the Prognosis of Stroke Patients. Clin Interv Aging 2021; 16: 1997-2007 [PMID: 34880606 DOI: 10.2147/CIA.S339221]
- Kim DY, Hong DY, Kim SY, Park JJ, Kim JW, Park SO, Lee KR, Baek KJ. Prognostic value of red blood cell distribution width in predicting 3-month functional outcome of patients undergoing thrombolysis treatment for acute ischemic stroke. Medicine (Baltimore) 2021; 100: e27255 [PMID: 34664873 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000027255]
- Xanthopoulos A, Tryposkiadis K, Dimos A, Bourazana A, Zagouras A, Iakovis N, Papamichalis M, Giamouzis G, 10 Vassilopoulos G, Skoularigis J, Triposkiadis F. Red blood cell distribution width in elderly hospitalized patients with cardiovascular disease. World J Cardiol 2021; 13: 503-513 [PMID: 34621495 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v13.i9.503]
- 11 Chen M, Liao L, Yan J, Lin FQ. Predictive Value of Red Blood Cell Distribution Width for 1-Year All-Cause Mortality in Critically III Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction. Int J Gen Med 2022; 15: 465-471 [PMID: 35046707 DOI: 10.2147/IJGM.S345109
- Tarantino G, Barrea L, Capone D, Citro V, Mosca T, Savastano S. Hematocrit Values Predict Carotid Intimal-Media 12 Thickness in Obese Patients With Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Cross-Sectional Study. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2018; 9: 203 [PMID: 29760679 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00203]
- 13 Moreno C, Mueller S, Szabo G. Non-invasive diagnosis and biomarkers in alcohol-related liver disease. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 273-283 [PMID: 30658728 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.11.025]
- 14 Hsu C, Caussy C, Imajo K, Chen J, Singh S, Kaulback K, Le MD, Hooker J, Tu X, Bettencourt R, Yin M, Sirlin CB, Ehman RL, Nakajima A, Loomba R. Magnetic Resonance vs Transient Elastography Analysis of Patients With Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Systematic Review and Pooled Analysis of Individual Participants. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 17: 630-637.e8 [PMID: 29908362 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.05.059]
- Jiang H, Zheng T, Duan T, Chen J, Song B. Non-invasive in vivo Imaging Grading of Liver Fibrosis. J Clin Transl Hepatol 15 2018; 6: 198-207 [PMID: 29951365 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2017.00038]
- Wang H, Xu H, Qu L, Wang X, Wu R, Gao X, Jin Q, Niu J. Red blood cell distribution width and globulin, noninvasive 16 indicators of fibrosis and inflammation in chronic hepatitis patients. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 28: 997-1002 [PMID: 27167453 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000662]
- Wang J, Huang R, Yan X, Li M, Chen Y, Xia J, Liu Y, Jia B, Zhu L, Zhang Z, Zhu C, Wu C. Red blood cell distribution 17 width: A promising index for evaluating the severity and long-term prognosis of hepatitis B virus-related diseases. Dig Liver Dis 2020; 52: 440-446 [PMID: 32008975 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2019.12.144]
- Yuyun D, Zhihua T, Haijun W, Zhaoping L, Xiaoli Z, Wenfang X, Faxiang J, Hongmei L. Predictive value of the red blood cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio for hepatic fibrosis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2019; 54: 81-86 [PMID: 30663454 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2018.1558786
- 19 Lu W, Zhang YP, Zhu HG, Zhang T, Zhang L, Gao N, Chang DY, Yin J, Zhou XY, Li MY, Li YT, Li ZZ, He Q, Geng Y. Evaluation and comparison of the diagnostic performance of routine blood tests in predicting liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B infection. Br J Biomed Sci 2019; 76: 137-142 [PMID: 31062646 DOI: 10.1080/09674845.2019.1615717]
- 20 Fan X, Deng H, Wang X, Fu S, Liu Z, Sang J, Zhang X, Li N, Han Q. Association of red blood cell distribution width with severity of hepatitis B virus-related liver diseases. Clin Chim Acta 2018; 482: 155-160 [PMID: 29627486 DOI: 10.1016/j.cca.2018.04.002]
- Cai Y, Liu D, Cui J, Sha Y, Zhou H, Tang N, Wang N, Huang A, Xia J. Diagnostic accuracy of red blood cell distribution 21 width to platelet ratio for predicting staging liver fibrosis in chronic liver disease patients: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019; 98: e15096 [PMID: 30946368 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000015096]
- Milas GP, Karageorgiou V, Cholongitas E. Red cell distribution width to platelet ratio for liver fibrosis: a systematic 22 review and meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 13: 877-891 [PMID: 31389726 DOI: 10.1080/17474124.2019.1653757]
- 23 Wang H, Wang J, Huang R, Xia J, Zuo L, Yan X, Yang Y, Wu C. Red blood cell distribution width for predicting significant liver inflammation in patients with autoimmune hepatitis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 31: 1527-1532 [PMID: 31107736 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001447]
- Liu L, Cao J, Zhong Z, Guo Z, Jiang Y, Bai Y, Xu J. Noninvasive indicators predict advanced liver fibrosis in autoimmune 24 hepatitis patients. J Clin Lab Anal 2019; 33: e22922 [PMID: 31115929 DOI: 10.1002/jcla.22922]
- Zeng T, Yu J, Tan L, Wu Y, Tian Y, Wu Q, Duan X, Yu L. Noninvasive indices for monitoring disease course in Chinese patients with autoimmune hepatitis. Clin Chim Acta 2018; 486: 135-141 [PMID: 30036523 DOI:



10.1016/j.cca.2018.07.030]

- 26 Goyal H, Hu ZD. Prognostic value of red blood cell distribution width in hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann Transl Med 2017; 5: 271 [PMID: 28758097 DOI: 10.21037/atm.2017.06.30]
- Jing JS, Fu XL, Zhao W, Kong LB. Red Cell Distribution Width as a Prognostic Factor in Patients with Hepatocellular 27 Carcinoma. Clin Lab 2020; 66 [PMID: 32658432 DOI: 10.7754/Clin.Lab.2019.191027]
- 28 Chu W, Li P, Wu X, Zhang P, Zhou H, Niu B. Risk factors for recurrence beyond Milan criteria after radiofrequency ablation in transplantable small hepatocellular carcinoma. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2022 [PMID: 35042367 DOI: 10.17235/reed.2022.8592/2022]
- 29 Meng J, Xu H, Liu X, Wu R, Niu J. Increased red cell width distribution to lymphocyte ratio is a predictor of histologic severity in primary biliary cholangitis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e13431 [PMID: 30508955 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000013431
- Wu J, Zhang X, Liu H, Guo N, Pan Q, Wang Y. RDW, NLR and RLR in predicting liver failure and prognosis in patients 30 with hepatitis E virus infection. Clin Biochem 2019; 63: 24-31 [PMID: 30502317 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2018.11.012]
- 31 Wang H, Xu H, Wang X, Wu R, Gao X, Jin Q, Niu J. Red Blood Cell Distribution Width to Platelet Ratio is Related to Histologic Severity of Primary Biliary Cirrhosis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e3114 [PMID: 26986159 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000003114
- Cengiz M, Candır BA, Yılmaz G, Akyol G, Ozenirler S. Is increased red cell distribution width an indicating marker of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and fibrotic stage? World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 7412-7418 [PMID: 24259972 DOI: 10.3748/wig.v19.i42.7412]
- 33 Yang W, Huang H, Wang Y, Yu X, Yang Z. High red blood cell distribution width is closely associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 26: 174-178 [PMID: 24025980 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e328365c403
- Cengiz M, Ozenirler S. Comparative diagnostic accuracy of red cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio vs noninvasive 34 fibrosis scores for the diagnosis of liver fibrosis in biopsy-proven nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015; 27: 1293-1299 [PMID: 26302023 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000445]
- 35 Farah R, Khamisy-Farah R. Significance of MPV, RDW with the Presence and Severity of Metabolic Syndrome. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2015; 123: 567-570 [PMID: 26372846 DOI: 10.1055/s-0035-1564072]
- Zhou WJ, Yang J, Zhang G, Hu ZQ, Jiang YM, Yu F. Association between red cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio and 36 hepatic fibrosis in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A cross-sectional study. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019; 98: e16565 [PMID: 31348282 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000016565]



WŨ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2022 October 14; 28(38): 5648-5657

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5648

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

SCIENTOMETRICS

Comparison of evaluation indexes for Gastroenterology and Hepatology journals in different databases

Jia-Yuan Li, Zhi-Han Yan, Ze Xiang, Ce Gao, Jian Wu

Specialty type: Scientific journal

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Mansour AM, Lebanon; Santos BS, Brazil

Received: August 9, 2022 Peer-review started: August 9, 2022 First decision: August 25, 2022 Revised: September 4, 2022 Accepted: September 21, 2022 Article in press: September 21, 2022 Published online: October 14, 2022



Jia-Yuan Li, Ze Xiang, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310009, Zhejiang Province, China

Zhi-Han Yan, Department of Hepatology, Wuxi Fifth People's Hospital Affiliated to Jiangnan University, Wuxi 214005, Jiangsu Province, China

Ce Gao, Jian Wu, Department of Clinical Laboratory, The Affiliated Suzhou Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Suzhou Municipal Hospital, Gusu School, Nanjing Medical University, Suzhou 215008, Jiangsu Province, China

Corresponding author: Jian Wu, MD, PhD, Professor, Department of Clinical Laboratory, The Affiliated Suzhou Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Suzhou Municipal Hospital, Gusu School, Nanjing Medical University, No. 242 Guangji Road, Suzhou 215008, Jiangsu Province, China. wujianglinxing@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Accurate assessment of the quality of academic journals is of great significance. While Journal Impact Factor (JIF), calculated by Clarivate and based upon the Web of Science literature database, and CiteScore (CS), developed by Elseiver and based upon the Scopus database, have enjoyed high uptake worldwide, efforts continue towards creation of other scientometric indexes that will provide evergreater qualitative insights into journal impact. Such efforts have yielded the newly-launched Journal Article Influence Index (JAII), which is based on the Reference Citation Analysis (RCA) database, an open multidisciplinary citation analysis database based on artificial intelligence technology.

AIM

To evaluate and summarize the similarities and differences between JAII and JIF/CS as journal evaluation indicators, and provide an intuitive method for visual representation of the related data.

METHODS

We searched the Journal Citation Reports to obtain the 2021 JIF list, downloaded the CS list updated in July on the Scopus website, and collected the comprehensive list of 2022 JAIIs from the RCA database (www.referencecitationanalysis.com).

RESULTS



Our research results revealed that by breaking through the time limit of mainstream journal evaluation methods, the *JAII* is able to perform well in data reliability, establishing its benefit as a complementary scientometric index to JIF and CS.

CONCLUSION

JAII provides comprehensive assessment of the quality and performance of journals.

Key Words: Journal Article Influence Index; Journal Impact Factor; CiteScore; Gastroenterology and Hepatology; Scientometric index

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Compared with Journal Impact Factor (JIF) and CiteScore (CS), the newly-launched Journal Article Influence Index (JAII) breaks through the time limit feature of the former indexes. A key benefit of the JAII is that it does not require the temporal path (wait-time) of JIF and CS to accurately evaluate a journal's impact. As such, JAII is immediately useful for assessing the performance of journals and the drawbacks of time randomness are overcome. Here, we describe the features of JAII as a comprehensive assessment of the quality and performance of journals, in its functionality based upon the Reference Citation Analysis (RCA) database that covers some more specific journals than other literature databases.

Citation: Li JY, Yan ZH, Xiang Z, Gao C, Wu J. Comparison of evaluation indexes for Gastroenterology and Hepatology journals in different databases. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28(38): 5648-5657 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v28/i38/5648.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5648

INTRODUCTION

The quality assessment of peer-reviewed published research is important for the reputation, substance and growth of various professional associations, individual scientists, and academic institutions, as well as the funding organizations that evaluate and support them[1]. The quality of scientific contributions is primarily assessed on a temporal basis, with quantitative evaluation of the long-term impact in a field or discipline. The impact of an individual scientific article can be inferred from the citations that it receives. A similar principle is applied to evaluation of the journals that publish these scientific articles[2]. These long-standing efforts have led to researchers proposing various methods that improve the assessment of the quality of scientific journals[3,4]. What most of these methods have in common, though, is the use of complex mathematical algorithms to analyze networks of scientific papers to estimate citation quality.

First proposed by Eugene Garfield in 1955, the Scientific Citation Index, Journal Citation Reports [(JCR); published by the Institute for Scientific Information (ISI)] aims to rank, evaluate, classify, and compare journals^[5]. The involved metrics are calculated based on the number of articles published by a journal and the number of times that a journal is cited. Moreover, they have been widely adopted as tools to evaluate researchers and research work in a wide range of scientific settings. One of the most prominent among such indicators is the Journal Impact Factor (JIF).

In addition to the JIF, other metrics provided by the ISI include total citation frequency, immediacy index, number of source entries published in the current year, frequency of citations in the previous 2 years, cited half-life, and the ratio of different citations for each article. The ISI introduced a simplified system in 1974, along with a list of topic categories and an accompanying catalog of the total 176 JCR journals. In recent decades, the different journal categories have been subjected to many holistic analyses. The resultant definitions of the common characteristics that underpin particular types of journals and relate to the JIF have served as a useful tool for researchers, both in the scientometric field and in general as contributing authors, to better evaluate journal impact [6,7]. To this day, journals are ranked by JIF within their assigned category. The journals listed in the JCR are further subgrouped by the ranking of JIF-related indicators (i.e. JIF variation coefficient, etc); this greater detailed categorization has allowed scholars to perlustrate the impact factor values more intuitively from a holistic and comprehensive perspective.

JIF has been the most widely used indicator of quality of scientific journals over the past decades[8]. However, in accordance with the 1999 announcement by the ISI/JCR that the accuracy of JIF is not fully guaranteed[9], it is important to note that the methodological considerations in the JIF calculation still include a lack of assessment of the quality of citations, the inclusion of self-citations, poor comparability between different scientific fields, and an analysis of publications mainly in English[10]. This is in addition to the fact that JIFs of journals representing different disciplines are not comparable to each



other.

On December 8, 2016, Scopus launched the CiteScore (CS) quality metric, in direct competition of JIF but which was developed specifically for journals indexed by Scopus. Over the past few years, the number of journals assigned a CS has increased dramatically, especially for journals that are not included in the JIF annual assignments. Scientometric studies evaluating the relationship between CS and JIF have revealed that although there is a strong correlation between the two metrics, there are also obvious complex differences[11,12]. While CS may be more balanced and most certainly is more transparent[13], it also shares some key limitations with the JIF[14,15].

Reference Citation Analysis (RCA) is a very recently launched open multidisciplinary citation analysis database based on artificial intelligence technology. This database covers a wide array of seemingly disparate disciplines such as business, economics and management, chemistry and materials science, engineering and computer science, health and medical sciences, humanities, literature and arts, life sciences and earth sciences, physics and mathematics, and social sciences. Users can search the collective literature based on fields such as author, category, DOI, ISSN, keyword, ORCID number, publication name, PubMed ID, and title to track original innovative research results and cutting-edge progress; they can also sort results by an article impact index metric. Importantly, the results analysis functionality culminates in a comprehensive and customizable report of the retrieved results.

Based on the *RCA* database, the *Journal Article Influence Index* (*JAII*) metric is officially available as a new indicator of journal quality that is calculated *via* the normal approach of quantifiable citations. Systematically comparing this new metric to traditional journal evaluation metrics will help ensure the accuracy of *JAII*. With acknowledgement of the continuous deepening of research in the field of Gastroenterology and Hepatology of recent years[16], we performed such a comparative analysis to determine the similarities and differences between *JAII* and JIF/CS as journal evaluation indicators, with the ultimate aim of providing an intuitive method for visual representation of the related data.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data sources

The raw data for this study was obtained in July 2022 from the official websites of the institutions that released each metric under consideration. We searched the JCR to obtain the 2021 JIF list, downloaded the CS list updated in July from the Scopus website, and collected the 2022 *JAII* list from the *RCA* database (www.referencecitationanalysis.com). In addition, we also searched for information related to the characteristics of these scientific journal quality indexes for reference.

Besides, based on the results of *RCA* search by the Gastroenterology and Hepatology category, we compared *JAII* to JIF and CS respectively. The resultant data from the *RCA* database were used as the matching benchmark, and the matching method was based on ISSN, EISSN, and journal name.

RESULTS

Statistical analysis and visualization

The Gastroenterology and Hepatology-categorized journals identified in each database are presented in Table 1 (grouped by the evaluation indicator and in descending order according to the respective quality metric value). In total, 102 journals carried a *JAII*, 81 carried a JIF, and 76 carried a CS (all assigned in 2021).

Next, in order to make an intuitive comparison between the three evaluation indicators, we drew a scatter distribution plot for JIF-*JAII* (Figure 1A) and CS-*JAII* (Figure 1B), and plotted a single-timepoint uniform curve using the least squares method[17]. In this case, we took an intersection, considering that some journals with *JAII* have no JIF or CS. It can be seen from the figure that in the evaluation of lower-quality journals, the linearity of *JAII* and JIF/CS has greater overlap, but in the evaluation of higher-quality journals, the randomness of the data is greater. Journals with a large deviation between JIF and *JAII* include *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Seminars in Liver Disease*, and so on. Journals with a large deviation between CS and *JAII* include *Gut, Journal of Hepatology, Gastroenterology*, and so on.

The results of the combined analysis of the three journal evaluation indicators are visualized in Figure 2A-C[18]. Figure 2A gives a comparison of the values between the three evaluation indicators of the same journal (73 in total, taking the intersection). Figure 2B gives the JIF-*JAII* ratio and CS-*JAII* ratio for each journal. Figure 2C gives the values of JIF and CS in descending *JAII* order.

Finally, we combined the three journal evaluation indicators together, and through a histogram (Figure 2D), we can more clearly see the impact of the joint evaluation of the three on the ranking of journals without weight. This can also be used as a reference evaluation method.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Comparison of Journal Article Influence Index, Journal Impact Factor, and CiteScore in decreasing order of Journal Article Influence Index values

Journal name	2022 JAII	2021 JIF	2021 CS
Seminars in Liver Disease	48.011	6.512	9.4
Hepatology	43.087	17.298	25.8
Gastroenterology	37.347	33.883	33
Gut	36.77	31.793	40.1
Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology	35.564	73.082	-
Gut Microbes	31.922	9.434	9.4
Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics	28.815	9.524	-
Journal of Hepatology	28.63	30.083	39.2
Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology	28.443	2.695	-
Diseases of the Colon & Rectum	26.986	4.412	-
Liver Transplantation	26.916	6.112	8
Gastric Cancer	24.132	7.701	12.5
Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology	23.661	45.042	-
The American Journal of Gastroenterology	23.599	12.045	-
Journal of Gastroenterology	22.863	6.772	13.7
Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology	22.413	13.576	12.2
Neurogastroenterology and Motility	22.381	3.96	6.5
World Journal of Gastroenterology	21.897	5.374	8.1
American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology	21.407	4.871	-
Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery: Official Journal of the Society for Surgery of the Alimentary Tract	20.787	3.267	-
Liver International	19.971	8.754	11.2
Clinics in Liver Disease	19.939	6.265	8
Journal of Viral Hepatitis	19.545	3.517	6.1
Digestive Diseases and Sciences	19.37	3.487	5.5
World Journal of Gastrointestinal Pathophysiology	18.735	-	-
Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology	18.364	3.027	3.6
Gastrointestinal Endoscopy	18.175	10.396	9.8
Helicobacter	18.162	5.182	8.6
Inflammatory Bowel Diseases	17.936	7.29	9.8
Gastroenterology Clinics of North America	17.833	3.867	6.1
Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition	17.742	3.288	4.8
Hepatology International	17.664	9.029	8.9
Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology	16.888	3.174	5.5
Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology	16.793	4.369	6
World Journal of Hepatology	16.007	-	3.6
International Journal of Colorectal Disease	15.433	2.796	3.9
Gut Pathogens	15.39	5.324	6.5
World Journal of Gastrointestinal Pharmacology and Therapeutics	14.797	-	-
Pancreas	14.71	3.243	4.4
HPB: The Official Journal of the International Hepato Pancreato Biliary Association	14.453	3.842	-



Li JY et al. Gastroenterology and Hepatology journals' evaluation indexes

International Journal of Hepatology	14.249	-	6.1
European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology	14.227	2.586	-
Therapeutic Advances in Gastroenterology	13.823	4.802	5.8
Journal of Neurogastroenterology and Motility	13.594	4.725	7.4
Pancreatology	13.497	3.977	5.8
Hepatology Research	13.332	4.942	7.8
Gut and Liver	13.193	4.321	6.6
Digestive Diseases	13.081	3.421	4.2
BMC Gastroenterology	12.991	2.847	3.3
Endoscopy	12.541	9.776	11
Journal of Crohn's & Colitis	12.432	10.02	
Colorectal Disease	12.341	3.917	4.4
Liver Cancer	12.174	12.43	12.6
Digestive and Liver Disease: Official Journal of the Italian Society of Gastroenterology and the Italian Association for the Study of the Liver	12.096	5.165	-
Diseases of the Esophagus: Official Journal of the International Society for Diseases of the Esophagus	11.969	2.822	-
Current Opinion in Gastroenterology	11.929	2.741	4.9
World Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology	11.552	3.404	3.6
United European Gastroenterology Journal	11.453	6.866	7.9
Clinical and Molecular Hepatology	11.251	8.337	8.9
Digestive Surgery	11.226	2.459	4.2
Expert Review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology	10.885	4.095	-
World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy	10.598	-	-
World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery	10.579	2.505	-
Clinical and Translational Gastroenterology	10.45	4.396	5.2
Clinical and Experimental Gastroenterology	10.149	-	5
Gastroenterology Research and Practice	9.902	1.919	3.7
Journal of Digestive Diseases	9.302	3.366	4.2
Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology	9.277	8.797	-
Digestion	9.189	3.672	5.1
Clinics in Colon and Rectal Surgery	9.059	2.403	3.5
Techniques in Coloproctology	9.056	3.699	4.6
Journal of Gastric Cancer	9.031	3.197	4.4
Hepatic Medicine: Evidence and Research	8.847	-	-
Annals of Hepatology	8.782	3.388	4.7
JHEP Reports	8.693	9.917	8.1
BMJ Open Gastroenterology	7.884	-	3.5
Clinical Endoscopy	7.72	-	3.5
Intestinal Research	7.651	-	6
Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology	7.615	2.605	-
Digestive Endoscopy	7.111	6.337	7.5
Hepatobiliary & Pancreatic Diseases International	7.052	3.355	-
Esophagus: Official Journal of the Japan Esophageal Society	6.775	3.671	-



Jaisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Endoscopy International Open	6.725	-	-
Gastroenterology Report	6.685	4.063	4.9
Clinics and Research in Hepatology and Gastroenterology	6.59	3.189	3.1
Journal of Clinical and Experimental Hepatology	6.236	-	5.3
Saudi Journal of Gastroenterology	6.205	3.214	4.3
Hepatitis Monthly	6.037	1.214	1.1
Hepatology Communications	6.006	5.701	7.7
Liver Research	5.941	-	6.3
Endoscopic Ultrasound	5.932	5.275	5.9
Gastrointestinal Tumors	5.556	-	-
Indian Journal of Gastroenterology: Official Journal of the Indian Society of Gastroenterology	5.311	-	-
Frontline Gastroenterology	4.933	-	3.8
Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology	4.562	5.065	6.4
Inflammatory Intestinal Diseases	4.474	-	0.2
Annals of Gastroenterological Surgery	4.427	3.583	5.5
Case Reports in Gastroenterology	4.117	-	1
Annals of Coloproctology	3.946	-	2.4
Translational Gastroenterology and Hepatology	3.945	-	5.5
Clinical Liver Disease	3.934	-	2.4
Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology	3.029	2.587	3.3

CS: CiteScore; JAII: Journal Article Influence Index; JIF: Journal Impact Factor. "-" denotes lack of score assigned by the corresponding institution/database.



Figure 1 Scatter distribution plots for Journal Impact Factor-Journal Article Influence Index and CiteScore-Journal Article Influence Index. A: Journal Impact Factor-Journal article influence index (JAII); B: CiteScore-JAII. JIF: Journal Impact Factor; CS: CiteScore; JAII: Journal Article Influence Index.

DISCUSSION

Comparison of databases and calculation principles

JIF: JIFs are obtained through the Web of Knowledge database using the Science Edition of JCR which collects citation data from more than 7300 science and technology journals worldwide. The IF of a T-year journal is defined as the number of times that the journal has been cited in years T-1 and T-2 divided by the number of documents that can be cited in the journal in years T-1 and T-2[19].

CS: CSs are calculated using data from the Scopus database. CS has a publication window of 3 years before the 1-year reference window and counts the references from one document type to another[20]. In other words, CS calculates the average number of citations of papers published in a journal for 3



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i38.5648 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Visualization of the three journal evaluation indicators. A: Comparison of the values obtained upon application of the three evaluation indicators; B: Journal Impact Factor (JIF)-*Journal Article Influence Index (JAII)* and CiteScore (CS)-*JAII* ratios for each journal; C: Values of JIF and CS in descending *JAII* order; D: Histogram combining the three journal evaluation indicators together. JIF: Journal Impact Factor; CS: CiteScore; *JAII*: *Journal Article Influence Index*.

consecutive years in the 4th year. In a given year, CS is calculated as the amount of times that documents published in the previous 3 years were cited in that year divided by the number of documents published in those 3 years that were included in the Scopus database.

JAII: *JAIIs*, calculated as total citations divided by total articles, are based on journals and their citations included in the *RCA* database.

Advantages and disadvantages of JAII

It is undeniable that the *JAII* metric has its merits as a journal evaluation indicator. (1) Compared with JIF and CS, *JAII* is able to break through the time limit disadvantage of the first two. Journals do not need to meet the waiting-time thresholds of JIF and CS to be accurately evaluated. As such, *JAII* is able to evaluate more journals accurately in a near-real time manner, which explains why there are more journals with a *JAII* than those with a JIF/CS. (2) Compared with JIF and CS, *JAII* is useful for assessing the performance of journals immediately upon its creation. Moreover, since a small number of articles in journals will result in a high JIF and CS at a given time, *JAII* relieves the chance of biased evaluation of journals. *JAII* is also more conducive to a comprehensive assessment of the quality and performance of journals. And (3), compared with JIF and CS, *JAII* is more conducive to high-quality journal evaluation. In addition to these advantages, *JAII* has a high degree of compliance with JIF and CS in the evaluation of journals with a lower impact.

Another important feature related to the *JAII* is that the *RCA* database, upon which it is based, can enable queries to journals by category, such as focused query of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, representing a ready convenience to researchers.

There exist disadvantages in the *JAII*. These include the lack of statistical timeliness, a feature by which *JAII* is slightly inferior to JIF and CS, and the lack of consideration to different developments of the same journal in different periods. *JAII* also shares some of the drawbacks of both JIF and CS, such as the lack of evaluation of citation quality and the inclusion of self-citations.

Non-linearity interpretation

As we have shown in Figure 1 and described textually in the "Results" section above, the linearity of *JAII*-JIF-CS was clear for lower-quality journals but failed to match each other perfectly for higher-quality journals.


Our explanation is that JIF and CS are subject to changes in citation frequency and number of published articles in different years, and their correlation with time exacerbates the influence of human manipulability[21]. *JAII* reduces this time randomness. In addition, the JIF and CS of high-quality journals may be more susceptible to this effect, and their fluctuations can be effectively explained.

Threats to validity

In addition to the lack of evaluation of citation quality and self-citation, other factors may threaten the effectiveness of the evaluation parameters in use. Research on JIF, CS and other statistical standards for journal quality has shown that there are still many statistical violations at play, including those related to and arising from reliability, incomplete reporting of validity, insignificant results, insignificant effect sizes, and hypothesis checking, as well as uncorrected inferences and multiple comparisons from descriptive statistics[22]. *JAII* is also inevitably affected by the same, to at least some extent, and this limitation cannot be ignored.

CONCLUSION

The main differences between *JAII* and JIF/CS come from the differences in the scientific databases used as the cited sources, as well as the differences in the evaluation methods underpinning each of these indicators. Due to the JIF/CS time factor limitation, the *JAII* method based on the *RCA* database is able to evaluate more journals. Besides, *JAII* provides more focused quantitative insight by considering categories of journal papers. In terms of practicality, the novelty introduced by the *JAII* indicator is its open-accessibility to users (as opposed to a subscription service to select users). To summarize, *JAII* is a reliable index to evaluate the quality of journals in near-real time.

In the future, scientometric researchers can focus on the differences of the different journal evaluation indexes to aid in their studies on the origin of nonlinear characteristics in order to put forward a more perfect journal evaluation standard. Meanwhile, researchers in general can exploit the distinct advantages of each as they currently stand to better understand journal quality and promote the impact of their own scientific communications.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The evaluation of journal quality is very important for researchers. Journal Impact Factor (JIF) and CiteScore (CS) are two of the most popular and authoritative journal evaluation indicators. With the ongoing scientometric research into their advantages and disadvantages, there is a consequent emergence of new journal evaluation indicators. The logical next-step is comparative judgement of the reliability and innovative novelty of such new journal evaluation indexes.

Research motivation

The recently-launched *Reference Citation Analysis* database of Baishideng Publishing Group is an open multidisciplinary citation analysis database founded in artificial intelligence technology. Based on this database, *Journal Article Influence Index (JAII)* has been proposed as a new journal evaluation indicator.

Research objectives

To compare the advantages and disadvantages of JAII with those of JIF and CS.

Research methods

For comparisons between *JAII* and 2021 JIF/2021 CS, we conducted statistical analyses and provided an intuitive method for visual representation of the related data.

Research results

For lower-quality journals, *JAII*, 2021 JIF, and 2021 CS had a good linear correlation. However, their results of assessments of higher-quality journals varied widely. These three evaluation indexes have their own advantages and disadvantages, including the avoidance of time randomness and ability for near-real time evaluation of the *JAII*.

Research conclusions

JAII is a comprehensive assessment tool to assess the quality and performance of journals.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Research perspectives

In the future, we hope to better explain the current existent nonlinear relationship among the three evaluation indexes, and combine a variety of journal evaluation indicators to allow for more comprehensive evaluation of journal quality by scientometric-focused and general researchers.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wu J designed the study and revised the manuscript; Li JY and Yan ZH performed the data analysis and manuscript drafting; Xiang Z and Gao C searched the literature and collected the data; Li JY wrote the paper; Wu J reviewed the results and made critical comments on the manuscript; All authors reviewed and approved the final version; Li JY and Yan ZH contributed equally to this work.

Supported by the Youth Medical Talent of Jiangsu Province, No. QNRC2016475.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that there are no competing interests associated with this manuscript.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jian Wu 0000-0003-0087-3744.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

- Azer SA, Holen A, Wilson I, Skokauskas N. Impact factor of medical education journals and recently developed indices: 1 Can any of them support academic promotion criteria? J Postgrad Med 2016; 62: 32-39 [PMID: 26732194 DOI: 10.4103/0022-3859.173202
- 2 Brezgov S. Misleading Metrics. Sch. 2022. Available from: https://scholarlyoa.com/misleading-metrics/
- Valderrama P, Jiménez-Contreras E, Escabias M, Valderrama MJ. Introducing a bibliometric index based on factor 3 analysis. Scientometrics 2022; 127: 509-522 [DOI: 10.1007/s11192-021-04195-4]
- Abramo G, D'Angelo CA, Felici G. Predicting publication long-term impact through a combination of early citations and 4 journal impact factor. J Informetr 2019; 13: 32-49 [DOI: 10.1016/j.joi.2018.11.003]
- 5 Garfield E. The history and meaning of the journal impact factor. JAMA 2006; 295: 90-93 [PMID: 16391221 DOI: 10.1001/jama.295.1.90
- Solari A, Magri M-H. A New Approach to the SCI Journal Citation Reports, a System for Evaluating Scientific Journals. Scientometrics 2000; 47: 605-625 [DOI: 10.1023/a:1005680202961]
- 7 Pichappan P. Identification of mainstream journals of science speciality: A method using the discipline-contribution score. Scientometrics 1993; 27: 179-193 [DOI: 10.1007/bf02016549]
- Callaway E. Beat it, impact factor! Nature 2016; 535: 210-211 [PMID: 27411614 DOI: 10.1038/nature.2016.20224]
- Moed H, Leeuwen TV, Reedijk J. Towards appropriate indicators of journal impact. Scientometrics 2006; 46: 575-589 [DOI: 10.1007/bf02459613]
- 10 Falagas ME, Kouranos VD, Arencibia-Jorge R, Karageorgopoulos DE. Comparison of SCImago journal rank indicator with journal impact factor. FASEB J 2008; 22: 2623-2628 [PMID: 18408168 DOI: 10.1096/fj.08-107938]
- 11 Okagbue HI, Teixeira da Silva JA. Correlation between the CiteScore and Journal Impact Factor of top-ranked library and information science journals. Scientometrics 2020; 124: 797-801 [DOI: 10.1007/s11192-020-03457-x]
- Fu BS, Yu Z, Tiwari K. New Release of 2020 Impact Factor (Web of Science) and Cite Score (Scopus). J Orthop Translat 12 2021; 29: A3 [PMID: 34466383 DOI: 10.1016/j.jot.2021.07.003]
- Teixeira da Silva JA, Memon AR. CiteScore: A cite for sore eyes, or a valuable, transparent metric? Scientometrics 2017; 13 111: 553-556 [DOI: 10.1007/s11192-017-2250-0]
- 14 Teixeira da Silva JA. CiteScore: Advances, Evolution, Applications, and Limitations. Publ Res Q 2020; 36: 459-468 [DOI: 10.1007/s12109-020-09736-y]
- 15 Teixeira da Silva JA. CiteScore: Risk of copy-cat, fake and misleading metrics. Scientometrics 2021; 126: 1859-1862



[DOI: 10.1007/s11192-020-03791-0]

- 16 Zhao Z, Tang H, Li F. Measles-Associated Severe Pneumonia in a Patient with HBeAg-Negative Chronic Hepatitis B: A Case Report. Zoonoses 2022; 2: 3 [DOI: 10.15212/zoonoses-2021-0013]
- 17 Axelsson O. A generalized conjugate gradient, least square method. Numer Math 1987; 51: 209-227 [DOI: 10.1007/bf01396750]
- Gleicher M, Albers D, Walker R, Jusufi I, Hansen CD, Roberts JC. Visual comparison for information visualization. Inf 18 Vis 2011; 10: 289-309 [DOI: 10.1177/1473871611416549]
- McGinnis R. Research tool. Science 1980; 207: 972 [PMID: 17830451 DOI: 10.1126/science.207.4434.972] 19
- James C, Colledge L, Meester W, Azoulay N, Plume A. CiteScore metrics: Creating journal metrics from the Scopus 20 citation index. ArXiv Prepr ArXiv181206871 2018 [DOI: 10.1002/Leap.1246]
- 21 Kiesslich T, Weineck SB, Koelblinger D. Reasons for Journal Impact Factor Changes: Influence of Changing Source Items. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0154199 [PMID: 27105434 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154199]
- 22 Al-Hoorie AH, Vitta JP. The seven sins of L2 research: A review of 30 journals' statistical quality and their CiteScore, SJR, SNIP, JCR Impact Factors. Lang Teach Res 2019; 23: 727-744 [DOI: 10.1177/1362168818767191]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

